

[image: image]





[image: image]







This book is a work of fiction. Names, characters, places, and incidents are the product of the authors’ imagination or are used fictitiously. Any resemblance to actual events, locales, or persons, living or dead, is coincidental.

Copyright © 2024 by Steve Berry

Cover design by Eric Fuentecilla

Cover copyright © 2024 by Hachette Book Group, Inc.

Hachette Book Group supports the right to free expression and the value of copyright. The purpose of copyright is to encourage writers and artists to produce the creative works that enrich our culture.

The scanning, uploading, and distribution of this book without permission is a theft of the authors’ intellectual property. If you would like permission to use material from the book (other than for review purposes), please contact permissions@hbgusa.com. Thank you for your support of the authors’ rights.

Grand Central Publishing

Hachette Book Group

1290 Avenue of the Americas, New York, NY 10104

grandcentralpublishing.com

@grandcentralpub

First edition: June 2024

Grand Central Publishing is a division of Hachette Book Group, Inc. The Grand Central Publishing name and logo is a registered trademark of Hachette Book Group, Inc.

The publisher is not responsible for websites (or their content) that are not owned by the publisher.

The Hachette Speakers Bureau provides a wide range of authors for speaking events. To find out more, go to hachettespeakersbureau.com or email HachetteSpeakers@hbgusa.com.

Grand Central Publishing books may be purchased in bulk for business, educational, or promotional use. For information, please contact your local bookseller or the Hachette Book Group Special Markets Department at special.markets@hbgusa.com.

Library of Congress Control Number: 2024933365

ISBNs: 9781538721117 (hardcover), 9781538769430 (large print), 9781538769614 (Canadian trade paperback), 9781538721100 (ebook)

E3-20240530-JV-PC-COR





Contents



	Cover

	Title Page

	Copyright

	Acknowledgments

	Dedication

	Epigraph

	Prologue

	Present Day

	1.

	2.

	3.

	4.

	5.

	6.

	7.

	8.

	9.

	10.

	11.

	12.

	13.

	14.

	15.

	16.

	17.

	18.

	19.

	20.

	21.

	22.

	23.

	24.

	25.

	26.

	27.

	28.

	29.

	30.

	31.

	32.

	33.

	34.

	35.

	36.

	37.

	38.

	39.

	40.

	41.

	42.

	43.

	44.

	45.

	46.

	47.

	48.

	49.

	50.

	51.

	52.

	53.

	54.

	55.

	56.

	57.

	58.

	59.

	60.

	61.

	62.

	63.

	64.

	65.

	66.

	67.

	68.

	69.

	70.

	71.

	72.

	73.

	74.

	75.

	76.

	77.

	78.

	79.

	80.

	81.

	82.

	83.

	84.

	85.

	86.

	87.

	88.

	89.

	90.

	91.

	92.

	93.

	94.

	95.

	96.

	97.

	98.

	99.

	100.




	Discover More

	Writers’ Note

	About the Authors

	Also by Steve Berry With Grant Blackwood






	Begin Reading

	Table of Contents





Page List


	vi

	iv

	vii

	viii

	ix

	x

	xi

	1

	2

	3

	4

	5

	6

	7

	8

	9

	10

	11

	12

	13

	14

	15

	16

	17

	18

	19

	20

	21

	22

	23

	24

	25

	26

	27

	28

	29

	30

	31

	32

	33

	34

	35

	36

	37

	38

	39

	40

	41

	42

	43

	44

	45

	46

	47

	48

	49

	50

	51

	52

	53

	54

	55

	56

	57

	58

	59

	60

	61

	62

	63

	64

	65

	66

	67

	68

	69

	70

	71

	72

	73

	74

	75

	76

	77

	78

	79

	80

	81

	82

	83

	84

	85

	86

	87

	88

	89

	90

	91

	92

	93

	94

	95

	96

	97

	98

	99

	100

	101

	102

	103

	104

	105

	106

	107

	108

	109

	110

	111

	112

	113

	114

	115

	116

	117

	118

	119

	120

	121

	122

	123

	124

	125

	126

	127

	128

	129

	130

	131

	132

	133

	134

	135

	136

	137

	138

	139

	140

	141

	142

	143

	144

	145

	146

	147

	148

	149

	150

	151

	152

	153

	154

	155

	156

	157

	158

	159

	160

	161

	162

	163

	164

	165

	166

	167

	168

	169

	170

	171

	172

	173

	174

	175

	176

	177

	178

	179

	180

	181

	182

	183

	184

	185

	186

	187

	188

	189

	190

	191

	192

	193

	194

	195

	196

	197

	198

	199

	200

	201

	202

	203

	204

	205

	206

	207

	208

	209

	210

	211

	212

	213

	214

	215

	216

	217

	218

	219

	220

	221

	222

	223

	224

	225

	226

	227

	228

	229

	230

	231

	232

	233

	234

	235

	236

	237

	238

	239

	240

	241

	242

	243

	244

	245

	246

	247

	248

	249

	250

	251

	252

	253

	254

	255

	256

	257

	258

	259

	260

	261

	262

	263

	264

	265

	266

	267

	268

	269

	270

	271

	272

	273

	274

	275

	276

	277

	278

	279

	280

	281

	282

	283

	284

	285

	286

	287

	288

	289

	290

	291

	292

	293

	294

	295

	296

	297

	298

	299

	300

	301

	302

	303

	304

	305

	306

	307

	308

	309

	310

	311

	312

	313

	314

	315

	316

	317

	318

	319

	320

	321

	322

	323

	324

	325

	326

	327

	328

	329

	330

	331

	332

	333

	334

	335

	336

	337

	338

	339

	340

	341

	342

	343

	344

	345

	346

	347

	348

	349

	350

	351

	352

	353

	354

	355

	356

	357

	358

	359

	360

	361

	362

	363

	364

	365

	366

	367

	368

	369

	370

	371

	372

	373

	374

	375

	376

	377

	378

	379

	380

	381

	382

	383

	384

	385

	386

	387

	ii

	iii









[image: image]








ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Our sincere thanks to Ben Sevier, senior vice president and publisher of Grand Central. To Lyssa Keusch, our editor, whom we’ve greatly enjoyed working with. Then to Tiffany Porcelli for her marketing expertise; Staci Burt and Ivy Cheng, who handled publicity; and to all those in Sales and Production who made sure both that there was a book and cover, and that it is widely available.

Thank you, one and all.

As always, to our wives, Julie and Elizabeth, who remain the most special of all. The first Luke Daniels adventure, The Ninth Man, was dedicated to them both. As we pointed out in the acknowledgments there, the presence and influence of supportive spouses is vital to any writer’s success.

The same is to be said for agents.

For a writer, a literary agent is as essential to the process as words and paper. A publishing contract from a New York house (or any house for that matter) is one of the most onerous, one-sided documents you will ever read. There is little to nothing within the thirty or so pages (single-spaced type) that is in the writer’s favor. The contract is written by the publishing house’s lawyers, whose job it is to look after the interests of the house. That’s not to say that the contract cannot be made more bilateral and fairer to the writer.

You just have to ask.

But in order to do that you need to know what to delete and, more important, what to add.

That’s where a good literary agent comes into play.

Their job is to look after the writer. They work exclusively for the writer. Their entire loyalty is to the writer. Everything they say and do is there to help the writer. They are the writer’s eyes, ears, and brains for the contract process.

Indispensable.

We are fortunate to have two of the best.

Not only are they our business partners (since they share monetarily in our success), they are our friends.

Nothing could be done without them.

So a deep bow goes to Simon Lipskar (for Steve) and Dan Conaway (for Grant), who make everything right.






For Simon and Dan,

Thank you







Explore book giveaways, sneak peeks, deals, and more.





Tap here to learn more.




[image: Grand Central Publishing logo]









“It is my firm belief that the infinite and uncontrollable fury of nuclear weapons should never be held in the hands of any mere mortal ever again, for any reason.”

—MIKHAIL GORBACHEV







PROLOGUE

MOSCOW — JANUARY 1584

IVAN CHETVYORTY VASILYEVICH WAS NOT A CRUEL MAN.

Far from it. More careful.

Deliberate.

He was in his fifty-third year of life and thirty-sixth year of rule. He’d inherited a territory from his father vast in space, but lacking any semblance of unity or harmony. Moscow, at its center, was girdled by a ring of fortified posts, an open town, like a temporary settlement. The city proper, its kreml, existed behind tall battlements straddled with towers. Farther out, spreading in ever-expanding concentric circles, were lands that bore no resemblance to organized provinces. More like independent states, constantly warring with one another, accomplishing nothing. But he’d changed all that, forcing them all under his singular rule and bestowing upon himself a new title. His grandfather, Ivan III, now called Ivan the Great, speaking of Moscow, had long ago proclaimed, Two Romes have fallen, but the third now stands, and a fourth there will not be. So he thought it only fitting to merge the secular and the sacred into one name.

Tsar.

He’d been born to the House of Rurik in the grand duchy of Moscow, only three years old when his father died and he was proclaimed grand prince. His mother, the blessed Elena Glinskaya, served as regent for the first five years until she was poisoned by enemies, dying in agony. With her protection gone he’d been treated cruelly by the boyars, trotted out for official functions then locked back away. Rarely was he fed. Often neglected, both mentally and physically. And while subjecting the country to an intolerable tyranny, those same boyars taught him a valuable lesson.

Fear was good.

He grew up in an atmosphere of perpetual conflict, learning that brutality and mercilessness were prerequisites for strength.

No one fears a weak soul.

His earliest pleasures, shared with companions chosen for him, were unique. His great amusement had been to throw dogs from the top of the terraces, enjoying their anguish as they tumbled through the air and smashed onto the ramparts. He once ordered a friend executed over a petty argument. He cut off the tongue of another friend for cursing at him. He grew to manhood watching men being tortured and killed. Finally, at age eighteen, he was crowned grand prince.

Ivan IV.

And his revenge began.

Nobody was spared. All his debts, especially the death of his mother, were repaid in blood. There came a saying. Closer to the tsar you are, the closer you are to death.

Thankfully, he’d always been blessed with a strong constitution. He was tall, stoutly built, high-shouldered, and broad-chested. His nose was long and flat, turned up at the tip, his eyes an icy blue, small, but restless and ever observant. He’d come to sport a long beard, reddish with shades of black, and a thick mustache. But like most of his subjects, he shaved his head.

He was both common and noble.

“Is all ready?” he asked his bodyguard.

Bogdan Belsky had been with him a long time, through nearly every challenge. He may have been the only person left alive Ivan truly trusted.

“As you ordered,” Belsky said.

The afternoon hung leaden with drab skies and a low heaven. They were walking across the open space inside the kreml’s tall battlements, past an array of buildings he’d known his entire life. Fresh dry snow had fallen during the night, now crunching under every step. Soft winter sunshine filtered through the clouds but offered no respite from the cold that clung tight around his temples. The crisp air mentholated his nostrils. Armed soldiers occupied the towers and patrolled the top of the stone walls. A necessary precaution, though no one would dare attack this walled citadel.

He reached the outer wall and climbed the wooden ladder.

At the top he stared out, past the moat, to the frozen river, a mass of solid blue ice that could be traveled across like hard ground. The filtered sun ignited the snow with pinpoints of bright light and dazzling brilliance. Toward the center of the wide river stood an iron cage big enough to hold three men. Per his orders they were gagged, with hands bound behind their backs. These were no ordinary men. They were members of his private security force, specially selected a few weeks ago for a secret mission, their orders coming straight from his mouth.

And they’d performed.

Without fault.

Which meant they now needed to die.

He could see the three men scurrying about inside the cage, kicking the thick iron bars with their boots. None of them wore coats or much of anything to protect from the bitter cold. But that would soon not be a problem. More guards stood beyond the cage, past a dense layer of kindling that had been cut and stacked against the outside.

What was about to happen was not unusual. In fact, it occurred almost every day in one form or another. His torture chambers created a peculiar form of hell. Punishment there came in biblical proportions. Sometimes he was but a mere observer. Other times an excited audience. On occasion he took an active role. Today’s spectacle was a merger of the three, held out in the open for all to see, but he noticed no one on the snowy riverbanks watching. Good. He preferred this be handled quickly and quietly. The three bound men had been chosen for their youth and lack of wives and children, all eager to please their tsar, far less eager to question.

He was coming to the end of his reign. His body was beginning to fail. Death was stalking him but had not, as yet, caught up. He had a little time left and planned to make the most of it. By his first wife he had two sons. The elder, Ivan, had borne a considerable resemblance to his father. They had shared many occupations and amusements. But his heir was dead. Gone now three years. God help him for he’d killed the young man. Not intentionally. More a fit of rage. But dead nonetheless. The anguish from that senseless act remained.

And would never diminish.

As a boy himself he’d shunned studying, preferring instead the company of the skomorokhs, the pagan musicians. But he eventually saw the error of that foolishness and came to embrace reading and learning. He wrote poetry, composed music, mastered foreign languages. At his court doctors, astronomers, and scientists found a willing ear. He collected books. Some of the most precious in the world, which he added to a collection that his father had passed down from his father. He became the scourge of the Ottoman Empire and enemy of Suleiman the Magnificent, defeating and vanquishing the Golden Horde. He’d headed the army himself, risking his own life, and his victories raised both his prestige and his prowess, earning him another moniker.

Groznyi.

Strong. Menacing. Impressive.

Now, at the end of his life, two things were most precious. The mortal remains of his mother and the books from his grandfather.

“Both are safe,” Belsky told him. “Safely hidden, where you instructed. With the nuns at Ascension.”

He knew that, once he was gone, the boyars would destroy everything he’d deemed precious. They all hated him. His new heir, his second son, Feodor, was a good-natured, simple-minded man who took no interest in politics. He was sickly in body, weak in mind, and childless. His life was spent in prayer and contemplation. Through him the House of Rurik would only end. So what he’d done, and what he was about to do, was all the more imperative. In a few short minutes only he and Belsky would know. His bodyguard had been included in the conspiracy for a practical reason.

“When I am dead,” he whispered, each breath smoking around him like a cloudy haze. “Put me with them.”

“I shall. Without fail.”

He had no desire to be buried inside the Cathedral of the Archangel where his father, grandfather, and son rested, along with all the other grand princes.

“The fortune teller was right,” he whispered.

Seers had gathered from all over Russia after the appearance of a comet. One in particular uttered a dire warning. The tsar will die within the year. Instead of having her executed, he’d listened.

And prepared.

“Dress me in a monk’s habit, so I might achieve God’s forgiveness for all the bad I have done.”

His old friend nodded.

He turned his attention back out to the river and, with his right arm, slashed the cold air.

The signal.

The guards with torches approached the kindling that engulfed the cage and set it on fire. It took only a few short moments for the bone-dry wood to catch and dense smoke to curl into the afternoon sky. The men inside the cage moved away from the bars, toward the center of their prison, trying to escape the flames but also surely wanting to soak in some of the warmth. The idea was neither to burn nor to suffocate them. They were gagged so they could not cry out anything they knew, their hands bound to prevent them from removing the gags. No explanation had been given as to why they were being punished.

But none was needed.

Licks of fire played through the bars. Surely welcomed at first, but growing in intensity to become unbearable.

A loud crack echoed across the river. The ice was beginning to weaken. That had not taken long. The guards with torches retreated backward, away from the cage. The fire around the cage kept raging. Another crack. He stared up at the sky, which cast no depth, no hidden places, no shadows. A chilling breeze caused him to shiver under his cloak. A final crack, like that of a tree snapping under an ax, and the cage became an island. But its weight was too much for the floating ice supporting it and the entire thing sank in one quick motion, disappearing beneath the river water, only a hiss of steam left in its wake.

Done.

All was safe.






PRESENT DAY






1.

LISBON, PORTUGAL

MONDAY — MAY 19 — 4:00 A.M.

LUKE DANIELS KNEW THERE WAS A SAYING AMONG MOUNTAINEERS THAT reaching the summit was but the halfway point. Hard as hell to do. No question. But once you were at the top the job wasn’t over. Not until you made it back down to base camp, safe and sound. Then, and only then, were you finished. And while this, his latest assignment for the Magellan Billet, a simple escort job across the Spanish border, was no mountain climb, the metaphor definitely applied. He’d successfully completed his mission yesterday and was now headed home.

The problem?

In staggered formation the two dark sedans behind him had matched his last four turns on his way to the airport. They’d also kept their distance, like two fighter pilots flying on his wings.

And making no real secret of the fact.

Dawn was still two hours away, so Monday-morning rush hour hadn’t yet begun. The four-laned, median highway was largely deserted, though having never been to Lisbon before he had zero idea what busy meant here. All he knew was what he could see. Those two black sedans. And whoever was inside them. Behind him. A mile or so ahead he spotted the twinkling of the airport runway lights and navigation beacons.

Base camp. Almost there.

His options were to either make a run for the airport or find out more about his inquisitive friends. He decided on the latter. Why? First, the soldier in him didn’t like being stalked. Army Rangers were the ones who did that, not the other way around. He was a former Ranger, and it was the principle of the thing. Second, he had no idea what these people wanted. Were their intentions hostile? Were they armed? No way to know. But he couldn’t risk gunplay at an airport crowded with innocent bystanders. The downside, though, was that he was unarmed. If it came to a gunfight he’d be little better than a bystander himself. To top it off he was sleep-deprived, grumpy, and not looking forward to a seven-hour flight, in coach, across the Atlantic back home to DC. You would think the United States government could spring for business class for its intelligence officers.

But that wasn’t the case.

He took a moment to glance at his phone’s map then speed-dialed the Magellan Billet’s operations desk. The line clicked open and he said, “I have followers, in two cars, parties and intentions unknown.”

Then he rattled off the MGRS coordinates.

The Billet often coordinated with U.S. military assets, so it used the Military Grid Reference System, which was accurate down to three feet. He knew it well. Back in Afghanistan, during his Ranger days, knowing your exact location meant the difference between calling in a Hail Mary artillery barrage and a helicopter evac for a gravely wounded comrade.

“Are you requesting support?” the voice asked.

“No. But put me on the clock. Sixty minutes. After that, come looking.”

He ended the call and glanced in the rearview mirror. The cars were still there, now only a hundred yards back, staggered like a pair of hungry sharks.

You wanna play? Okay. Let’s play.

He stomped the gas pedal, gaining twenty miles per hour. Then, at the last moment, he swung hard right onto the upcoming exit and accelerated again, taking the curving off-ramp as fast as he dared. Behind him the two sedans were skidding to a stop.

He smiled.

His pursuers had been caught napping and overshot.

The downside?

Now they knew their quarry was onto them. Almost certainly their tactics would change, perhaps becoming more aggressive. At the bottom of the ramp he tapped his brakes and glanced left to make sure he wasn’t going to T-bone an unsuspecting motorist.

The way was clear.

He blasted through the stop sign, spun the wheel hard, and accelerated into a fishtail turn. The road curved again and almost immediately he found himself on the outskirts of a bairro. The typical Portuguese neighborhood loomed quiet this early in the morning. Out his window to the right was a half-mile-wide area of scrub land bisected by a canal marked by a serpentine line of tall and lush trees. Beyond that was the frontage road of another bairro, its contours lit by streetlights. He cast a glance in the rearview mirror. No sign of his pursuers. He hadn’t lost them, of course, but he’d forced them into catch-up mode. Which might make them a little desperate.

Hopefully a bit more careless too.

Ahead he saw a turn onto a dirt track. He slowed slightly and swung onto it. Now he just needed the right spot. The longer this chase went on, the worse for him. He had to assume his pursuers could call in backup, and he didn’t want to get pincered in a high-speed car chase. His best chance was to make them play his game, hunter-killer, on foot, on the ground, by his rules.

The road swung right, parallel to the canal.

He skidded to a slow roll on the shoulder, only stopping when the tall grass was slapping the car’s undercarriage. He left the engine running and the headlights on and climbed out into the cool morning. He popped the trunk and leaned in, found a tire iron, then butt-scooted under the car until he was lost in the grass. He’d pulled this trick before, most recently in Liechtenstein outside an abandoned Wehrmacht airbase.

Worked then. Why not now?

Thirty seconds later a pair of headlights appeared on the road, followed by a second set. Tires crunched on the dirt and gravel. The lead car slowed then passed his rental and came to a stop a few feet off the front bumper. The trail car took up position at the rear, boxing him in. Smart move, all things considered, but the wrong one.

Doors opened.

“Check that car. Careful,” a male voice said with authority.

Feet swished through the grass on either side of him.

“Clear,” a woman called out. “Car’s empty.”

“Trunk’s empty,” another voice said. “Must have taken his bags.”

“He’s in the trees,” the first voice said. “That’s where he wants us. Luke Daniels, come out. We need to talk.”

The shouted voice was familiar, but he couldn’t quite place it. Another pair of feet approached the trunk within arm’s reach.

“The tire iron’s missing, boss.”

“Let’s go get him,” the female said.

The feet beside the trunk stepped away, past him.

He quietly wriggled out from under the car, rose to his knees, then smashed the tire iron into the man’s ankle. The guy howled and buckled sideways then hit the ground. His gun thumped into the dirt. Luke pressed the tire iron’s wedge point into the man’s larynx and whispered, “Not a sound.” He grabbed the gun and motioned. “On your feet.”

“I… can’t. I think you broke… my ankle.”

He bodily lifted the man to his feet. The guy hobbled, listing sideways, but was stable enough for Luke’s purposes. He jammed the gun into the man’s ear. “Weapons on the ground, or I’m going to ruin this guy’s day.”

A figure appeared and faced him, silhouetted by the twin beams of his rental’s headlights. “I suppose I should have seen this coming. Classic Luke Daniels. You didn’t have to hurt the guy.”

Now he recognized the voice.

Sean Fernando.

A hard name to forget for several reasons, not the least of which was that it had always reminded him of a villain from a Mexican telenovela. Or an ABBA song. But this man was a trained intelligence operative.

CIA.

“You should know there are only rubber bullets in that gun.”

“At point-blank range it’ll still get the job done.”

“Are you really going to shoot him, Luke?”

“Depends on whether I buy your explanation for why you’re following me.”

“We’re sure as hell not here to hurt you. Didn’t I announce our presence clear enough?”

“A little too clear.”

“I just wanted to test you a bit, see if you’re still sharp.”

“Did I pass?”

“With flying colors. Let him go. I’m just here to talk.”

Fernando was from the CIA’s Directorate of Operations, aka the Clandestine Service, aka the agency’s field spooks. They worked under the radar. In the shadows. If they’d wanted him dead he never would have seen them coming. Plus, Hollywood movie portrayals aside, the CIA was relatively circumspect when it came to murder. Fernando was here for a specific reason and, he had to admit, he was curious. So he let his captive go, then helped him sit on the bumper.

“You broke my ankle, Daniels.”

“You’ll be fine.”

He racked the pistol’s slide, ejecting a rubber bullet. He caught it in midair, popped the magazine, then pocketed both. He handed the weapon back to the man on the bumper.

“What’s this about, Sean?” he asked. “What’s so important that you might make me miss my flight? I’m tired and want to go home.

Fernando stared him down.

“John Vince.”







2.

LUKE FOLLOWED FERNANDO’S TEAM BACK THROUGH THE BAIRRO TO AN all-night diner on the outskirts of the airport. The mention of John Vince was enough to make him forget his flight, and Fernando’s offer to buy him coffee seemed more than enough to marginally improve his mood. While the other people from the cars assumed protective positions near the diner’s entrance, he and Fernando settled into a booth. Past the windows he spotted the twinkling of the runway lights. A jet lifted off, banked, and disappeared from view, silhouetted from the east by the rising sun.

“Not to worry,” Sean said. “If you’re not interested in what I have to say, I’ll get you booked on the next flight home.”

“Efficient as ever,” he said, not impressed.

Fernando was an interesting fella. His mother was Sri Lankan, his father a lapsed Catholic Pakistani who’d left the church after meeting Sean’s mother on a trip to India. It had been love at first sight so they’d eloped a week after and moved to the U.S. before their respective parents could either protest or find them. Sean had wavy, thick black hair, cinnamon skin, and a pair of intense dark eyes. Near his hairline was a scar that looked suspiciously like a bullet graze, an oddity Luke had asked about in the past. The answers had ranged from drunk barber to lawn mower accident. Each reply had been accompanied by a smile, but the glint in those eyes told Luke it was all a bad memory.

Coffee arrived and Sean said, “We got word three days ago—”

He held up his index finger, silencing Fernando, and enjoyed a sip.

Then another one.

“Better?” Sean asked.

“It’s a start. Go ahead.”

“We got word three days ago that Vince has resurfaced.”

He had about a thousand questions, so he took a moment to prioritize the most important ones. “You said ‘word.’ What does that mean?”

“A source.”

“I see you’re being the ever-true-blue CIA officer, reluctant to discuss sources or methods. Stop dancing. What source?”

“I was told it’s a stringer agent who definitely has firsthand information.”

“Level of confidence?”

“In the stringer? Or the source?”

“Both.”

“The source I trust implicitly. The stringer? That’s where you come in.”

“Where’s the source?” he asked.

“Hungary. Kisvárda.”

Now he understood. “That’s no coincidence.”

“You think?” Sean asked.

Kisvárda sat inside Hungary fifteen miles from the Ukrainian border. It had been his and John Vince’s base of operations for Operation Sommerhaus, something he would never forget. In fact those thoughts had never been far from his mind ever since the operation had fallen apart two years ago.

Its premise had been straightforward, but its execution perilous.

Vince, a veteran of the CIA’s Directorate of Operations and an expert agent recruiter, had been tasked with assembling a network of local spies inside Ukraine. Russian president Konstantin Franko’s dictatorial saber rattling had escalated into an armed incursion into Ukraine’s Luhansk Oblast. So the director of national intelligence had ordered the CIA to begin preparing information networks into Ukraine through which the United States could funnel both advisers and intelligence. Corralling local expertise was the natural place to start. Technical intelligence methods, like satellite imagery and electronic eavesdropping, were superb assets but they were no substitute for live eyes and ears on the ground.

Luke, on loan from the Magellan Billet, the Department of Justice’s covert operations branch, had served as Vince’s security overwatch, shepherding agents and material back and forth across Ukraine’s border with Hungary. He was needed since there’d been an influx of Russian SVR operatives determined to foil exactly what the CIA had planned. So tight was Sommerhaus’ security that neither the Ukrainian nor the Hungarian government had been informed of the operation, leaving Luke and Vince to stand alone between two competing intelligence services. Russian and Ukrainian. Three, if you included Hungary, whose government was tipping toward hardcore right-wing politics and ever-increasing support of Franko’s Russian ambitions.

While Vince was accustomed to living in the shadowy world of plausible deniability, for Luke there’d been an anxiety-ridden learning curve. In that pressurized environment he and Vince had become friends, which made what happened five months into Sommerhaus all the more painful.

Everything collapsed.

Beginning with agents disappearing and dying and culminating with John Vince vanishing one frigid night outside Ternopil. It had been reasonably assumed he’d been kidnapped by the SVR and either murdered or spirited back to Russia for interrogation and imprisonment. While the idea of both options haunted Luke, the thought of his friend living in the hell of a Russian black site had frequently kept him up at night.

Years ago he’d toured Lubyanka, the infamous KGB prison in Moscow turned museum and sightseeing stop. He’d walked the dimly lit corridors and stood in the cramped, cold cells, their walls covered in the same scabrous, mint-green paint its inmates had stared at while awaiting execution or torture. Few that went into Lubyanka left, and those who did were never the same. And though he’d been only an hour inside he’d also left changed. Stepping back out into the sunlight that day had felt like a rebirth of sorts. It hadn’t been the claustrophobia or the smells or sounds, or even the brutal history of the place. It had been the hopeless feeling of inescapable doom. While he doubted the political prisons in modern Russia looked anything like Lubyanka, or any of the thousands of gulags that existed at the height of the Cold War, he was sure that under Konstantin Franko imprisonment was no less grim. On those sleepless nights he’d found himself mulling the same questions. Was John still alive? If so, what were they doing to him? What kind of walls was he staring at?

“Is Bloodhound involved?” he asked.

Sean’s yes came in the form of a slight cocking of the head.

Pavel Reschshikovets, code-named Bloodhound, known to them as Pasha, had been one of Vince’s first recruits, a stringer agent whose restaurant supply business had clients throughout Ukraine. The perfect false front. He and Vince had lived in Pasha’s house and worked out of his warehouse. They had been treated like family.

“Bloodhound spoke with the stringer?” he asked.

“I assume so. His message came to us via a back channel. It said simply, Squire may be up. Worth a look.”

Squire was Vince’s operational name. Luke had been Gallop.

“Sounds fishy,” he said, taking another sip of coffee. “Pasha might be compromised. It could be the SVR tickling the wire to see if we’ve tried to reestablish Sommerhaus, crossing their T’s, dotting the I’s.”

“We agree,” Sean said. “But we’ve got two options. Ignore it or investigate.”

“We’ve got zero options. If there’s a chance Vince is alive, we go in. In fact, I’m going with or without your support.”

“Like you say, it could be a trap to get another one of ours.”

“I’ll take that chance. Do I have your support?”

“Me, personally? Absolutely. The agency? Afraid not. Before now we had no idea what had happened to John. But if you confirm the source is good, and he could be alive, then this all goes to the State Department.”

He knew what that meant. Years of talking. Negotiations. Until a diplomatic deal could be made to trade John for something or someone else. All part of the intelligence game. Every case officer knew the score. Pawns on a chessboard, there to protect the king and queen, nothing more.

“Officially,” Sean said. “I’m asking you to evaluate the source and report back. That’s all.”

But he caught the glint in Fernando’s eyes.

Though he knew only a little about Sean’s background, or even his current position at Langley, he’d seen how the man had reacted to losing John Vince. They’d exhausted a week’s debriefing at a safe house following Luke’s narrow escape. Sean had been genuinely heartbroken and they’d spent days brainstorming ways to find out what happened. No faking that kind of anguish. In the end Luke suspected the higher-ups at Langley had quashed Sean’s demands to go back into Ukraine for a look.

He knew what had to be said. “Officially, that’s exactly what I’ll do.” He finished his coffee. “I’ll make the assessment.”

But he left the rest unsaid.

Then determine if it’s worth moving forward. If so, I’m going to get John out.

The world of espionage was brutally pragmatic. If push came to shove and the choices were to sacrifice Luke to Vince’s fate, or provoke an already volatile Konstantin Franko, Langley would choose the former. Going into another country and committing open acts of aggression, for whatever reason, was an act of war. But as long as there was a chance to get John out, he was going to take it.

He owed him. Big time.

“That whole area is now a boiling pot,” Sean said. “Ukraine is Konstantin Franko’s trial balloon. Most Western intelligence agencies believe that Franko has ambitions for reclaiming a huge chunk of the former Soviet Union, which is now all sovereign neighboring territory. That means war since NATO will never accept any of that, and rightly so. Franko is testing NATO’s resolve to see who blinks first.”

He got it. Anything could set the region off.

He refilled his mug from the carafe. One more thing. “Since I don’t actually work for the CIA, I assume you’ve already talked to Stephanie Nelle?”

His boss at the Magellan Billet.

Sean smiled. “She’s waiting for your call.”
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LAKE BELOYE, RUSSIA — 10:12 A.M.

ALEKSEI DELOV STARED OUT THE WINDOW, WELL AWARE THIS WAS going to be an unpleasant visit. And possibly dangerous. Coming out of the shadows always was.

The overlook on which his dacha sat had a sweeping view on one side of the nearby birch forest, its old-growth trees dusted in snow from yesterday’s late-spring blizzard, the water on the other. Lake Beloye had formed in a round shape, its diameter a little under fifty kilometers. It drained into the River Sheksna, which led to the Rybinsk Reservoir, part of the mighty waterway that connected St. Petersburg with the River Volga. One of many wonderful innovations started by Peter the Great three hundred years ago in an attempt to modernize Russia.

The weather had turned cold again. He’d hoped they might have an early spring, but that did not seem the case. His favorite trout stream, which had been thawing nicely, was once again crusted with ice. Occasionally he could hear the crack and groan of newly formed sheets scraping against one another. Some fresh fish would be good, but that treat might have to wait a few days.

He’d survived the collapse of a communist empire along with two violent coup attempts. He’d led the formation of the new Russian Federation, becoming its first duly elected president, serving one term, stepping aside voluntarily for others to rise to the occasion. He was nearing ninety-three years old and feared nothing. But he did dread what was about to happen.

He checked his watch.

His guest was already an hour late.

By design, of course.

In the playbook of power moves Make Them Wait was chapter one. In fact, his contacts in Moscow had already relayed his guest’s departure time and travel route for the 150-kilometer trek to the northeast. If his visitor wanted to be on time, he would’ve been.

But that would have sent the wrong message.

The copper kettle, almost as old as he was, began whistling and sputtering, which reminded him of the frenetic ending to Tchaikovsky’s 1812 Overture. Lots of cannon fire, ringing chimes, and brass fanfare. Quintessential Russian. Yet a common accompaniment to fireworks displays in the United States on their Independence Day.

How ironic.

He shuffled into the kitchen and filled the samovar with the kettle’s boiling water, then replaced the lid to allow the loose-leaf Caravan to steep. The blend was specially made for him, so intense it bordered on bitter.

Just the way he liked it.

The front door banged open and a figure bundled in a parka and mittens entered. For the thirty-eight years he’d known Edmon Grishin, his friend had worn the same hat.

An ushanka.

The fur cap, with ear-covering flaps tied up to the crown, never seemed to age. Edmon liked to say it kept his balding skull warm, but the dense fur also offered protection against blunt impacts. It was, as Edmon was quick to point out, not made of sheepskin, rabbit, muskrat, or even sable.

But rather bear.

And not just any bear.

One that had unsuccessfully tried to eat Edmon when he was a teen.

Coming from any other man Aleksei would have suspected it was all fiction, but not with his bullnecked friend. In his youth, until a shoulder injury had sidelined him, Edmon had been a gold-medal contender for the Soviet wrestling team. A twenty-year veteran of the Moscow City Police, he’d been with Aleksei since the Berlin Wall came down. As a cop there was little Edmon hadn’t faced, from machete-wielding PCP addicts and Chechen separatists to street gangs and serial killers. As his chief of security they had weathered many a threat from all sources.

Friend and foe.

“You’re just in time for tea,” he said.

Edmon shook off his parka and hung it on the wall hooks beside the door. “I’ll take—”

“Six sugars. I know.”

“Seven, if you’ve let it steep too long.”

He chuckled. They were like an old married couple. They’d both lost their wives to cancer decades earlier and had never remarried. Of course, there’d been lady friends that came and went, but none could replace their beloved Sofia and Anastasia. Another unspoken bond they shared that nothing could break. Of all the people in the world, Aleksei trusted just one.

“His Highness’ ridiculously big convoy just passed the outer security checkpoint,” Edmon said. “They’ll be here in three minutes. What is it they have in America, the parade where a bunch of men in red hats ride around in those tiny cars? They are called Shriners, I believe. That’s what I’m expecting to see.”

Aleksei chuckled and dumped the last spoonful of sugar into the mug, then handed it over.

“The boss should not be making tea for his subordinates,” Edmon grumbled. “One more spoonful, please.”

“This again?”

“It’s a matter of protocol.”

An old argument, halfhearted and with tongue firmly planted in cheek, but it was classic Edmon. One of the many rituals that anchored their friendship. He’d been president. Edmon his bodyguard. And both knew where the line was drawn, neither ever breaching it.

“Next you’ll be picking out my girlfriends,” Aleksei said.

“You must admit, your taste is questionable. What was the last one’s name? Dagmar?”

“She made excellent borscht.”

“Your taste in borscht is also questionable, my friend.”

He let out a grunt, and said, “Beets are beets.”

He approached the blazing hearth and stood close.

“The jackass has five vehicles,” Edmon said. “All SUVs. I’m fairly certain I heard drones flying around, too.”

He frowned. Jackass? Who was Edmon talking about? It took a second, but his troubled brain finally remembered.

How could he have forgotten?

If only for a moment.

“The man is cautious,” he finally said.

“The man is paranoid. And if he thinks I’m letting him crowd this dacha with his shovel-faced goons, he’s dead wrong.”

“He will do whatever he wants to do.”

“We’ll see about that,” Edmon said, and blew on his steaming mug.

Aleksei heard the growl of engines outside. “They’re pulling in.”

He placed his cup on the mantel, buttoned up his wool cardigan, and smoothed out the front. A wave of dizziness washed over him, followed by a sharp stabbing behind his eyes. He blinked, reached for the wall, then Edmon was at his side, hands on his shoulders.

“Again, the same pain?”

He squeezed his eyes shut and nodded.

Thirty seconds passed, then sixty.

Vertigo. The room spun. Nausea roiled in his belly. His mouth filled with bitter saliva, which he swallowed. Finally, the sensation eased and the wave subsided. He gave his old friend’s hand a pat. “It is better now. Stop fussing.”

“This is happening more and more frequently. You should talk to—”

“I have. Yesterday on the phone. This is to be expected. I took something before you came. It will pass.” He breathed in and out until the world stopped swimming before his eyes. Then he straightened his spine and nodded. “Let us greet our guest.”

Together he and Edmon stepped out onto the front porch. The motorcade swept onto the circular driveway trailing a cloud of billowing snow. The third vehicle drew parallel and stopped, tires skidding on the frozen gravel. In perfect unison a dozen bodyguards exited the SUVs, glancing about for threats and setting a perimeter around the motorcade. Each wore his own ushanka, surely of plain wool.

“Shriners,” Edmon muttered.

“Manners, my friend.”

“All they’re missing are the red hats.”

A pair of bodyguards assumed a position beside the third SUV’s rear door. One of them opened it. A figure emerged. Tall, sinewy, with a shock of thick salt-and-pepper hair above a shelf of tall, smooth brow. His intense blue eyes were the talk of the media and just one of many traits women inexplicably found attractive. And there’d been many of those. In fact, for a man so careful with his political life he was somewhat careless with women.

A weakness? For sure.

But not one that had slowed this ambitious devil down in the least. The face and voice were known around the world, carrying the calm expression of a man who does not expect others to pick a quarrel with him.

Konstantin Franko.

President of the Russian Federation.
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ALEKSEI STOOD AS STRAIGHT AS HIS OLD BODY WOULD ALLOW AND watched as Franko scanned the house and surrounding landscape before finally focusing on him.

“Mr. President, welcome to my dacha,” he said, forcing a smile.

Franko whispered something to his nearest bodyguard, then mounted the porch steps until he was face-to-face with Aleksei.

“Thank you for coming, Konstantin,” he whispered, extending his hand to shake.

Franko glanced at it, frowned slightly, then removed his leather glove and shook hands. “You said it was urgent. And who am I to refuse the summons of a legend.”

He knew this was a sore spot. Aleksei held a unique place in the hearts of Russians. He’d been there to guide them through the difficult times between the fall of the communists and the rise of some semblance of democracy. He’d been the first president of Russia that the people themselves chose through a free and open election. Franko had likewise been elected, but he had held on to the office long after the constitutionally mandated term limits expired through a manipulation of legislation that allowed him to essentially be president for life. And none of the elections he’d won were considered fair or open.

He decided it best to ignore the jab. “Come in, please.” He turned toward the door. “I have just made tea.”

A trio of bodyguards mounted the steps behind Franko. Edmon stepped forward to block their path. For a tense five seconds Edmon and Franko’s men stood staring at each other. A hint of a smile on his old friend’s face said, Go ahead and try me, young pups.

In his youth Edmon had been a Volga fisherman’s son, which when added to his wrestling had left him with hulking shoulders, steel-cable forearms, and massive hands. Though he was well into his seventies the impressive physique remained. Years ago, in his early days on Aleksei’s security detail, Edmon had intercepted a knife-wielding attacker single-handed. His subduing grip on the man’s hand had crushed eleven bones. In his prime few ever bested him. And though time had also caught up to his old friend, it would not be advisable for anyone to seriously mount a challenge.

“May I suggest,” Aleksei told his guest, “that privacy is preferable. We have things to discuss. Between us.”

Franko nodded curtly and told his bodyguards, “There’s nothing to fear here. I will not be long. Wait outside.”

“The house has not been secured,” one of them said.

“It is more than secure,” Edmon declared.

He and Franko stepped inside and everyone else, Edmon included, waited on the porch. He took Franko’s coat and gloves and hung them up, then poured his guest a cup of tea. Together, they settled into a pair of worn leather chairs before the fireplace. Franko enjoyed a sip, his face wrinkling for a moment at the bitterness.

“You like this?” Franko asked.

“It keeps me humble.”

Franko chuckled. “I am sure it does. This place lacks a woman’s touch, do you not think?”

“I am a simple man,” he said.

“Indeed. Tell me, Aleksei, are you well? You look pale. You have lost weight. I understand you were in the city last week. A doctor’s appointment?”

The use of the first name instead of President Delov signaled some semblance of equality, though age and experience widely separated them. The additional information about his presence in Moscow had been offered for a more specific reason, to show that the president of Russia was keeping tabs on a predecessor, no matter how far removed in years they may be. None of which was surprising. It seemed a uniquely Russian thing to watch people. But he nevertheless felt a quick pang of anxiety.

Does Franko know?

“I was there for my annual checkup,” he said. “A touch of anemia and a bit of high cholesterol. You know doctors, always about the waistline and diet.”

“I would not know about that. I am quite fit.”

Which Franko loved to display in official photographs of himself, bare-chested, riding horses, shooting rifles, playing hockey.

“How are things in the Kremlin?” he asked.

“Busy.”

“A challenging time, I am sure, both at home and abroad.”

Franko waved a dismissive hand. “The West is doing what it does best. Being a thorn in our side. China remains a problem. But they are all fearful. Weak.”

“The party conference is coming soon,” he said. “All is ready?”

Party congresses, the nominal policy-setting conclaves of the old Communist Party of the Soviet Union, had been held at intervals ranging from one to five years. The first was in 1898, the twenty-eighth and last in 1990. Then it comprised about five thousand delegates from the party’s local organizations. The congresses had been empowered to elect the Central Committee, to determine party rules, and to enact resolutions that laid down basic policy. Nowadays they were still grand events but much different, merely a place for autocratic leaders like Franko to show off their power.

“We will have a huge gathering. About six thousand from around the federation.”

Good to know.

“You, of course, will preside?”

“Absolutely. Just as you did in your day.”

Even better to know. “And your family? Everyone is well—”

“You didn’t summon me here to discuss the congress or family, did you?”

“I did not summon anyone. I asked to speak with you. In private. And thought this the best place.”

“And given your past service to Mother Russia, and your continued popularity, I am showing you this courtesy by being here.”

“I appreciate the gesture, Mr. President.”

The words burned his mouth, but he reminded himself of the larger picture. So much more was at stake than personal feelings or ego. So he tried, “I also thought perhaps a visit to the countryside might be a welcome respite from Moscow.”

“I need no respite.” Franko set his cup aside and picked a piece of lint from his trouser leg. “What is this about, Aleksei? Come to the point.”

He savored a breath, steeling himself. “I want to talk about the future.”

“Of Russia? The Motherland is in good hands. Do not worry yourself about that.”

Motherland. It wasn’t the word itself that troubled him. It was, after all, the historical moniker for Russia, regardless of the time period. But from Franko’s lips the word sounded ominous. Authoritarian. Ultra-nationalist.

“Worry is part of my character,” he said. “It is a leader’s onus.”

“One that lifted from your shoulders decades ago. Now is your time to enjoy life. Fish, drink tea, and do whatever else holds your attention.”

“Change is challenging, Konstantin. I know that all too well. You were there at the end, you saw the pain and struggle as we left communism.”

“Unnecessary pain, born of weakness.”

“The Soviet empire was crumbling. There was no stopping it. The Cold War had bled us dry. Our policies were out of step with the rest of the world.”

“The rest of the world was out of step with us.”

“Our people were hurting. No hope, no vision of the future, all our horizons dim, and now I fear we are slipping back toward that living hell once again.”

“Back?” Franko barked out a laugh. “We are marching forward. Into the light. Into greatness. Your problem, Aleksei, is you were seduced by the illusions America casts. Roses and rainbows. A world of nations sitting around the campfire holding hands, each looking after the other. It is nonsense. Unrealistic. International politics is a blood sport. It always has been. It is also a selfish endeavor. Nations only look after themselves. Weakness begets weakness. It is a disease.” A finger was pointed. “One you let in our door.”

“I presided over a bloated corpse. The communist system was so corrupt it was devouring itself. Not the apparatchiks, of course, not them, or their cronies, but the working class. Lenin’s revolution had long ago left them behind. Communism was a façade, nothing more, and had been for decades.”

“Stalin did what was necessary,” Franko shot back.

“He slaughtered millions of people for nothing. As did the communists who came before and after him.”

“Leadership is not a popularity contest. You do what must be done for the greater good. That is another thing you never understood.” Franko leaned forward, chin jutting outward. “I saw you at the end, Aleksei. I watched you. I was a mere low-level administrator then. But you had a chance to stand up and make the right choices for Mother Russia. To be tough and unrelenting. To keep what is ours. Instead, you backed down.”

That was not exactly the truth. Franko wasn’t just there at the end. He was part of a hard-line KGB faction that refused to let the USSR go down without a fight. In fact, there had been rumors out of Lubyanka that the KGB wanted to assassinate Aleksei. For whatever reason the plot never materialized. Had Franko been involved with that?

More than likely.

“The Cold War was over. We lost,” he said. “The only chance we had was to change. Which was coming no matter what we did.”

“You gave away Afghanistan, after our brave soldiers sacrificed—”

“They were fed into a meat grinder is a more accurate description of what they faced.”

“How dare you—”

“How dare you.” His voice rose. “The Soviet Union was in a storm, Konstantin. When you are in a storm you survive by steering into the waves. But now, what you’re doing is—”
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ALEKSEI DID NOT FINISH THE THOUGHT.

He’d sworn to himself he would keep his temper and not be lured onto the path of blame. That would only stiffen Franko’s resolve. Unfortunately, he might have already gone too far.

“Go ahead, let’s hear it,” Franko said. “Share your aged wisdom.”

“I am simply saying there’s a middle way. Extremes always end badly.”

“For example?”

“Ukraine.”

“Ukraine is part of Greater Russia. It always has been. The majority of the Ukrainian people want reunification.”

“Says who?”

“Protesters march in the streets there begging for change.”

He knew that was all manipulated footage, staged for the camera. Propaganda that would make Lavrentiy Beria, Stalin’s old secret police chief, proud.

“That change will come from you at the tip of a spear,” he said. “Hundreds of thousands will die. Even more refugees will be displaced.”

“Hard choices. Resolute action. It takes spine, Aleksei, to command this country.”

“Ukraine is a sovereign nation. You cannot—”

“Words on paper, lines on a map. They mean nothing.”

“Do you think NATO will sit back and let you have Ukraine?”

“They have no stomach for a fight.”

“Do not be so sure. You are marching us toward a world war.”

And to dictatorship.

In the last “election” Franko had received 88 percent of the vote. Which was ludicrous. Rivals had been imprisoned or died in all-too-convenient accidents. The media bullied into toeing the line. Voters terrorized. Was he too late in having this conversation? Should he have spoken out sooner? Probably. But he’d not known then what he knew now.

“They will all back down,” Franko declared. “They have no fight left in them.”

“Once you have brought Ukraine back into the fold, who is next? Belarus. Lithuania. Latvia. Estonia?”

“If that is their wish.”

“I have no doubt you will make sure it is.”

Eyes glinting, Franko leveled another finger at Delov. “Careful with your accusations.”

He spread out his hands in what he hoped Franko saw as a conciliatory gesture. “Surely you can see the old ways were disastrous.”

“In the right hands the old ways are often the best.”

“But not without democracy. People need a voice. They deserve a voice. It is the only way forward.”

“If history has taught us anything it is that Russians do not know what they want until it is handed to them. This nation has been dominated for centuries. First by Mongols. Then tsars. And finally communists. Russians do not crave democracy. They seek authority. They deserve to live in a land they can be proud of, not one that goes hat-in-hand to Western powers begging for peace.”

“And you are going to give them pride with war?”

“Small prices to pay, in the grand scheme of things.”

Franko definitely had all the makings of an unrepentant tyrant. Stalin would have been proud.

“I know what this is about,” Franko said, his blue eyes narrowing. “How could I not see it before? This is about your legacy. The great reformer, Aleksei Delov. Darling of the West. Nobel Peace Prize winner. It is so clear now. You are worried about yourself.”

“That is simply not true. I had my time. Now my days are dwindling.” More rapidly than he once thought. “Now is your time. You can still go down in history as a great leader, Konstantin. I share your vision of Russian greatness, but not like this. We are better than this. Please reconsider the course you are taking before it is too late.”

“The damage you, and your successors, caused is immeasurable,” Franko said. “You once spoke of political corruption. Weakness is also corruption. Irresoluteness. No more. My way is the only path forward.”

“Is there anything I can say or do to change your mind?”

“No, but you can stay out of my way and keep your opinions to yourself. Live here, in your dacha, to your dying days. Otherwise, I am going to give your legacy much more thought. How will history remember you, former president Aleksei Delov? A great man? A mediocre man? Or a criminal?”

He should have expected this.

“I control your legacy, Aleksei. Never forget that. Cross me and there will be no state funeral. No speeches or monuments. In our history books you will be nothing but a footnote, forgotten by everyone. Schoolchildren will spit on your grave.”

Which mattered not to him. “Konstantin, slow things down. Ease your rhetoric. Talk to the American president. He is a reasonable person.”

“There is nothing to talk about.” Franko glanced at his watch. “Is there anything more? Are you done lecturing me?”

He closed his eyes. Took a breath. Then let it out.

This madness could not continue.

His options had run out. He had no choice, that was clear now. Which had been the main purpose of this entire confrontation. He had to be sure before he acted.

Now he was.

“Thank you for coming, Mr. President,” he said. “I will take no more of your time.”

Franko stood.

He did too and extended his hand.

Franko glanced at it once again but this time offered no hand in return. “Remember my words, Aleksei. Do not insert yourself into the affairs of state. You will not receive another warning. Next time I shall act.”

“You have made yourself perfectly clear.”

Franko donned his coat and gloves, then stepped out, leaving the door standing open. Aleksei watched, with Edmon, on the porch until the motorcade had disappeared down the driveway.

“Bastard,” Edmon muttered.

He returned inside from the cold and sank into one of the chairs. He had no intention of staying quiet or still. He’d tried talking. Reasoning. But that failed. Thankfully, another route remained. One last gambit that would solve the problem. He fished into his shirt pocket and found a small scrap of paper. On it was scrawled a single line in Cyrillic.

Red Star still flies. Let us talk.
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BUDAPEST, HUNGARY

TUESDAY — MAY 20 — 2:05 P.M.

LUKE STARED OUT THE WINDOW AS THE PLANE BANKED INTO ITS FINAL approach to Ferenc Liszt International Airport. The pilot throttled back, bleeding off speed, applying flaps to bring the commercial jet down. Outside, he watched the wing’s air brake lift, further slowing the aircraft. True to his word Sean Fernando had in fact already talked to Stephanie Nelle, who’d given Luke the green light to return to Hungary.

If he so chose. Which he did.

Damn right he did.

“You know the outer limits, right?” Stephanie had asked him. “It’s a sneak and peek to evaluate the source. If credible, then the diplomats take over to get Vince out.”

“I got it.”

“You know you might be walking straight into the lion’s den.”

He did.

The report of Vince’s sighting might simply be bait. Given the current standoff between Russia and Ukraine, exposing an American plot and catching a real live spy would be a public relations coup for Konstantin Franko. Imperialist America meddling in the affairs of European nations. Again. Franko would argue that the only counter to such provocation was a strong Russo-Baltic alliance of which Ukraine was the cornerstone.

“Lions and me, we get along fine,” he told Stephanie.

She surely knew what he was going to do if the source panned out.

“If you get caught, no one’s coming.”

He was having none of it.

“I know I’m toast. Just one thing. Don’t let Pappy come to the rescue.”

But he knew Cotton Malone would be the first to jump to his aid. Unfortunately, though, the former Magellan Billet agent, now Danish rare-book shop owner and occasional contract help, would never let Luke hear the end of it.

And rightly so.

“Just so we’re clear, you know I’m your boss,” Stephanie said. “I call the shots.”

“Yes, ma’am. But I gotta do this. Is the CIA providing anything?”

“You get a fully backstopped passport to get you into the country and some cache locations they pre-positioned before Sommerhaus. But they made it clear your authority does not include a rescue mission.”

He was happy to hear about the passport. A new one created by the wizards at Langley’s Directorate of Science and Technology would pass even the most stringent scrutiny. More important, though, having a fully backstopped identity meant anyone digging into his bona fides would find no inconsistencies. And dig they would.

“If you go beyond that,” she said. “You’re on your own.”

“How about any field support from our end?”

He hoped she knew what he meant.

“Marcia Pooler will be available. She’ll also act as your liaison. Send everything through her.”

While Marcia had a contract with the Magellan Billet, she wasn’t an employee of the U.S. government. After taking a computer literacy class at her local community college, she’d discovered she was something of a marvel when it came to all things computer. She quickly surpassed the teacher’s knowledge base and that guy, instead of begrudging her virtuosity, guided her into the world of freelance work. Within a year she was consulting for Apple, Deutsche Telekom, Raytheon, and the Department of Defense. Most recently, she had proven a literal lifesaver during Luke’s off-the-books mission in Belgium. Good to know she was aboard. Stephanie was taking a big chance here.

And he appreciated it.

“Thank you,” he told her.

“We both know what you’re going to do. I can’t let you be totally bare-ass-to-the-wind. Marcia will be there 24/7. One last thing. At the risk of offending your Ranger sensibilities, are you up for this? Mentally, I mean.”

Actually, the question was a good one. Sommerhaus, and the loss of John Vince, had left a mark. No doubt about it. Going back into Hungary and Ukraine, he needed to be unsentimental. Focused. On his A-game, with no mistakes.

“I’m solid. But I appreciate you asking.”

“Part of my job. Good hunting, Luke. Try to come back alive.”

A whine and a thud signaled that the landing gear had extended and locked into place. The pilot’s voice came over the intercom. “Flight attendants, prepare for landing.”

His memories of Budapest were hazy. During Operation Sommerhaus he’d flown into and out of Ferenc Liszt several times, but his interaction with the city itself had been confined to getting into a car for the three-hour drive to Kisvárda near the Ukrainian border.

Beyond that, the country was a mystery.

The plane’s tires kissed the runway with the barest of jostling. A few minutes of taxiing and they stopped at the gate. He was well practiced at impromptu travel and quickly gathered his Lug shoulder bag and was one of the first out the door and onto the jet bridge.

His fresh-off-the-press CIA passport, bearing the name Lucas Hopkins, saw him easily through the customs desk. On the form’s space for Reason for Visit he’d written scouting locales for Blazebird Games. Blazebird was, he presumed, a CIA front company that did in fact produce role-playing games for eager customers while serving a plethora of other intelligence functions including, apparently, backstopped identities. In this case, as a locale scout he would have cover-for-purpose. In other words, a reason to be where he was, doing what he was doing, without arousing suspicions.

He followed the signs beyond passport control to ground transportation, walked past the rental car desks, and found a seat in a nearby bar, where he nursed a local beer for half an hour. Confident he wasn’t being watched, he paid his tab and crossed over to the rental counter. Little had changed in the two years since he’d last been in Budapest. His car options consisted of an assortment of compact manual transmissions.

Which he loved.

His pride and joy, a wonderfully restored 1967 Mustang with a crap load of horsepower and a stick shift, rested in a garage beneath his DC apartment. He flipped a mental coin and chose a black Ford Puma, an ambitious name given its size. Ten minutes later he left the airport and merged onto the M3 for his journey to Kisvárda.
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LUKE NOTICED THAT SPRING HAD COME EARLY TO HUNGARY, THE landscape changing from gray-brown to lush green. Save for a range of mountains that partially spanned the northern border, Hungary was mostly flat, little bigger than Indiana, with its middle dominated by the sparsely populated Great Hungarian Plain, a mass of river-fed grass- and farmlands. It wouldn’t take much to mistake the whole area for Montana.

Roughly halfway to Kisvárda he followed his phone’s directions and found the village of Polgár. From there he drove north five miles before pulling into a driveway of a seemingly abandoned saltbox house with peeling white paint and a fence that was missing half its pickets. The owner, Henriett Jakab, had moved out a year earlier, but the CIA continued to own the house under her name. She was, according to his cover, a potential local guide. The key Sean Fernando had provided unlocked the side door. He stepped inside the darkened interior, took a moment to let his eyes adjust, then quickly cleared the house on the off chance he had company.

No one was there.

In the hallway bathroom closet he found the secret compartment under the floorboards. Inside was an olive-drab Pelican case. He dialed in the three-digit code he’d been given and opened the lid to reveal some foam-ensconced camera equipment. Beneath that, in a false bottom, lay a Heckler & Koch 9mm pistol and an MP5 submachine gun, each equipped with a sound suppressor. He didn’t need to look to know the weapons bore no serial numbers. Standard CIA practice, as the company had an “understanding” with most gun manufacturers. The MP5 was military issue with a firing mode selector for single-shot, three-round burst, or full auto. A weapon he knew. Reliable, accurate, virtually no recoil. Also inside the case were extra magazines, a pair of night-vision binoculars, three miniature GPS trackers, and sundry other tools that might come in handy.

He shoved the holstered 9mm into his waistband beneath his jacket, then sealed the case. Inside the cavity beneath the floor was another metal box with a variety of currency. Hungarian forints, Ukrainian hryvnias, Russian rubles, American dollars. He opted for rubles, removing a few thousand in three bound stacks. He then replaced the box and floorboard, but took the Pelican case with him. After locking up the house he got back on the road. The rest of the drive went quickly, with him alternating between enjoying the scenery, watching for surveillance, and running scenarios in his head about what might await him in Kisvárda.

Would the source be there? Or would it be a cutout? A trap coiled and ready to spring? Speculation was a fool’s game, but it kept his mind busy. There was, though, only one logical first step.

Check the veracity of the John Vince sighting.

He arrived in Kisvárda around 5:00 P.M.

The place had changed little during the past two years. Home to roughly seventeen thousand people, it dated back over a thousand years to when the Hungarians ejected a small army of Turkish nomads and occupied the area’s castle. Spread among its various shops and restaurants were historic sites marking people and events that dated back centuries before the Pilgrims ever sighted Plymouth Rock. For operational reasons he and Vince had kept to themselves while in Kisvárda. Still it had come to feel like home. He recalled jogging the cobbled streets and exploring the quaint nooks and crannies, trying to stay anonymous. But the place had never felt more strange than on the night John Vince disappeared.
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LUKE WAS HEADED FOR ANOTHER ROUTINE DEBRIEF AT THEIR SAFE house outside Ternopil, something he and Vince had done dozens of times since Sommerhaus started. Tonight it was to be with their agent known as Trumpet, a low-level communications officer stationed at the Zhytomyr army outpost who fed them logistical chatter from Ukrainian troops in Luhansk Oblast. Luke had been held up at the Tarpa border crossing and was half an hour from Ternopil when Pasha called.

“John missed his check-in.”

“How long overdue is he?” he asked.

“Thirty minutes.”

His alarm bells went off. Vince was meticulous with his tradecraft. Once he reached the safe house and found nothing suspicious, he never failed to make a “safe-in-place” call to Pasha who, with his array of CIA-crafted secure burner phones and SIM cards, served as their communications relay whenever they crossed into Ukraine.

“I sent a ping,” Pasha said. “His phone is on and receiving.”

“Dammit.” Something was wrong. He checked his phone’s map screen. “I’ll be there in fifteen.”

The safe house, an old fishing shack owned by a friend of a friend of Pasha’s, lay south of Ternopil on the banks of the Seret River. Ternopil was a big place, about two hundred thousand people. Luckily, the police presence outside of town was minimal, so he traveled at nearly twice the posted speed limit and was able to cover the remaining distance to the safe house in short order. He’d nearly reached the end of the dirt road on which the shack sat when he saw the glow of multiple car headlights in the trees around the property. Too late. He backed down the road until he found a wider section of shoulder, then parked and got out. Immediately he heard voices calling through the trees. His Russian had improved enough in the last five months that he caught the gist of what they were saying.

Spread out. Set up perimeter. Could not have gone far.

A lack of red and blue police strobes told him this wasn’t a local operation, which meant SVR, Russia’s version of CIA. In the last month SVR operatives had been flooding Ukraine, doing the same thing he and Vince were trying to do but with opposite intent. Namely, to set up intelligence networks to aid the invasion. He and Vince had felt lucky that most of the Russian SVR activity seemed west of Kyiv.

Or so they thought.

His phone vibrated with a text message from Vince.

4209.

This random number matched their daily-changing call-and-reply code. It told him he was in fact communicating with Vince.

He typed in 1567.

Which returned the confirmation.

Stay clear. Compromised.

Already here. Where are you?

Sanitize op. Exfiltrate others if possible, but get out.

Negative. Coming to get you.

Go. Now. That’s an order.

While this wasn’t the army, Sommerhaus was John’s op. He was the boss. But leaving someone behind wasn’t the Ranger way.

Wasn’t his way, either.

He switched his phone to map mode and changed a few settings, revealing Vince’s position on the screen as a pulsing red dot. Not moving. He hadn’t left the safe house. Why? He felt a knot of fear in his belly. Was he being set up? Was Vince trying to lure him into a trap? No. That made no sense. The only reason Vince could still be in place was that he hadn’t had time to run. He was hiding in either the attic or the crawl space beneath the floorboards, both of which they’d converted into bolt-holes for just such an occasion. This too told him something. However the SVR had gotten onto them it wasn’t by penetrating their communications—otherwise they wouldn’t be scouring the area for Vince. Even so, John wouldn’t stay hidden for long. The Russians would eventually find him, even if that meant tearing the shack down to its studs.

Unless he gave Vince an opening to escape.

He typed a new text. How many bad guys?

There was a long pause before the three dots appeared on Luke’s screen indicating a reply was coming.

Six to eight. Too many.

On my signal, two rounds, make a break for it.

Negative.

Meet at rally point.

He stuffed the phone in his pocket and felt the buzz of John’s reply, but ignored it. He paused a moment to gather his thoughts. He carried a Grach pistol with a full magazine. The Russians would be carrying far heavier weaponry. But that wasn’t all he had. As Hollywood-esque as it was, their CIA phones came with a self-destruct function. Not all that impressive, but it might do the trick here. Would it work? Could he split their force enough that John could slip away?

Worth a try.

He gathered the rain-sodden leaves and pine needles before him until the mound was almost thigh-high. He punched a code into his phone, then shoved it into the bottom of the mound. Thirty seconds later came a whoosh as the phone’s lithium-ion battery ignited. Smoke began rising from the wet leaves. He wasn’t keen on starting a forest fire and could only hope his ploy merely created a lot of smoke.

Which it did.

Within a minute acrid fog was rising through the trees. A breeze began carrying it toward the cabin. It didn’t take long for the Russians to notice. Voices rose to shouts. He drew his Grach and fired a round into the sky. Then another. More shouting. He allowed himself a half smile. Definitely had their attention.

Time for some hide-and-seek.

For the next twenty minutes he played cat and mouse with the Russians, getting them to chase him away from the cabin before doubling back, using the smoke, the thick foliage, and an occasional gunshot to hopefully distract them enough to give John a chance to escape. He managed to hit and wound two of them. Their response? Lots of firing blindly through the trees.

Then a voice yelled in English, “Get your hands off me.”

Vince.

“I want to talk to the American embassy.”

John was putting on a show. Not for the Russians. But for him. The message clear. They have me. It’s too late. Run.

Car engines growled to life, followed by tires skidding on gravel.

Within seconds, the sound faded.

Silence reigned.

Vince was gone.
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LUKE ALWAYS FOUND HIMSELF PICKING APART THE MEMORY, LOOKING FOR things he could have done differently. If he’d chosen a different border crossing, could he have reached the Ternopil safe house sooner? Or if he’d gone on the offensive instead of trying to draw the SVR away from John’s hiding place? Or maybe—

He stopped himself.

The shoulda-coulda game never made him feel better. Truth was, nothing he could have done would have prevented John’s capture.

That was logic talking.

But guilt was deaf.

He came to the end of his drive, on the northern outskirts of Kisvárda, in a run-down industrial neighborhood. There he found Pasha’s restaurant supply warehouse. Butter-yellow façade with a green awning bearing the words RESCHSHIKOVETS & SONS. Just like two years ago. Pasha had only a daughter, Nedda, who ran the day-to-day operations. When he’d started the business forty years ago Kisvárda had been a conservative town with backward ideas. Naming the business Reschshikovets & Daughter would have doomed it, and changing it now would cause too much confusion. Pasha did, however, take great satisfaction in the fact that Nedda was a respected community leader and an excellent businesswoman.

He circled the warehouse but saw only two other empty cars on a nearby side street. Aside from a dog-walker and some kids playing soccer in an abandoned lot, no one was about. He returned and parked in a spot beside the front door. Through his windshield he spotted a fish-eye security camera.

That was new.

Which gave him a moment’s pause.

He looked around.

More graffiti than he remembered, along with a few broken windows. Which might explain the increased security. Plus, following the demise of Sommerhaus, Pasha had been worried about receiving a visit from grim-faced Russians with more on their minds than buying bulk sugar and glassware.

He walked to the front door and entered.

The office hadn’t changed. Two beat-up gray steel desks, filing cabinets, and one wall covered in pictures of businesses Pasha supplied. Overhead a lone fluorescent panel glowed a milky white.

He reached back and gripped the 9mm.

“Anyone home?” he called out.

A figure emerged from the far storeroom doorway.

Pavel Reschshikovets.

Pasha.

Not much had changed in the intervening two years. Short, not quite five and a half feet tall, with wavy auburn hair and a jawline that suggested, rightly so, pigheadedness. A battered felt hat covered the head.

“Good to see you, Luke,” Pasha said in English. “But not happy it had to be this way.”

Something felt off.

He withdrew his gun and let it dangle at his side with a finger loose on the trigger. “How many are there here and where?”

“Just one. And I’m right here.”

A woman’s voice. Behind Pasha. In Russian-accented English. She materialized from the dimly lit doorway, her arms raised toward him in a decent isosceles stance. Gun aimed.

“Move and I shoot you in leg,” she said.

“The chest is an easier target.”

“I need you alive.”

“I don’t much like the sound of that.”

“Alive” meant imprisonment. Interrogation. Torture. His gun was ready and he could definitely drop her, but he’d take a bullet in the process. And despite her earlier response, she might not be alone.

He was playing the angles in his head when Pasha said, “Before you do anything rash, Luke, maybe you listen to her.”

He wanted to know, “Why’d you burn me?”

“To save Vince.”

Good answer.

“How about we trade shots and see who comes out on top,” he said to her.

“You will lose.”

“Let’s find out.”

“Both of you. Stop. This is my place. Enough.”

Even amid the hairiest of moments during Sommerhaus he’d never heard Pasha raise his voice. He decided to blink first and replaced the gun at his spine. You had to give to get.

Still the woman did not move.

Finally, after a long five seconds, she lowered her arms and stepped into the light. She was tall, thin, with a mop of ash-blond hair brushed straight back from a wide forehead. The eyes were sharp, observant, like a cat. Maybe mid-thirties. Relatively attractive, in a Catwoman kind of way. And not the Eartha Kitt version. More the Lee Meriwether. She moved confidently with the ease of a gymnast. Dressed for battle too. Tight jeans above a long-sleeved, scoop-necked bodysuit.

“What’s this about?” he asked her.

“Let us start with why you betrayed John Vince?”
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RED SQUARE — 6:15 P.M.

EDMON GRISHIN SPOTTED ALEKSEI DELOV EXITING THE MERCEDES limousine. The driver, one of Edmon’s most trusted associates, closed the door behind Aleksei and gave Edmon a nod, holding up one finger, then two. Which meant all clear save for one surveillance team consisting of two men.

He glanced around.

It took only a moment to spot the black car stopped along the curb on the road beside St. Basil’s Cathedral. This would be whatever FSB team Konstantin Franko had assigned to watch Aleksei after their contentious meeting yesterday. If he wasn’t on the radar before, the former president was now. He’d expected no less, just as he expected Franko was probably, at this moment, having Aleksei’s dacha bugged and his phone and emails marked for interception. The only thing countering that supposition was that Franko’s minders were allowing themselves to be seen. Sending a message. We are watching. So maybe the dacha and phone lines were still clean.

For now.

He and Aleksei had chosen here, in public, to talk since the easiest place to hide was in plain sight. Their message back to Franko clear.

We know.

The weather was typical for a Russian spring day. Cold, with a bright sun in a nearly cloudless sky. Wind swirled the recent snowfall into flurries that peppered his face like grains of sand. Discomfort seemed a way of life in Russia. Who’d said that? Tolstoy? Dostoevsky? Maybe Solzhenitsyn? They’d all spoken eloquently about Slavic fatalism. He viewed it in a more simplistic way. Life sucks and then you die. Despite its distinctly un-literary ring, he enjoyed the cynical observation.

He had neither the aptitude nor the interest in science, but Aleksei’s medical diagnosis was etched in his memory. His old friend preferred to hear the unvarnished truth, so the doctor had obliged. Glioblastoma multiforme. Grade 4 astrocytoma. As brain tumors went GBMs were the nastiest and fastest moving. They were almost always fatal, as few were detected before it was too late.

And that was the case with Aleksei.

Four months of life left. Six at most.

The tumor was too large and too invasive for surgery. Radiation and chemotherapy might slow the growth, but the side effects of those treatments would be a dagger in the quality of life. Aleksei was not a young man, so his old friend had made a decision. No intervention. He would live life on his terms as long as he could. Whatever happened, and however fast it happened, so be it. Of late he’d noticed the symptoms piling up. Headaches, blurred vision, vertigo, no appetite, weight loss, anemia. But he’d also begun noticing more troubling signs. Hints of cognitive decline, flashes of uncharacteristic anger and confusion, memory loss, trouble finding words. Those symptoms, the doctor had said, would continue to worsen until the tumor finally killed him. Thinking of that brought on waves of unfamiliar sadness. Aleksei Delov, the man who’d changed the world, was crumbling before his eyes and there was nothing he could do about it.

But he could honor his friend’s last request.

Red Star.

Repeatedly, he’d been confronted by the gut-wrenching possibility that Aleksei’s decision to pursue Red Star was born of that ugly, ravenous thing devouring his brain. And while he shared his boss’ alarm over Konstantin Franko’s march toward dictatorship, was Red Star the only course left? Compared with Aleksei Delov, what did he know about world affairs? Or Russian politics? Aside from watching from the sidelines he was ignorant of such things. Aleksei understood the world stage and its players with a genius he could not begin to imagine. And Franko had really left little choice as to what to do, given his arrogance that contained no room for compromise. So if Aleksei said Red Star was the only course left open to stop him, who was he to question?

“You are early, my friend,” Aleksei called out. “As always.”

Good. Keep everything open and casual for the prying eyes and ears.

He’d left the dacha last evening and immediately gone to work choosing his team with care. Five men, all former police who had paid their dues on the streets. Three of them had once served with him on Aleksei’s protective detail. The other two had retired, with honors, from the Moscow force. One of them was a man he’d trust with his life. If Red Star was findable, these men could do it. He reminded himself, though, not to get overconfident, especially with Franko’s FSB involved. Their bailiwick, counter-espionage, was a wheels-within-wheels affair. There was every chance this visible surveillance team here in Red Square was a stalking horse for invisible ones.

The real problems.

The question was whether Franko was merely interested in keeping tabs on a possible powerful voice of dissent, or if he was actively suspicious of what they intended. He would have his answer as soon as his hunt for Red Star began in earnest.

“And you are precisely on time,” he said. “How you manage that, I will never understand.”

“Practice. And good handlers. I like this, you know, being back here in Moscow.”

“As a nobody?”

Aleksei smiled. “That especially.”

When he was president of the Soviet Union, and for perhaps a decade after, Aleksei’s face was well known in Russia and around the world. But decades away from the spotlight, more wrinkles, thinning hair, and thirty pounds of weight loss had rendered him just another Russian pensioner.

Aleksei looked around with an exaggerated surreptitiousness.

Edmon waited for instructions.

“What do you say we go see the old graybeard?”
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ALEKSEI HATED EVERYTHING AND ANYTHING RELATED TO COMMUNISM.

Especially Vladimir Ilyich Ulyanov Lenin.

A lawyer, revolutionary, and theorist who founded the Soviet socialist state. A foolish idea that had no hope of enduring. In the end it lasted less than ninety years before imploding. And while speaking of Lenin in anything but reverent tones would not get someone arrested anymore, it would probably earn some dirty looks, especially from old-time hard-liners who whiled away their days in Red Square remembering something that never really existed.

He’d walked a fine line while in office since, back then, the communists were still a threat. Two times they tried a coup and failed. Finally, he’d struck a bargain with them. I will leave you alone, if you will leave the country alone. Making clear that if they wanted political power then they needed to convince a majority of Russians to vote for them.

That simple.

Which never happened.

He and Edmon strode toward the Kremlin’s northeast battlements until they reached the squat, ziggurat-shaped building with a wide glass façade. Constructed of red granite, Karelian quartz, and black labradorite, the tomb was designed to withstand not only the test of time but also the vibration of tanks passing by during May Day parades. The foundation slab alone weighed nearly twenty thousand kilograms. Overkill, for sure, but such was Russian brutalist architecture.

Inside, beneath a glass-enclosed sarcophagus, lay Lenin himself, dead since 1924. The body was meticulously maintained. If a patch of wrinkling or discoloration occurred, acetic acid and ethyl alcohol worked miracles. Hydrogen peroxide was used to restore the decaying tissues’ original pale coloring. Damp spots were removed by means of desiccants. The entire body was soaked in a solution of glycerol and potassium acetate on a yearly basis to slow down retardation. Up until the fall of the Soviet Union the government paid for the preservation work, which had cost millions. He’d ended that, intent on closing the mausoleum and finally burying the bastard. But there’d been too much opposition. So to placate those factions he’d backed off on burial, but still cut off the money. Private donations then supported the preservation. Then years later another Russian president, trying to curry favor with the communist fringe, reinstated state funding. Incredible. Hero worship on the order of a saint for nothing more than an arrogant, megalomaniac mass murderer.

“Do you want to go in?” Edmon asked. “Gaze upon his personage?”

He gave his friend a sideways glance and smile. “That is quite the fancy phrase.”

“I read books.”

“Louis L’Amour westerns.”

“Other things too.”

“Let us stay out here. It is just too Soviet for me in there.”

Also, he was mindful that visitors were searched by armed guards, and photography, filming, eating, smoking, and hats were forbidden. No talking was allowed either. And it was important they put on a good show for Franko’s surveillance detail. Being seen so near this so-called sacred spot would earn him a few points.

“Seeing those mummified remains is also too much of a reminder of one’s own mortality,” he said. “A death sentence tends to make one introspective.”

“Does Franko know about that?”

“I am not sure. He definitely has been watching me. He made that clear. And my doctor could be compromised. But learning of my fate would only make him happy. No need to do anything rash. Nature will take care of things soon enough.”

“He might be more concerned than you think.”

He smiled. “You overestimate my importance. I doubt Konstantin Franko is concerned with me. I am no threat to a man like him.”

“His mistake.”

“We can only hope. Let us stroll. As you taught me long ago, moving targets are a challenge for parabolic listening devices.”

They wandered away from the mausoleum, placing it between them and those they knew were watching from beyond the square. He’d always thought it a paradox how Red Square appeared so large on television or in photographs when in reality it was quite a compact place.

“What have you learned about Red Star?” he asked Edmon.

“There are no records anywhere. No reason existed to keep them. Officially, the program ended. Back then everything was paper and, as best I can tell, none was transferred to digital. According to the archived personnel records, only two of the members of the original program are still alive.”

And he knew one of them. Efim Kozar. Who’d headed the program. He’d spoken to him several times while president. “Who is the other?”

“Ilya Mashir. The lead scientist.”

They kept walking. Two old men on a stroll. Not unusual at all for Red Square.

“Kozar is the one who sent me the message,” he said.

Red Star still flies.

It had come inside a Russian Post envelope with no return address.

“He wanted to remind me,” Aleksei said. “He hated the communists, and is surely no friend of Franko’s.”

“I learned that he is in prison.”

New information. “You are sure?”

“Definitely.”

“It makes sense now,” he said. “He wants out and is using Red Star as bait to draw me in to help. Do you know where he is being held?”

“I have not been able to learn the location.”

Between he and Edmon they had a network of contacts built over decades of bribery, favor trading, and friendship. In recent years Franko’s rise to power, and the fear he inspired, had begun to erode those relationships, or at least made their use more perilous, but they still existed.

“I suspect it is inside one of Franko’s dark sites,” Edmon said.

He nodded. “The new gulags.”

The nickname was apt. Of late, political rivals, dissidents, and journalists had been disappearing. With a population of 150 million and a landmass of seventeen million square kilometers, Russia held half the people of the United States with almost twice the space. Building and running secret facilities was laughably easy. That vastness had always driven the Americans crazy. Finding an ICBM site in two and a half million square kilometers of dense Siberian forest made the proverbial needle-in-a-haystack look like a toddler’s game.

Aleksei said, “Let me see if I can cultivate a source in the Federal Penitentiary Service and find out. Tell me about Ilya Mashir.”

“From what little I could gather the man is not much for conversation or people or anything that isn’t science. But he’s gifted. A savant. He breezed through every Moscow polytech his parents threw at him, starting at the age of twelve. Degrees in physics, advanced math, engineering. Speaks five languages. When computers started gaining momentum in the late 1970s, he was teaching physics at Lomonosov. Mashir announced he was taking a sabbatical. Three months later he came back and took over the computer science department. Supposedly, the man had no equal.”

“Where do we find this genius?”

“He went off the radar eight years ago. The rumor is he’s working for an oligarch.”

“That doesn’t narrow it down much, does it?”

Since the dissolution of the Soviet Union, a new breed of ultra-wealthy had emerged across Russia. Some of them were merely industrialists. Others entrepreneurs with ties to organized crime. Regardless of the variety, all shared a common trait besides unimaginable wealth. Political influence. Few doors were closed to them. Dealing with any one of them came with a warning label. Handle with care. The rich most definitely protected the rich.

“Do your sources mention what he might be doing for this oligarch?” he asked.

Edmon shook his head. “Take your pick. His specialties are apparently boundless. My guess would be something digital. Banking, crypto-currency, stock market manipulation, ransom attacks.”

“How will you proceed?”

“We will start with Kozar, then go from there. I will need money for bribes and hired help.”

He drew a thumb drive from his jacket pocket and handed it to Edmon. “I have set up a special account. Spend as you see fit. If you need more, I will get more. Do you have people you trust?”

“Five. But they will be told only what is necessary to get the job done.”

As it should be. No one, besides them, could know what they were planning.

The two men went silent for a minute as they continued to walk the square. Finally he said, “There’s something on your mind.”

“How do you know that?” Edmon asked.

“I’ve known you too long not to notice that furrowed brow.”

He grinned. “I don’t know how to say this.”

“Just say it, old friend.”

“This thing in your head is bad and getting worse, yes?”

“Correct on both counts.”

“Your personality is different sometimes. Do not misunderstand, it is just that—”

“You are worried the tumor is affecting my judgment?”

Edmon stared at him.

“I wonder about that myself,” he said. “Those personality changes you mentioned. I have noticed them. I feel different in those moments. I have almost come to recognize when they are coming. But know this. When I consider Red Star I am clearheaded.”

“It is such a bold step. Unprecedented.”

“Sadly, it is all they will understand. Konstantin Franko does not realize how much the world has changed. His dictatorial tendencies play here in Russia. No one can stop him, perhaps not even the oligarchs, but projecting that power beyond Russia’s borders is another thing altogether. America and NATO will not back down. If Franko pushes too far he will plunge us into a world war. Any allies we now have will abandon us. We will be left out in the cold. Sanctions will button us up so tightly we’ll struggle to breathe. Our economy will crumble. That is when oligarchs and organized crime will swoop in and fill the void. The ensuing chaos will be unsustainable. Russia will again become a failed state.”

“You paint a terrifying picture.”

“With what I propose to do Russia’s pain will be agonizing. No question. But that will be short-lived. We will rebound and move ahead. You are right to have doubts about this. If you did not, you would not be the man I know. And if your doubts are too great to bear, I will not blame you for stepping away. No harm done. Our friendship will survive.”

“I cannot do that. If you tell me this is the right course, I trust your judgment.”

He stopped walking and turned to face his friend. “I also want you to trust me on one last thing.”

“Name it.”

“I am ashamed to admit it, but until now I have given no thought to your future.”

“There is no need,” Edmon said.

“There is every need. If we succeed with Red Star, and it is tracked back to me, my fate will be short-lived. I am dying anyway. You will not have that luxury. Not unless we plan for it.”

“I am not afraid of Konstantin Franko.”

“It is not him you should fear. But those who survive him. You must respect their need for vengeance. On that thumb drive are two bank accounts. The first for Red Star, the second for you. It will be enough to see you safely out of Russia. Plan your exit before this finishes. Go somewhere safe, set up a life for yourself. Perhaps Germany? Find yourself a plump, blue-eyed wife, drink beer, eat sausage.” He laid a hand on Edmon’s shoulders. “Do that for me. If we succeed, leave. If we fail, leave. No hesitation, no goodbyes, understood?”

Edmon nodded. “Understood.”

He smiled. “Now find Efim Kozar.”
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KISVÁRDA, HUNGARY

LUKE STARED HARD AT THE WOMAN AND CONSIDERED HER QUESTION.

Let us start with why you betrayed John Vince?

She’d gone straight for the jugular. But he kept his cool and asked what he and Sean Fernando wanted to know. “Who are you? And what the hell are you talking about?”

“Her name is Danielle Otero. She—”

He held up a finger, silencing Pasha, then texted Sean Fernando’s direct line. It was afternoon in Washington. The source is Danielle Otero. You know her? Sean’s reply came ten seconds later. I’m afraid so. Trouble. But evaluate.

He shoved the phone into his pocket. “Pasha, you were saying?”

“She came to me last week. You should hear what she has to say.”

“You’re not exactly on my good side right now.”

“I’m sorry for that, but I did not know a better way to get anyone’s attention.”

“You’ve got it, that much is certain. As for you, Ms. Otero, I’ll ask again. Who are you?”

She stepped past Luke. “Sean Fernando never mention me?”

“You’re one of his assets?” he asked.

“Was. During Sommerhaus.”

“Agent or informant?”

“Both.”

“As answers go, that one sucks.”

“It is all you get now,” she said. “By the way, call me Danielle. We are going to spend a lot of time together.”

“Don’t be so sure.” He looked at Pasha. “When did you know about her?”

“Last week. But I was hesitant to call. I wanted to be sure.”

“Are you?”

Pasha nodded.

To Danielle he said, “You were an asset ‘during Sommerhaus’? What does that mean?”

“When everything blew up that night and John disappear, I was cut off. I reached out to Sean, but no reply. So I became a ghost.”

“What did—”

“I have answered enough questions,” she said. “I want to know why you left John. You were there.”

“I did everything I could to get him out, to give him an opening to escape.”

“But they took him anyway,” Danielle said.

“Excuse me, were you there?”

She squeezed her eyes shut, then shook her head. “I came a few minutes after they took him.”

Now he saw it. John Vince had meant something to her. So he pressed further. “Why were you there?”

“Second set of eyes. I did not see you.”

His back stiffened and he took a step toward her.

She stood nose-to-nose with him and said, “Explain why you are not responsible.”

“Because I wasn’t. I tried my best, but it didn’t work. And I’ve regretted that outcome ever since. Is that what this is about? Getting me back here so I can satisfy your curiosity? Or is it a pound of my flesh you’re after?”

“It is not like that,” Pasha said. “She thinks John is still alive.”

Finally. To the point. “Where?”

“I do not know for sure,” she said. “But he is alive. At least a week ago he was. In a prison to the north on the White Sea.”

“How do you know this?”

“Since Sommerhaus, finding John has been my life. It has taken me two years to find out he is alive.”

So far every answer she’d offered only compounded his unanswered questions. “Let’s go back to square one. Say I believe you that John’s alive.”

“He is.”

“And you figured that by getting me here we’d team up and get him out?”

“And to ask you why you left him.”

“We’re past that,” he said.

“I am not.”

“Then put a damn pin in it. I came here to find John and get him back. So we’re clear, I don’t partner with people I can’t trust.”

“Like I care.”

“You better, or else you won’t be having anything to do with this.”

“Are you going to stop me?”

“Yes. I am. Tell me how you got involved in Sommerhaus. I’ve never heard of you, and I was there.”

She did not answer immediately. Instead, she studied his eyes as though searching for a sign. He held her gaze and tried to telegraph that she really needed to offer a good answer.

Finally, she said, “I work with John before Sommerhaus. About a year before you show up. You are not going to like what comes next.”

“I don’t like any of this. Keep going.”

“I was SVR.”
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LUKE GLANCED AT PASHA, WHO SHRUGGED AND RAISED HIS HANDS. Apparently, he’d had no idea about that shocking revelation.

The SVR, Russia’s foreign intelligence service, succeeded the First Chief Directorate of the old KGB. It was tasked with intelligence and espionage activities outside of the Russian Federation. Similar to the CIA’s statutory mandate. Everything about it was a classified state secret, the goal of every intelligence agency across the globe to have an inside track to its activities. Operatives were trained at the Academy of Foreign Intelligence, once known under the Soviets as the Red Banner Institute. Perhaps as many as fifteen thousand total employees, from agents to support personnel, though no one knew exactly how that broke down into the eight active directorates. But if it was anything like the CIA the number of support personnel vastly outweighed field operatives, who were the tip of the spear. The best of the best. And SVR’s were good. Damn good, in fact.

So he had to ask her, “Does Sean Fernando know?”

“Maybe it is better we speak alone.”

He agreed and faced Pasha. “This might be a good time for you to take a break. The less you know, the better.”

His friend nodded. “I will be in the warehouse, if you need me. You two behave.”

And Pasha left.

“You and John met where?” he asked her.

“The U.S. embassy in Chişinău, Moldova. I was a walk-in.”

An intelligence term for someone who simply shows up, knocks on the door, and offers to spy for them. Walk-ins were exceedingly rare and treated with instant distrust. For good reason.

“Bold move,” he said.

“I plan ahead. Went to Moldova on holiday, made sure I was clean, then made approach. John was my handler.”

Absently Luke wondered whether Vince had been stationed there as part of the CIA’s contingent or had been flown in to shake her down. That was a question for Sean. “How long did your debrief last?”

“Five days. I could not stay longer without raising suspicion.”

Debriefing a walk-in agent was an intentionally grueling process designed to poke holes in the person’s story. Test veracity. Establish credibility.

“What was your motivation?”

“I had been ordered into a new group, new mission. Called Nopor. Means ‘threshold’ in English.”

“Why that word?”

She shrugged. “No idea. We were deployed to Ukraine. Franko had made his intentions known. War was coming. Nopor would be looking for sabotage targets, hidden military installations, pipelines, along with identifying VIPs and families for assassination or blackmail.”

He thought he understood. “You drew the line at going after noncombatants?”

“Did not want any part of that.”

“Then why not simply resign?”

“No quitting the SVR. I would have been killed. If I could not live with doing those things, how could I live with doing nothing to stop them?”

Good answer.

His respect for her ticked sharply upward. Either she meant every word or she was a superb actress saying what was expected to be heard. “What came after the debrief?”

“John gave me secure cell phone. Once a week I report anything I discover about Nopor, or anything else I pick up. He would ask me questions and I find answers.”

He knew what that meant. John had been pressure-testing her, not only dissecting the information she volunteered but also tasking her to find answers to questions the CIA had already independently verified. An old lawyer trick. Never ask a question you don’t know the answer to. If they lie, even in the slightest, you know you’ve got a double agent on your hands.

“This went for six months. When my Nopor unit was ready to deploy, John and I arrange to meet in Kyiv.”

“And that’s where it started?” Luke asked. “You and him. Becoming personal?”

She nodded. “I not ashamed of it. He is good, kind man.”

“On that we agree,” he said.

Sommerhaus’ sole purpose had been agent recruitment. Now he realized that there’d been a second, secret part. To foil the Nopor program. That John had not told him about. No surprise, though. He didn’t have a need-to-know for that side of the story. He was Magellan Billet, on loan. John was career CIA.

“So you and John team up,” he said. “Then what?”

“I work my Nopor assignments in Ukraine, feed him information. Assets were put in position. The night John disappear I was to be pulled out and sent across border into Hungary to meet him.”

“That’s why you were headed to the cabin?”

“Yes,” she murmured, lowering her eyes. “But I ran late.”

Now he understood. She blamed not only Luke for John’s loss, but herself too. How much of her antagonism toward him was mere projection he didn’t know, but her pain was real and it had been gnawing on her for the past two years.

That he could understand.

“And you’ve been living under the radar in Ukraine since?” he asked.

“John gave me new passport. I went to ground, change my appearance, and stay away from Nopor hot spots.”

“Does the SVR think you defected or were killed?”

“Hard to say. But Nopor kept going after I disappear.”

He was curious. “How?”

“I watch some of my old team members. They were going about their business. If the SVR thought I turn, they would have paused operation.”

That made sense. Even so, she’d been smart to keep her head down. He was impressed. A lesser person would have hightailed it out of Ukraine. She stayed. And set about trying to find John.

Should he have done the same?

No. The Russians would have probably caught up to him. And given his knowledge of both Sommerhaus and Magellan Billet operations, his capture would have had serious repercussions. During Ranger training the truth about enemy interrogation was made plain. Everyone breaks. Everyone talks. It’s just a matter of how soon you do it, and how much you give away. If you’re lucky, your captors will mistake the inconsequential bits you offer as valuable. Otherwise, they squeeze and squeeze and squeeze until you’re nothing but a husk. Had that been John’s fate? Probably so. Unless Danielle was wrong and John was in fact dead. He felt guilty for thinking it, but maybe that was the most merciful outcome.

“Why didn’t you reach out when you first found out John was alive,” he asked.

“I need to know who burn him. Someone did. Your whole network rolled up.”

“Except for Pasha,” he said.

“It is not him.”

He had to agree. John had handpicked Pasha, who had a vested interest in seeing Franko’s invasion plans foiled or at least blunted. Plus the CIA had vetted him before Sommerhaus and electronically surveilled him for months afterward.

“That leaves you, Sean Fernando, and whoever else knew Sommerhaus,” she said. “I do not think it was you anymore.”

“I’m touched. Why not?”

“You showing up. If you, this is the last place you would come.”

“Then the same logic applies to Sean. He reached out to me. Why do that if he’s worried about me unraveling his secret?”

“Which leaves the others who knew of Sommerhaus.”

Who that might be, he did not know. But how could he pose that question to Sean? Tricky telling a guy that a colleague might be a traitor.

But maybe there was one other possibility.
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LUKE’S ANALYTICAL MIND WAS SPIRALING WITH A FLURRY OF THOUGHTS, some of which he dismissed as either unnecessary or impractical. Others warranted more consideration. He was an intelligence officer. His job was to make assessments, the kind of tough decisions that Cotton Malone had warned him about.

“It’s all on you. Nobody else can make the call because nobody else is there with the information you have. That’s why we get the big bucks.”

He’d smiled at the last part. Magellan Billet agents made little to nothing, considering. But no one did the job for money.

“It’s possible,” he said to Danielle, “that, for whatever reason, the SVR was watching one of our agents and got suspicious. Or they picked up some electronic chatter and tracked it back. It all could have come from their end, not ours.”

She frowned, considering his theory. “Possible? Sure. Nopor was not the only operation they were running. They could have come across Sommerhaus. If they did, why I not targeted? No play has been made on me. They knew me. Whoever on your end burned John, did not.”

“How do you know that?”

“He told me he run me on his own.”

That raised a multitude of questions, but he let them slide. “Let’s get back to John. You know he’s alive and you know he’s imprisoned at the White Sea. And it took you a year to find this out?”

“My new passport says I am Lívia Tóth, a Hungarian university student. First I worry about getting into Russia, not knowing if my picture was posted at border crossing. Then Lívia Tóth wandering around Russia asking questions about a missing American spy? How long would that last?”

He got her point.

And understood about being on your own.

Like here. Right now.

He was still assessing, and part of that was trying to feel her stress. Her anxiety. And over not just the possibility of SVR capture, but also the uncertainty of whether she’d ever again find the man she clearly cared for. He should say something supportive, though he doubted she wanted to hear that right now. But what did she want?

“How did you finally learn John is alive?”

“I find a prison guard open to bribery. He works for FSIN, that runs Russia’s gulags. Where he works is short-staffed. He rotates through three different sites, five days at a time.”

He saw the handwriting on the wall. “And he won’t tell you which prison until you pay him more.”

“Worse than that. At last meeting he brought along a friend. Ugly looking, with bad tattoos and a gun at his waistband.”

“Something tells me that wouldn’t be much of a problem for you.”

“Problem was more immediate. If I balk at price they might turn me over to the SVR or FSB and hope for bigger reward. Strange woman asking about an imprisoned American? Anyone can do math.”

He appreciated her levity. “The SVR teach you English?”

She nodded. “Required learning.”

“So you came back to life and contacted Pasha because you need help?”

“No choice. I had to. Pasha told me yesterday you would come. I wanted to meet you.”

“I make a good first impression?”

She snickered. “You seem capable.”

“Did you get proof of life?”

She nodded. “I had him ask John what Lívia’s favorite flower is.”

“What was the answer you got?”

“It is him. No doubt. John is alive. There was also something else in his reply. Three words.”

He waited.

“Need Luke Urgent.”

Now he knew exactly why he was here. “How quickly can you arrange a meeting with this guard of yours?”

“I hear what you say, that SVR may have discovered all on their own, but I think somebody burn John. I think somebody in the Sommerhaus team.”

“Your point?”

“Until I decide otherwise, all are suspect.”

He wondered whether he’d feel any differently in her shoes. Probably not. She’d essentially been living behind enemy lines on wit, instinct, and guts. When it came to dealing with traitors the SVR was as vicious as its ancestor, the dreaded Cheka. So she’d earned the right to be paranoid.

“That include me?”

“For now? No.”

“At some point we have to get on the same page,” he said. “If not, our chance of saving John drops from low to nonexistent.”

She hesitated for a moment, clearly considering everything. Finally, she said, “I have call to make to the guard.”

Fair enough. “What is your favorite flower?”

“Hollowroot. They cover forest floor here in spring with beautiful purple bloom. Then they wither and die, like they were never there.”
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WEDNESDAY — MAY 21— 6:05 P.M.

LUKE FELT A SHIVER OF ANXIETY AS HE AND DANIELLE ENTERED Horodnia. Aside from a trio of cannons that had been presented to the Ukrainians there by Peter the Great for their heroism during the Swedish invasion of 1709, the town had only one other fascinating feature. As Danielle explained, the road north, where the borders of Ukraine, Russia, and Belarus met, was largely unpatrolled. Whether due to oversight or laziness, at the right time of night, especially from 2:30 A.M. to around dawn, you could cross from Ukraine into Russia without being noticed by either cameras or watchtowers.

“There’s got to be a reason it’s not patrolled,” he said. “Any idea why?”

“That whole area is crisscrossed with unfinished oil pipes. The road is some kind of commercial hub with construction trailers, cranes, dumpsters. You see this all over Russia, especially at borders. Big projects run out of money.”

“Do you have any overhead imagery?”

“Just Google Earth. From border there is nothing for thirty kilometers north, to Klimovo, inside Russia.”

He was still skeptical that the Russians had such a glaring leak in their fence but, after all, there were thousands of miles of border to patrol. Still, the whole thing could be a honey pot. What made this one unique was the fact that a war raged just to the south of the crossing in Ukraine. It seemed territory like that would be jealously guarded.

Earlier in the day they’d slipped into Ukraine from Hungary and driven fast through the country northward. The war had taken a toll. Destruction lay everywhere. But this area had recently been retaken by Ukraine from Russian troops and was now relatively calm. Traveling through war zones was never easy. He knew them well, having served multiple tours in Afghanistan as a Ranger before cycling out and going to work for the Magellan Billet.

Horodnia had taken heavy shelling, and the buildings showed the scars. But its residents were trying to live some semblance of a normal life. He and Danielle had not lingered and quickly left the town behind, staying on a path northward. Finally, she’d reached a small diner. He was amazed the place was still open. She eased off the road and parked, dousing the headlights. He’d decided her rusting Volkswagen Polo, with Russian license plates, was a safer choice than his rental car. How she’d managed to get ahold of the Polo he had not asked, and she probably wouldn’t have told him anyway.

But he did want to know, “How did you find out about this crossing?”

“After using main border checkpoints for a month my nerves were gone. I was certain my luck would run out, so I start looking for better spot. I decided Horodnia the place, so I got job as waitress at this diner.” She pointed through the windshield. “I work the night shift and spend my days scouting border.”

“That’s a good way to draw attention to yourself.”

“Better than skulking at night. I took up jogging. Stopped a few times by border patrols, but they got to know my face and leave me alone. Some even start calling me Fit Lívia.”

“Nice play,” he said.

“Your turn. You keep quiet all day. What did Sean Fernando say?”

Back at Pasha’s he’d called Sean. For two reasons. First, he needed to pass on Danielle’s suspicions about a mole on the Sommerhaus team. Second, he had to find out more about her.

“I hear you, Luke,” Sean said. “But without evidence or, hell, even a thread to pluck at, you don’t start interrogating your colleagues. Aside from me and the deputy director himself, only two people had full access to Sommerhaus details, both veteran analysts with impeccable records. I’m talking about folks who get vetted and dissected four times a year. It can’t be here.”

“Finding out who burned John is almost as important to Danielle Otero as getting him out. What’s her story?”

“What makes you think I know?”

“You do.”

“Like she told you, she was trained at the SVR academy. Operational security, agent recruitment, espionage network management, psychological operations, hand-to-hand combat, communications. The whole litany. Nopor was her first field operation, so her hands-on skills had yet to be battle-tested.”

“She’s green?”

“As an apple. Though she wants you to think she’s a pro. We checked her out after the walk-in. She studied fundamental and applied linguistics at Lomonosov Moscow State University. Her language skills caught the attention of the SVR. In the last year at university she was approached by a recruiter. She started out in Directorate R, Operational Planning and Analysis, but always had her eye on Directorate S, Illegal Intelligence.”

He knew about that directorate, which involved hardcore spying abroad.

“But she was disillusioned. Our sources on the ground in Moscow confirmed that she told her superiors that she was not aboard with Nopor.”

“Which means she was not on their Christmas card list.”

“To say the least.”

“Do we need to talk about why you didn’t give me a heads-up?”

“If I’d had an inkling it was her that reached out to us, I would’ve said so. Pasha kept that to himself and I trusted him. There’s no hidden agenda here, Luke. Promise. But watch yourself with her. There’s no telling which team she’s really playing for. We never actually answered that question.”

“Why are we here?” he asked Danielle, motioning toward the diner.

She checked her watch. “We have eight hours before window opens for us to go north. We need sleep.”

She stepped from the car, walked into the diner, then reemerged five minutes later and climbed back behind the wheel, driving the car around to the back of the diner. He followed her up a set of wooden steps to a glass-paneled door, where she inserted a key and stepped inside.

“Yana, who owns diner, lets me stay here when in town,” she said. “She lives below, so do not clomp around.”

Much of the apartment was cramped by a low, angled ceiling. The space, he decided, seemed a converted attic. The walls were painted bright white, the hardwood floors covered in thick rugs, the furniture a mix and match of flea-market décor. But everything was clean and tidy. There was a kitchenette, a small sitting room, one bedroom, and a bath.

“Couch is yours,” she told him.

Not so fast. “Tell me what the guard said when you called.”

“I will. Once across the border.”

“I prefer now. Think of it as a trust-building exercise.”

She let out a sigh and dropped into a vinyl recliner. He sat on the dusty sofa.

“He will meet us in Vologda, two nights from now.”

“Where’s Vologda?”

“Six hours north of Moscow.”

“That’s a long way from here.”

And a lot of dangerous enemy territory to infiltrate. For her? Not a problem. For him? Like, what could go wrong?

“He lives there,” she said.

“What else do you know about him? Wife, kids, outstanding debts, enemies?”

“I know he knows where John is. That’s enough for me.”

“You only know that he says he knows. He’s a wild card, and we can’t afford to take the chances he’s demanding. We’ll be bare-ass-to-the-wind once we’re in Russia.” He decided to use some of his southern charm along with what he’d been told was a winning smile. “Danielle, you’ve gotta let me help. If you don’t want to trust Sean or the CIA, fine. Remember what you said back at Pasha’s. Why else would I have come here, if not to find John?”

“I want to keep distance between what we are doing and CIA.”

“I’m not CIA. I work for a unit in the Justice Department called the Magellan Billet. I was on loan to the CIA with Sommerhaus. I have no love for Langley either. I’m here for John.”

She seemed to seriously consider what he’d said. “Okay, Mr. Justice Department. We do this together.”

“We’re going to need some intel help. I have someone who can provide that, and she’s 100 percent on our side. Give me the guard’s full name and I’ll turn her loose on him.”

“Who is ‘her’?”

“Marcia Pooler. She’s attached to the Magellan Billet, not CIA. I trust her with my life.”

No field operative could work in a vacuum.

Even James Bond had M and Q.

“Fedot Osipov,” she finally said. “He lives in Vologda, works for FSIN, drives a brown pickup truck. Should be enough to get started. Oh, and he has a really ugly friend with lots of tattoos.”
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THURSDAY — MAY 22

LUKE WOKE AND CHECKED HIS WATCH.

A little after midnight.

The sitting room was empty.

He’d been Ranger dozing, a state somewhere between actual sleep and wakefulness. One ear in his dreams, the other on his surroundings. An unteachable skill, one acquired through living and working in an active combat zone. Part of staying alive.

What had roused him?

He heard it. Again.

A creak on the wooden steps outside?

Then a scratching sound.

Metal grating on the door’s lock plate. He grabbed the 9mm from the floor beside the couch and clicked off the safety. Then quietly padded into Danielle’s room and shook her awake, placing a finger to his lips, mouthing, Company. From under her pillow she retrieved a gun. She might be green and unproven, but he liked she was prepared.

Then again, she was trained SVR.

Together, they crept down the hallway toward the front door. He gestured for Danielle to position herself toward the bathroom doorway. He sidestepped her and made it to the kitchen, dropping to one knee. He placed his fingertips on the door plate in the hope of feeling the scratch of a door pick on the other side. Nothing. Outside, all was quiet. No more squeaks. He waited and listened for another full minute before signaling Danielle to join him.

“Window,” he whispered.

She duck-walked into the kitchen and rose beside the window overlooking the café’s back parking lot. She watched for a while, then glanced at him and shook her head. The look on her face said, Are you sure you heard something?

He nodded and motioned for her to stay there while he retreated to the couch, where he switched out the 9mm for the MP5. Then he returned to the kitchen and whispered, “I’m going to have a look around.”

He slipped out the front door, then made a careful circuit of the diner. No lights burned in any windows. No one in sight. Two cars sat in the parking lot. He checked both, pressing his palm against each hood. Engines cold. He returned to the apartment and Danielle let him in.

“I must’ve been wrong,” he said.

“When it comes to these things it’s better to check and be wrong, than other way around.”

He agreed.

“I’m going back to bed,” she said. “We can still get a couple more hours of rest.”

But he was still bothered.

Somebody had been out there.

At 2:00 A.M. Luke’s watch alarm buzzed.

He checked his phone.

Nothing new from Marcia.

Earlier, before going to sleep he’d sent her a text with Fedot Osipov’s particulars. She sent her standard Working on it reply. That meant she was all over it, doing everything she could to provide him with viable working information, and she’d make contact when she had something to offer. She prided herself on her work and he’d come to depend on her when he needed accurate intel fast. He was damn glad to have her on this mission.

He stepped into the hallway and found Danielle standing in the bathroom.

“You make coffee,” she said. “I will shower.”

He located some instant in the refrigerator and scooped some into a pair of smiley-face mugs from the cabinet, then filled the electric kettle and turned it on. He’d just added the boiling water when Danielle appeared in the doorway, dressed but vigorously rubbing her hair with a towel.

She bathed fast. He handed her a mug.

“The shower is yours,” she said. “We leave in ten minutes.”

He stood under the cold water for three minutes, which definitely woke his senses, then toweled off, downed the rest of his coffee, and brushed his teeth. He emerged from the bathroom in fresh clothes from his Lug bag to find Danielle leaning against the front door, backpack slung over her shoulder, ready to go.

“How long does it take to get ready?” she asked.

“You can’t rush beauty.”

“Okay, we go with that.”

Good to know she had some semblance of a sense of humor.

He packed his travel bag and grabbed the weapons, then they left, locking the door behind them. She drove around to the front of the diner and shoved the apartment key through the mail slot. Then she settled back behind the wheel. “Ready?”

He reached into the backseat, grabbed from the Pelican case three magazines, then laid the MP5 across his lap. “Ready.”

“You expect trouble?”

“Every minute of every day.” He checked his watch. “It’s 2:30 in the morning. The window has opened. Dawn is a few hours away.”

“Those my words, not yours,” she said.

“You copyrighted them?”

She smiled. “Something like that.”

They left Horodnia behind and soon found themselves on a winding road bordered by dark fields. The headlights revealed they were freshly plowed and ready for spring planting. He knew from news reports that the war had moved more to the south and east, which explained the lack of Russian and Ukrainian forces.

“What’s the crop here?” he asked.

“Do I look like farmer?”

“Somebody needs a second cup of coffee.”

“You not wrong. Sorry. Mainly wheat.”

He knew Ukraine was often described as the breadbasket of Europe. Nearly 10 percent of all the wheat in the world came from here. But maize, barley, and rapeseed were also high on its list of exports, and the country’s sunflower oil made up nearly half the world market. The prolonged war with Russia had caused severe reductions in production, jeopardizing the food security of many countries around the globe.

Which made this war everyone’s problem.

“You bothered by what happened earlier?” he asked her.

“You say someone was there, so someone was there. Question is who.”

He agreed. “And why?”

They kept heading north without seeing another vehicle, until Danielle slowed and took an unmarked turnoff. The road narrowed and changed from asphalt to gravel then to dirt. The headlights showed a pair of ruts leading up into the deep gloom of evergreens. Rock scraped the rear axle. If the ruts grew much deeper they could bog down. They were seriously in the woods. They climbed around a hill shoulder and the path ahead deteriorated into two irregular channels that surely formed streambeds in wet weather. Finally the terrain leveled and she stopped the Polo beside a waist-high white pole with red spiral stripes.

“This is it,” she said.

He wasn’t sure what he’d been expecting, but it wasn’t this. No fencing, signage, or ramshackle guard shack. No lights. Nothing to suggest you were about to cross an international border except something that looked like a barber pole from the shop back in Blount County, Tennessee, where he was born and raised.

“A bit anti-climactic,” he said.

“It is what it is.”

As she’d described, the area was a labyrinth of pipes suspended across the makeshift path, through the trees, on massive A-frame supports. Construction trailers mounted on cinder blocks abutted the dirt road, three on one side, four on the other. Half a dozen dumpsters piled high with rubble and scrap metal sat alongside them, three to a side. This was not a routine checkpoint. More a place where construction crews had once moved back and forth between two nations.

Now it seemed forgotten.

A stripe of light passed over the Polo’s dashboard. He turned and glanced through the rear window. A pair of headlights had appeared on the path behind them.

Out of nowhere.

“Has that ever happened?” he asked.

“Never.”

The headlights stopped.

Their height off the ground told him it was either an SUV or a pickup truck.

“Border patrol?” he asked.

She shook her head. “Any patrol would have flashers on by now. Why are they just sitting there?”

“I think we have our answer as to who was scoping us out earlier. Somebody made us. And now here they are, waiting.”

He was nearly inside Russian territory, illegally, as an American intelligence officer on an unsanctioned mission. If he was caught, his own country would disavow him and Russia would at worst torture him, at best kill him. Moments like this was when the Ranger creed became important.

Energetically will I meet the enemies of my country. I shall defeat them on the field of battle for I am better trained and will fight with all my might. Surrender is not a Ranger word. I will never leave a fallen comrade to fall into the hands of the enemy and under no circumstances will I ever embarrass my country.

“What are they waiting for?” Danielle asked.

“For us to commit ourselves.”

“Got it,” she said.

And she jammed the gas pedal to the floorboard.







17.

LUKE WAS GLAD THAT WHATEVER THE POLO LACKED IN AESTHETICS, IT made up for in pep.

The car surged forward and broke through the border barrier.

He stole a glance back through the rear windshield. The SUV still had not moved. If they weren’t suspicious before, they were now.

“A few more seconds and we will have too much of a head start,” she said through clenched teeth. “They will never catch us.”

He knew better. “They won’t have to.”

Spotlights above each construction trailer’s door suddenly popped on, casting the dirt road in stark white light. Like fighter jets in formation, three SUVs appeared from behind the dumpsters and took up station astride the road. The car doors opened and men climbed out, eight or nine Luke estimated, all armed with assault rifles. He also felt another flash of déjà vu. To a Luxembourg warehouse. Heavily armed bad guys in more SUVs. All part of a larger, more painful memory that he’d like to forget.

“I’m turning around,” she said, voice rising.

“No. Keep going.”

“Are you crazy?”

“They’ll pump a hundred bullets into us before you make the turn. Floor it and aim for the center vehicle.”

Playing chicken was a rite of passage in Tennessee.

And he’d been really good at it.

He rolled down his window and maneuvered his body until he was sitting on the doorframe, right foot hooked under the dashboard. He had as stable a firing platform as he was going to get, so he leveled the MP5, took aim on the center SUV’s engine, and opened fire with short, three-round bursts. The noise suppressor worked great, the cycling of the gun’s bolt louder than the gunfire itself. One more volley was all it took to puncture the radiator. Steam gushed out, engulfing the two nearest men. He switched the MP5 to single-shot, shifted his aim, laid the scope’s reticle dot on a man standing beside the left-hand SUV, and fired.

Down the man went.

The one behind didn’t seem to have the stomach for a firefight and darted toward a construction trailer. He managed five steps before Luke dropped him with another round. As he’d hoped, the precision and speed of his attack had caused them to momentarily freeze, but he knew it wouldn’t last long.

And it didn’t.

Muzzles flashed orange.

“Head down,” he shouted to Danielle as he pressed himself tighter to the car, offering a smaller target.

A bullet pinged off the Polo. Two more snapped past his head, then three more grazed the roof beside his left elbow.

“Faster,” he shouted. “Slalom.”

“What does means?”

“Weave.”

The Polo slewed right. He felt himself tipping backward.

A bullet thudded into the Polo’s rear window.

He looked back.

The trailing SUV was coming up fast, but it wouldn’t be in better shooting range for another ten or fifteen seconds. He switched the MP5 back to three-round burst, took aim on the few men stupid enough to not take cover behind the car doors, and emptied the magazine, dropping one and scattering the others. Whoever these guys were, they were well armed but poorly trained.

So much the better.

Skill nearly always beat a superior force.

“We’re getting awfully close to them,” Danielle shouted.

She was right. The line of SUVs was just a hundred yards away now. While one of the enemy vehicles was out of action and a second one’s grille was steaming, Luke knew he and Danielle had no chance of outrunning them. Better to make their stand here, where at least they had some cover.

He wiggled himself back into the car. Danielle was crouched in her seat, eyes level with the dashboard, driving.

“More slalom,” he said. “Their aim isn’t worth a damn.”

Another sign these guys had little to no experience. Shooting stationary targets was one thing, hitting moving bodies that shifted back and forth, while returning fire, was a whole different ball game. She whipped the wheel and forced the Polo into a series of erratic S-turns.

“We’re making a stand here,” he told her. “See that first construction trailer on the left? When I give the word, turn hard behind it. I’ll dive out. You keep going and bail out behind that line of dumpsters.”

“Got it.”

But he recalled she was not the most experienced in the field. “You up for this?”

“Watch me.”

He liked the confidence, but offered, “Put something between you and them. Fire from cover. Shoot, move, repeat. Make them come to you. Be a distraction. I’ll do the heavy lifting.”

“Understood.”

“Now. Turn left.”

She spun the wheel hard over. For a moment the Polo’s passenger-side tires lifted from the ground before she corrected and they bounced back down.

The construction trailer loomed.

“If you can get inside one of those,” he said, “do it. Lie on the floor.”

Luke stuck his MP5 out the window and fired two more bursts. The Polo swept past the edge of the trailer. He opened his door, tucked himself into a ball, rolled out, and crashed to a stop against one of the cinder-block supports. Danielle disappeared from view, clipping the open passenger door on the trailer’s corner, slamming it shut. The gunfire, which had momentarily slackened when they disappeared around the trailer, erupted again at the Polo’s reemergence.

Now was his moment.

With any luck these guys were undisciplined enough to forget a firefight was three-dimensional. He tucked the MP5 into his shoulder, rounded the trailer, and hustled to the front corner. Back on the road the trailing SUV skidded to a stop amid a cloud of dirt. He poked his head around and spotted muzzles flashing, but none in his direction. The bad guys were focused on Danielle.

Time for some darkness.

He planted a bullet into the spotlight above the trailer’s door, dousing it, then did the same thing to the one across the road.

The doors to the trailing SUV opened.

He aimed the MP5’s reticle on what he guessed was the driver’s door and waited for the dirt cloud to dissipate. He caught the curve of a head and sent a bullet into it, then shifted right, found center mass on the backseat passenger, and fired rounds into him.

Scratch two more.

Five down in total.

Half crouched, he spun on his heel and retraced his steps to the rear of the trailer, sprinted down its length, and swung around the next corner. When the trailer opposite him came into view he shot out its spotlight, then stepped out far enough to clear his weapon and scan for the nearest target.

Thirty feet away.

Half turned away from him, firing at the dumpster across the road.

A figure ducked out from behind the dumpster, fired twice, then disappeared out of sight.

Way to go, Danielle.
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LUKE FELT A MOMENTARY PANG OF GUILT. THESE MEN WERE MAKING NO attempt to flank Danielle, something any army boot camp graduate would know to do. Instead they were leaving themselves exposed on two fronts. They had no business being out here. Time to convince them of that.

“Hey,” he shouted at one of them, trying to garner his attention.

The guy whirled around.

Luke shot him in the chest.

Then he reversed course behind the trailer, keeping low and close to its side. Bullets punched through the thin metal wall above him. Ahead, a figure rounded the trailer’s corner, weapon up.

Luke shot him twice.

Never hesitate. Not once. In a firefight you did only one thing.

Fire.

A second man appeared, his weapon dangling from his right hand.

Luke was ten feet away and yelled, “Drop it.”

The man froze.

Another firefight rule. Always keep your weapon up and aimed, finger on the trigger.

The man dropped the rifle.

You also did not shoot unarmed people. “Do you understand English?”

The man nodded.

“Run back down that road fast. If you stop or turn around, you’re dead.”

The man sprinted away.

He cleared the next corner, paused to insert a new magazine into the MP5, then sprinted toward the trailing SUV and crouched behind its open door. He braced the MP5 on the frame and surveyed the situation.

There were three of them.

Clustered together, frantically scanning their surroundings. Spooked? Stunned? He’d been there himself. The fog of battle hit like a sledgehammer. The trick was to conquer the fear and think your way through it.

“Hey,” he shouted again.

In unison they turned in his direction.

“Nobody moves, and you live through this,” he told them.

Two of them did as ordered but the third sidestepped, trying to get an angle to fire. His weapon started coming up.

“Last warning,” Luke called out.

The guy ignored him and kept moving.

He ended him with one shot. “Any more volunteers?”

The two survivors required no further convincing, dropping their weapons and raising their hands. Behind them a figure suddenly stepped out from behind a trailer and fired a single shot.

The round whizzed by him.

He took aim on the shooter with the MP5, his finger on the trigger. Silhouetted by one of the remaining trailer lights he saw a mop of curly hair.

Danielle.

Firing at him?

“Behind you,” she called out.

He turned around. Lying in the dirt, twenty feet away, was the man he’d sent running, a pistol in his splayed hand.

So much for showing mercy.

And so much for her being inexperienced. She might be, but she could clearly shoot straight.

“Much obliged,” he said.

Then he advanced, ordering the two men prone to the dirt, hands clasped behind their heads. Danielle frisked each one in turn, then piled their belongings off to the side.

“Either of you want to chat?” Luke asked in English.

One of the men, taller and more muscular than his compatriot, spoke up in Russian.

Danielle translated. “He said they have nothing to say.”

Luke fired a bullet into the dirt beside the guy’s head. “How about now? Tell him I want to know two things. Did he scope us out earlier on the other side of the border? And who sent him?”

Danielle posed the two questions in Russian.

But no one spoke.

He decided to try honey instead of salt. “Tell them that whoever it was doesn’t give a damn about them. Their boss will not lose any sleep when he finds out most of them aren’t coming back?”

She did. More silence.

He waited, allowing them to think about it. He also kept reminding himself that he was standing on Russian territory and had just killed a lot of people. Those two definitely did not go together.

One of the men finally spoke and Danielle translated. “He wants to know what we are going to do with them?”

“Go through that SUV and see if there’s anything that might help us identify these people,” he told her while he thought on the question.

She hustled off.

And he considered what he was going to do with them. Let them go? Not good since, as he reminded himself again, he was in Russia and the last one he let go came back to haunt him. How long would it be before these guys reported to their boss? Not long. So kill them? It was an option, but not for him. Not his way. In the heat of battle? Absolutely. He’d pulled the trigger many times and just ended several lives a few minutes ago. But in cold blood? Never.

Or almost never, anyway.

Nothing but silence kept coming from the men on the ground. Good little soldiers, he’d give them that. Danielle emerged from the SUV and gave him a shake of her head.

Nothing there.

“Do the same for the bodies,” he asked her, hoping there might be something.

He stood in the darkness, dawn a few hours away, and pondered his dilemma. These guys had no idea where he and Danielle were headed. Or did they? Had Danielle’s negotiable guard and his tattooed sidekick sent them? Or was someone else involved? Hard to say. But one thing was clear. He had to keep going.

For John Vince’s sake.

Danielle returned, leaned in, and whispered, “Nothing on the bodies. No ID. No phones. They came clean.”

Nothing to link them to anybody or anywhere. Which meant they were flying blind. But somebody clearly knew their business.

“Find some rope. Something we can use to tie these guys up. It should buy us time to disappear.”

“Why not just shoot them?”

“Trust me,” he said. “That’s a road you don’t wanna go down. A friend of mine once told me that killin’ people isn’t easy. And he was right. We won this fight. Let’s take our victory and go.”
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REPUBLIC OF KARELIA — 9:40 A.M.

EDMON FOLLOWED A GUARD THROUGH THE DOOR AND DOWN A LONG corridor, until the man stopped before another door, which stood open. The room beyond contained only a steel desk and two hard-backed chairs. No windows, no decoration, the walls cracked and the wood paneling warped.

“Please wait here, Colonel Grishin,” the uniformed guard said.

“Colonel.” He liked the sound of that about as much as he liked the stiffness of the MVD uniform Aleksei had arranged for him to wear. It had been a while since he last was formally dressed, and he missed nothing about the experience. Though the uniform was real the document he carried, authorizing him to interview prisoner 2275, was fiction, save the real Ministry of Internal Affairs letterhead and department authorization code. True to his word, and testament to his enduring influence—which Edmon never doubted—Aleksei had discovered the exact prison at which Efim Kozar, former head of the Red Star program, was being held.

Something called Site 6439.

Whatever that meant.

“Is this your first time in the Northwestern Federal District?” the guard asked.

Not at all. He was quite familiar with Karelia’s official designation. It sat in northwest Russia against Finland. A huge swath of territory. Home to half a million people. Founded as an autonomous republic in 1923, it remained a republic in the old Soviet Union and stayed part of the Russian Federation even after the 1991 dissolution. The town of Kem was home to the prison’s off-site reception center. It sat on the shores of the White Sea where the River Kem entered. Only about twelve thousand people lived there. In Lenin and Stalin’s time Kem had been the departure point for boats headed off to gulags located in the Solovetsky Islands, carrying political prisoners. During the Cold War the town was the site of an air base. Not much in Kem today besides an impressive wooden cathedral erected three hundred years ago. All in all, the perfect out-of-the-way place to stash a secret prison.

“It is my first time here,” he lied to the guard.

Important was the fact that, documents or not, even a colonel in Russia’s federal police was not allowed to set foot inside Site 6439. Contact came only through an off-site visitor center. That meant Site 6439 was one of Konstantin Franko’s important gulags.

There, but not there.

Neither he nor Aleksei had been told the prison’s exact location, only that it was near Kem. This far north distances were vast. Nearby could be anywhere within three hundred kilometers.

“Please make yourself comfortable,” the guard said. “The prisoner will be here shortly.”

The man was young and skinny, with a protruding Adam’s apple and a sweaty face.

“Can I get you a cup of tea, Colonel?”

Edmon sat. “No, thank you.”

Time to probe.

“I am sorry, I have forgotten your name,” he said to the guard.

“Goga Sorokin.”

“Are you nervous, Goga?”

“A bit, sir.”

“I hope it’s not me. I do not bite.”

“No, sir. It is just that this is my first off-site prisoner transport. It has taken me two years to get assigned here. I do not want to make a mistake.”

“That I can understand. Site 6439 does have something of a reputation. I think you are doing just fine. Rumor is, one does not get assigned here unless the bosses see great promise. How do you find the duty?”

“Everything still feels new, though the salt air and humidity play hell with the paint. Our maintenance guys always complain about it.”

First hit. The prison was somewhere near the coast, or perhaps on an island. He decided to take a shot in the dark.

“Please tell me you do not get seasick?” he asked with a chuckle.

“Thankfully, no. That would be a mighty long two hours, otherwise.”

Second hit. An island. Two hours away. That narrowed it down. Information was golden. “Do you oversee a lot of inmates?”

“I am sorry, Colonel. I probably should not talk about such details.”

Finally, the well ran dry. He held up the palms of his hands. “Say no more. I understand. But please tell me they pay you well. Stationed up here, especially in the winter, must be a hardship.”

“Money is always tight, but that is just the way of things.”

He wondered how young Sorokin would react if someone put a year’s worth of salary in his hands.

“Do you have family nearby?” he asked. “Surely that is not a state secret.”

“A wife and son in Arkhangelsk.”

“You see them often?”

“On my free weekends.”

“Such a joy to be with family.”

They kept chatting, Edmon gently extracting details about Sorokin, and to a lesser degree Site 6439, until finally a second guard arrived with a disheveled older man in baggy green coveralls and a matching cap. Efim Kozar was painfully thin and pale as a corpse. His hands, almost skeletal in appearance, roped with veins, trembled from the cold. The eyes were tired and rheumy. Sorokin and the second guard led Kozar to a chair, then cuffed his legs and hands to the steel frame.

“Those will not be necessary,” Edmon said.

The second guard said, “It is standard procedure.”

“Gentlemen, I appreciate your concern, but this old man is no danger to me. Let him have a few minutes of comfort.”

This last line he delivered directly to the young guard Sorokin, who nodded and said, “Okay. We will make an exception this time.”
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EDMON WATCHED AS THE RESTRAINTS WERE REMOVED AND THE SECOND guard left the room.

“We will be right outside, Colonel,” Sorokin said.

“I appreciate that.” Then he dropped his voice into a conspiratorial whisper. “Goga, I need complete privacy with this prisoner. It is a national security issue. Tell me truly, is this room under video surveillance?”

“No, Colonel.”

“Listening devices?”

“That I do not know.”

“I appreciate your honesty. I have changed my mind. Could I trouble you for that tea? One for him as well.”

Once Sorokin departed Edmon sat in the other chair and stared at his clasped hands until Sorokin returned with the tea and the door was again shut. From his jacket’s inside pocket he removed a device the size of a pack of playing cards. He switched on the power and placed it on the table.

Kozar’s eyes focused on it. “Frequency skip emitter. You came prepared.”

“I prefer no one listen to our conversation.” He motioned to the cups. “Tea?”

“What is in it?”

Edmon took a sip, then traded cups and sipped the other. “Just tea. No poison.”

Kozar snatched up one of the cups and quaffed it in one swallow.

“They do not give you tea inside the prison?”

“Not hot. More colored tepid water.”

He smiled. “That is no way to treat a man of your talents.”

“What do you know of my talents?”

“Red Star still flies.”

The eyes came alive. “Who are you?”

“Edmon Grishin.”

“I know that name.”

He watched as the old man rattled through his memory before a spindly finger pointed his way.

“You were Aleksei Delov’s personal bodyguard.”

He tipped his head. “I still am. At your service.”

The old man appraised him with skeptical eyes before saying, “Delov got my message?”

“He did. And sent me. You were one of the Soviet Union’s most gifted scientists.”

“Not was. I still am.”

He nodded. “Fortune does favor the bold.”

Kozar reached for the other cup and enjoyed another long swallow of tea.

“Why are you in prison?” he asked Kozar.

“I gave a lecture comparing the reign of Stalin to that of Konstantin Franko. Quite enlightening, too. Not insulting or threatening, just an intellectual exercise. A hypothesis. Apparently one of the students posted a recording of it to the web. A few days later I was arrested and brought before someone I assumed was a judge. He said the evidence of my crime was sufficient to find me guilty and sentenced me to sixty months for sedition.”

“It seems that judge does not know the definition of sedition.”

“My thought too. But here I am. I have thirty-five months left on my sentence. Can Delov shorten it?”

“That depends. How did you get that message out?”

They needed to know.

“Through my wife. They allow us visits with family and an occasional phone call or letter. I thought Red Star might catch Aleksei Olegovich Delov’s attention. So she sent him a post.”

“You know Delov?”

The old man nodded. “I was on the front line the day they tried to oust him.”

“As was I. On which side were you?”

“The one that does not champion ignorance.”

“Then we are alike. Are you allowed newspapers in prison?”

“Bits and pieces, all censored.”

“Are you familiar with what is happening in Ukraine?”

The old scientist’s shoulders sank and he squeezed his eyes shut. “Painfully, I am.”

Something in Kozar’s tone prickled the hair on the back of Edmon’s neck. “Is that why you brought up Red Star?”

“We left it up there for just this situation.”

“Who is ‘we’?”

“Delov and I.” The old man pointed skyward. “It is still there. Waiting. Ready to act. Provided you know how to wake it.”

“And you do?”

Kozar nodded. “But I will need someone else to assist.”

“Ilya Mashir?”

“You have been busy,” Kozar said, then nodded. “He designed the entire Zenit and Red Star programs.”

He felt for this old man. Helpless. Totally at the mercy of Konstantin Franko. Imprisoned for nothing more than having an opinion. But why would Franko object to being compared to Stalin? Seems he would consider that a compliment since the man loved everything about totalitarianism. He assumed it was just a matter of principle. No one spoke ill of Franko.

“What is the price to make all this happen?” he asked.

He already knew the answer but wanted to hear it.

“My freedom.”

“Do you know where Mashir can be found?”

Kozar shook his head. “I do not. But Red Star is useless without him. Someone has to wake it. That technology is decades old. You must have someone familiar with that. He’s the only one left.” The old man sat silent a moment, then said, “Do we have a deal?”

“Why do we need you? Mashir can get the job done without you.”

Kozar finished off the tea. “Not true. There are documents. Codes within codes that only I can decipher. As I said, that technology is old. I have those documents. But Mashir will be needed to use them.”

“I will need those documents. Now.”

He knew nothing about Red Star, as Aleksei had been stingy with information. But he was aware of what his old friend was planning, so he said, “You know what Red Star is capable of?”

“Of course. I was the one who created it.”

He decided to probe further. “What do you think Delov will do?”

The old man’s parched, cracked lips grinned, revealing rotten teeth. Instead of replying Kozar pointed to the ceiling with an extended index finger, which he arced out and brought down toward the tabletop, where he flared out both hands and said, “Boom.”

He knew. So he made clear, “We are your only hope of getting out of here.”

“Then, for two more cups of tea, my new fake-colonel friend,” Kozar said. “I will tell you what else you need know.”
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ALEKSEI SAT ON HIS FRONT PORCH AND ALLOWED THE CHILLY NORTHERN air TO soak into his bones. He’d always loved the cold. Every true Russian did. And if he was nothing else, he was Russian.

Born to a poor peasant family of Russian and Ukrainian heritage, he grew up under Stalin’s rule. In his youth he operated combine harvesters on a collective farm before joining the Communist Party. He studied at Moscow State University and married a fellow student, eventually receiving a law degree. After Stalin’s death he became a keen proponent of the de-Stalinization reforms under Khrushchev. Eventually, he became a secretary of the party’s Central Committee, then joined its governing Politburo. Three years after Brezhnev died—following the brief tenures of Andropov and Chernenko—the Politburo elected him general secretary.

Leader of the Soviet Union.

A reformist.

He ended the Cold War, introduced new political and economic freedoms in the Soviet Union, tolerated the fall of communist regimes in Eastern and Central Europe, and paved the way for the reunification of Germany.

The world loved him.

But in Russia, he had his enemies.

Many believed that the dissolution of the Soviet Union weakened Russia’s global influence and precipitated its internal economic collapse. Which gave rise to the oligarchs and organized crime, who now controlled much of the Russian Federation. It also gave rise to a populist philosophy, one that several men, including Konstantin Franko, had exploited to become president of Russia. In some respects, then, he was responsible for the current state of chaos.

But he bore only partial responsibility for Red Star.

Project Zenit was a series of military photoreconnaissance satellites launched by the Soviet Union starting in 1961. Those flights carried the public designation of Kosmos, and there were thousands of them. The basic design was similar to the Vostok manned spacecraft. A spherical reentry capsule with a mass of around twenty-four hundred kilograms. Inside were high-resolution cameras, film, recovery beacons, parachutes, and a self-destruct charge. In orbit the capsule was attached to a service module that contained batteries, electronic equipment, an orientation system, and a liquid-fueled rocket engine that could slow the Zenit capsule for reentry. They flew in an orbit of around two hundred to four hundred kilometers, but some went even higher. The missions lasted between eight to fifteen days and were legitimate efforts to bring back to earth reams of photographic images that KGB analysts pored over to gather intelligence. Publicly, the program was ordered abandoned by Khrushchev a year after the Cuban Missile Crisis. But covertly the launches continued until just after the fall of the Soviet Union.

Red Star sprang from Zenit, first authorized by Brezhnev, brought on by the paranoia and fear the later Cold War stoked. Zenit capsules were modified to accept and hold anywhere from a two- to a fifteen-kiloton nuclear weapon, designed for tactical strikes in the West. They could drop from orbit with a moment’s notice and explode over their target before any enemy could effectively react. Originally the idea was to have a constellation of satellites numbering as many as fifty, each Red Star a first-strike weapon, able to reach targets faster than any ICBM. They came equipped with a weighted nose cone that would not only shield the warhead during reentry but also maintain a precise downward-aimed trajectory for accuracy.

A potent weapon.

Completely illegal.

The 1963 Partial Test Ban Treaty ended all atmospheric and exo-atmospheric nuclear tests. The 1967 Outer Space Treaty banned the stationing of nuclear weapons in space, in addition to all other weapons of mass destruction. The Comprehensive Nuclear-Test-Ban Treaty of 1996 prohibited all nuclear testing anywhere.

Yet the Soviet Union kept launching Red Stars.

When Aleksei assumed the presidency he’d been briefed by the military that the program was winding down. Thirty-six platforms, though, were still in orbit. Operational. He’d been horrified. So many nuclear bombs circling the earth. When the Soviet Union crumbled he’d made sure they were deactivated and destroyed. Each carried a self-destruct charge. Thirty-five were obliterated. One remained.

Red Star IV.

He’d agreed to that as a fail-safe.

Insurance for an uncertain future.

And it was still above the earth in a four-hundred-kilometer orbit, carrying a six-kiloton nuclear weapon. The same person who’d briefed him on the entire program years ago had been the one to send him the reminder.

Red Star still flies.

Efim Kozar.

Currently incarcerated in the Russian prison system.

The old scientist had managed to get himself arrested, so there was little Kozar could do to Franko.

But working together?

They could all do something.
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BRYANSK OBLAST, RUSSIA

LUKE’S PHONE INDICATED THAT THE DRIVE NORTH TO VOLOGDA WOULD take almost fifteen hours, including time for food and refueling stops. He wanted at least twenty-four hours to surveil Fedot Osipov before Danielle was scheduled to meet with him. That seemed the prudent thing to do, considering. It was his turn to drive while Danielle grabbed a quick nap, so they found a gas station to top off the tank.

Refueling was tricky in Russia. He’d been trained in the do’s and don’ts. Do use one of the national brands like Gazpromneft, which had over a thousand stations. Diluting gas was a national pastime. So don’t go to a station where there were few to no people, as that indicated the locals knew the gas was bad. Do pour a little into the palm of your hand. If it evaporates fast, then it’s good. If not, the longer it takes the more water it contains. Don’t allow the tank to drop below half full. Do fill up at every opportunity, as you have no idea when the next opportunity might come along. Gas stations in east Russia were sparse, but the farther west they went the more they saw.

He managed to get the tank topped off and they headed back out on the highway. He’d kept out of sight and quiet and allowed Danielle to pay for the fuel. The eyes and ears of the FSB would be everywhere. And an American? In rural Russia? That would draw a lot of attention. Driving at night was also a challenge since the roads were cratered with potholes. Big deep ones. And he was careful with speed. Not too fast or too slow. All of the police were corrupt. Bribery was a way of life.

About ninety minutes after the gas station stop Danielle roused from a nap and asked, “We good?”

He nodded. “So far, so good.”

Back at the pipeline hub, after tying up the survivors, they’d collected all of the weapons. In addition to the assault rifles there were three semi-automatic shotguns and several 9mm handguns. They’d also gathered the spare ammunition, which they’d loaded into the Polo and taken with them. Miles away they’d tossed most of the weapons into the woods, keeping only two handguns and some spare magazines. Bad enough they were driving through Russia on their own, to be caught with so much firepower would have only made a bad situation worse. They had, of course, taken all the car keys too. Just in case the men managed to free themselves.

“Were you frightened back there?” she asked. “During shooting?”

“Scared to death.”

“You did not act it.”

“That’s the trick. Be scared, but don’t let anyone know you’re scared.”

And while training didn’t kill fear, it sure slipped a muzzle on it.

“Fear’s a natural reaction,” he said.

“I never killed anyone before. It was not how I thought it would be.”

“It never is. The only thing that helps is time. It’s gonna play in your head for a while.”

“He would have killed you.”

“I know. And I appreciate what you did. But it still doesn’t make it any easier to deal with.”

And he spoke from experience.

They drove in silence for another hour.

Danielle slipped in and out of sleep.

The topography was flat and open, like the American Midwest with fertile plains, steppes, and forests. The Ural Mountains divided Russia into two distinct parts. European Russia was the western portion and the most populated area, geographically situated in Europe, as opposed to the country’s sparsely populated and vastly larger eastern part, which was situated in Asia. European Russia was founded first by Slavs, then by Vikings who migrated from Scandinavia. They became adventurers, merchants, and pirates, creating Rus dynasties that eventually came under the sphere of tsars.

“Where you from?” Danielle asked.

“Tennessee. Why?”

“I like your accent.”

“It comes at birth.”

“I am not good at small talk, in case you not noticed.”

He had, but said instead, “Did John ever mention me?”

“He liked you. You were reliable, trustworthy, resourceful. His words, not mine. I still not made up my mind about you yet.”

“What’s your working theory?”

She didn’t reply.

“Okay. I get it. Work in progress. Feel up to a question? Your last name. Otero. Spanish, right?”

“It is. My grandfather fought for Republicans during Spanish Civil War. He was a general, apparently, good one, dedicated communist. He survive four assassination attempts by Nationalists. The last one, a grenade attack, took his left hand. A Russian adviser offered to get him, his wife, and their three children out of Spain and into Soviet Union. My grandfather was torn between dedication to homeland and worry for family. He decided sooner or later the Nationalists would succeed and maybe kill his children. So the Oteros left Spain in 1938 and became Soviet citizens a year later. Three years after that Hitler invaded. My grandfather volunteered to serve and was tank commander. Four years later he froze to death outside Stalingrad.”

“I’m sorry to hear that.”

“Apparently my grandmother was never impressed by communism, either in Spain or here, especially when she realize she could only practice Catholicism behind closed doors. With my grandfather gone she was free to raise children her way.”

“Which was?” he asked.

“Play along, be dedicated party member, but never forget it was all a lie. But she felt that better than having her children killed by Spanish Nationalists.”

“Your father wasn’t a believer either?”

“As a teen he dabbled, but it never took. His mother raise him to be a thinker, not a follower. He raise me same way.”

“Which begs the question, why did you join the SVR?”

“I was born a year after Berlin Wall came down. My parents were Spanish Soviets, for lack of better term, but I born Russian. When nine years old my parents told me stories of their early days. I decide the new Russia was better than USSR, and worth fighting for, so when I graduate from university I apply for government service. Apparently tests said I would make good intelligence operative.”

“And here you are, decades after your family left Spain, facing your own tough choices. Just like your grandmother and your father.”

Danielle glanced sideways at him. “What you mean?”

“The easier path for your grandmother and your father would’ve been to buy into the system. They didn’t. They saw it for what it was. You looked at Russia—at least Konstantin Franko’s version—and also refused to take the easy path of following orders. Doing your duty. Going with your Nopor team into Ukraine. You just walked into that embassy in Moldova. You’re your father’s daughter.”

And, for the first time since he’d met Danielle Otero, she smiled.

“I suppose I am.”
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THEY REACHED VOLOGDA JUST AS THE STREETLIGHTS WERE COMING on for the night. Danielle, who’d told him she’d been here before, offered Luke her version of a travelogue, which turned out to be more a bullet-point outline. The city sat nestled beside the River Vologda with three hundred thousand people. It was classified as a historic city by the Ministry of Culture, and a couple of hundred buildings were marked as heritage monuments. The entire place had a long history dating back centuries and had been one of the first places in Russia to come under Soviet dominance.

Enemy territory at its historic finest.

Their main task was to get some food, rest, and not be noticed. Luckily there were lots of museums, theaters, and exhibitions that drew people from all over. More than enough visitors for them to disappear among.

“I have hotel where I stayed a few times,” she told him. “The Atrium on Ulitsa Gertsena. A little bit on the expensive side, but worth it.”

“Not to worry,” he said. “I have plenty of rubles.”

Their adjoining rooms were spacious, meticulously clean, and decorated in subtly spartan, midcentury modern burnt-orange and brown tones.

He knocked on the pass-through door.

Danielle opened it. “It has been a while since I stay in a place like this.”

He could believe that. Going to ground came with sacrifices. “Don’t get too comfortable. If we get what we need from Fedot, we might be living rough for a while. Wherever they’re keeping John, it’s going to be off the beaten path. And it’s okay, you know.”

“What is?”

“Letting yourself be something other than miserable.”

“You know nothing about me.”

“I know you’ve been carrying a heavy load. There’s nothing wrong with putting it down for a while.”

“I do not want your advice.”

He caught the sharpness in her tone. He’d hit a nerve. Unintentionally, but still a hit.

“When I want advice, I let you know.”

He was about to apologize and beg for forgiveness, but she closed the door. He shook his head. She was volatile. Raw. While he understood why and didn’t blame her, doubts crept into his mind. Could he rely on her if things got dicey? Especially with her being so tunnel-visioned on John? No, not if. When. They were extracting a man from a high-security prison and sneaking him out of a hostile country. Things were definitely going to get bad. But she’d expertly taken down the guy with a gun back at the border. What would Cotton say? Not bad for a rookie. Still, she could lose her cool over the simplest of observations.

He placed a checkmark on all that, telling himself to keep a close eye on her. He then showered and found a pair of socks in his Lug bag. He folded them neatly and tucked them in a drawer.

An old ritual.

He couldn’t remember when or how it started.

But it settled him.

It always worked as a Ranger so he’d maintained the habit with the Magellan Billet. Along with calling his mother every Sunday. No matter what.

A soft knock came on the pass-through door.

He opened it.

“I am sorry,” Danielle said.

“Don’t worry about it.”

“You are right. Wherever John is, he is miserable, beyond words. Feeling happy for me, even for moment, feels wrong.”

“Like a betrayal?”

“Exactly.”

“He wouldn’t see it that way. And we’re going to find him.”

She nodded and forced a smile. Finally, they were making a little progress.

“How do you feel about fried onion rings?” he asked.

She wrinkled her nose. “Never had those.”

“I saw them on the room service menu. Let’s get some.”

Luke watched as her apprehension quickly turned to delight after a first bite. She’d eaten several of the onion rings before realizing what she’d done.

So he ordered a second plate.

“They’re hard to resist,” he told her.

And she agreed.

His phone vibrated with a text alert from Marcia. The message simply said, call me. He speed-dialed her and talked on speaker, introducing Danielle.

“We had a run-in with some folks on the way here,” he said. “I’m going to send you pictures of license plates. Have a look and let me know if there’s anything we need to worry about. Fair warning, it’s all in Russian.”

“Ne volnuytes.”

“You know Russian?” Danielle asked.

“I know how to say ‘no worries’ and ‘where’s the bathroom’ in five languages. After that there is Google Translate. So you two wanna hear about Fedot Osipov? You say he’s a prison guard with Russia’s federal penitentiary system? If so, those folks need to tighten up their human resource procedures. They let a nasty one slip through the cracks. His criminal record is a thing to behold. Drug dealing, pimping, burglary. Boy’s never met a crime he didn’t like. But no violence, which might say something.”

“Anything recent?”

“He’s only twenty-eight, so everything for him is recent. Here’s the interesting thing. He’s got a healthy bank account and a 2023 Land Rover.”

“I only ever see him drive ugly brown pickup truck.”

“How healthy a bank account?” he asked.

“About twenty times more than his annual salary, and that’s not counting accounts he might have hidden. As for his apartment, it’s in one of Vologda’s better neighborhoods. Comps put the price high. He’s supplementing his income somehow and you don’t have to be a rocket surgeon to guess how.”

“A what surgeon?” Danielle asked.

“That’s just me trying to turn a cute phrase, honey. It’s a cross between a brain surgeon and a rocket scientist.”

“I like that.”

“It’s yours. Have fun with it.”

“Marcia, what’s the drug of choice in these parts?”

“Black tar heroin is the cash cow.”

For Luke, that completed Fedot’s portrait. Heroin plus access to prison inmates equaled a cash-flow monopoly. Add the tattooed friend with a gun into the mix and you’ve got a fledgling gang. Hopefully, one unaffiliated with Russia’s organized crime. That was a complication they did not need.

A thought popped into his head. “I have to wonder if those guys back at the border belonged to Fedot. They were too sloppy to have been SVR or FSB teams.”

“It is possible,” Danielle said. “He knew I was coming. But why go to trouble?”

“What does an aspiring drug kingpin fear most?”

She nodded along. “He thought me trying to set him up?”

“It’s possible. He may have thought you were police. But it’s too late to change course. Fedot’s our only conduit, assuming he’s being truthful. Marcia, he supposedly rotates among three different prisons. Could that be true?”

“The FSIN is underfunded, and incarceration has skyrocketed under Franko. More inmates, less money, more deaths. Floating the postings is something they might try. As for which prisons, I’ll take a look but that kind of access sits behind thick firewalls and Russia has its fair share of gifted IT nerds.”

“Bottom-line it for us,” he said.

“Fifty-fifty I can crack the database, but it’s not going to be quick. Better tack is to see if anyone here has already accessed it. I have friends at NSA and military intelligence.”

“I bet you do,” he said. “See what you can find out. Also, can you get me info on the local mafia activity, and if our friendly guard is part of that or freelance. In the meantime we’ll just have to rely on Fedot’s good nature and generous spirit. And hope for the best.”
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VOLOGDA, RUSSIA

FRIDAY — MAY 23 — 9:05 A.M.

LUKE FOLLOWED THE PIN MARCIA HAD DROPPED ONTO HIS PHONE’S MAP and drove across town to Mira Park, a five-thousand-acre forest preserve tucked into a bend of the River Vologda.

Fedot Osipov’s apartment overlooked both.

Marcia, working her computer magic and connections, had determined that Fedot would be on duty at one of the northern prisons until early afternoon. Which meant they had the morning to get into the man’s apartment and hope he was stupid enough to keep his drugs where he slept.

Danielle pulled the Polo to the curb about fifty feet from the address. A trio of three-story buildings, all in salmon-colored brick, sat behind a black wrought-iron fence with gold spear-point tops. Connected to its neighbor by a covered breezeway, each building consisted of a pair of three-story apartments fronted by windows that ran from foundation to eaves. The view into Fedot’s apartment was blocked by white curtains.

“It’s the one on the far left, nearest the trees,” he said. “He’s a bit obvious with his money.”

“In this country no need to be afraid. If you know who to pay.”

And this guy surely knew.

A champagne-colored BMW with blood-red spinner rims pulled up to the apartment building’s gate.

“Let’s go,” he said.

They climbed out of the car and headed toward the gate.

“Let me talk,” she said, passing him. “Keep quiet. Follow my lead.”

He saw the wisdom in all of that.

The gate began rolling shut behind the car and she and Luke slipped through just before it closed. She leaned down and waved to catch the driver’s eye in the rearview mirror. The car braked and the window came down. The man inside behind the wheel was middle-aged, with a wispy mustache and thinning blond hair.

“Dobroye utro,” Danielle said with a smile.

The two of them proceeded to have a conversation that sounded friendly, with a few smiles. She even jerked her thumb toward him once, then shook the driver’s hand, allowing the grip to linger a few moments longer than normal. Then the car drove off, headed behind the building. She watched and waved until it disappeared.

“I ask if Fedot around? Told him my idiot cousin lent him his Xbox. Now you have Call of Duty match you forgot about. He said he was just getting home and has not seen Fedot today.”

“Smooth,” he told her.

The entrance to Fedot’s building was on one side, down a hedge-lined concrete walkway. Inside was a tiny lobby of black marble tile and potted fake bamboo. They climbed the stairs to the first floor. A plaque on Fedot’s door read A1. No peephole. He pressed his ear to the wood. After thirty seconds he gave a slight nod of his head indicating somebody was there. He drew his 9mm, tucked it behind his leg, and knocked.

A voice shouted out some Russian from the other side and bare feet slapped on tile. The door swung open, revealing a bald man wearing only a pair of loose-fitting black jeans, bare-chested, bare feet. A revolver dangled in his right hand. He studied Luke, then Danielle. His eyes narrowed. Luke noticed the tattoos on the arms. The man raised his revolver, but Luke was a split second ahead of him and fired a sound-suppressed 9mm round into the man’s chest. The guy folded slightly, then staggered back one step before straightening up. Eyes wide, he stared at them, as though confused, then he collapsed straight down.

“Grab the gun,” he said.

He gripped one wrist and dragged the body. The shot had sent out a dull pop that others in the building might have heard.

Danielle closed the door.

The apartment loomed quiet. He checked the man’s pulse. Dead. He jerked his thumb upward, motioning that they should search. She produced her weapon and headed off.

She returned two minutes later. “All clear. Nobody here.” She motioned at the corpse. “I was not expecting that.”

“Me neither. Is he the same guy?”

She nodded. “I thought it was hard. Killing.”

“It is. But it had to be done. This guy was not up for a debate.” And he didn’t want to dwell on it. “There’s some blood outside the front door. Find a towel and clean it up.”

She nodded, trotted off, then returned and dabbed up the splotches. He ran another circuit of the ground floor until he was satisfied there was no alarm, cameras, or security panel. The place had an open layout, with a thirty-foot ceiling and half-loft second and third floors, each of those fronted by polished wood balustrades overlooking the black-tiled main floor. All three stories were connected by a spiral staircase near the kitchen.

“Where do I put this?” she asked, holding up the half-saturated towel.

“Kitchen sink.”

He took a moment to decompress. There was a difference between being prepared for violence and experiencing it. He hated killing. Always an ugly thing. But when it came to kill-or-be-killed he’d always take the former. He glanced down at the dead man, whose eyes were open, staring at nothing. He bent down and frisked the man, coming up with a wallet containing some cash, credit cards, and a Russian driver’s license.

He handed it to Danielle.

“Vasya Bardin,” she read. “He lives here in Vologda. What do we do with him?”

“Leave him right there. Too risky to move him. It’s a miracle no one else heard the shot. Maybe a dead man will rattle Fedot.”

“Or send him into a rage.”

“We can make that work, too. I’ll be right back.”

He left the apartment and hustled to the Polo and his Pelican case. From inside he removed an RF detector. He returned with the unit, a little larger than a cell phone and studded with three blunt antennas. He scoured every corner of the apartment before declaring it camera- and listening-device-free.

“You know what black tar heroin smells like?” he asked.

She shook her head.

“Strong vinegar, with a trace of sweet. Given Fedot’s lifestyle, he’s moving a lot of product so it’ll probably be kept in something larger than a shoebox. I’ll start on the third floor. You take the second then we’ll meet down here. Let’s be quick about it.”

Forty minutes later they were done. No sign or smell of heroin. He stood still, looking around, thinking. Something was scratching at the back of his brain. Something he’d glanced at, then dismissed. He walked back through the kitchen. There. On the tiled island in an amber quartz bowl. A ring with a single key on it. The tag read SR-A1.

He snatched it up. “Storage room. Apartment A-1.”

Like his daddy would say.

Even a blind squirrel sometimes finds a nut.

They located the lobby basement door and took the stairs down to the storage level. There were two units, marked A1 and A2, each fronted by a steel door. He used the key and opened the former. An automatic overhead light glowed to life. A strong scent of coffee filled their nostrils.

He knew why.

“An old wives’ tale,” he said. “Coffee throws drug dogs off the heroin scent.”

That Fedot still believed it told him two things. One, the man hadn’t been in the game long enough to have been arrested or imprisoned. And two, he probably wasn’t affiliated with organized crime. They wouldn’t stand for such stupidity.

Inside the small space were three jumbo plastic storage bins with black-and-yellow lids, each full of coffee beans. He and Danielle started digging. Inside the second bin Luke yanked out four gallon-sized cellophane bags, each one containing fifty, sixty purple heroin bundles.

“Jackpot.”

“What we do with them?”

He grinned. “We take ’em. That’ll get Fedot’s attention fast.”

They returned to the Polo.

His cell phone vibrated.

Marcia Pooler.

“How do you feel about the phrase two outta three ain’t bad?” she asked without preamble.

“Context is everything,” he said. “Hit me.”

“I’ve found two of three prisons Osipov works at. One is outside Syamzha, northeast of Vologda. The second one in Nyandoma, due north of Vologda. These two have been around for a while. There are references to them on the web. The third one, though, is a different story. It’s called Site 6439.”

Nothing good ever happened at places with anonymous names.

“That has to be place,” Danielle said. “They would not put American spy in general population prison. No. Put him somewhere secret.”

“Did you find out anything about this Site 6439?” he asked Marcia.

“Just the name reference, and I think that supports Danielle’s point. It’s a secret site. And here’s a factual tidbit you might find fascinating. In the early days of the gulag system the Soviets named some of their penal colonies based on their latitude and longitude coordinates. I assume it was a way to keep track of them by region.”

“Does 6439 correlate to anything?”

“It’s a spot near Arkhangelsk and the White Sea.”
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LAKE BELOYE, RUSSIA

ALEKSEI STOOD ON THE DOCK AND CAST A LINE OUT INTO THE CALM lake. Wisps of fog rose from the surely chilly water. An amphitheater of hills sheltered the wind. The spectacular residence that adorned the shore was initially planned as one of Stalin’s dachas, but he thought it too dangerous since it sat on a small peninsula, surrounded by dense forest, with only one escape route to the mainland. The house was finally completed in 1980 and used by a succession of communist premiers. He’d inherited its use as the first duly elected president of Russia. Plenty of elegance. French and Italian furniture. A swimming pool. Cinema. All the conveniences that meant little to nothing to him. Trying to snag one of the striped bass that occupied the muddy lake bottom?

That interested him.

But so did his visitor.

He signaled, and his security detail allowed the man who he’d summoned to come onto the dock.

Efim Kozar. Soviet scientist.

Head of the Zenit space program.

Which had been a huge success, launching over a thousand satellites into orbit.

Including thirty-six designated Red Star.

“Mr. President, it is good to see you again,” Kozar said.

They’d last talked two years ago, a few months after he assumed office.

“Do you know Pushkin’s ‘Tale of the Fisherman and the Fish’?” he asked Kozar.

“I have heard of it, but I confess to not know the details.”

“It is an interesting story. An old man and woman live in a small hut. Every day the man goes out to fish. One day, he manages to snag a golden fish. Once out of the water the fish pleads for its life, promising any wish in return. However, the old man is scared by the fact that a fish can speak. He says he wants nothing and lets the fish go.”

He tightened the slack in his own line, dancing the lure along the muddy bottom. The water, like a polished silver plate, shone in the reflection of the low-angled sun.

“When the old man returns home he tells his wife about the golden fish. Now, she is much more pragmatic. She gets angry and tells her husband to go back and ask the fish for a new trough, as theirs is broken. So he goes back, catches the fish again, asks, and the fish grants that small request. The next day the wife asks for a new house, and the fish grants that too. Then the wife asks for a palace, to become a noble lady, to become the ruler of her province, to become the tsarina, and finally to become the Ruler of the Sea and to subjugate the golden fish completely to her boundless will. Pretty ambitious, would you not say?”

Kozar nodded. “More like greed.”

“Precisely. And the fish cured her greed by putting everything back to the way it was before, including the broken trough.”

He jiggled the rod, trying to make the lure as attractive as possible.

“We have a similar situation. More and more are asking for more and more. I, as the fish, cannot grant all the requests. Factions are forming. Resentment is setting in. Our newfound federation is bristling from greed. Tell me, is all as it was before?”

“Officially, Red Star is gone,” Kozar said, getting the point.

He kept his attention out on the water. “But one still remains?”

“As you ordered. I noted in the records that all thirty-six activated their self-destruct mechanisms and burned up on reentry. But Red Star Four is there.”

His election had been close. Ten candidates on the ballot. None received a majority in the first round. Aleksei and the communist, Zyuganov, faced each other in a runoff. The first in Russian history. Aleksei won 54 percent of the vote and the election. But a solid 46 percent of the country had voted against him. A fact he’d been painfully aware of for the past three years. The communists were still out there. He’d already decided that one term was all he would seek. He’d presided over enough upheaval. The USSR was gone. The Russian Federation had been born. The question now was, would it survive?

“There are threats everywhere,” he said. “Red Star Four is our safety valve, in case everything goes wrong.” He paused. “Our little secret. And we shall keep it that way. A bit of insurance.”

Finally, he turned toward Kozar.

“For both of us.”

Many years had passed since that day on the dock. He’d actually forgotten about Red Star.

Thankfully, Efim Kozar had not.

And the secret had apparently rested safely with them both.

Red Star still flies.

Thank goodness.
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VOLOGDA, RUSSIA

LUKE WAS ENJOYING THE RUSSIAN VERSION OF CHOPPED STEAK. THE server had called them kotlety. Pan-fried patties made of ground pork, egg, breadcrumbs, onion, and garlic. All loaded with plenty of fat, salt, cholesterol, and calories.

But what good-tasting thing wasn’t?

They’d returned to their hotel and tried to stay out of the way, retreating to the in-house restaurant and enjoying lunch. Danielle had called Fedot Osipov and left a message on his phone, which was returned an hour later. Apparently, Fedot had found his dead compatriot and determined that his drugs were gone. The idea was to trade those for good information on John Vince, payable only if they were able to safely extract John from the prison. Another call just came, which Danielle took. It lasted less than a minute.

“He’s changed the location and time,” she said, ending the call. “Ten o’clock tonight.”

“Same place?”

She shook her head and told him the new location. He used his phone to determine the address was a local scrapyard. “Nothing good will come from that place, and Fedot knows we’ll know that.”

The attempt on their lives at the border had failed. Then came the dead tattoo man and the missing drugs. Fedot had to be pissed. Luke had dealt with a lot of nasty people over the years, both in the army and at the Magellan Billet. One thing he’d learned. Be afraid, that’s okay. But never, ever show anyone that you’re afraid.

“We’re definitely heading into a trap,” he said. “But that guy is our only link to John. So we’re going. On our terms.”

They retreated to their rooms and rested. Whether Fedot actually planned to crush them in a scrap compactor Luke wasn’t sure, but the man had chosen a remote location for a reason. Around 7:30 P.M. he and Danielle drove in the Polo to Vologda’s city limits. Coming early made sense, unless of course Fedot had the same thing in mind. They found the scrapyard, full of shadows from the ever-dimming daylight.

“Start circling,” he told her.

He was looking for places that would offer a tactical advantage, given that Fedot and his men had chosen such an isolated locale. They’d gotten the better of Fedot and boxed him into a corner, which was always a dangerous move. So he listened to that little pang of fear in the back of his brain that was screaming, Be careful.

They cruised the area for the next thirty minutes until Luke had committed the landscape to memory and run all of the what-if scenarios for the most likely contingencies. They then parked where the car could not be seen and found a good hiding place that offered a full view of the scrapyard’s front gate. Twenty minutes before the meeting Danielle spotted a pair of headlights coming their way. Luke used the night-vision binoculars from his Pelican case and zoomed in, seeing a pickup truck, dark-colored, with a wonky taillight.

“That’s him,” she said.

A second vehicle followed Fedot’s truck.

He shook his head. “Those fellas are a few clowns short of a circus. It’s the SUV from the border. Same license plate. Probably the same guys. Back for more.”

Mystery solved as to who had sent the attackers.

He kept tabs on the vehicles through the binoculars. Fedot’s truck sat idling before the scrapyard gate. Farther down the SUV did a U-turn and pulled to the opposite curb about a hundred feet away. The truck’s passenger door opened. In the glow of the dome light Luke counted three heads. One of them unlocked the gate and pushed it open.

Fedot pulled the truck through.

He said, “As soon as you walk into the yard, the guys in the SUV will box you in.” From the backpack he removed one of the gallon-sized cellophane heroin bags they’d taken from Fedot’s place. The other three they’d left at the hotel. “You’re going to give me ten minutes to get set up, then walk into the yard. If they invite you into an office, or anywhere inside, don’t go in. Stay outside. If they try to force you, open fire with your 9mm. If all goes smoothly, as soon as you see Fedot toss him that bag and drop the name Marcia gave us.”

He’d been supplied with plenty of good intel on both Fedot and the local criminal organizations.

“You know the script. Keep him talking. You won’t see me, but I’ll be there. When I make my move, you’ll know it.”

“I will hold you to that,” she said.

He knew she was scared. Who wouldn’t be?

“You can count on it. You had mine, now I’ve got your back.”

Luke followed his mental map and sprinted back down the street, the MP5 slung across his chest. At the next intersection he turned right, then ran on flat feet to the scrapyard street. He eased up to where a scrub tree grew at the corner of a tall fence. Through its branches he could see the rear of the SUV. He scanned the back window through the binoculars. In the gray-green glow he made out two heads in the front seat, one in the back.

He checked his watch.

Eight minutes had passed since he’d left Danielle. He crouched as low as possible and made his way to the rear of the SUV, where he knelt and checked his watch again.

Nine minutes.

Headlights glided over the pavement back down the block. He pressed his face to the ground in time to see Danielle pull the Polo to the curb just short of the yard gate.

She climbed out and walked through.

Ten seconds passed.

The SUV’s doors opened. Three men emerged and walked side by side toward the scrapyard. Each was carrying a pistol. He rose, snugged the MP5 into his shoulder, then called, “You boys aren’t exactly fast learners, are you?”

The men spun around.

“I told you what’d happen if I saw you again.”

“You bastard,” one of them growled.

“Oh, you do speak English. Okay, I’m feeling generous tonight. I’m going to give you a chance to drop your weapons and walk away.”

“You killed our friends,” one of them said.

“What’s it going to be? Gunfight or surrender?”

The tallest one’s hand loosened on his pistol’s grip, then tightened again. The shoulders bunched. Arms tensed. Every sign pointed to foolishness. The man made his move.

Too slow.

Luke shot him in the forehead.

Then he dropped a second man. Both shots were sound-suppressed. The third man sprinted right, a pistol coming up, ready to fire. Luke planted a round in his side. The guy staggered, dropped to one knee, teeth gritted, and rotated his torso toward Luke. His still-extended gun hand drooped, lifted, then wilted again.

“Give it up,” Luke said.

The gun came back up.

Luke shot him in the chest and the man toppled backward onto the pavement.

“Stupid,” he muttered.

He brought his mind back on task and jogged toward the gate. He entered the scrapyard, pausing for a moment to attach one of the GPS trackers from the Pelican case to the underside of Fedot’s pickup.

Then he headed toward the party.

“Sorry I’m late,” he said, with the gun held at high-ready.

Danielle stood facing three men in a semi-circle lit from the side by an open office door. The man he assumed to be Fedot held the heroin bag in his right hand. The other two men reached for their hips.

“Don’t do that,” he warned. “Hands at your sides.”

The men complied.

“How far did you get?” he asked Danielle.

“He is better talker than listener.”

“You both will pay,” Fedot said in English.

Luke fired a round into the asphalt between the man’s feet. The frightened Russian backpedaled and dropped the heroin bag. “All of you stand still. Lívi, check the office.”

He used her cover name to keep up the pretense. No sense these guys knowing her real name, or his.

Danielle drew her 9mm and disappeared inside. She emerged a minute later. “Clear.”

“Here’s the deal,” he said to Fedot. “We don’t want your heroin, and we don’t wanna be in your life any longer than we have to. But we need information.”

“On the American in prison?”

“You got it.”

“How about you go—”

He offered no chance for the insult to be finished. Instead, he took a quick step forward, reversed the gun in his hand, and popped Fedot’s nose with the buttstock.

Blood gushed out.

Fedot dropped to his knees.

Luke jammed the gun’s muzzle into an eye socket. In his peripheral vision Luke saw Fedot’s men going for their guns, but Danielle beat them to it.

“Not good idea,” she said, gun aimed.

He turned his attention back to Fedot, who was nursing his bloody nose. “Do I have your attention?”

The Russian nodded.

Luke stepped back and motioned to Danielle.

“You know the name Kiseleva?” he asked.

Fedot climbed to his feet, head tilted backward, squeezing the bridge of his nose between his finger and thumb. “I know.”

“He heads the organizatsya in Arkhangelsk. In fact, officially we’re standing in his territory right now.”

“I know that too. Last year they flayed a brothel owner alive for shorting them thirty-five hundred rubles. Kept him alive a week and played with him.”

“Don’t ask me how,” Luke said, “but somehow Kiseleva doesn’t know about the racket you’re running in the prisons.”

“How you know?”

“It’s my job to know.”

Or more accurately Marcia, who’d provided the good intel.

“Who are you?” Fedot asked.

“We’re people who can cause you a whole lot of trouble,” Luke said. “Here’s our proposal. That bag is yours to keep. You get the others we stole once we have what we need. If you screw us on anything, we send those bags to Kiseleva, along with your name and address. Needless to say, that would be really bad for you.”

“I help with prison thing. That it?”

“That’s the deal,” Luke said. “What’s it going to be?”
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PERM, RUSSIA — 10:15 A.M.

EDMON CAME AWAKE.

The plane’s lone flight attendant was leaning down, gently shaking him. “We are on approach to land. If you could fasten your seat belt.”

“How long have I been asleep?”

“About two hours. You looked like you needed it.”

He smiled. “I am not sure how to take that.”

She was in her late twenties, pretty and blond and far too skinny for his tastes. Besides, he’d have a stroke trying to keep up with her.

“I didn’t mean—”

“I am teasing you. Is my companion awake?”

“He never went to sleep. He drank me dry of coffee.”

“That sounds about right.”

He glanced over his shoulder to see a smiling Dominik Barkov sitting in the last row, a coffee cup in one hand, a slice of honey cake in the other.

They exchanged waves.

His old friend made his way forward and took the opposite aisle seat. No one else had made the flight with them today.

Dominik was a decade younger, with coarse black hair, a thick mustache, and a face rarely without a smile. They’d been friends since starting out together as Moscow militsiya recruits, then occasional partners as their career paths diverged and re-intersected over the years. Taken together there wasn’t a facet of Moscow policing they had not experienced. When Edmon resigned to join Aleksei’s protective detail Dominik had continued on. After nearly three decades, two bullet wounds, an acid-burned neck, and more knife slashes than wrinkles, he retired as one of the most decorated starshiy praporshchiks in the history of the force. Edmon had lured him from the boredom of retirement as a part-time security consultant. Dominik was one of the few people in the world he truly trusted.

Back at the prison in Kem he’d provided two more cups of tea and listened as Efim Kozar explained.

“There are records,” Kozar said. “Only I know about them.”

“Of what?”

“Red Star. It is all there.”

“Why do these still exist?”

“For a situation just like this. As I told you Red Star is useless unless brought back to life. To make sure that would be possible I kept some of the most vital records. But they are encoded. Only I can decipher them. You get me out. I will do that for you.”

“I want those documents. First. Or no deal.”

“You may not come back for me.”

“As you said, they are encoded and only you can break the code.”

Kozar had pondered the ultimatum for another few moments, then shrugged and said, “A person who provides me hot tea is certainly someone I can trust. I will have to speak to my wife. To let her know you are coming.”

So he’d shut off the jammer, produced his cell phone, and allowed Kozar to make a call. They spoke for a few moments, talking about nonsense, then the call ended.

“We have a code,” Kozar said. “She will be expecting you.”

After leaving the reception center Edmon had boarded a chartered helicopter for the ninety-minute trip back to Arkhangelsk, where he teamed with Dominik. They’d waited until the early hours of the morning before boarding another private jet eastbound for Perm. If Efim Kozar was to be believed Perm wasn’t simply where Kozar had lived for the last five decades before being imprisoned, but also a stone’s throw from where he’d cached the Red Star documents. They were now at the end of a two-thousand-kilometer-long journey Edmon hoped would begin to fill in the blanks on their Red Star knowledge.

“Have you talked to the boss today?” Dominik asked.

“Yesterday.”

“How is he feeling?”

The public position, including with Aleksei’s staff, bodyguards, and housekeepers, was that the former president was working through a stubborn case of bronchitis. Only Aleksei, his doctor, a private nurse, and Edmon knew the truth.

“He is tired but in good spirits.”

Their call had been brief and Edmon had been talking for nearly a minute before he realized Aleksei did not know it was him on the phone. To be expected sometimes, the nurse had explained. Alzheimer’s evenings were most challenging for GBM tumor patients. That sundowning would steadily worsen, Aleksei becoming quasi-catatonic at night only to wake to his old self the next day, with no memory of the lost time. How quickly this would come on neither the nurse nor the doctor could say. Which raised another specter in Edmon’s mind. Might there come a crucial moment when Aleksei could not make decisions about Red Star?

He hoped not.

“I am not one to pry, Edmon, but this job we are doing, you have been pretty tight-lipped about it.”

“I am sorry for that, my friend. The boss has some—” He paused as though searching for the right word. “Worries about the direction the country is going.”

“He is not alone in that.”

“There are some loose ends he wants to tie up, should the worst come to pass. Not to worry, though. He will take care of everyone. Yourself included. He always does.”

Dominik grinned. “Do not worry about me. Put me on enough of these pampered private charters and I will work for free. Have you tasted the coffee? It is heaven.”

The jet made a smooth landing at Perm’s Bolshoye Savino Airport. The air outside was a nippy thirteen degrees Celsius. Both he and Dominik came prepared with wool coats, gloves, and ushankas.

Dominik was a man of many talents, primary of which was as a fixer. He’d always been the person for tasks that needed to be done yesterday, and he’d apparently not lost that knack in retirement. He followed his friend down the jet’s steps to the tarmac, where a man walked over and handed Dominik a set of keys, pointing to a late-model, dark-green Bremach SUV. Dominik headed straight for it and slipped in behind the wheel.

Edmon took the passenger seat.

“Efficient as ever,” he said. “Perm is not exactly chock-full of rental agencies. Should I ask how you arranged this?”

“If I have to tell you, then it is no longer special. Where are we headed?”

Edmon pulled the map up on his phone and tapped STARTING ROUTE, then set the unit in the center cupholder.

“Just follow the voice directions.”

Perm was home to a million people and served as another of the many local administrative centers. It sat in eastern Russia, on the banks of the River Kama, near the Ural Mountains. A big sprawling place that always felt much smaller to Edmon. In short order they were across the river and into a crowded residential neighborhood. The homes were small, built long ago he guessed by the communists, but well maintained. Much better, and far preferable, to communal apartments. The phone’s navigation voice announced, “Destination reached,” and Dominik pulled to the curb before a house painted in a faded pastel green.

“Keep the engine running,” he said to Dominik. “I will not be long.”

“This is one of those need-to-know affairs?”

“Is that a problem?”

“I just like to know the rules.”

“It is for your own good.”

“I am a big fan of my own good.”

Edmon climbed from the car and followed a cracked concrete walkway to the front door, which opened before he could knock. A plump woman in her mid-sixties with a bright-red kerchief on her head stared out at him. Kozar had told him that prisoners in good standing at Site 6439 were allowed ten-minute weekly calls to family. The calls were closely monitored, but Kozar and his wife, Galina, had developed a verbal shorthand to stymie the listeners.

Which he’d witnessed firsthand.

Galina Kozar asked, “Who is in the car?”

“A friend. He will not bother us. But he will also make sure we are not disturbed.”

She invited him inside.

He stepped through into a tiny sitting room occupied only by a worn plaid recliner and a small television atop a plant stand. Perched on the back of the chair was a Siamese cat that hissed then scurried away. The air was laced with scents of sugar and yeast. He knew what was expected so he said, “D’yavol.”

Devil.

The code word Kozar had provided so Galina would know he was the right person.

“Fitting for all this,” she said. “For it is all the work of the devil.”

“I am sorry that your husband is in prison. It is not fair, nor right.”

“Two things that no longer exist in Russia.”

He agreed.

“I am to give you this,” she said, lifting a small shoebox without a lid from the side table.

He pointed at the container. “Do you know what all this is about?”

“I do. Efim told me a long time ago. Neither one of us thought anything would ever come from it.”

That was troubling information.

He glanced in the box and saw no papers. “This is not what your husband mentioned.”

“That is because we do not keep them here. Too dangerous after his arrest. They are safely hidden nearby.”

And she told him the location.

“It has been abandoned for years. Efim worked there at the end of his time with the government.” She paused. “He said you might be able to do something about his prison time.”

“I will try.”

Her eyes brimmed with tears. “I would move closer to where he is, but he told me not to. He wants me here.”

“You have visited?”

She nodded. “Several times. But it is a long way.”

“You are better off here.”

This old woman was alone simply because her husband had dared to offend Konstantin Franko. Aleksei was right. Russia was sliding backward into a dark, Stalin-like place.

With a groan she lowered herself into the recliner.

He moved a couple of pillows aside and sat on the settee.

“Kill them all,” she said.

Had he heard that right? She stared at him with nothing but hatred in her eyes. Without a doubt, she knew.

“Every. Last. One of them. Make them dead. Drop it right on top of them.” She clenched her fists in a helpless rage.

He probed. “Why would you say such a thing?”

“Because that is why you want Red Star, is it not? To kill them all?”

He could neither admit nor deny the answer to that question. But the fact that she’d asked changed things. Dramatically. He’d been prepared to learn what he could and leave these people alone. That was now no longer possible.

And he hated the situation.

Many times in his career he’d been called upon to do things he had not personally agreed with, but they had to be done. It had been a while, but another one of those difficult scenarios had just manifested itself.

“Is there anything more I need to know?”

“That bomb could be the salvation for us all.”

He said nothing.

“It is the only thing men like Franko understand. So give it to him.”

Her bitterness was understandable.

She pointed. “Take the box, kill them, then get my Efim out of jail.”

May God forgive him.

He reached with his right hand beneath his jacket and gripped the pistol. His left hand lifted one of the pillows. He withdrew the gun and used the pillow to muffle a shot to her chest. Her body lurched, her face filled with shock. He fired one more time. She groaned. Then all movement stopped.

He’d had no choice. No trail could exist.

None at all.

The silence in the house seemed to radiate menace and made him uncomfortable. He lifted the shoebox and left the house, returning to the car where Dominik asked, “Did you get what you were after?”

“Let us find out.”

He sifted through the contents. Not much. A ring containing a dozen tarnished keys. A sheet of paper titled INVENTORY: ZIII/RS. Two scraps of paper, each covered in what he assumed was Efim Kozar’s block-letter printing. On one was written 8R9L0L5R4, the other C312. The keys would obviously open locks. Was C312 a door number? The nine-digit code could open a safe. Possibly? Hard to say until he arrived at the next destination, which Galina had directed him toward.

“I assumed the second pin on your map is our next stop,” Dominik said.

He nodded.
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EDMON STAYED QUIET AS DOMINIK DROVE THEM SOUTH, BACK THROUGH Perm, then onto the six-lane P242 toward Froly, Ferma, and Balandino. The land opened up into black-soil fields and pastures fuzzed with late-spring grass. Occasionally a stretch of rolling pine forests would close around the road before opening again to more farmland. At Zvezdnyi the navigation took them west into the town before turning south again onto a rutted asphalt road. After three kilometers a dilapidated guard shack came into view and his phone announced, “You have reached your destination.”

Dominik coasted to a stop beside the empty shack.

“Welcome to Bershat ICBM base,” Edmon said. “Once home to mobile SS-24 intercontinental ballistic missiles aimed at the United States.”

Back at the reception center Kozar had explained that, for the last six months of his career, he’d been stationed here with a dozen other engineers, tasked with the dismantling of the SS-24’s ninety MIRVs—multiple independently targetable reentry vehicles—for eventual transport east to Siberia for disposal or storage. Once done with this, Kozar and the others stripped the computers and equipment of classified parts and destroyed them in an industrial shredder. Along with the missile de-arming, the Zenit and Red Star satellite programs had also been ended, with the Red Star satellites supposedly destroyed.

Signs everywhere designated the place as off limits. DO NOT ENTER.

“You take me to the loveliest places,” Dominik said.

He smiled. “Drive ahead and keep going straight.”

After a few hundred meters the road bisected railroad tracks.

“Careful on those,” he said.

Tracks all over Russia jutted above the road and could destroy the undercarriage of a car. Dominick eased across at a snail’s pace.

“Where do the tracks go?” Dominik asked.

“There were missile sites like this all over the country. All connected with thousands of kilometers of track. The idea was to keep the ICBMs moving at all times so the Americans would have a harder time targeting them.”

“Harder, but not impossible.”

“This whole area, including Perm, would have been a priority target for American nuclear missiles. Turn left up here.”

Dominik made the turn.

Kozar’s wife had told him that, at one point, this place held the equivalent of three thousand Hiroshima bombs. But the base was shuttered in 2005.

“See the hangar in the distance?” he said. “Park there.”

The closer they came to the structure the more apparent its enormousness became. The railroad tracks led directly inside under a towering folding door.

“You could fit a dozen airliners in there,” Dominik said, craning his neck as they eased close to the pedestrian door.

Edmon found the ring of keys. “Time to see if we are in the right place.”

They climbed out and walked up to a metal entrance door stained with rust. Edmon tried each of the keys in turn until he found the right one. The interior was illuminated by daylight spilling through opaque windows high on the walls and ceiling ventilation soffits. Aligned in a grid pattern were twenty massive diesel locomotives painted in forest camouflage.

“This isn’t something you see every day,” Dominik said, his voice echoing.

Not sure where he’d find Room C312, if it even existed, Edmon walked the perimeter, around the locomotives. Doors led into ancillary rooms bearing signs in Cyrillic that read REPAIR 1, PARTS, LAUNCHER, SCAFFOLDING, WELDING. In the northwest corner they found an administrative office filled with desks, chairs, and empty filing cabinets. Everything was iced in a patina of thick dust. No one had been here for a while.

A shadow detached itself into two smaller forms, which materialized into dogs. One began growling deep in its throat. Edmon lifted a piece of metal and hurled it toward the animals.

Both quickly fled.

“Look there,” Dominik said, pointing toward a closed door at the far end of the room. They walked over and Edmon tried his keys until the door lock opened. Dominik clicked on a flashlight they’d brought along. A stairwell led down into darkness. Edmon started down. Dominik followed. Two flights led them to another doorway labeled LEVEL A. They kept going, passing level B before stopping before the level C door.

The air was cold, thick, and musty. Scabrous black mold crept up the concrete walls. Edmon unlocked the door and they stepped through into a T-intersection. Right and left hallways stretched into the blackness. On the wall before them was a plaque invaded by mold, but still readable.

“C312 is that way,” Dominik said, pointing right.

The flashlight cast a cone of light before them as they carefully started down the hallway until they reached a steel door labeled C312. Edmon found the right key on the second try. On the other side of the door was about a ten-meter-square room that contained nothing but a steel safe, welded to the room’s exposed I-beams.

“Wait outside,” he told Dominik.

His old friend knew better than to argue.

Once Dominik was gone he knelt before the safe and dialed in the code from the scrap of paper. He heard a double thunk and the tumblers disengaged. He carefully swung open the door, mindful of any booby traps.

Inside was a thin brown accordion folder.

He’d been cautious the whole day, subconsciously thinking this was all a wild goose chase. Yet it had not been.

Efim Kozar had told the truth.

Thank goodness his wife had not died in vain.
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SATURDAY — MAY 24 — 1:00 P.M.

LUKE KNEW THAT, FOR ALL ITS FAULTS, THE CIA DID MANY THINGS QUITE well. One of those was technology. In this case the miniature GPS tracker he’d planted on Fedot Osipov’s pickup truck appeared to have limitless range as the signal bounced off some obscurely named satellite in high orbit, then back down to his phone. They were about two hundred miles north of Vologda, navigating a reasonably kept highway free of potholes. Though they’d made a tentative deal with Fedot, information and help with the escape in exchange for silence and the drugs, he was glad they had some insurance with the tracker. Ronald Reagan had been right about Russians.

Trust, but verify.

“So far so good,” Danielle said from the passenger seat.

The pulsing orange dot representing Fedot’s truck was about sixty miles ahead of them.

Luke was in a foul mood. Their progress in reaching John Vince seemed molasses-slow despite only two days having passed since they’d crossed into Russia. Anxiety gnawed at him. Along with a sickening feeling that John was not okay. Late last night Fedot had texted Danielle the location of his next prison rotation. Site 6439. Along with a message.

This is the place.

She and Fedot had then spoken on the phone and the Russian explained that while as a temporary guard he was paid more, he was also subject to extra security procedures, namely having to park his vehicle in Vorzogory, a village at the base of Onega Bay. Normally, before being ferried to one of the Solovetsky Islands on which Site 6439 was located, he was also required to surrender his cell phone. But the guards at Site 6439 never enforced the rule. Not unusual for Russia where the farther one went from Moscow the more lax authority became.

And this was certainly far away.

Thankfully, though, the location fell within Marcia’s latitude and longitude theory relative to the site’s numerical name. So they had a pretty good idea as to its location. He’d decided to take the chance and told Danielle to inform Fedot that his truck was tagged and for him to take the GPS tracker off the truck and in with him, ditching it in the water once he reached the island. Fedot had not appreciated the extra surveillance but was in no position to argue. The man wanted his drugs back and for the local mob not to kill him.

Danielle returned to her study of Fedot’s hand-drawn map of the prison. This had been another demand. They needed to know the lay of the land inside Site 6439. According to Fedot the bulk of it was underground with an inmate population between thirty and fifty. Small. But special. It was supposedly situated on the site of an old monastery with little overt security. The isolated location itself, an island in the White Sea, and its overall secrecy were its main protectors. The total acreage was around fifteen. His backyard at his childhood home in Tennessee was twice that.

She traced her fingertip over the map. “Fedot says John’s cell is on the lowermost level. It is not going to be easy to reach him.”

“Here’s a news flash,” he said. “Not a single thing about this is going to be easy.”

Luke woke.

Danielle had shaken him.

He glanced at his watch.

He’d been out about five hours with Danielle behind the wheel. They’d switched earlier. He checked his phone’s map and saw that Fedot’s dot was now almost overlapping that of Vorzogory. He zoomed in and watched the dot wind its way through the fishing village before coming to a stop near the shoreline. He kept watching. The dot remained still, then started out over the water.

“He’s on the boat now,” he said. “And following directions. I’m not sure if that’s good or bad.”

It was after dark when they reached Vorzogory. Taking the course Fedot had taken, they arrived at a church parking lot overlooking the dunes.

There Fedot’s truck sat.

The tracker had worked, finally going still just off one of the islands to the northwest. He’d checked with Marcia and the geo coordinates matched for a Site 6439 designation. He assumed the tracker was now at the bottom of the White Sea.

So far so good.

Save for a few lighted windows, the village was dark, apparently buttoned up for the evening. They drove down what appeared to be the main road, which revealed a few shops and diners, all closed. No motel in sight. So they headed east to Onega, which boasted a population of twenty thousand, the largest town within a hundred miles and the best chance at finding lodging.

Danielle opened an app on her phone and studied the local offerings. “This one looks good. It even has room service.”

“Onion rings?” he asked, with a smile.

“I highly doubt it.”

“As long as there’s a bed, count me in.”

“It’s the Yubileinaya on Prospekt Lenina. Left at the next light.”

Luke had dozed in and out of sleep for the past few hours, one eye on the door and any possible trouble, the other trying to get some rest. He had one of the guns at the ready. Danielle had the other. The Pelican case remained in the car with all its assorted goodies. His phone vibrated near midnight.

Marcia Pooler.

He answered.

“First off,” she said. “I’ve established this comms link through a multitude of foreign servers. Our signal is bouncing around like a pinball. Not impossible to track, but really difficult. It should allow us a reasonable means for communication in the short run.”

Efficient as always.

Danielle had woken too and came close.

He switched the call to speaker.

“Here’s the short version,” Marcia said. “A hundred years ago the Solovetsky Islands were home to one of the most brutal gulags in history, the Solovki Special Camp. Aleksandr Solzhenitsyn called it the Mother of All Gulags.”

He listened as Marcia provided background info.

Around 1922, near the end of the Russian Civil War, the Bolsheviks appeared on Solovetsky Island and commandeered its five-hundred-year-old monastery. They burned all of the wooden outbuildings, murdered most of the monks, then converted everything into the first prison camp, where they dumped priests, landowners, White Army officers, intelligentsia. Anyone they considered a threat to the revolution was shipped there to be out of sight and mind. If you ended up in the Solovetskys that’s where you most likely died. If the forced labor didn’t kill you, disease would. And if not that then the brutal arctic winters finished the job. The prison’s fence was the White Sea. The nearest mainland lay twenty-two miles away. The average water temperature hovered around forty-five degrees Fahrenheit. Once you submerged in that the body had about two hours to live. And that was assuming the current didn’t drag you away. In short, there was never a successful escape. The original camp was closed in 1953, the site converted to a naval cadet training facility. Now it was a tourist destination.

“Depending on which historian you ask, the gulag system existed for around thirty or forty years,” Marcia said. “At its height there were around thirty thousand camps across Russia.”

“And the new prison.”

“Your tracker shows it sits on Anzersky Island, one of six that make up the Solovetskys. It’s small, with the upland covered by dense forest. The sandy, stony shores are pierced by bays, the most prominent being the Guba Troitskaya in the north and the Guba Kapel’skaya in the south. Either one could be an embarkation point. It seems like the perfect place for a secret gulag.”

He was thinking ahead. There was a lot more he needed to know.

“Marcia, we’re going to be leaning heavily on you for intel. We need it right and fast.”

“Lucky for you that’s two things I specialize in delivering.”
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LAKE BELOYE, RUSSIA

SUNDAY — MAY 25 — 8:15 A.M.

EDMON STARED AT THE ARRAY OF DOCUMENTS ON THE KITCHEN TABLE. He’d arrived last night. After leaving the Bershat base he and Dominik had wasted no time returning to Moscow. While Dominik went home to his wife, Edmon drove to Aleksei’s dacha to find his old friend fast asleep. It had been a bad day, the nurse told him. Terrible headaches, confusion, outbursts, asking about his late wife. Now Aleksei was up, dressed, nursing a steaming cup of tea, and staring at the cache he’d managed to retrieve.

“Seventy-three pages,” he said.

“You counted them?”

“I did.”

But there was a problem. Every one of them was encoded, the words all gibberish. Not a thing could be read or understood.

“It seems Efim Kozar was cautious,” Aleksei said.

Which explained why the old man had been so willing to offer up the documents before being released.

“He knew I would have to come back,” he said.

“What was your opinion of him?”

“He looked bad. And he trusted me quickly. True, there is the connection to you. But it made me wonder.”

“Who else he might have told? Who else he might have dealt with?”

He nodded. “Precisely. He wants out of there. Bad. He would work with anyone to make that happen.”

Over a breakfast of fried eggs, porridge, and tomato slices, he recounted his talk with Efim Kozar and the subsequent visit with the man’s wife and the Bershat base. He left out the part about killing her. No need for Aleksei to know those details. So he pivoted and said, “Kozar told me that these papers are needed, along with that other person.”

Aleksei’s eyes narrowed as they sat at the kitchen table. “Ilya Mashir. Do you think Mashir can decode these?”

“Kozar wants us to think only he can do that.”

“You believe him?”

“I do not.” He paused. “I think Mashir can do it too.”

“And if you are wrong?”

“Then we will deal with Efim Kozar.”

He’d also laid the groundwork to deal with Kozar if Mashir proved useful. His overtures to the young guard named Sorokin. He’d made a point of establishing enough of a rapport to set the hook. He’d also left his contact information. If anything odd happened with Kozar, or someone else came to see him, he’d told the young man to call. On the other hand if they were successful with the entire plan, the guard would be helpful in eliminating Kozar, which would need to happen.

He could see that Aleksei agreed with his thinking. He had a question but was hesitant to ask. Finally, he said, “How powerful is this weapon?”

“Six point two kilotons. Fireball radius, three hundred meters. Heavy blast damage radius, four hundred meters. Third-degree burn radius, one kilometer. Estimated death toll in the tens of thousands.”

It was hard to hear those words, and he saw the pain in his old friend’s eyes. So he said, “I stand with you, no matter what comes.”

“And I appreciate that. But this is not some notional exercise. Red Star is real. What it will do is real. Many people will die. If you have even the slightest doubt—”

“No doubts. None.”

And he meant it. They’d been through so much together. And now they were making one more play.

“You have my loyalty,” he said. “Always.”

“And I appreciate that. But we are at a standstill unless we find Ilya Mashir. Fast. The clock is ticking.”

“Not to worry. I will locate him.”
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ST. PETERSBURG, RUSSIA — 9:10 A.M.

ILYA MASHIR SAT BEFORE A BANK OF COMPUTER MONITORS, EYES CLOSED, rhythmically rocking back and forth. He was not having a good day. He generally could tell within two hours of rising whether the day would be one he would enjoy or regret. His mind was slipping. No question. He tried hard to keep it to himself, but it was becoming increasingly difficult, even behind a façade of being eccentric.

He opened his eyes and muttered to himself, “Barnhart’s account has the best maps of that period. I’ll check Barnhart. Definitely Barnhart.”

His workroom, or the cockpit as he called it, was tiny with no furniture save a boomerang-shaped desk and a curved triple monitor array connected to the world. The dacha sat close to the cold Baltic Sea, and he enjoyed his daily walk along its shores. All of the windows in the large house were sealed with blackout curtains, leaving the room in darkness save for the glow from the monitors.

A man stood behind him. Like always. Skinny, with torn jeans and a black T-shirt emblazoned with BLONDY.

“Did you hear me?” the man asked him in Russian.

“I heard you.”

“What does a map have to do with what I asked?”

“Not a thing. Tell Yaga I’ll have the new code ready when it is ready and not before.”

“He wants it now.”

“What he wants is a micro-transaction skimmer that is not trackable by an adolescent with an iPhone. Because that is what he has right now, and the Deutsche Bank experts will find it before the end of the first trading day.”

“I do not know what any of that means.”

“Shocking development,” he said. He lifted a pill bottle from his desk and rattled it over his shoulder. “Get me more of these. I am almost out. The blue, oval-shaped ones.”

“You take too many.”

“Just do it.”

“I’m not your errand boy, old man.”

“Really? That is exactly what you are.”

This one, whatever his name, was his third minder in the past two months. The others had been useless, more an annoyance than an aid, and oh-so-sure they were on the fast track to success in the mighty Anton Khurtin’s criminal empire. But they were merely fodder for Khurtin’s money machine, nothing more. Their life an endless cycle. Sell the drugs, kill for the drugs, go to jail for the drugs. Then rinse and repeat until there was nothing left of them.

He dealt with a special part of Khurtin’s enterprises.

No drugs.

Instead, targeted electronic attacks on businesses, individuals, and governments around the globe. Which netted a hefty sum in the eight figures from the ransoms paid by its victims, all tacitly supported by the Russian government as a way to terrorize the West.

“And by the way,” he said, “the band’s name is Blondie. With an ie, not a y. You should ask the merchandise vendor for a refund. That T-shirt is a fake. Now. Go. Get. My. Pills.”

The man finally left.

Good riddance.

For the moment he had control thanks to the drugs, none of which a doctor had prescribed. But that would not last for long. So unfair. Once he’d been a brilliant scientist. Creator of the Zenit satellite program. Father of Red Star. A valued Soviet asset. Now he was an old man in the service of greed.

He’d made a mistake.

A big one.

And violated his family’s sacred pledge.

But it had been the only play at the time. A pure matter of survival. The question now was how to rectify the situation. He told himself to concentrate on the practicalities. That always worked.

And wait, for however long it took, for an opportunity.
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LUKE’S FIRST AND MOST IMPORTANT REQUEST TO MARCIA, DETAILED satellite imagery of the Solovetsky Islands and in particular Anzersky Island, came dead on arrival. She’d made contact with a CIA friend in the National Reconnaissance Office. Every available satellite was focused on Ukraine, southern Russia, and the East and South China Seas. One of the satellites snagged some peripheral images of the six Solovetsky Islands, but they were little better than those found on Google Earth, which he’d already studied.

“I wish I had better news,” Marcia told him over the speakerphone.

“Where does all this leave us?” Danielle asked.

“We do it the old-fashioned way,” he said. “Boots-on-the-ground reconnaissance. We go out there and have a look around. Marcia, how quickly can you get us there?”

He heard keyboard clacking over the phone.

“There’s a flight out of Arkhangelsk first thing tomorrow morning, the first of only two this week, that flies directly to Solovetsky Island. But you might want to avoid that.”

He got it. “I’m too American.”

“Take the ferry,” Marcia said. “Slower, but there will be far less questions. You have to assume FSB are all over the place. I’m checking the hotels there now. It’s not peak tourist season yet, so there should be plenty of vacancies. You can take your pick when you get there.”

“Does CIA have an asset in the area, by any chance?” he asked, thinking where there were lots of FSB there should be some CIA.

“You want me to find out?”

“Contact Sean Fernando, off the record, and see what he says.”

“I don’t like him.”

“Who does?”

The ferry docked near Solovetsky Island’s airport, which came with one runway and a barracks-style terminal painted a dull gray-blue. Luke and Danielle were among about twenty others who made the journey across the choppy Onega Bay. He’d stayed out of the way and silent on the trip. They weren’t fifty feet from the dock before the ferry turned around and headed back out to open water and the Russian mainland.

Aside from a woman digging for clams in nearby marsh grass there wasn’t a local in sight. The others from the ferry quickly headed off toward town. The woman straightened up, stared at them for a long ten seconds, then returned to digging. The air was wet and chilly and carried a sharp bite. A road headed west along the shoreline and eventually merged with what Luke’s map told him was a popular monastery complex. Marcia had provided by email some additional local information.

The six islands in the Solovetsky archipelago separated Onega Bay from the White Sea. The closest mainland was the Onega Peninsula. The shores of all the islands were severely indented, formed of granites and gneiss. The relief of the islands was hilly, most covered with pine and spruce forests, along with swampy marsh. There were countless lakes, some joined by the monks long ago through a series of canals.

The existing monastery stronghold was erected in stone during the reign of Ivan the Terrible, renowned as a strong fortress, able to withstand attack and siege. In 1974 the Solovetsky Islands were designated a historical and architectural museum and a natural reserve of the Soviet Union. In 1992 they were inscribed on the World Heritage List. The monastery remained open and thousands visited every year. Tourism was the island’s main source of income, though fewer than nine hundred people lived here full-time. The whole place seemed the precise definition of isolated. One thing was certain, though, Site 6439 was off from the main island, on one of the nearly deserted other locations.

Danielle led him toward a bicycle corral at the end of the dock. A handprinted sign was in Cyrillic.

“Free use for visitors,” she said, translating.

They chose a pair of newer-looking three-speed cruisers. Luckily, they’d come traveling light, each with only a small backpack. They’d brought the handguns, some spare ammo, and the night-vision binoculars, but left all of the rest from the Pelican case inside the Polo back on the mainland.

They headed off toward the main settlement.

The closer they came the more people appeared, either sitting on porches or strolling along the road. Aside from the occasional curious glance no one paid them much attention. Visitors were common here. Luke kept his eyes open for signs of a military or police presence. There had to be eyes and ears here. Somewhere.

They reached what seemed to be the main road, as it was wider than the others and more tightly packed with buildings, part Dr. Zhivago, part Fiddler on the Roof in style. Their windward side nearest the shore had been sandblasted to an almost satiny gray finish while the leeward pastel-painted façades remained unscathed.

“It takes a special kind of person to live here year-round,” Danielle said.

“Or a prisoner of the state,” he added.

They found a hotel at the southern limit of town sandwiched between a tidal marsh and rolling sand dunes. If not for its blood-red exterior, an architectural feature Luke had found fairly common in Russia, the place could have passed for a Montana lodge. They leaned their bikes against a nearby tree, then climbed the steps to the lobby. An early-twenties woman in a white blouse and burgundy vest smiled at them from behind a reception desk. Her black hair was tightly packed in a ponytail. Danielle checked them in and chatted with her. Were there any areas they couldn’t ride their bikes? Any dangerous places they should avoid? Was there a police station on the island? Could she recommend a local guide? The kind of things tourists would ask. The receptionist answered the questions, then handed over their room keys and directed them to a nearby cottage.

They hustled over to it.

The inside was done in log-cabin style with exposed lodgepole walls, knotty-pine flooring, and rustic furniture.

“I feel like I’m at summer camp,” he said, dropping his backpack on the bed.

“I have no cell signal,” she said. “You?”

He shook his head. “Let’s try outside.”

It took ten minutes but finally they found decent reception atop one of the dunes overlooking the bay. On the beach, a tumbleweed danced across the sand to the wind’s tune, startling a cluster of foraging gulls, who lifted off, circling and cawing. Thanks to the wind the beach was a good twenty degrees cooler than inland.

“It’s ringing,” he said. When Marcia came on the line he put her on speaker.

“The tracker is definitely off Anzersky Island, north of your position,” she said. “As to where the prison is on that island, no way to tell. But it’s not a big place. Only seven square miles. And I spoke with Sean Fernando.”

“How was he?”

“Not anxious to help, for good reason, considering what you’re doing is unsanctioned.”

“Hopefully he overcame that reluctance?”

“He did. Good news. There’s an asset in the Solovetsky Islands.”
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LUKE AND DANIELLE RODE THEIR BIKES FOR A QUARTER MILE UNTIL Danielle spotted the Prisons and Camps Museum. A two-story gray building with a red roof and white shutters. They leaned their bikes against the building, mounted the steps, and walked inside.

Above their heads a bell tinkled.

Luke was expecting some hodgepodge of gulag artifacts on rickety wooden shelving. But he was wrong. The interior was stylishly lit by recessed spotlights above plexiglass display cases, with more rope lighting hidden among the rough-hewn ceiling joists. Strains of traditional Russian folk music played through hidden speakers. Arrayed beneath the displays were artifacts from the former gulag’s thirty-year life span, along with beds on which prisoners slept, punishment devices, even picks and shovels the inmates once used in their forced labor. Counterclockwise around the room the lighted displays told in text and imagery the story of Solovki and the people who were forced to live there. They stopped before a display showing an inmate grinning at the camera. Across his back lay a curved wooden bar, his arms strapped to each end. Another strap secured the yoke’s middle to his throat.

“No one knew his real name,” a voice behind them said in English. “They called him the One from Novgorod. Novgorod Muzhchina.”

They turned around to find a short man in a baggy black suit, with a bald head, large Roman nose, and thin lips.

“Why is he wearing that thing?” Danielle asked.

“And why is he smiling?” Luke added.

“It was called a pillory yoke. Novgorod Muzhchina wore it for a year before he died in the winter of 1937. He was an escape artist, albeit a poor one. He built rafts that sank within a few hundred meters. He once swam to Anzersky Island and hid in the swamps for a week, lighting signal fires at night in the hope of drawing the attention of a passing ship. He even tried to build a flying machine of sorts. Today it would be called a hang glider. He launched himself off the monastery roof then promptly crashed into the lake. Finally the guards got sick of having to rescue him. Thus, the pillory yoke.”

One thing bothered Luke. “Why did you speak English to us?”

“Because I received a message that you might be by.”

“I’m guessing you’re Pyotr,” Luke said.

“I am.”

“You like American football?”

“I love the Jaguars.”

The correct answer to his question. Which identified them both. Luke made the introductions, then said, “We understand you’re the man to ask about all things Solovetsky.”

Pyotr shrugged. “I should hope so. I was born here. My parents were inmates, so I became an inmate by default. The youngest one in Solovki history, actually. They died in 1953, the same year Solovki was closed.”

“I am sorry,” Danielle said.

“It is life, what can you do. I was sixteen and in love with a girl and once Solovetsky became just an island, not a prison camp, we decided it wasn’t so bad a place. So we stayed.”

“Children?” Luke asked.

“Six, three girls and three boys. And as of a week ago, eleven grandchildren. Most of them live in Arkhangelsk. I am a blessed man.”

Pyotr walked over to the front door and twisted its lock. He was broad-shouldered, dark-eyed, with a tawny mustache and a face shining to match the clear spring air. Nothing about him suggested that he was nearing ninety years old.

“Sadly,” Pyotr said, “the islands have once again become a dangerous place.”

“Are you out here, in the middle of nowhere, spying all alone?” Luke asked.

“I do not look at it as spying. I just hate Konstantin Franko. He is definitely expanding his presence around here, so I agreed to pass on what I see and hear to my handler. That is all.”

Their host led them to a small office at the back of the building. Once the door was closed he gestured toward a pair of chairs before a battered roll-top desk.

“The new prison is on Anzersky Island,” Pyotr said. “Five years ago soldiers in helicopters arrived. The eight people who lived there, mostly hermits, were removed. Notices went up all over the settlement here. ‘By government order Anzersky Island is now off limits.’ Cargo ships came and went, then more helicopters, some of them with trees dangling from cables. Big trees with their bottoms wrapped in burlap. Lots of them.”

“Camouflage?” Luke said.

“That would be a good explanation. For six months sounds of construction could be heard across the water. Day and night. Then, suddenly, it all stopped. It has been quiet ever since. A few months ago two local boys ignored the warnings and swam over to Anzersky. They were never seen again.”

“Security?”

“The best I have been able to determine is that they use the isolation and the island itself as a fence. No need for anything more overt. But there will surely be cameras, sensors, fences, all that sort of thing.”

“We have a friend in that prison,” Danielle said.

“Leave him there.”

“That’s not possible,” Luke said.

“I have been watching that place for a long time now. People go there, but they never return. I doubt your friend is still alive.”

“You may be right,” Luke said. “But we have to find out, for certain.”

“I am told this is not sanctioned?”

“Does it matter?”

Pyotr considered that inquiry for a moment. “Not really. What was once old here is now new again. Only now, instead of here, it dwells on Anzersky.”

“Give us all the intel you have,” Luke said.

Pyotr offered a fatalistic shrug. “Okay, but you will need two things. The first is a boat. A fast one. I cannot help there. But on the second, that I can supply.”
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ALEKSEI SAT ON THE FRONT PORCH, TWO WOOL BLANKETS ACROSS HIS lap, staring out at the forest and the calm waters of Lake Beloye beyond. The winter freezes would soon be over, the water reasonably accessible for the next few months. Once he loved to take a boat out in search of the best catches. But of late his fishing had been confined to the dock, or to when Edmon could take him in the boat. Things were changing within him. Irrevocably.

But his mind could still conceive a plan.

That had always been his strength.

He’d faced down the communists at a time when they were not ready to relinquish control. But the people had spoken by electing him their president. They’d had enough of power and privilege.

What a big lie.

Communism, from the Latin communis, meaning “common, universal.”

A left-wing to far-left sociopolitical, philosophical ideology that sprang from socialism. A socioeconomic order centered on equality and common ownership. From each according to his ability, to each according to his needs. Karl Marx’s belief from the late nineteenth century. A means of production, distribution, and exchange that allocated products to everyone based solely on need. No private property, no social classes, no money, no government.

A voluntary state of self-governance.

For Marx it was all made possible by an abundance of goods and services, more than enough to satisfy everyone’s needs.

But it was simply unachievable.

Communists loved to proclaim that within capitalism there were two exploitative classes. One the proletariat, who made up the majority of the population and who sold their labor to survive. The other the bourgeoisie, a small minority that derived profit from employing the working class. According to their lies a communist revolution was the only thing that could place the working class in power, transferring private property to common ownership.

But nothing close to that was ever achieved.

Instead a few controlled the many and reaped all the rewards, using force, violence, terror, and genocide to retain control.

The system Lenin created for his Soviet Union had nothing to do with communism. Nothing to do with giving the worker power or eliminating capitalistic greed. Instead he established a dictatorship of the proletariat, led by a revolutionary vanguard that supposedly provided the working classes with the knowledge and means to depose capitalism. But what they failed to mention was that to achieve success, there had to be strict discipline for workers, no strikes allowed, obligatory labor duty, and total control over every aspect of their lives.

Everything communism claimed to abhor.

All a lie.

And millions died for that lie during purge after purge, all designed simply to keep the man at the top in power.

He’d openly continued Mikhail Gorbachev’s glasnost and allowed, for the first time, people to speak about the Great Terror. After Lenin died in 1924 a power vacuum opened in the Soviet Communist Party. Many tried to rise to the top, but it had been Stalin who succeeded. He solidified his power with years of bloody purges in the 1930s. Anyone and everyone perceived as a threat was arrested or executed. Nobody really knew how many.

But certainly into the millions.

During Aleksei’s time in office people finally began to locate the killing grounds and identify those who lay buried. One at Bykivnia, near Kyiv, contained two hundred thousand corpses. He personally dedicated the shrine erected at the Butovo Firing Range, near Moscow, where twenty thousand of Stalin’s victims lay buried together. Mass graves were found all over Russia and its once ancillary territories. And Konstantin Franko wanted to bring all that back.

Last year Franko had opened the Wall of Sorrow. Supposedly an official recognition of the crimes from the Soviet regime. A public statement repudiating the horror. It all looked good in the media and Franko milked the coverage for all he could muster, but the man’s actions were far different from his words.

The gulags were back in business, though now secreted away, out of sight. The world today was a far different place than in the 1930s. Far more connected. Information could be disseminated in a matter of seconds to billions. Any self-respecting dictator had to be careful. But that had not stopped Franko from sending political opponents, enemies, or anyone who merely opposed what he said or did to the camps. After eighteen years of leading Russia Franko retained a firm hold on power. He used war—in Chechnya, Georgia, and Ukraine—to unite Russians in simplistic myths of nationalism. As history had taught, it was just a small step from there to a belief that repressive rule was so essential that it must be eternal, and elections became a joke. Franko had run unopposed three times. In anything merely resembling democracy that was an impossibility.

Without help.

He adjusted the blanket, bringing it closer to his chest. The weather remained chilly. Warmth this far north was rare. Maybe in July or August. But would he even be alive then? Hard to say. The doctor had been noncommittal on how much time he had left. “A few months, maybe. But things could progress faster.” He was not afraid of dying. In fact, he welcomed it.

What scared him was what he might leave behind.

A few months ago he was in town buying supplies and noticed a funeral happening adjacent to the nearby Orthodox church. He’d walked over to find an elderly couple preparing a grave, shoveling dirt and packing it down. A headstone lay nearby, ready to be placed.

“Who are you burying?” he asked.

“Our grandson.”

“How old was he?”

“Nineteen.”

“What happened?”

“Ukraine.”

Another woman approached who’d been standing off to the side.

“You need to leave,” she said.

“Were you his mother?”

“I was. My son died for the Motherland.”

“Shut up,” the grandmother said with open bitterness. “Forgive our daughter. She is foolish.”

“Stop talking about this right now,” the daughter said, “or I will report you all to the FSB.”

That conflict, within a family, tearing it apart, had struck a chord with him. He had spent his entire political life trying to end those dichotomies. Trying to give the people free choice.

And he made progress.

Sending Russia along a path toward more democracy and away from totalitarianism. But Franko had come along and changed all of that, amending laws and modifying the Russian constitution, allowing him to be reelected over and over. The press had been either eliminated or gagged, the people subjugated.

Then war.

One after another. Franko seemed to love death and destruction.

Okay. Fine.

That was what he was going to get.
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LUKE FOUND THAT, ASIDE FROM FISHING SKIFFS AND A FEW TRAWLERS that home-ported here, boats weren’t all that popular among the locals. Nothing sleek or fast. They required a craft capable of making the crossing to the mainland, at night, possibly in bad weather, and in less than an hour. That was how long Pyotr figured it would take reinforcements to arrive, should their rescue of John raise the alarm.

His biggest worry was the nature of those reinforcements. Namely, as Pyotr had reported, the heavily armed Svetlyak-class patrol boats stationed at the mouth of the White Sea–Baltic Canal twelve miles southeast of the Solovetskys. No matter how fast their own boat, if the Svetlyaks intercepted them they’d be blown out of the water. Finally, he called Marcia and placed the speedboat question to her.

“I’ve never scrounged for a boat before,” she said. “Especially in a foreign country. Challenge accepted.”

“The faster the better. Navigation radar and GPS would be a bonus. And one more thing. It’s Sunday. Could you call my mother and tell her I can’t call. Too risky from here. But I will when I can.”

“That’s a good son who thinks of his mother.”

“I try.”

Pyotr had drawn them a detailed map of Anzersky Island that included landmarks and structures invisible on Google Earth. He pointed out uncharted shoals, areas with treacherous currents, and inland hiding places should they find themselves on the run. By the time Pyotr was done talking Luke knew there wasn’t a square foot of the Solovetsky archipelago the man had not studied. Thoroughness and accuracy were what made for a good asset.

“One last thing,” Pyotr had said. “There are dozens of sketes on Anzersky.”

Seeing their confused expressions he’d explained.

“It’s a Greek word for ‘monastery.’ The ones you’ll find over there come in all varieties, from barn-sized to cramped huts. On Anzersky, if it’s big enough to live and worship in, it was once a monastery. I’m telling you this because they’re a part of Solovetsky’s cultural history and, if I had to guess, that prison is located inside, or below, one of them.”

After leaving Pyotr they walked east to Restoran Ekspeditsiya, a restaurant near the middle of the main settlement. The interior was predictably rustic and cramped, but the fish stew was tasty. They finished it off with some strong coffee and sweet-and-sour Bird’s Milk Cake. Then they headed back to the hotel where Danielle pored over Pyotr’s map.

Around 10:00 P.M. Marcia called. “Your mother was lovely, as usual. She said to tell you that she loves you.”

Danielle threw him a smile, a rarity for her.

“Message received,” he said.

“How do you feel about a well-loved 1952 Sevmash-17?”

“Beats me. I have no idea what that is.”

“It’s an all-wood vintage runabout.”

Oh, he’d seen pictures. Sounded cool.

“Nowadays Sevmash builds nuclear submarines for the Russian navy. But back in the day they built some damn fine speedboats.”

“Does ‘well-loved’ mean beat-to-hell?” he asked.

“It means meticulously maintained by a retired accountant from Kem who recently died of a heart attack.”

“I’m going to do my best to not take that as an omen,” Danielle said.

“His widow, who apparently hated the thing, is keen to get rid of it.”

“How in the world did you find it?” he asked.

“There’s this thing called the internet.”

“How do we get our hands on this runabout?”

“The widow’s brother will bring it across from Kem, then take the ferry back. I used PayPal and threw in an extra eight thousand rubles and paid for the gas. You’ll meet him tomorrow morning at nine.”
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EDMON WAS OLD ENOUGH TO REMEMBER WHEN ST. PETERSBURG WAS called Leningrad. He greatly preferred the traditional label over anything that reminded him of the Soviets. He hoped it stayed that way, though given Konstantin Franko’s ego he would not be surprised to someday wake to the news that it was now Frankograd.

He and Dominik were now on the ground, having arrived in the city just before dark. Dominik, true to his nature, had arranged for a car, which they claimed in an airport parking garage. The two of them then headed out across the evening traffic.

St. Petersburg was the country’s second largest city, home to nearly six million people. Peter the Great founded it on the site of a captured Swedish fortress and named it after the apostle St. Peter. It had always been associated with the birth of the modern Russian empire and its emergence as a great world power, serving as the capital from 1713 to 1918. After the October Revolution in 1917 the Bolsheviks moved the government to Moscow as a way to further distance themselves from the tsars.

Tourism was huge. Tens of millions came each year, though that number had dwindled since Franko had begun his territorial expansion and the world had imposed sanctions. Notable government bodies were still located here. The Constitutional Court, the Heraldic Council of the President, the National Library, and the Supreme Court of Russia. The Russian navy was headquartered nearby along with the Western Military District of the Russian Armed Forces. St. Petersburg remained an important place. Which was why many oligarchs called it home.

He’d spent the better part of the day on the telephone, calling friends and associates who remained in positions of power. People who were not sympathetic to Konstantin Franko, but were smart enough to keep their opinions to themselves. Instead, their opposition came from quietly supplying information to people like himself who could work outside the boundaries of government, where few rules applied.

He quickly discovered that Ilya Mashir had once been a known commodity. A brilliant mathematician and engineer who metamorphosed into an equally brilliant computer scientist.

“Mashir is a genius,” he was told. “Not the run-of-the-mill type, like Lomonosov or Einstein. He is in a class by himself. He was vital to the Soviet space program.”

Another source had finally tracked down something more substantive.

“Most of the people I talked with are afraid of Mashir for two reasons. He is unstable, and he works for Anton Khurtin.”

That information grabbed his attention.

Khurtin was one of Russia’s most renowned oligarch mob bosses, a hybrid, a cross between criminal and businessman. He was most notably known for what he didn’t do. In recent years Khurtin had steered his organizatsya away from the traditional revenue streams such as prostitution, money laundering, smuggling, and gambling, opting instead for drugs, cyber-crime, and extortion. He relied on ruthless brutality to maintain his empire, which had gone largely digital. The perfect place for Mashir. Moscow turned a blind eye to Khurtin’s cyber-extortion schemes. Anything and everything that could be done to disrupt the West was okay by them. Crossing Anton Khurtin risked cyber-annihilation of infrastructure, network contacts, and financial holdings. His reach was global and legendary. The Americans considered him one of their most wanted.

“Khurtin hires only the best hackers and pays obscene commissions, plus bonuses,” Dominik said. “They get cars, apartments, women, men. They live like kings. I know a few of them.”

“So there is no incentive to stray?”

“I was told the last hacker who defected was chain-sawed into pieces and fed to bears. A video was made that Khurtin shows to anyone even thinking about leaving.”

Traffic had congealed and they were at a stop waiting in a long line before a red light. They’d come to St. Petersburg because Anton Khurtin had headquartered his empire here.

“My guess,” Dominick said, “is that Khurtin has Mashir secreted away somewhere in the city or nearby. At last check Khurtin’s properties number in the dozens for this district. Mashir could be in any one of them. Finding him might actually be the easy part. Stealing him away? That will be the problem.”

Maybe not.

He’d done some homework on Khurtin too. His rise to power began as a young man selling hot dogs, shortly after being released from prison for armed robbery. The wiener venture became a smash hit and, within a few years, he’d opened high-end restaurants that counted Russia’s leaders among their clientele, earning him the nickname “the Chef.” Legend said that he made use of those bureaucrats’ presence by recording their conversations and using what he knew to get what he wanted. He currently owned a majority stake in Russia’s second largest phone network and a huge piece of the iron-and-steel industry. Particularly interesting was his early investment in Facebook. Khurtin had poured nearly $1 billion U.S. into the company, owning as much as 10 percent before selling and netting even more billions.

Which showed the man was both smart and savvy.

Another half hour in traffic and Dominick found their hotel, a modest establishment near the Hermitage. In the old days they would have worked all night, barely sleeping. But they were older now and had to be mindful to pace themselves.

Besides, it would all be there tomorrow.

Ready to find.
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MONDAY — MAY 26 — 6:30 A.M.

LUKE AND DANIELLE WERE UP BEFORE DAWN AND, AFTER A QUICK breakfast in the hotel’s rustic lodgepole-walled restaurant, they set out on their bikes. Rain had filled the night and morning had broken with a bright cloudless blue sky. Offshore the wind was brisk, tearing the tops off incoming waves. They would meet the widow’s brother and take possession of the Sevmash runabout in three hours. In the meantime Luke wanted to get the lay of the land and its inhabitants. Pyotr had assured them there were no off-limits areas on Solovetsky proper, so he planned to put that to the test, especially on the island’s eastern side nearest Anzersky. All it might take to sabotage their rescue mission before it started was a suspicious local or a phone call to the mainland police.

The coastal road was more a trodden sand path, broken by the many tidal marshes. So they stayed on the main road, which sat a mile inland and generally followed the contour of the shore before curving eastward. The farther from the ocean they got the more the island’s true landscape revealed itself as thick evergreen forest, winding streams and ponds, some no larger than a swimming pool while others were a mile wide and riddled with islets.

“Archipelagoes within an archipelago,” Danielle said.

They’d covered two miles before seeing their first person, an old man sitting on a stump casting a line in one of the ponds. He spotted Luke and Danielle, raised his chin in greeting, then returned his attention to his bobber.

Danielle yelled something out in Russian.

“Korneplody,” the man called over his shoulder.

She translated for Luke. “I asked if he’d caught anything. He said tree roots.”

Lots of dirt paths not on their map branched off the main road, each one leading to either a ramshackle cabin or an Orthodox skete, most of which were well tended with fresh paint and tidy postage-stamp-sized gardens. None appeared inhabited, however, which he thought odd. Eight miles after leaving the main settlement, the road abruptly ended at a wall of trees.

Danielle consulted the map. “We’re about a kilometer from Sosnovaya Bay, which puts Anzersky that way,” she said, pointing through the forest.

“We’re on foot, then.”

Leaving their bikes behind, they set off. While mostly flat the terrain was marshy, frequently forcing them to hop their way along from dry spot to stump to fallen trunks. By 7:00 A.M. they broke through the trees and found themselves on a rocky beach overlooking Anzersky Island in the distance.

“Let’s stay hidden,” he said, and crouched down.

“You see something?” she asked.

“I’m more worried about being seen.”

Though Anzersky was a couple miles away and it would take some sophisticated camera systems to pick them out, he was assuming the worst-case scenario. Here on the leeward side of Solovetsky the bay was calmer with no visible whitecaps. By watching a cluster of seagulls perched on the water’s surface he realized the current was moving fast, five to six miles per hour he judged. They stayed among the trees and walked the coastline, taking pictures for half an hour. Finally something caught Danielle’s attention through the binoculars.

“That dead tree,” she said, pointing. “When the sun bounces off the waves you can just make it out.”

He took the binoculars and zoomed in until he spotted it, a device of some kind embedded in the tree’s trunk.

She asked, “Camera?”

“Motion detector. See, there’s a path beside it.”

“Where there is one there be more,” she said.

In short order they spotted across the water four more detectors, each adjacent to a path that led to Anzersky’s interior. These were Site 6439’s first line of surveillance, which begged the question of whether there’d be more stringent measures closer to the prison. Or were Site 6439’s guards relying on Solovetsky’s natural barriers to discourage both would-be escapees and intruders? Pyotr thought that to be the case, as overt security had always been light. But from the description of Site 6439’s construction, it seemed Konstantin Franko had spared little expense in building the prison. The chances of him relying only on a few tree-mounted motion detectors were slim.

There had to be more.

He checked his watch.

“We better head back. We have a boat to buy.”
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THEY RETURNED TO THE DOCKS IN THE MAIN SETTLEMENT SHORTLY after nine to find the widow’s brother waiting for them. The Sevmash runabout wasn’t hard to spot among the few aged and rusting fishing trawlers. They walked down the pier and stopped beside the slip where the boat was moored. A tall, lanky man in black woolen pants and a cream-colored cable-knit sweater lay dozing on the rear cockpit-style bench. An unlit cigarette dangled from his mouth.

“Ty opozdal,” the man said without opening his eyes.

Danielle said something to him in Russian and the man righted himself and nodded. “My English is good. I am Lesta.”

“You are early,” she said.

“Beautiful craft, no?”

That it was. A mahogany-finished runabout. Shaped like a truncated teardrop. Gleaming in the morning sun, its brass fittings polished to perfection. Apparently, this guy wanted to make a sale. On the way over Danielle had explained that bartering was the Russian way. Here, though, with a mysterious buyer over the internet, hurried haggle-free sale, and remote delivery, he must have sensed an opportunity to exploit.

“How beautiful is it?” she asked.

Lesta waggled his head and pursed his lips. “I have already been paid.”

Luke reached into his pocket and gave the man another ten thousand rubles from the stash he’d brought along. “That enough for you to forget all about us?”

Lesta accepted the money and handed over the key. “Happy boating.”

And he headed off down the pier to the waiting area for the next ferry off the island. As promised the boat was fully gassed and ready to go. They headed into the settlement and found a shop where they could rent fishing gear and bait. Danielle obtained enough local knowledge about the best spots to provide sufficient cover for their trip should they be intercepted while at sea or questioned after returning to port.

He kept his mouth shut.

Their bike tour had raised no alarms.

But this boat trip would be the real test.

The distance between the Solovetsky main settlement and Anzersky Island was less than ten miles, as the crow flew, but their boat journey up the coast, around the Sosnovaya Bay headland, and across the gap to Anzersky more than doubled that distance. Halfway, they paused and Luke spent a few minutes scraping the boat’s hull registration numbers from the bow. It was noon before they arrived half a mile offshore.

He dropped the anchor overboard.

They got busy rigging their fishing lines. In the process he tapped a button on his phone, which he’d tied to the starboard gunwale, partially covered with their pole net. He and Danielle tossed their lines over the port side and concentrated on fishing. Behind them the phone let out a soft shutter click.

“It will take a picture every minute,” he explained. “We’ll sit for a bit before moving on.”

Incredibly, they each snagged an undersized sea bass.

Not bad for not really trying.

But it helped with the façade.

After an hour he hauled in the anchor and they followed the coast east until they were off the northern tip of Sosnovaya Bay. They hadn’t been fishing fifteen minutes before he heard the sound of an outboard motor.

He glanced over his shoulder.

A white speedboat emerged from the mouth of the bay, came about, and headed their way. He returned his attention to his fishing line until a couple minutes later a voice echoed across the water in Russian.

He and Danielle turned, smiled, and waved.

The speedboat stopped thirty feet away.

Two men were aboard, one behind the wheel, the other standing beside him, arms braced on the windshield. They were dressed in civilian clothes and did not look like the fishing type, whatever that might be, despite a pair of poles standing upright in the gunwale rod holders.

More Russian was shouted.

Danielle answered them.

“How is fishing?” one of them asked in English.

A test? To see if he spoke English?

“Sea bass, saffron cod. None big enough to keep,” she said in Russian.

“What bait you using?” the man asked.

“Whole smelt, maybe chunked herring is better?”

“It is. Are you from Solovetsky?”

She nodded. “Photography vacation. The monastery’s been on our must-see list for long time. How about you, where are you from?”

“Orlov Bay. We have shack there,” the man said without hesitation.

The speedboat drifted broadside to them. One of the men adjusted his position and planted his boot on the gunwale. Luke noticed the driver had only one hand on the wheel. The other dangled out of sight between his knees. The guy’s eyes kept scanning from Luke to Danielle, concentrating not on their faces but rather their hands. The other man’s black boot tip was polished to a mirrored shine, and there was a distinctive bulge on his right hip. Luke also saw the softball-sized dome attached to the boat’s rearview. The camera’s lens aperture tiny but unmistakable.

“Beautiful boat,” Boot Man said. “We notice it and came for look.”

“Not ours,” Danielle said. “Belongs to man we met at hotel restaurant. Cost us plenty to rent, but only live once, eh?”

“You headed down the coast?” he asked.

“Thinking about it.”

“The current is dangerous near the mouth of the bay. Watch yourself. Best to steer away.”

Subtle, Luke thought. But message clear.

“Thank you. We keep eye out.”

With waves and smiles they brought the speedboat about and headed back toward the mouth of the bay. Luke reeled in his line and busied himself changing bait until the speedboat disappeared from view.

“We finally get too close,” she said.

“Our faces will be on their system before the hour’s out,” he said. “Best to assume our missing registration number will also raise questions. Nice job with the rented boat. We’re on their radar now. Our window is closing. We’re going to have to make our move tonight.”

“We ready?”

“We’re gonna have to be.”
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ST. PETERSBURG, RUSSIA

ILYA MASHIR FINISHED HIS LAST ROUND OF CODE DEBUGGING. Micro-skimming transactions from a high-volume brokerage house was not overly complicated, but covering his tracks was a tougher nut to crack. The algorithm designed to detect exactly what he was attempting worked frighteningly fast, so the code needed to be faster and cleaner. The idea wasn’t just to steal on behalf of Anton Khurtin. Ilya also nibbled away on those ill-gotten gains without anyone ever noticing. Embezzlement. Sure, it was sophisticated and high tech, but it was stealing nonetheless. The plan seemed simple enough. Extract enough money that Khurtin would have no choice but to deal with him. He’d already made one deal with that devil, a bargain he should have never made. But there’d been no choice. Two years had passed.

And now he had choices.

So far he’d squirreled away nearly fifty million euros, all safely deposited in a confidential Swiss account. The whole thing had actually been easy since Khurtin trusted him with not only the execution of the ransomware attacks, but the subsequent payments as well. The victims who’d opted to pay had delivered the correct amounts. The skimming came once the money was transferred. Nearly two hundred million euros flowed through Khurtin’s accounts every year. Ilya had devised a program that showed them all intact, balanced, and correct, though the reality was far from that. At some point he’d escape, then make a second deal with the devil. One Khurtin could not refuse. But to do that he had to be far away, out of sight, impossible to find.

He finished what he’d started, satisfied that his algorithms would work. Currently, there were nearly a thousand ransomware attacks in progress across the globe. Not all would bear income. Some opted to take the loss and never pay the ransom. Most, though, caved. They kept the ransom amounts within reason, since the alternative would be a waste of time. People would never pay. The trick was finding the right amount to get their attention, but not enough to chase them away. Ransom had to be a viable option. Of course, they tailored each amount to the respective victim. Others in computer centers scattered around Russia carried out the actual attacks. He alone handled the payments. Khurtin thought it provided an added measure of security if only one person dealt with the money.

And how was an old man any threat?

More than anyone might imagine.

He walked a delicate balance, skimming off amounts that, in the grand scheme of things, would never be missed. Thankfully there were no internal audits. No accountants overseeing things. Nobody to contradict the reports he regularly provided, all of which were false.

He’d been at it for a few hours. Today seemed like it was going to be a good day for his brain. So he called out to one of his guards.

The man appeared.

“Let us take a walk,” he told the younger man. “I would like to enjoy some of the sea air.”

The dacha by the Baltic had been his home for two years. He both lived and worked here. A cook was provided who made some delicious meals, and two women kept the house spotless. His workroom, the cockpit, was off limits to all but himself and his four guards. He’d made no effort to come to know or like any one of them. Quite the contrary. They were all thugs, paid by an even greater thug, who lived off the misery of others. But who was he to talk. He too was profiting off that same misery.

But he’d had no choice.

Once valued by the Soviet Union as a vital scientist, he had seen his services terminated by the Russian Federation. No severance pay. No pension. Not even a thank-you. Just a summary dismissal. He’d moved around from place to place, finally finding a job at a university in Irkutsk, far away from Moscow, forgotten for decades. When that job ended he’d been lost once again until the opportunity with Khurtin came along.

But that had been forced.

By him, with that bargain with the devil.

He had to fix that mistake.

While he still could.
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SOLOVETSKY ISLAND

LUKE HAD BEEN CONCERNED ABOUT FEDOT OSIPOV’S RADIO SILENCE. They’d heard nothing from him since arriving on Solovetsky. But around 5:00 P.M. a text finally came their way from the wayward prison guard.

Danielle showed him the screen.

65°11’0.51” N

35°59’20.58” E

23:30

Confirm receipt

“Latitude, longitude, and a time,” he said.

He plugged the coordinates into Google Earth. The dropped pin was located on a sandbar just inside the mouth of Troitskaya Bay, where their speedboat visitors had come from earlier.

Interesting.

With its mouth facing northeast into the White Sea, the crescent-shaped Troitskaya Bay bisected Anzersky Island’s western half, its course narrowing through a pair of elongated lakes before ending at a dock and a cleared area of forest. Abutting the clearing’s south side was another lake, this one landlocked.

“What do we tell Fedot?” she asked.

“You ever heard the tale about the scorpion and the frog?”

She shook her head.

“My daddy told me when I was young. One day a scorpion asks a frog for a ride across a stream. The frog says, ‘No, you’ll sting me,’ to which the scorpion says, ‘I would never do that, we’d both drown.’ So the frog agrees and the scorpion climbs on. Off they go. About halfway across the stream the scorpion stings the frog. ‘Why’d you do that? Now we’re both dead.’ The scorpion just shrugs and says, ‘I’m a scorpion. It’s what I do.’”

“Fedot’s our scorpion?”

He nodded. “Definitely. The question is whether our threat to feed him to a mob boss is enough to keep him from stinging us. Fedot’s no genius, but self-preservation is a hell of a motivator. Trusting this guy comes with a massive amount of risk. We have to assume he’s setting us up.”

“We have no choice. We get John either tonight or never.”

“Fair point. Text Fedot back and confirm receipt.”

She did.

A reply came almost immediately in Russian.

Duty post tonight is external access control. Can get you in unseen. Midnight is shift change. Less oversight. Be at coordinates then.

She translated.

“Like you pointed out, we have no choice,” Luke said. “Tell him we’ll be there.”

Danielle texted back Okay in Russian.

Then she returned her attention to the phone.

“I want a better look at that clearing,” she said, expanding the image, which revealed an icon near an old building. “Svyato-Troitskiy Skit. A monastery. Biggest one on Anzersky.”

In addition to the main building Luke counted eight smaller structures. He also saw a long, multi-gabled roof with an attached onion dome surrounded by scaffolding.

“That suggests renovation, which means people, equipment, traffic. It could have served as cover during the construction.”

“I count three roads in and out,” she said. “North, east, west.”

He clicked on the screen’s measuring tools. “The main building is three hundred feet by sixty feet, which puts it at about eighteen thousand square feet. But these images are a few years old. Who knows what the place looks like now. If Pyotr was right about those trees being brought in, big sections of clearing could be covered by now. Throw in some camouflage netting and you’re in business.”

For the next ten minutes they studied the terrain until Luke spotted a plume of discolored water near the docks. “I’ve seen this before. It’s an outflow of some kind.” He clicked on a photo beside the plume. The resulting pop-up window was heavily pixelated. “That’s called downright suspicious.”

He looked closer. No watercourse accounted for the outflow. Best guess? An underground conduit to the freshwater lake south of the clearing. Which probably ran directly beneath the monastery building. A freshwater supply for plumbing, showers, food preparation.

“It’s a safe bet a few of those outbuildings are dedicated generator sheds,” he said. “We should also count on more motion sensors, cameras, foot patrols, the works.”

“And those roads. All blocked off. Anyone who goes too close is arrested.”

Like the two kids Pyotr had told them about.

“It’s a bit genius, if you think about it,” he said. “The only traffic in and out is by water. It’s fairly easy to secure the perimeter. Even if someone manages to get in and out, they still have to head back on the bay. Bare-ass-to-the-wind.”

She stood up straight, ran her fingers through her hair, and exhaled. She was tough. No doubt. But she had limits. “So how we get in?”

He was thinking on that. There are still a hundred things that could go wrong. They had to be ready to deal with every one of them.

He checked his watch.

“We’ve got eight hours to figure that out.”
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LUKE ERRED ON THE SIDE OF CAUTION AND WAITED UNTIL NIGHT HAD fully fallen before leaving the docks. He had no idea if their encounter with Site 6439’s “surveillance fishermen” had sparked suspicion enough to prompt a search for them, but he thought it best their departure go unnoticed. This whole thing could be a trap that he was walking straight into, but to get something in this world you had to give. And in this case, he was giving himself up on a silver platter.

But he remained optimistic.

He was the kind of guy who, when walking through a field of crap, was always looking for the cows.

But there was still that crap.

Danielle handled the GPS while Luke drove the runabout. He kept the navigation lights dark and they retraced their earlier journey, hoping the moonless night would make them harder to spot. Once they were around the headlands the weather took an abrupt turn in the form of a twenty-knot wind that delivered a broadside chop strong enough to repeatedly swamp the port gunwale, shoving them toward the White Sea. The Solovetsky Islands marked the boundary between the relatively calm Onega Bay and the more turbulent sea. He struggled to keep the runabout’s bow aimed at the incoming swells while Danielle assumed double duty as navigator and bailer.

Water swished at their feet.

Rain spattered the windshield.

“I am not best swimmer,” she said.

And he caught the concern in her voice.

“We’re okay. It’ll ease up once we turn south.”

Or so he hoped.

He knew boats well enough, but next to nothing about negotiating open ocean. After all, he was army not navy. And there was pride in that. What had a Ranger colonel once said to him? “Never forget that the lowest plebe at West Point is better than the best admiral in the navy.”

A bit strong, but damn right.

The runabout’s bow slammed into a wave crest, then plunged into the trough. Danielle lost her footing and crumpled to the deck. Spray burst over the windshield. The stern vaulted, lifting free the propellers, which let out a high-pitched whine then re-submerged.

“You okay?” he asked.

“I am good. You were saying about not sinking.”

“Just hold tight. Another mile and we’ll be clear.”

He estimated for every hundred feet gained they were losing half to the swells and wind. They’d be lucky to round Anzersky’s upper peninsula in the next hour.

And his estimate was about right.

Shortly after 10:00 P.M. he spotted the peninsula off the starboard bow and fought the wheel until they were aimed south. The headwind turned into a tailwind, and within a few minutes the chop halved. His arms were trembling, his hands numb from clutching the wheel. So they changed jobs and he took a few minutes to work the kinks out of his muscles. He studied the GPS screen for a moment. They were in Troitskaya Bay. He scanned ahead through the night-vision binoculars until he spotted a smudge of land against the black sky.

“Steer to port,” he said. “Let’s put a little distance between us and land.”

She did so until they were about half a mile from shore, then straightened out and shifted the engine to idle. He looked through the night-vision binoculars and saw nothing. He checked his watch. An hour to go before they were to meet Fedot. Plenty of time for some reconnaissance.

“Take us in,” he said. “Maybe two hundred yards from the mouth. Let’s see if we attract any attention.”

Once they were in position he tossed out the anchor and they settled in to watch and wait. He realized that though it was pitch black, infrared cameras and radar could find them.

He handed her the binoculars. “First sign of lights, or any movement, let me know.”

He reached for the small case that Pyotr had supplied. A godsend, actually. And totally unexpected. A drone. Which Pyotr used occasionally, but with caution.

Having practiced a few times earlier, he quickly assembled the craft following the directions Pyotr provided. Then he ran a quick diagnostics program from an app Marcia had forwarded. This was no ordinary drone. Though built on a commercial chassis, it had been tweaked by the CIA. It came with a quieter, more powerful engine and variable-pitch rotors so it could go farther faster, with minimal noise output. The controls were virtually foolproof with auto-hover stabilization. You would have to work at crashing it, Marcia had said. Most important, the drone was armed with an infrared, high-resolution camera that could pick out hot spots like people and electronic sensors. Getting around those obstacles, though, would be up to him and Danielle.

“See anything?” he whispered, knowing that sound could travel far over water.

She shook her head.

His phone vibrated. The diagnostic program was done.

“Okay, let’s fly.”

Time to make use of those instructional classes Magellan Billet agents were required to take on drones. He worked the controls and lifted the unit straight up until it was thirty feet off the water, then aimed it toward the mouth of the bay, watching the GPS coordinates shift ever closer to the sandbar Fedot had chosen as their meeting spot. When he was a hundred yards out he ascended to a hundred feet then stopped in a hover.

“We’re there,” he said.

Danielle scooted closer as he turned on the camera. A gray-green image filled the phone’s screen. He worked the buttons until the camera was pointed directly downward. The ground color was a green monochrome. No heat signatures. The resolution impressive. He could pick out individual bushes and marsh cattails.

“Eleven fifteen,” she whispered. “They should be here anytime.”

They were assuming Fedot would arrive early. But not too early, since he was definitely playing in his own sandbox.

He sent the drone into a slow flat spin, this time looking for hot spots in the air. It wasn’t inconceivable Site 6439 had its own drone fleet.

All clear.

He returned the camera to its downward angle.

Five minutes passed.

Then a trio of figures appeared, red-yellow silhouettes picking their way along the lake bank. Coming from the east, which further confirmed their suspicion that Site 6439 lay somewhere around the monastery clearing. The three figures arrived near the sandbar, and one kept going. The other two turned into a cluster of bushes and crouched down.

“He wants to ambush us,” she said.

“Like my grandma would say, He ain’t got the sense he was born with.”

“What do we do?”

“Depends on how you feel about having to shoot someone.”

“These people? I do not care. What you have in mind?”

He explained his plan.

When he was done, she said, “That is pretty cold-blooded.”

“We’ll give ’em a chance to do right. But here’s the thing. If any of them manages to get word to the prison, it’s over. We don’t get John out and we don’t live to see morning.”

“I know.”

They bobbed in the choppy water.

Now or never.

He yanked up the anchor and used the current to drift them away from the island. The wind and rain continued, which should mask any sound of them and the drone. They were now away from where Fedot and his companions were waiting. Finally, he switched on the engine and moved slowly toward the mouth of the bay. Past its encircling arms he eased them to the middle of the channel. A thick fog swirled over the surface. The runabout’s engine idled softly.

“We should be getting a signal soon,” he said.

Danielle kept her focus on the island where they’d last seen the Russian. A flashlight blinked once, then twice more.

Fedot’s invitation to come ashore.

“Get ready,” he said.

She crouched below the windshield. He gave her a nod, which she returned. He could only hope she’d do what was necessary.

They’d brought only their handguns.

His sound-suppressed.

Hers not.

The entire success of their rescue mission depended on what happened in the next few minutes.
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ANZERSKY ISLAND

LUKE DROVE THE RUNABOUT STRAIGHT FOR SHORE.

Through the darkness shapes began to form. First trees as splotches in the dark, then the beach itself. His night vision was excellent, but he cheated and used the goggles to zero in on a form standing between the water and the trees. The drone was down, on the beach, away from where he was headed, saving battery power and awaiting further use. He cut the engine and drifted the last twenty feet until the bow kissed the sand. He tossed the anchor over the side so the boat would not drift out, marching toward the figure, stopping six feet away, close enough that he could use Fedot as a shield from his buddies.

“Where’s the woman?” Fedot asked.

“I don’t need her anymore.”

Fedot’s eyes darted toward the runabout.

“Feel free to check, if you’re nervous,” Luke said.

“I am not nervous.”

“You look nervous. How are we going to handle this?”

“I will go back to control center. You follow at distance—”

Fedot shifted slightly on his feet, hands at his side.

“Don’t even think about it,” Luke said. “Keep your hands down.”

“What do you mean?”

“You two, there in the bushes,” Luke called out. “I sure hope he’s paying you enough.”

“Shut up,” Fedot said.

“If it was just me you had to worry about, that’s one thing. But there’s this Bratva boss in Archangel—”

“Stop talking,” Fedot said. “I am warning you.”

“—named Kiseleva who’s about to find out this guy has been poaching his customers.”

Fedot reached into his waistband.

Luke was ahead of him and cleared his own 9mm from his waist. His first shot caught Fedot in the sternum, just right of the centerline. The retort was no louder than a soft clap in the wind and rain. Fedot backpedaled a couple of steps, then collapsed straight down. From the bushes the other two were up and moving toward him. Luke dove to the sand just as Danielle unleashed two rounds that whined by. Hers were louder but mostly lost in the wind.

Both men dropped to the ground.

“Keep your gun on them,” he told her, first checking Fedot for signs of life, then his partners.

All dead.

He then dragged the bodies into the bushes and checked his watch.

11:40 P.M.

He was hoping there was some sort of shift change within the prison, like Fedot had told him, and midnight seemed like a good time for that to happen. They stayed still and silent for a few minutes. He scanned the area through the goggles looking for trouble.

All quiet.

The rain had slackened but the wind continued to howl. He frisked the bodies and found Fedot’s prison ID badge and a nondescript white key card that he hoped would access Site 6439’s exterior doors. The alternative, that the doors were controlled by a remote location, would further complicate their already cobbled-together plan. On Fedot’s pals he found nothing but wallets. He showed Danielle the driver’s licenses.

“These are Vologda addresses. They are not guards. Must be part of his crew from home.”

He liked that. “One missing guard at shift change and you get confusion. Three missing guards and that’s panic. Maybe a lockdown. This works for us.”

“So what the plan?”

“Beats me,” Luke said. “We’ll improvise.”

They headed back to the runabout and eased out into the bay. Before leaving he sent the drone back into the air in hover mode. A river led inward so they followed it, keeping the motor to not much more than idle. Ahead there were lights and a clearing among the trees, along with a building. He took the drone up to sixty feet and sent it sprinting toward the monastery clearing. In the gray-green glow of the phone’s screen the main building slid into view. He used the night-vision goggles and studied the layout. The old Google Earth photos had not shown the landscaping and other upgrades performed by Site 6439’s construction crew. This clearing was now packed with trees strategically placed to interrupt the buildings’ straight lines. He searched for signs of sensors or cameras but saw none. Nor were there any roving foot patrols. To all appearances they were staring at an abandoned monastery on an uninhabited White Sea island. Had they gotten this wrong? All signs pointed to this old monastery being Site 6439.

The drone approached a shed on the extreme west side of the clearing. A yellowish heat plume appeared on the phone’s screen. Closer in the yellow turned red. He tapped the screen and switched on the microphone. Rangers were taught to use all of their senses. Never favor one over the other. He’d already used sight to maximum advantage. Time for sound. Through the phone’s speaker came a faint, rhythmic whine.

“That’s a generator,” he murmured.

He knew what that meant.

Jackpot.

“Let’s go get this done.”
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ALEKSEI COULD NOT SLEEP.

That blissful state, once something he truly enjoyed, had become harder and harder to come by. He’d never been a long sleeper. Five or six hours a night had served him well ever since he left university long ago. The older he’d become the less sleep he enjoyed. Now it was down to two or three hours.

At best.

None of which was restful.

He sat alone in the den, a fire crackling in the hearth, no lights on. His caretaker was still asleep upstairs. She’d become accustomed to him being up at all hours of the night.

He had to think.

Be sure.

The clock was winding down.

The party congress would happen in five days.

A formal gathering inside the Kremlin that had started back with the communists. The first happened at Minsk in March 1898. Nine Marxist undergrounders met and proclaimed the establishment of the Russian Social Democratic Workers Party. They were promptly arrested by the tsarist police. The second congress convened at Brussels in July 1903 with fifty-seven participants. More gatherings happened both before and after the 1917 October Revolution at a time when the Communist Party functioned as a democratic entity. By the time of the twentieth congress in 1956 Stalin was dead and Khrushchev was chosen to succeed him. The congresses then became the supreme decision-making body for the Soviet Communist Party. But in reality, they merely rubber-stamped the beliefs of the current leader in power.

Whoever that might be.

He’d attended the twenty-eighth congress in 1990, convened with 4,863 delegates. The largest ever gathering and the last before the collapse of communist rule and the breakup of the Soviet Union. Times were different then. Gorbachev had taken decisive steps toward democratization, including the surrender of the party’s political monopoly.

That led to a schism.

The conservatives on one side, radical reformers on the other. The 1990 congress was the most open, no-holds-barred debate since the communists took power in 1917. Incredible to witness. For the first time resolutions were confined to the internal organizational business of the party, steering clear of national political issues. Barely a year after that conservatives attempted a coup d’état, which failed, setting the stage for the total demise of the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics.

And his own rise to the presidency of the new Russian Federation.

What an exciting time.

He felt a great honor to have been a part of it.

The early congresses took place in heritage buildings like the State Armory or the back rooms of the Great Kremlin Palace. Since 1961 they occurred in the State Kremlin Palace, built by Khrushchev for that exact purpose. A modern glass-and-concrete design that conflicted sharply with the rest of what stood inside the Kremlin walls. Huge too. About forty thousand cubic meters. Over eight hundred rooms. Its center occupied by a massive auditorium that seated six thousand.

The gatherings had continued since the fall of communism at regular five-year intervals. The modern congresses were not all that different from decades past. The main change was the participants. No more communists. All who attended now were allies and loyalists to the president of Russia. For the last eighteen years that meant they were all Franko loyalists. Not a single opposing voice. Sure, dissent arose from time to time, even growing loud on occasion, but those voices were quickly silenced. Franko’s hold on power was absolute and, thanks to convenient changes in the law, he would continue in power for as long as he desired.

Destroying Russia in the process.

Aleksei focused on the fire, watching the flames lick the blackened stone hearth. So many decades of soot were there, layered one onto the other, becoming darker and darker. Was what he planned to do the right thing? Not in the least. But it was the only thing. What had his father said so many times? Even if it is wrong, do something. Russians had never been good at looking after themselves. They had always been dominated. First by Tatars. Then tsars. Next communists. And now by Konstantin Franko. Only once had the people risen up in revolution, that one fueled by Lenin’s radicalism. But all that newfound independence quickly evaporated into just more totalitarianism.

He knew that if he did not do something, nothing would be done.

So he had no choice.

Five days.

And all would change.
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LUKE STEERED THE RUNABOUT TOWARD THE DOCK UNTIL HE JUDGED it close enough, then cut power and let momentum take them the rest of the way. Danielle hopped out and used her boot to keep the hull from banging into the wood, then secured the bowline. For a few moments after climbing out, they waited and watched. No movement. No lights. The clearing beyond seemed a ghost town. Which worried him. He thought about bringing the drone in closer but decided against it. Time for some old-fashioned eyes and ears on the ground.

The first structure in sight, a shed with a sagging roof, stood fifty yards ahead down a dirt road. The monastery itself was out of sight around a bend, hidden by a shrub-covered hillock. His mental alarms were clanging now. They were in the right place, of that he was certain, but was this a decoy site? No, he decided, that was overly elaborate, especially for a prison in the middle of nowhere. An ICBM site? Maybe. But not this. Enough. They weren’t going to think John out of prison.

“I’ll take point,” he said.

He headed down the dock then continued onto the road. Danielle followed, watching their rear. They reached the shed and pressed against the side wall, waited a few beats, then circled the corner, moving toward the clearing. His brain worked in worst-case mode, half expecting they’d stumble into a shock-and-awe trap. Better to worry and be wrong than the other way around. The monastery’s west wall and scaffolding came into view. He stopped again, crouched, watched. All quiet. They sprinted to the wall, then headed down its length.

“Hold,” Danielle whispered.

He stopped.

“That window we just passed was blacked out.”

He circled back around her.

She was right.

The glass pane was spray-painted on the inside. Unless they’d stumbled onto some monks who loved their movie nights, they were onto something. They continued down the wall to the next corner. He peeked around, then drew his head back.

“Just beneath the eaves there’s something mounted on the wall.”

She stole a look.

“Birdhouse,” she whispered.

“The glint in the opening,” he said.

She nodded.

Camera lens. Cleverly concealed too.

He noticed the birdhouse’s height, which suggested the camera had a downward angle. The question was whether there was a blind spot between it and the wall they could squeeze past. He’d done this before, both in training and in the field.

“Stay glued to the wall,” he told her.

They stepped around the corner and found themselves standing beside a wooden door.

He touched its surface.

Wood-grain-like paint. Steel underneath. He studied the hinges. Gray steel. Last time he saw something similar was the armory at Fort Moore. A rusted black metal box was mounted beside the door. He ran his fingertips around the edges until they reached a pencil-shaped protrusion. He leaned in for a closer look. A barcode scanner. Beside which was a latch. He found Fedot’s key card from his pocket and pressed it against the aperture. A snick, then the front of the box opened, revealing a card reader. A lone red light blinked back at them. Time to see if Fedot’s key card worked. Problem was they had no idea what was on the other side. Could be a lot more of nothing. Or it could be a guy with an automatic rifle.

He inserted the key card, which brought a thunk from a dead bolt sliding open. He grabbed the doorknob, turned it, then gave it a tug so the panel swung open on its own. He waited for a five-count and, hearing nothing, went through and sidestepped left. Danielle followed and moved right. The interior was pitch black. He tapped his boot on the floor. The echo told him the space was empty. This wasn’t the prison.

Then it occurred to him.

It was below.

His eyes adjusted and he noticed they were not in complete darkness. Halfway down the space a vertical rectangle was outlined by pale, milky light.

Fluorescent bulbs, judging from the color.

A closed door.
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LUKE REALIZED THAT THE LIGHT SUGGESTED OCCUPANTS.

He ran the scenarios in his head.

How many? Armed or unarmed?

First order of business, make sure no alarms were raised. If the prison was below them, the next room might be the separation point between access control and inmates.

He whispered, “Once we go through—”

“No noise. I know.”

Smart girl.

She stepped forward, but he stopped her. “Not yet. If there are cameras in here, a response team might be coming through that door. Better if we’ve got an exit at our backs.”

Something Cotton Malone had once told him rang true.

Stealth is 50 percent patience.

He gave it a full five minutes. Satisfied no welcoming party was coming, they approached the door, this one constructed of wood. He touched the wall. Unpainted sheetrock. He pressed his ear to the door and heard the muffled squelch of what sounded like mobile radio traffic.

He tried the knob. Unlocked.

He nodded at Danielle, which she returned. He swung open the door and they repeated their entry pattern. Guns up, Luke left, Danielle right. Twenty feet away was a bank of video screens and a long, crescent-shaped desk lined with monitors. Seated at the middle console was a man, his back to them. To their right was another sheetrock wall and a doorless entryway. He pointed two fingers at his eyes, then at the doorway.

Watch. Keep it covered.

She nodded.

He crept up behind the man and aimed the 9mm.

The young man turned, the eyes immediately wide with fear.

“Do you understand me?” he asked the guard.

The head slowly nodded.

He was hoping that what he’d been told in training was right. Russians liked their prison guards to speak English. You never knew what you might overhear.

“You move, you die,” he said. “You raise your voice, you die. You don’t answer my questions, you die. Understand?”

The man nodded.

“Your name.”

“Kirill.”

“Interlace your fingers on top of your head and turn back to the monitors.”

He did so.

“You were expecting Fedot at midnight?”

“At shift change.”

“Just him?”

Kirill nodded.

He turned to Danielle. “Check what’s beyond.”

She disappeared through the doorway and reemerged thirty seconds later. “Bunk room. Empty but for one man sleeping. There’s a stairway leading out.”

“Why isn’t Fedot sleeping here,” he asked Kirill.

“It gets hot. Some choose to sleep in tents.”

“Where?”

“West side of the clearing, near the water.”

“How many?”

“Tonight, just Fedot.”

He got Danielle’s attention and pointed toward the doorway, his hands signaling Take care of the sleeping man.

She disappeared through the door.

He kept the gun aimed at the guard’s head.

Kirill asked, “Are you going to kill me?”

“Not unless you give me a reason. Including you and Fedot, how many guards are on duty and are they armed?”

“Nine. All have rifles and pistols.”

That left six to deal with. “Is there an armory?”

“Sub-level, one below us.”

“How many inmates? Single cells or shared?

“Forty-nine. Single cells.”

“Show me the cell roster and building layout. Just with your left hand.”

Kirill used a trackpad to call up two windows, one a spreadsheet, the other a blueprint image. His hands shook as he pointed at the screen.

Danielle reappeared and nodded.

Done.

“One more thing,” he said. “Which cell is the American Vince?”

“Twenty-two, level two.”

“You’ve been great, Kirill. Sorry about this.”

He rapped the young man hard behind the ear with the butt of the gun. Kirill slumped forward. He caught the head before it could smack the desk—the least he owed the guy for all the information—then sat him upright in the chair.

“We go get him,” she said.

“Hold on.” He stared at the computer screen. “My guess is all access controls are run from here. The cell doors can’t be opened from anywhere else.”

“So open John’s cell.”

“This is an isolation prison. Inmates rarely leave their cells. When they do it’s a scheduled thing. If a door opens unexpectedly, guards are alerted. There are six around here somewhere.” He studied the prison’s blueprint again on the screen. “I’m going down. Give me ten minutes, then open John’s door.”

“I go. You stay here.”

“He asked for me. If alarms go off, we have to assume reinforcements will be coming from the outside. I’m counting on you to clear the way to the runabout.”

She was about to argue, but he raised a hand to stop her. “Do this. Please.”

Finally, she nodded.

Before he left he made a quick search of the room and discovered a wall locker that contained several handguns, along with PepperBall pistols. Effective at short range to disable someone without killing them. Probably came in handy at a secret prison with high-value inmates that were useless dead. He grabbed one of the PepperBall pistols and made sure it was loaded.

He then moved into the bunk room, spotted the stairs she’d mentioned, and started downward. He noticed that she’d tied up and gagged the sleeping guard with what looked like socks. The man was not moving. Another blow to the head, surely. The relatively bright lights of the nerve center gave way to dimly lit cage-sconces. Concrete walls, shot through with hairline cracks, dripped with condensation. Green mold speckled the ceiling. With each step the air grew mustier. He reached the bottom and found himself at an arched doorway and an L-intersection. A grated catwalk stretched straight ahead and to his right. At each end was a ladder well leading down. In white paint on the wall beside his head was an arrowed placard that read Амори and камеры 1–20. He was assuming that meant cells one through twenty.

Okay, so far Kirill appeared to have been telling the truth.

Site 6439 seemed to have been built on a traditional vertical gallery layout, with tiered cellblocks on one side, observation catwalks on the other, a chasm separating them. Here there were three tiers of twenty cells each. Connecting the cell wing and the observation wing were single-file catwalks and ladders designed to not only slow down escaping inmates but also create gunfire funnels through which they had to pass. But that was for unarmed, desperate civilians.

Not him.

The lighting in the gallery was little better than that of the entrance stairwell with similarly sized wire cage-sconces, only more of them. Aside from the occasional dripping of water, the interior was utterly silent. To his right, footsteps thunked on the catwalk, moving at a leisurely pace.

Good.

No one was concerned.

He considered retreating from view up the steps, but decided against it. Odds were he’d eventually be spotted. Best to start reducing resistance now. Besides, his ten minutes was clicking down to zero. He took a step back, drew his 9mm, and aimed on the archway.

The footfalls grew louder.

Then he realized that PepperBalls were really effective with frontal, sternum-up shots. So he changed weapons.

A figure in dun-brown coveralls and a matching garrison cap appeared and started to turn right toward the cellblock. The guard stopped and angled his head slightly. Something had caught his attention.

The man spun. “Zhdat’ Kto—”

Luke shot him in the chest.

The effect was instantaneous. A cloud of white powder engulfed the man’s face. The guard’s mouth opened, but only a faint croak emerged. He dropped to his knees from the pepper and Luke rushed forward. A quick strike on the temple from the gun laid the man out. He caught the body as it slumped forward, then dragged it back through the archway.

One down.

“Privet?” a voice cracked over a portable radio.

He spotted the unit at the guy’s waist.

The radio squelched again.

“Akim? Yy zdes’? Otvechat. Otvechat,” the voice said.

A ten-second pause, then more Russian came over the radio.

Whatever the prison’s construction might have lacked, its security procedures were surely strict. The unconscious guard, having failed to respond, had initiated some sort of dead man’s clock. He had a few seconds to reply and end any suspicion. If not, the alarm would surely be raised.

Then a new voice.

Not on the radio.

He stepped to the archway and focused in the direction the voice had come. A black-coveralled guard stood on the lower catwalk, radio raised to his ear. Luke decided to gamble. He plucked the radio from the unconscious guard’s belt and stuck it over the railing. With his other hand he made what he hoped looked like a There’s something wrong with this thing gesture.

“Akim, otvechat. Otvechat.”

So much for trying.

He drew his PepperBall gun, leaned out, and fired a round into the guard’s upturned face. The man sagged against the railing then turned and, trailing a white plume, stumbled down the catwalk. Luke planted another ball between the shoulder blades. The guard collapsed and kept crawling, coughing and wrenching, but managed to find an object from his belt. The screech of an air horn tore through the underground space and echoed off the walls, doubling the decibels.

So much for two down.

He switched back to the 9mm.

Which one he used from this point on depended on what kind of greeting awaited him. The air horn blast faded and was replaced by an even louder pulsing klaxon. Red lights strobed the walls and the ceiling burst to life. He sprinted toward the ladder. Below, a guard rushed toward his fallen comrade. Luke kept going and, as he came around the next bend, raised both the PepperBall gun and the 9mm.

The man skidded to a stop.

An insignia on the shoulder patch told him he was a junior lieutenant. The man put his hand on the butt of his holstered pistol.

Luke shook his head.

The man froze.

From the lower level voices shouted.

Booted feet pounded up ladders. Behind the lieutenant and across the chasm two more guards appeared on the catwalk. Over one of their shoulders Luke spotted the number 22 painted above one of the cell doors.

“English?” he asked the lieutenant.

“Some.”

“Tell those men to drop their weapons.”

The man shook his head. “I will not.”

He cocked the 9mm and extended his arm. “You have three seconds.”

“I have duty.”

“One.”

“Two.”
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ST. PETERSBURG

EDMON HAD TURNED HIS HOTEL SUITE INTO AN AD HOC WAR ROOM. HIS and Dominik’s focus was split between finding where Anton Khurtin was keeping Ilya Mashir and then figuring out how to extract Mashir from Khurtin’s grasp. To those ends Edmon had turned to Aleksei.

“I know of Khurtin,” the former president had said. “But I am afraid I have nothing to offer him. And once he knows I want Mashir, he will realize he has something of value. The price then will be high. I suggest a different approach. It is better to ask forgiveness than permission. You concentrate on getting your hands on Mashir, however necessary.”

“And the repercussions?”

“There will be some, but it is just a matter of how expensive it will be to buy that forgiveness.”

And how difficult.

Khurtin’s tentacles surely extended not only into the St. Petersburg governor’s office but also into the local police and prosecution services. The man possessed enough clout to shut down the entire district.

Which could present a problem.

His phone chirped, half startling him. An alert he’d recently set. Another benefit of working for the former president of Russia was access to communications lines inaccessible to the general public.

He checked the screen.

Emergency distress call to PSKR-926 Voron / Arkhangelsk Command Authority. Source coordinates: 65° 9’29.45”N / 35°58’21.48”E Facility incident, 6439. Code Alpha 9. Respond best speed.

Emergency distress? After his visit with Efim Kozar, he’d added the Site 6439 prison to his watchlist. “Do you still have the FSIN database open on your laptop?” he asked Dominik, referring to the Federal Penitentiary Service.

His old friend nodded.

“Check what Code Alpha 9 means.”

Dominik worked the keyboard. “It is a facility breach.”

“A prison break? Attack?”

“Hard to say.”

He read the alert out loud.

Dominik tapped the keyboard again. “The Voron is a Svetlyak patrol boat stationed in Onega Bay.”

That was near Site 6439.

He knew about Arkhangelsk Command. The primary air base, Lakhta, was home to Tupolev bombers and a few helicopters. Help from them for Site 6439 would be a long time coming.

He grabbed his phone and made a call to a friend in the Defense Ministry, one he’d known for a long time. A person he trusted. It being Monday evening, he found her at home and told her what he wanted. Five minutes later she called back and gave him the Voron’s current position and top speed.

“How far from Solovetsky?”

“Eighty miles due south. Top speed is listed as forty knots.”

He thanked her and ended the call.

“At top speed,” Dominik said, “the Voron will reach the emergency coordinates in roughly ninety minutes.”

He checked his watch and did some quick mental math. Their jet could have them on the ground at Solovki Airport in less than ninety minutes. Efim Kozar was being held at Site 6439. This was way too much of a coincidence to be a coincidence. His fears about Kozar talking to someone else about Red Star suddenly became a reality.

Ilya Mashir would have to wait.

“Call our pilot,” he said. “Tell him to prep for departure. I also want a helicopter fueled and waiting for us when we land.”
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LUKE NEVER MADE IT TO THREE AND HEARD FROM THE LEVEL BELOW shouts of Otkryvat’ ogon. He didn’t need a translation.

The fusillade of bullets thudding into the grating beneath his feet made the meaning clear.

Time to go.

The lieutenant also took advantage of the moment and leaped over the railing, trying to escape. A sickening crunch signaled that the landing had not been optimal.

Luke sprinted down the catwalk and rounded the corner onto the cell tier, back where the PepperBall cloud still lingered over the retching guards.

He sucked a deep breath and held it.

The lead guard tried to raise his weapon but Luke kneed him in the face, then smashed the gun into the crown of the next guard’s skull.

He checked his watch.

Ten minutes had passed.

Danielle needed to open the cell door.

At the far end of the tier another guard came charging up the ladder. He took aim with the 9mm, but the guard was faster.

The muzzle flashed orange.

Three bullets snapped past Luke’s head.

He retreated around the corner of the railing. The guard, now moving at a trot, kept firing. Luke stuck his pistol through the railing, returned fire, but the guard’s rounds kept coming.

He was pinned down.

The guard rapidly closed the gap between them, and with each step Luke became an easier target. He heard a loud buzz, followed by a double clunk. Finally. Cell 22’s door swung open a few inches, revealing a rectangle of pale light. Startled, the guard spun that way.

The door burst open.

A silhouetted figure half shambled, half charged out of the cell. Tall, gaunt to the point of concern, skin pale like wax, dark hair hanging to his shoulders, an unruly beard shielding his face.

But he still recognized it.

John Vince.

The guard fired.

But John kept coming and slammed into the guard like a linebacker, driving him over the railing, the man screaming as he plunged downward. Vince’s arms dangled over the top rail, the body slumped forward. Luke ran to him. Vince reacted and spun, ready for a fight, chest heaving.

Luke raised his hands in surrender. “It’s me, John. Luke.”

Oily eyes appraised him.

“It’s me, John. Luke Daniels.”

Vince squinted and blinked, the eyes sizing him up in an intense glare. His friend was a solid thirty pounds lighter. Eyes and cheeks sunken. Skin crinkled like a crumbled sheet of paper. The shirt and pants filthy and stinky. My God, what had they done to him?

Recognition finally came in the eyes.

“Rangers never quit?” John said.

“Damn right.”

“You up there, do you hear me?”

The voice came from below.

“What can we do for you?” Luke asked.

“Reinforcements are coming. No escape.”

The guard sounded young and shaken. Of the nine men on duty Luke had taken seven down. So the guy was blustering, but probably not bluffing about reinforcements.

“If you come up here, I’ll shoot you dead,” Luke said. He didn’t wait for a reply and whispered to John, “Danielle’s upstairs, waiting.”

His eyes lit with surprise.

He ducked under John’s arm and stood him up.

“We gotta take someone with us,” John said. “Cell 21, right next to mine.”

“Why?”

“He knows things.”

“Is it that important?”

“It is.”

That was enough for him, and he knew arguing was pointless. John was as stubborn as a palmetto root. “Can you make it to the control center.”

“Tell me the way.”

“Up that ladder, then down the catwalk to the arched entryway. Stairs will take you to the control center. Tell Danielle to open the cell. I’ll keep an eye on our friends below.”

“Got it.”

Vince braced one hand on the railing and shuffled forward with unsteady feet. It took a full minute for him to climb the ladder. Luke watched until he disappeared through the arch.

“You fellas still down there?” he called out.

“We here,” the guard replied. “You will never make mainland.”

“Who says we’re leaving? Solovetsky’s a big place. Lots of nooks and crannies.”

He was buying time, giving John a chance.

“Who knows, maybe we’ll—”

Cell 21 buzzed and the locks thunked open. He swung open the door. On a cot, an old man was struggling to sit up. “What is it now? What is happening?”

“Come with me. Can you walk?”

“Who are you?”

“I came for John Vince, and he says you have to come with us.”

He waited, keeping an eye on his six, until the old man was up and moving, then he led him down the catwalk, up the ladder, and into the control center, where he found Danielle half holding John.

“Late addition to the guest list,” he said to her.

“You need to hear what he has to say,” John said.

“Right now we gotta go.”

“Who are you?” he asked the newcomer.

“Efim Kozar.”

“We’ll talk later. Promise.”

He told Danielle and the others to stay twenty feet behind him, then stepped through the door. He switched to point-man mode, gun up, ready to pivot toward threats. The problem was that he had only a few rounds left in his weapon and just one spare magazine. Danielle would have more rounds.

“Keep them together,” he said to her, without turning.

He reached the exterior door and paused to listen.

Nothing.

He debated bringing the drone into play but there was no time. He realized there could be a contingent out there, lying in wait. There had to be more than one way in and out of the prison below. So one or more of the guards left could be out there. But that was the thing about ambushes. Sometimes the only way to know they existed was to trigger them. And with only two weapons between him and Danielle they wouldn’t have the firepower to fight back. Their best bet would be to run like hell and use the darkness. But that would almost certainly lead to casualties.

He relayed his assessment to the group. “Are you up to a sprint?”

“I’ll sprout wings and fly, if it means getting out of there,” John said.

“As will I,” Efim added.

But he knew their mobility had limits.

“Danielle, once we’re out the door head straight to the runabout. I’ll cover our tail. No matter what, keep going.”

John said, “No chance—”

Luke hardened his voice. “This is not a debate.”

“Give me a gun, I can—”

“Shut up, John. I’m in charge now. Danielle, you hear me?”

“I hear.”

“Okay, here we go.”

He turned the knob and eased the door open with the tip of his boot. He glanced down the exterior wall to his left.

Clear.

He peered through the hinge gap to the other side.

Clear.

He swung open the door, stepped out, and assumed a blocking position across the threshold. “Go now.”

They moved.

Gunfire erupted across the clearing.
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LUKE HAD TWO THOUGHTS.

First, Kirill lied about the number of guards. Clearly there were more men on the island, most likely off sleeping in those tents that were mentioned. And second, the ambushers were not good shots. The initial fusillade had only chopped up the ground, not come close to them. Did that mean the two prisoners were valuable enough not to kill?

He could only hope.

“Keep going,” he said.

Danielle passed by and gave his shoulder a pat. He backstepped around the corner and dropped into a crouch. Full cover would have been better, but there was none around. After the initial bursts the shots became sporadic. Rounds smacked into the stone wall around the doorway, slowly shifting left as the shooters realized their targets were on the move. Lots of random fire with little to no purpose. The only smart thing they were doing was staying concealed in the trees. He waited for an orange muzzle flash, then responded with a pair of snapshots. Whether he hit flesh was a toss-up, but he was at least making them think twice. Paper targets never shot back, and he suspected that’s all the training these guys had. He spent another thirty seconds muzzle-flash hunting, then changed magazines and fired three rounds into the tree line.

He turned and ran.

The dock came into view, and he saw that Danielle had U-turned the runabout and positioned the stern for his arrival.

He stepped up to a full sprint.

Behind him gunfire opened up again.

He heard the snap of rounds passing by his head. Bounding off the end of the dock he landed butt-first in the backseat between Efim and John, who was curled into a ball, chest heaving from gurgled wheezes.

“Let’s go,” he told Danielle.

She jammed the throttle forward.

The boat’s stern dipped momentarily before the propellers grabbed the water and surged the runabout forward. Despite having no headlight Danielle navigated the waterways expertly, zigzagging through each lake’s narrow channel until finally the mouth of Troitskaya Bay came into view.

“We are free,” Efim said. “John, we are out.”

Danielle called out, “Luke, take the wheel.”

They traded places.

Danielle slipped off her coat and wrapped it around John’s shoulders. It was obvious that he was not well.

Efim said, “It is pneumonia. He’s had it for a while now.”

He drew the boat even with the bay’s southern peninsula. The earlier storm had passed and the ocean’s surface was broken only by a slight east-to-west chop. He aligned the bow with the incoming crests and soon the runabout rhythmically skipped over waves, the engine settling into a steady buzz. With each bounce John let out a sharp cry of pain and coughed.

“Can we slow down?” Danielle asked.

He checked his watch. By now patrol boats would have been alerted. They needed to reach Kem before they were found.

“If I slow down, we’ll get caught in the open.”

“Keep going,” John spit out.

He agreed.

Ten minutes later the eastern tip of Anzersky Island came into view.

“Hold on,” he said. “We’re making the turn south.”

He hugged the shoals with one eye fixed on the approaching headland and sent the runabout into a tight turn. A sheet of water arced from the starboard gunwale. When the dashboard compass read due south he straightened out. Here, sheltered in the leeward side of the main Solovetsky Island, the channel’s waters were calmer. The runabout gained a couple of knots until the speedometer pegged at forty knots. He did a quick mental calculation. They were about thirty miles from Kem. But by the time they reached Kem the FSB, the Border Service, and every police station within a hundred miles would be on the lookout for them. Even worse, somewhere out here on the water were Russian patrol boats, surely closing in.

He wished he’d brought the drone along.

“Luke,” Danielle called out. “He’s bleeding.”

He glanced over his shoulder and saw her straddling John’s lap, flashlight clamped between her teeth.

“How bad?”

From behind her gritted teeth Danielle told Efim, “Help lift him forward. John, can you hear me? John.”

Vince mumbled something.

A gunshot wound was the only thing that made sense. A stray round back at the dock. “Check his spine.”

She and Efim manhandled John into an upright position. She handed Efim the flashlight. “Right there. Bullet hole. His clothes are soaked with blood.”

“Is it oozing or spurting?”

“Oozing.”

“Keep pressure on it. Where’s the hole?”

“At the spine, below shoulder blades.”

Probably not a heart shot then. Maybe a punctured lung. Nicked the subclavian artery. Either way, it was bad.

“What else I do?” Danielle asked.

“Lay him on his side, bullet hole down. Keep pressure on the bandage. How’s his pulse, his breathing?”

“Pulse is fast,” Efim said. “Breathing is shallow.”

“Keep going, Ranger,” John said.

“You got it.”

Danielle climbed over the seat and sat beside Luke. “He will not make Kem. Too much bleeding.”

He heard the concern in her voice.

This had to be tough for her.

“I can’t lose him,” she said, voice cracking. “Not again.”

He didn’t know what to say. She’d been living in her own kind of hell of regret for the past two years. “I get it, and we’ll do our damndest to make sure that doesn’t happen.”

“Where you going to go?”

He stared out into the darkness.

Good question.
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ST. PETERSBURG

ILYA FINISHED TYPING IN HIS JOURNAL.

It was a habit he’d developed about a decade ago, when he first started noticing the mental changes. Subtle. Imperceptible. But they grew over time. Until they were big problems. Thank goodness for the drugs. They helped, but they came with—issues.

Lots of them.

He closed his eyes and searched hard for the right memory. They were becoming increasingly difficult to delineate. Memories were more blurs than images, and many were confusing. But he could always return to one that never wavered. The story his father would tell him.

From 1929. Of Georgy.

His great-grandfather.

Who started it all.

GEORGY ALEKSANDROVICH SHEREMETEV PICKED HIS WAY THROUGH the rubble-strewn streets. Moscow was in ruins. Night had fallen an hour earlier and the nearby buildings cast shadows deep enough to hide him each time a Bolshevik roving patrol approached.

Patrol, though, was too generous a term.

That suggested proud, disciplined soldiers. This was nothing but a gaggle of drunken thugs. The Bolsheviks had shattered all of the surrounding streetlights with rifle practice. The ongoing artillery barrage, having finished its work with the shelling of the Ascension Convent, had moved a few streets to the east. Every minute or so one of the cannons boomed and the ground beneath his feet trembled as another church crumbled. Having won the Russian Civil War and vanquished the tsarists’ White Army, the Red revolution had taken religion as its new enemy.

But not all of the Whites were gone.

Cells existed throughout the country, though not so many here in Moscow.

Tsar Nicholas II had been gone for over a decade. Most likely murdered in 1917, along with his wife and children. Probably by more criminals, just like the ones now taking potshots at Moscow’s most sacred places of worship.

Reds. Godless monsters.

Ahead, a trio of Red soldiers rounded the corner, their arms intertwined as they tried to march in a drunken lockstep. He ducked left through an archway and crouched behind a pile of shattered bricks. They stumbled past his hiding spot and disappeared around the next corner. He waited until their voices faded, then sprinted across the street, through another open doorway, into an enclosed courtyard.

He took a moment and grabbed his bearings. This was the third time this week he’d made this trek, each effort probing farther and farther into the ruins. The destroyed streets looked so unfamiliar. Especially in the dark. He heard a crackling fire and tasted smoke in his mouth. He spotted a trellis that seemed sturdy enough to hold his weight and scaled a stone wall before him, dropping to the other side.

He’d reached his destination. Or what remained of it.

The Ascension Convent had long been holy ground. An Orthodox nunnery where grand princesses, tsarinas, and other noble ladies from the Muscovite royal court were buried. Its foundation stone was laid in 1407. Fires had gutted it through the centuries, which led to one renovation after another. During the Russian Civil War the ancient buildings were damaged by Bolshevik artillery. Now, twelve years later, the Reds had returned to finally level the ancient structure. First with artillery practice, then with heavy equipment. Rumor was the All-Russian Central Executive Committee intended to erect a commanders school on the site.

He spat on the ground to show his disgust.

Not much remained of the convent except for the lower portion of its outer walls and smoldering timbers. A curved piece of the onion dome, seemingly floating in the darkness, had survived. But it would not last long. Tomorrow, or the next day, some Bolshevik commander would notice the oversight and order a cannon to take aim.

Anger and pride swirled through him.

Along with a sense of purpose.

Never before had an opportunity like this existed. The convent had always been sealed, off limits to visitors. But that was no longer the case. So he’d come to see if what he suspected was true. His father, Aleksandr, had searched his entire life at sites all over Russia, and that obsession had passed to his eldest son. It had taken decades of research but they’d finally narrowed down what might have happened in 1584. When Ivan the Terrible paid a visit to the convent. Not personally. But through three emissaries. Who were eventually executed for what they knew. Still, their secret had somehow survived, clouded through the centuries into nothing more than rumor or legend.

He rattled off through his mind what his father had taught him.

Lower level. Possibly a hidden entrance built into the south wall. On the other side are the catacombs.

A clattering sound caught his attention and he quickly slipped around a corner. The sound intensified until he recognized it. Wheels of a horse-drawn carriage on cobblestones. Which faded into the distance. He saw that a wall had collapsed, but he could make out the shape of an entrance. The splintered door hung diagonally on one hinge. Georgy looked around and then, certain no one was about, darted forward and slipped into the rubble-choked interior of the ruined convent. He picked his way across, reached a stone stairway, and started down.

The amount of damage lessened the deeper he ventured.

He spotted a lantern and used the matches he’d brought to light the wick. In the flickering yellow glow he continued his descent. He spotted an array of tools the workers had been using to clear the site, including a hefty sledgehammer, which he grabbed.

One flight of steps turned to two, then three and four. Six flights down he stopped on a landing. He estimated he was fifteen meters beneath the convent’s main floor. Wine casks and dry-goods barrels sat stacked against the south wall. He moved the casks off to the side then one by one wrestled the barrels aside. He raised the lantern and scanned the stone wall. Cracks scarred its surface. The artillery and demolition had taken a toll. More was gone than he’d seen two days ago. He laid the lantern down and began pounding on the wall, careful with each blow not to attract any attention. Prying eyes and ears were everywhere. He’d almost been discovered during his first visit. The convent would be a prime target for looters on the lookout for iconostases they could sell. He’d spotted no such treasures on his way inside. But who was he to talk. He’d come to loot too.

He kept exploring the stone wall with his fingertips, looking for a weak spot.

Finally, he found one smattered with cracks.

The tap of the sledgehammer onto the stone sounded different, signaling a space on the other side.

He swung the heavy tool.

Three blows were needed before the old stone gave way and crumbled, exposing a black yaw beyond. He kept pounding until he opened a portal big enough for him to step through.

He grabbed the lantern and saw a passage made of rough-hewn stone barely wider than his shoulders and half his height.

Exactly as his father had told him might be here.

He stooped over and started down, carrying the lantern. Three meters in the route turned ninety degrees to the right, followed shortly by another right turn where it opened into a small cavern. The walls bore signs of pick and chisel marks. Overhead, the ceiling was buttressed by timber beams. The artillery barrages had done little damage here. He lifted the lantern high above his head and looked around. The space was empty save for a small stack of bronze containers. Nothing ornamental. More utilitarian. He stepped close and noticed their lids were sealed with wax.

Then he spotted two other items.

Stone caskets lying on the dirt floor.

He walked over and knelt beside them. In the lantern’s guttering flame he made out writing etched into one. A name.

ELENA GLINSKAYA.

Then a date.

1538.

He knew exactly who she was.

In 1525 the ruler of Russia, Vasili III, resolved to divorce his infertile wife and marry Elena Glinskaya. He chose her because of the beauty of her face and her young age. The divorce was granted by the Orthodox Church and they were married in 1526. Eventually, she gave birth to two sons, Ivan and Yuri. On his deathbed Vasili III transferred all power to her until their older son, Ivan, who was only three at the time, was mature enough to rule the country. The five years between Vasili’s death and Elena’s own demise was called the Reign of Elena. She proved to be a capable stateswoman. She carried out currency reform, succeeded in signing an armistice with Lithuania, and neutralized Sweden. She also supported the convents. Like Ascension. She died at the age of twenty-eight, poisoned by her enemies.

And here were her remains.

He studied the second sarcophagus.

Etched into its exterior was more writing. He brushed away the dust and decay and focused on the words carved in Cyrillic.


HERE LIES IVAN GROZNY

WHEN I RISE FROM THE DEAD,

THE WORLD SHALL TREMBLE

WHOMSOEVER OPENS MY TOMB SHALL UNLEASH

AN INVADER MORE TERRIBLE THAN I



Ivan IV ruled Russia for thirty-seven years, dying in 1548. He acquired the moniker grozny, terrible, out of respect and fear for his strength. His personality was most definitely complex. Intelligent and devout, but also prone to paranoia, rage, and episodic outbreaks of mental instability that worsened with age. In one fit of anger he murdered his eldest son and heir, which caused his daughter-in-law to miscarry his unborn grandchild. History stated that Ivan’s remains lay in the Cathedral of the Archangel inside the Kremlin, with those of his sons, father, and grandfather. But the story his father and grandfather passed to him was that Ivan had directed that he be buried with the two things he loved the most—so that no one might gaze upon any of them.

His mother and his library.

The legend was now fact.

Which meant—

He focused on the sealed bronze containers.

Could it be?

Indeed it was.

The lost library of Ivan the Terrible.

Found by his great-grandfather.

Only thirty-two of the hundred or so manuscripts had survived, the rest ravaged by climate and time. Georgy Sheremetev had quietly removed all thirty-two from the catacombs, secreting them away from any and all prying eyes. The Bolsheviks had no regard for either tradition or history. No doubt existed that if they knew of his find it would have been destroyed, like everything else. He’d not been able to remove the bones of Ivan and his mother, so it was likely they remained there in the catacombs.

Ilya shook his head.

Unlike the nuns, his father, grandfather, and great-grandfather, who’d kept Ivan the Terrible’s secret and protected his library, he had proven to be a poor steward. A hard truth, for sure, but there was no avoiding it.

He’d failed.

He had to fix what he’d done.

“The time will come,” he murmured. “It has to.”

But every day he stayed in Anton Khurtin’s employ the odds of being caught increased. If that happened there would be only two outcomes. The first would involve torture to find the embezzled money. The second?

Death.

Maybe he should not wait any longer.

He had to get out of here.

But how?







50.

LUKE’S EVERY INSTINCT WAS TO SAVE HIS FRIEND NO MATTER THE COST to him, or to them, but the only freedom John Vince might have left was to choose where he died.

“John,” he called over his shoulder. “Can you hear me?”

“I’m not deaf.”

“You sound like you’re feeling better.”

“Just peachy.”

He heard the rasp in the voice and knew that a lung had been punctured by the bullet. Laying him on the same side as the collapsed lung had allowed the good one to fully inflate. What he didn’t know was whether the bullet had done any further damage.

Do your job. Now. “You feel up to some questions?”

“Fire away.”

“Why’d you reach out after all this time?”

“This can wait,” Danielle said, with a snap in her voice.

“No, it can’t. Was there a reason, John?”

“Mashir,” John said. “Find him.”

“Who?”

“He means Ilya,” Efim said. “Ilya Mashir. I told him the name.”

“You gotta also find Red Star,” John said. “Tell ’em, Efim.”

Directly off the runabout’s bow, Luke caught a faint glimmer. He grabbed the night-vision binoculars and zoomed in. Two lights. One red, the other green. While Ranger school provided candidates a basic seamanship course, it’d been years since then and his memory was fuzzy.

“Red Star was part of Zenit,” Efim said. “I ran both projects.”

The lights were moving at a steady pace, not fast, but constant, still many miles away.

“The damn Soviets put nuclear bombs in orbit,” Vince said.

Had he heard right?

“Lots of them,” John added. “They were all destroyed except for one. It’s still up there.”

Now he recalled. Green lights were for the starboard side, red lights port. These were side by side, which meant the ship was headed directly for them.

“A few days ago a person came to see me,” Efim said. “A man named Edmon Grishin. He works for Aleksei Delov.”

That name he knew. Former president of Russia.

“He wanted to know about Red Star,” Efim said. “He already knew a lot. Not surprising, since Delov knows. I had my wife give him all the information I had, hoping he would get me free.”

“They have a bomb in orbit,” John said again. “Ilya Mashir knows how to bring it down.”

Which was a problem. For sure.

But those lights coming their way were far more immediate.

A patrol boat? Guarding the mouth of the White Sea off Belomorsk? Had to be. They couldn’t stay in open ocean. Their only chance was to get close enough to land so their radar signature became muddled. Which way, though? He called up his mental map from their recon. Solovetsky proper was about four miles east. A smaller uninhabited island lay two miles west.

“Grab onto something,” he shouted.

He spun the wheel hard left until the bow was aimed in roughly the right direction. Off their starboard beam a plume of orange appeared on the horizon followed a moment later by a boom that Luke felt in his belly.

“Naval cannon,” he called out. “Heads down.”

The round covered the distance between the boat and the runabout in less than four seconds. It slammed into the ocean just off the runabout’s stern, sending up a geyser.

Efim climbed into the seat beside Luke. “What can I do?”

“Grab those binoculars and get a bead on that ship.”

The old man did as ordered.

“Is it still coming at us?”

“It is.”

“Keep watching.”

He was under no illusion. Surely, the patrol boat’s fire control radar was making adjustments at a speed he couldn’t hope to match.

“Tell me more about Red Star,” he said.

“It was a fail-safe weapon,” Efim said. “To be used as a last resort. But when the Soviet Union collapsed it was ordered destroyed.”

“Why is one still up there?”

“Nobody knew what the future held. It was decided to keep one on ready.”

“Aleksei Delov knows this?”

“I personally told him,” Efim said. “And he gave the order to leave it there.”

Decades ago. Which broke every international treaty that existed on nuclear weapons.

Then and now.

On the horizon the patrol boat’s gun boomed again. The shell whooshed over their heads so close its supersonic wake shoved Luke sideways in his seat. The round plunged into the water, covering them in a sheet of cold spray. He knew that cannon was capable of rapid fire, some 120 rounds a minute, if he recalled right. The next shots would come faster and faster until they were reduced to flotsam. He shoved the throttle forward and forced the runabout into a slalom aimed in the general direction of the island, maybe a mile or so away.

The patrol boat fired again.

Then twice more.

The first two bracketed the runabout, rocking them back and forth.

Water gushed over the side.

The third shot, which he actually caught a fleeting glimpse of, slammed into the gunwale.

Efim let out a strangled cry.

A fragment hit the old man squarely in the shoulder, cleaving it and the rest of his arm away. Danielle grabbed Efim by the collar and wrestled him into the backseat. But there was nothing she could do. Blood poured out. Luke kept zigzagging, taking care to keep the bow fixed on the patrol boat’s bow in the hope of being a slimmer radar target. The patrol boat, faster than the runabout, was gaining on them. Two more shells passed overhead, sending up more geysers.

“John, you still with us?” he called out.

No reply.

“He’s unconscious, Luke. Efim’s dead.”

“Toss him overboard.”

“What?”

“Do it. The lighter we are the faster we go.”

She shoved the body over the side. Off the bow he spotted a smudge of land against the dark sky. The island. Half a mile away, give or take.

The cannon boomed again.

He heeled the runabout to starboard.

Another boom.

He swerved back to port. The patrol boat opened fire in earnest. So close were the shots, they sounded as if they were coming from a massive machine gun. A shell skipped over the gunwale beside his elbow, the wood smoking from the friction. He hunkered lower in the seat. The shoreline was a few hundred yards away now. He stopped zigzagging, hoping a steady course would help their radar signature get lost in the island’s backdrop.

He glanced over his shoulder.

Out at sea the patrol boat veered to starboard. Angling for a broadside shot. The runabout’s keel brushed sand. Almost there. A shell whooshed overhead and tore away the runabout’s bow, leaving behind what was essentially a blunt scoop.

The effect was immediate.

The runabout’s stern launched into the air.

And he tumbled into the water.
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SOLOVETSKY ISLAND

EDMON KNEW THAT ALEKSEI DELOV’S ENDURING INFLUENCE MADE HIS job much easier. The man was remembered by Russians with a grand fondness, even though his popularity at the time had wavered. He’d made some tough choices, ones that changed the course of the country, and not everyone had approved. Here, Aleksei had made a few calls and cleared the way for Edmon and Dominik to land on Solovki Airport’s lone, barely operational runway, which was about six hundred meters shorter than the jet they were using required. The pilot made it look easy, though, touching down and braking to a stop with a hundred meters to spare.

“Helicopter is inbound,” the pilot said from the cockpit. “Ten minutes away.”

“And the weapons?” he asked.

“Also aboard.”

They trotted down the steps into the chilly night and headed toward the darkened terminal building. He found his cell phone and checked for a text. One had come informing him that the White Sea patrol boat Voron, fifty kilometers away to the northeast, was in pursuit of and firing on an unidentified vessel. Small and fast. Speedboat, probably, coming up in the channel southeast of Anzersky Island. No information on its current heading had been provided.

His phone beeped with a new text message.

From Aleksei.

Call immediately.

He speed-dialed the secure landline at Aleksei’s dacha. The former president picked up on the first ring. “It took more than a few favors, but I discovered that there was an inmate escape tonight at Site 6349. Care to guess who?”

“Efim Kozar.”

“And one other. An American spy named John Vince.”

That was new information.

“One of the surviving guards reported two intruders and multiple casualties,” Aleksei said.

He saw the problem. If the Americans had indeed mounted a rescue mission, why had they also taken Kozar? Were they aware of Red Star?

Why else?

“Kozar lied to you,” Aleksei said. “He’s spoken of this to others.”

“I agree. He will deal with anyone to get him out. But we have an additional problem. If that patrol boat apprehends these people before we do, we’ll never see them again.”

And everything would be over.

“Which means I need to find someone to convince a flag officer in the Russian Border Service to call off that pursuit,” Aleksei said.

“It will give me an opportunity to find them.”

“I know just who to call,” Aleksei said. “But be ready. If the FSB is drawn into this, there will be nothing I can do to stop them.”
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LUKE’S EYES SNAPPED OPEN.

His vision swirled with red-and-black spots. His head pounded. Where was he? Solid ground? Sand under his fingertips.

Nearby he heard the crashing of waves.

He’d lost consciousness.

But for how long?

He rolled onto his belly, then pushed himself up to his knees. His limbs seemed to be working. That was a good start.

From somewhere nearby someone was calling his name.

“Luke. Over here.”

It took a few moments to orient himself.

Fifty yards down the shore, Danielle knelt in the water with John draped across her lap. He forced himself to his feet and ran toward her, slowly at first then picking up speed as his legs steadied. To his left the patrol boat had come to a stop about a mile offshore. Two spotlights, one forward, one aft, panned across the water. Hunched over, he jogged the remaining distance to Danielle. He grabbed John by the collar and together they dragged him onto dry sand.

“Is he alive?” she asked.

Luke checked his pulse and breathing. “He is.”

Danielle started to stand upright but he pulled her back down.

“Spotlights. They’re not giving up. Look around to see if anything from the runabout washed ashore. But stay low. I’m going to scout ahead.”

He crawled farther up the beach, then over a dune. He knew next to nothing about this island except it was tiny, roughly a mile long and half that wide, probably uninhabited. The wind off the White Sea and salt air had bleached the terrain gray, like a moonscape of rocks with patchy scrub grass and gnarled bushes that looked more dead than alive. A few hundred yards away, in the lee of a cove, he spotted the form of a small Quonset-style hut. Rising behind it was a tower painted like a barber pole in alternating light and dark colors.

A lighthouse?

He returned to Danielle, who said, “I found your backpack. Seems intact.”

“Bless waterproofing. How’s his wound?”

“Not bleeding anymore, so that’s good.”

Maybe, maybe not. But he didn’t say anything. There was a decent chance John was bleeding internally. That kind of hemorrhaging rarely stopped on its own until there was no more blood to lose.

“There’s a lighthouse over that dune,” he said. “It’s not much, but it’s better than being out here. He’ll be more comfortable there.”

Together they crawled up the dune, dragging John’s limp form behind them. Occasionally spotlights swept the beach, forcing them to go prone, but after a few minutes they reached the dune’s opposite side. He hefted John across his shoulders and they headed for the lighthouse. Once there, Danielle checked the door and found it open.

They went inside.

The interior was spartan, the east wall a curve of crumbling concrete. A darkened archway led to what Luke assumed were stairs that wound up to the lantern cupola. The main room was at once the kitchen, bedroom, and dining area, which consisted of a picnic table and wooden benches. The floor was covered in a thin layer of sand that had invaded through gaps in the slatted walls. Luke laid John down atop the picnic table.

“There is kerosene in this,” Danielle said, holding up a lantern.

She knelt beside John and took his hand while Luke dug a lighter from his pack. He sloshed the lantern around to make sure the wick was moist then lit it. It caught on the first try. The space filled with a sputtering yellow glow.

“We can’t stay here long,” Luke said. “Someone will be coming.” That patrol boat was standing watch offshore while reinforcements from the Border Service were surely en route.

“Where can we go?” Danielle said. “And how? The runabout’s gone.”

“I’ll have a look around. See if you can wake him up.”

Her eyes remained fixed on John’s face. “He needs sleep.”

Luke didn’t want to have this conversation, but there was no avoiding it. “We need to know, Danielle.”

“About what? That Red Star nonsense?”

“It’s why he wanted us to come get him.”

She shook her head. Her eyes shone with tears. “No.”

“It was important to him.”

“Let him rest.”

Luke walked over and gently placed his hand on John’s chest. The heart was pounding. Fast. Breathing was ragged and irregular.

None of which was good.

“I told you to leave him alone,” Danielle said.

He ignored her.

She lunged for his backpack, found his gun, and aimed it straight at him, cocking the hammer.
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LUKE TURNED TO FACE DANIELLE. “YOU GOING TO SHOOT ME?”

“Leave him alone.”

“He’s dying.”

“No, he is not.”

“His heart is probably beating twice the normal rate, trying to keep up with blood loss. His lungs are surely scarred from the pneumonia, and now they’ve been punctured by the bullet.” The words stuck in his throat. They’d come so close, only to lose him. “If there was a hospital nearby he might have a chance.”

She kept the gun aimed.

He approached her until the barrel was only a few inches away. “We have to find out what we can, while we can.”

“We did it. We got him out.”

“You got him out, Danielle. And now, when he goes, the last thing he’ll see is your face, not concrete walls.”

“I do not want to lose him.”

“Neither do I. But whatever Red Star is, it was important enough that he risked everything for it. If we don’t pick up the ball and run, all this is for nothing.”

He could see she agreed. However hard that concession may be. Finally, she lowered the weapon. “I wake him up. You look around.”

He left and walked down to the cove.

To the east, perhaps five miles distant, was the mainland, which according to his research was populated with a handful of fishing villages spread along the coast to Arkhangelsk, a city of three hundred thousand. If he and Danielle could make it there, Marcia Pooler and the CIA would be but a phone call away. Crossing the gap to the mainland would be the trick, and to that end Luke was counting on what little he knew of lighthouse caretakers, especially ones that chose to live in remote places like the White Sea. To survive they had to be self-sufficient and resourceful. If you needed help, you helped yourself. Someone like that would have a backup way to reach the mainland.

And he found it in a half-collapsed boat shed not far from the lighthouse.

The rowboat was tiny and covered in scrub grass. The hull and sides seemed sound enough with no visible holes, and a pair of sturdy oars sat tucked beneath the forward bench seat.

He took a short detour to peek his head over a dune and get a fix on the still-unmoved patrol boat, then headed back to the lighthouse. Near the far side of the tower he spotted the slanted doors of a root cellar. He used his phone light and stole a quick look around, then returned to the hut. He found John sitting on the floor, back against the wall. Danielle beside him. John weakly lifted a hand in greeting.

“He says he feels better,” Danielle said.

John wheezed, then coughed, his face twisted in pain, blood on his lips. Danielle laid him back on his side. Luke dragged the picnic table bench closer and sat down. John’s face was flushed and covered in a sheen of sweat. Luke placed his palm against his friend’s forehead. He was burning up.

John closed his eyes for a moment, then muttered, “I’m not going to make it.”

Danielle opened her mouth, but John placed a finger to her lips. “I’m glad you came. Both of you.”

Luke said, “I wish I could have gotten here quicker.”

“They tucked me away, nice and quiet.”

“Not well enough.”

John faded for a bit, then returned. “Where are we?”

“An island not far from the prison.”

John wrapped Danielle’s hand in his. “Thank you, Dani-girl.”

“No need to thank me.”

Tears rolled down her cheeks.

“You came back for me. I appreciate… that.”

“John, you said something about Red Star. What is it?” he asked.

“Twinkle, twinkle little star.”

Danielle leaned closer to John’s ear and whispered, “Red Star. What is it?”

“Red Star. Mashir, ask him. Ilya Mashir.”

John convulsed with a series of coughs that curled him into a ball, his chin covered in bright-red blood. He began panting, each breath a wet wheeze.

Not long now.

“Luke,” John said. “Find Danielle. She’s alone out there.”

“I am here, John. Tell us about Red Star.”

“Mashir.”

“Yes, Ilya Mashir. What about him? How do we find him.”

“Eight eight one two.” John forced his eyes open. “Eight eight one two seven four one four six oh one. Then 1… then 3.”

“That a phone number?” Luke asked.

John nodded. “Send text message, ‘Efim hates Java.’ Say… it back.”

He did so.

“Tell… him. Then ask him. He knows… how to… stop it.”

John’s eyes closed and he went quiet.

Danielle checked his pulse. “Barely there.”

“We have to move.” He told her about the root cellar. “I’ll take John. You douse the lantern, spread some sand over our tracks in here, then join us.”

As gently as he could he lifted John and carried him outside to the root cellar, then down the steps. He laid him on the dirt floor, then started moving the empty barrels he’d spotted earlier. Danielle descended the cellar steps, closing the doors behind her.

“Stay in my footprints,” he told her.

“How is he?”

“Still with us.”

“I heard a helicopter, I think,” she said. “Somewhere to the west.”

“That’ll be the first of them. Help me with these.”

They rolled the rest of the barrels aside, revealing a wooden floor hatch.

“What is that?” asked Danielle.

“Potato poke,” he said. “Or maybe a beet poke here, who knows. It’s a thing where I come from. Store potatoes a few feet deeper underground and they keep twice as long.”

He lifted the hatch and peered down. The poke was about four feet deep, three feet wide, and barely longer than he was tall. He closed the hatch, then stomped on it until the planks were shattered.

“What are you doing?”

“Help me.”

They slid John toward the opening, then Luke climbed down and together they lowered him through.

Danielle and Luke traded places.

“They’ll look down here,” he said to her. “We gotta make it look like a waste of time.”

Next he smashed a few barrels, dragged the pieces closer to the poke opening, then used some staves to sweep away their footprints. Finally, he climbed down into the poke and dragged remains of the shattered barrels toward him. This he took his time with, arranging the pieces so the opening was covered, but not in an obvious way.

Or so he hoped.

They’d know soon enough.

He lay down with the backpack beside him, John to his right, Danielle next over, an arm draped over John’s chest, her head lying in the crook of his arm.

He held the gun.

“He’s dying,” she whispered.

“I know. I’m sorry.”

And he truly was. John was a good man and a good agent. He did not deserve this. He’d served his country. Done his job.

Survived.

Only for it all to end here.

From outside came the rhythmic thumping of helicopter rotors.

Approaching.







54.

ZHIZHGINSKIY ISLAND

“GET LOWER AND CIRCLE,” EDMON SAID INTO HIS HEADSET.

“The wind shear down there is rough,” the pilot replied.

“Then pray to the pilot gods,” Edmon said. “But get us lower.”

He knew little about helicopters, but he knew this one, a 1970s-era Mi-8, mainly because of how many had been downed by Stinger-armed mujahideen during the Afghanistan War. This particular model had been stripped of its weaponry and markings. Who it belonged to he had no idea.

“We’re at three hundred feet. That’s the best I can do.”

Dominik opened the helicopter’s sliding door. Edmon did the same on his side. Cold wind whipped through the cabin. Even with headphones on the roar of the engines pounded Edmon’s ears. Together they began scanning the ground through night-vision goggles.

Zhizhginskiy Island was a rock sticking out of Onega Bay. Its claim to fame was a lighthouse built there in 1841. A sixteen-meter-high round stone tower, with lantern fire visible for thirty kilometers, still operated when needed. But not tonight. Everything below appeared dark and quiet. No signs of movement, though he did spot the debris of the boat in the bay.

“How sure are we they were headed here?” Edmon asked.

“The Voron claimed a direct hit about thirty meters offshore,” Dominik said. “The captain reported flotsam that appears to be a runabout floating toward the channel.”

“What a miserable place,” he muttered. “What do we know about that lighthouse?”

“It works occasionally in storms. If you ask me, whoever was in that boat is fish food.”

“Best to be sure. Pilot, put us down.”

“As I said—”

“Find a place. I do not care. Just get me on the ground.”
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LUKE COULD HEAR THE ROTORS COMING CLOSER.

The chopper was landing.

Darkness inside their bolt-hole was absolute. No slivers of light pierced the root cellar doors or his ad hoc barrel hatch.

“Maybe they will move on,” Danielle whispered.

“They won’t. We poked a hornet’s nest.”

Between them John’s breath was a barely perceptible hiss. He pressed his hand against John’s ribs and counted the heartbeats. About forty per minute. He felt helpless. His friend was dying and there was nothing he could do to stop it. He was trapped. Hiding in a hole, waiting for whoever was up there to either find them or leave. One of Cotton Malone’s bits of wisdom popped into his head. Sometimes doing nothing is just the right kind of something. Sure, he was armed. If he went topside and started a firefight he might take a few down, but more would come until he was out of bullets. Not the smart play. Stay put. Live to fight another day.

The sound of the rotors intensified, then slowly faded.

“They’re touching down. Don’t make a sound or move a muscle.”

Five minutes passed. Ten.

Over their heads footsteps clunked on the floor of the lighthouse hut. Voices murmured. Furniture scraped across the wood.

A door creaked open, then slammed.

Beneath Luke’s palm he felt John’s heart stop. His friend let out a slow, rattling sigh. He knew what that meant. His friend was gone. He reached across the body, grasped Danielle’s hand, and placed it on John’s sternum so she could feel nothing too. After a moment her palm balled into a fist and she let out a sob.

The cellar door creaked open.

Two pair of feet descended the steps and crunched across the dirt floor. A flashlight clicked on and skimmed through the space. Slivers of light seeped through the shattered pieces of barrel.

Luke squeezed her hand signaling for quiet.

But he was worried that she wanted a fight.

Here and now.

His right hand gripped the gun. Ready.

Voices. In Russian. A short conversation.

Then the footsteps retreated.

“What did they say?” he whispered to her.

“One said that no one has set foot here for years. He called the man he was talking to Edmon. Then he said our time is better spent back in St. Petersburg.”

Edmon? Kozar had said a man named Edmon Grishin came to see him.

The dots began to connect.

“He also said, Mashir awaits us.”

Now he knew.

Somebody else was on the trail too.

The helicopter’s rotors wound up, then faded into the distance. He stayed still and silent for another thirty minutes to be sure they were alone.

“You okay?” he asked Danielle.

“He died in hole in ground.”

“With you next to him. There are worse ways.”

“What we do now?”

He checked his watch. The luminous dial read two hours before sunrise. “There’s a rowboat in the cove, and the mainland’s not that far. But we can’t risk it during daylight. We’ll wait a bit longer, then I’ll go up and have a look around.”

“We going to leave John behind?”

“For now. But we’ll come back for him.”

And he didn’t say what he was thinking.

Hopefully.

He and Danielle lay there, with John between them, alternately dozing and waiting for dawn until Luke saw the first rays of sunlight appear through the barrel staves. He carefully shoved them aside until he could climb out.

“If I don’t come back, wait until nightfall, row to the mainland, and make your way to Arkhangelsk. Use my phone to call Marcia. She’ll help you.”

He handed her the phone, then replaced the barrel pieces. In the dirt and grit he noticed two sets of footprints, one for the man named Edmon, the other for his companion. He bypassed them, climbed the cellar steps, and pushed open the door a few inches. Seeing nothing, he stepped through and squinted against the sunlight. A cold wind whipped over the sand, pushing tiny scrub tumbleweeds along in a spiral. He made sure no one was hiding in the shack or the tower, then made his way back to the beach and poked his head over the dune.

The patrol boat was gone.

No other ships or aircraft in sight.

The bay was calm.

He hoped the powers that be had taken any report of a direct hit on the runabout at face value. And it was essentially true, only there’d been survivors. He felt a fleeting pang of guilt about jettisoning Efim Kozar’s body. It had been the right call, but a tough one nevertheless. The image of the old man staring at the ragged stump where his arm had been would haunt Luke for a long time. But it would join a growing album of awfulness, most from his times in Afghanistan but some from the Magellan Billet too.

Especially one recently.

The Bahamas. Aboard a yacht.

That one still hurt.

A lot.

He returned to the root cellar and helped Danielle out of the bolt-hole. She lingered, staring down at John’s body.

“There was nothing we could have done,” he said.

“I am going to kill them.”

He heard the venom in the words and could see the rage in her eyes. That pot of hate inside her had been simmering all night.

“I will get them,” she said again.

“Who?” he asked. “The patrol boat? The prison guards we didn’t already kill? The two men who came here looking for us? There’s a long list, Danielle. There’s been a lot of killing. Way too much. More than enough.”

But she seemed unfazed.

“I will get all of them.”
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ARKHANGELSK — WEDNESDAY — MAY 28

LUKE LISTENED TO MARCIA POOLER.

“Sean Fernando is not happy. He wants to talk to you about your Solovetsky Islands visit.”

As planned he and Danielle had hidden themselves in the lighthouse shack for the remainder of the day, ready to bolt to the root cellar at the first sign of visitors. It hadn’t proven necessary and, as sunset drew closer, his confidence that everyone thought them dead increased. Even so, they waited until night had fully fallen before rowing across the channel to the mainland, where they sank the boat in the shallows and headed inland until they reached a coast road. They turned east.

Shortly before dawn a sideboard pickup truck carrying grain stopped and asked if they needed a ride. The older man took them thirty miles down the coast. They continued the process, hitching rides and walking, until finally they reached the outskirts of Arkhangelsk, where they found a café. He decided that hiding in plain sight was as good a plan as any, so he called and asked Marcia to book them into the nicest place within walking distance.

That turned out to be the Botanica Hotel. A modern precast-concrete-and-steel structure, the lobby all marble and wood, the elevators slow and noisy. But it came with just what they needed. Bathrobes, toiletries, hair dryer, soap, and towels. The two twin beds were fitted with clean sheets, the mattresses firm. Now showered and rested, with some food in their bellies, they were planning their next move, with Marcia’s help, thanks to the hotel’s free internet.

Efim Kozar had told them that an Edmon Grishin had come to the prison to see him and that information on Red Star had been passed along to Grishin. Then a man named Edmon had come to the lighthouse cellar and mentioned Ilya Mashir. So he’d asked Marcia to find out everything she could on the man. Given that, according to Kozar, he was associated with former president Aleksei Delov, it should not be all that hard.

“I’ll call Sean when I’m ready,” he told Marcia on the speakerphone.

He couldn’t discount the possibility that the CIA also knew about Red Star and that he and Danielle had been serving as stalking horses. Not that it really mattered. Once he’d learned John was alive, nothing would have kept him from a rescue.

“In the meantime,” he said, “we’re going to need new passports, credit cards, and backstopped documents just in case we’re on a watch list somewhere.”

“That I can do. These CIA folks are actually pretty savvy,” Marcia said.

“You going corporate on me?”

“Heck, no. Just making an observation.”

“It’d also be awful nice if Langley has any more of those goody boxes laying around, like the one in Kisvárda.”

“Let me have a look-see.”

“And please, find out all you can on Edmon Grishin fast.”

“All I can?”

“My apologies. Just get me the intel.”

“I’ll call you back.”

He disconnected, then dialed the number John had given them. When the line clicked open he tapped 1, then 3. A squelch came over the phone’s speaker, then two words appeared on the screen.

Enter message.

He typed Efim hates Java.

A reply came instantly.

Received.

Then the line went dead.

Fifteen minutes later his phone rang. The screen read CALLER UNKNOWN. When he answered a voice blurted something in Russian.

“Do you speak English?” he asked the caller.

“Who is this?” the voice said in English. “You have ten seconds to explain.”

“Efim hates Java,” Luke repeated.

“Not good enough. Seven seconds.”

“Fine. Try this. If you’re who I think you are, this should be easy to confirm. Last night a patrol boat stationed in the White Sea fired upon an unknown vessel and destroyed it. Look into that and call me back.”

He disconnected.

Danielle said, “Was that smart?”

“If it’s Mashir, it was.”

“His tone. The voice,” she said. “He sounded old.”

Another ten minutes passed before his phone rang.

Without preamble the voice said, “I confirmed that happened. There were deaths.”

“We were on that boat.”

“Then you’re dead, and the dead cannot talk.”

“We broke Efim out of prison. They killed him when they blew the boat up.”

“He was in prison? I had no idea. Did he suffer?”

“A lot.”

A pause. Then, “What do you want from me?”

“Wrong question,” Luke said. “What you should be asking is, besides us, who is looking for you?”

“No one. I would know.”

“Apparently not.”

“You are greatly annoying.”

“And you are Ilya Mashir,” Luke said. “Efim gave me this phone number and the code words to use.”

“I could have men find you. It would be easy. I work for a powerful man.”

“How nice for you. Efim was your friend, yes?”

A few seconds of silence. “We were colleagues once. I suppose friends, too, whatever that means.”

“Before dying Efim told us people had come to talk to him.”

“The point, if you please.”

“Those same people are looking for you.”

“Russia is full of lies. Prove what you say is true.”

“Go outside and stand on the sidewalk. See how long it takes before you get company.”

“You are American. I can tell. You cannot hide it.”

“Efim pointed us to you,” Luke said. “That has to mean something.”

“I ask again, what do you want from me?”

“Red Star.”

Silence.

“Do I need to say it again?” Luke asked.

“No need.”

“We want Red Star. We need to meet.”

“I do not meet.”

“Make an exception.”

More silence.

“Can you be in St. Petersburg tomorrow morning?” Mashir asked.

“I can.”

Another pause.

“Call me when you land.”
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ST. PETERSBURG, RUSSIA

ILYA THOUGHT HE WOULD NEVER HEAR THOSE WORDS AGAIN.

Red Star.

It had been a long time.

So much had happened back then. A glorious period of invention and innovation. They’d accomplished so much. All the more remarkable given the limitations of Soviet technology, which was far behind American.

But they made it work.

Keeping things simple.

The cannonball design of the early Vostok manned capsule made reentry to the earth’s atmosphere much easier. Mercury astronauts had to carefully orient, and keep orienting, their capsule for the heat shield to protect them. One mistake and they burned up. The Vostok was entirely covered in heat-resistant material, weighted at the bottom, so it always faced in the right direction.

Ingenious. Nothing complicated there, and it worked. He’d been part of that project himself. Solving the problem.

Being noticed.

And there’d been many more successes.

First satellite launched. First animal in orbit. First man-made object to escape earth’s gravity. First man-made object to pass near the moon. First probe to impact the moon. First animals to safely return from orbit. First human in space. First dual-crewed spaceflight. First probe launched to Mars. First woman in space. First spacewalk. First probe to hit another planet. First robotic space rover on the moon. First space station. First probe to land on Mars. First woman to walk in space. First permanently crewed space station. First fully automated flight of a spaceplane.

They’d been at the head of the parade.

But their problem had been they could only do it once.

Not over and over. Safely. Like the Americans.

Simplicity had its limits.

Zenit had been similar.

The basic design was nearly identical to the Vostok manned spacecraft. A spherical reentry capsule that contained a camera system, film, recovery beacons, parachutes, and a self-destruct charge, attached to a service module that held batteries, electronic equipment, an orientation system, and a liquid-fueled rocket engine that would slow the capsule for reentry.

He’d designed it all himself.

The return capsule carried both the film and cameras, keeping them in a temperature-controlled pressurized environment. The camera would either land on the ground or be captured under parachute midair by a helicopter.

For nearly thirty years the Zenits flew, returning their reams of exposed film, spying on the world from orbit. Red Star had simply been an adaptation, changing out photography equipment for a nuclear weapon.

What madness.

But his had not been to question.

As chief scientist his job was to make it happen. And he had. In return he was provided with a decent salary, housing, and other allowances ordinary Russians did not enjoy. He’d also supervised the capsules’ eventual dismantling and destruction. All but one. Was that what this was about? The Americans wanted Red Star IV? Really? Okay. Who cares? If they could get him out from under Anton Khurtin, if they could help him fix his mistake and restore his family’s legacy, then he’d make a deal.

He’d wanted a way out.

This might be it.

But he had to be careful. It could all be a trap. Was Kozar really dead, as the American had said? Hard to know anything for sure. But he was desperate. Willing to take chances. So when the American called back tomorrow he’d be cooperative.

With conditions, though.

He reached for the pill bottles.

They could rid the pain and give him a few days of clear thinking.

Hopefully.
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LUKE HAD BEEN TO ST. PETERSBURG BEFORE, BUT ONLY BRIEFLY ON assignment for the Magellan Billet. There’d been no time for sightseeing. Too bad. While Moscow claimed the heart of the Soviet era, St. Petersburg was the soul of Russian history. From its founding by Peter the Great in the eighteenth century to the storming of the Winter Palace in 1917 and the brutal fall of the centuries-old Romanov dynasty, Russia’s fate had long been decided here. Someday he’d come back as a tourist, he promised himself. But there were a couple big ifs attached to that. One, if he managed to get out of Russia at all. And two, if Konstantin Franko didn’t plunge the country into a war that spread across all of Europe.

“This way,” Danielle said, pointing at the exit doors. “Hurry up. What is going on with you?”

They’d arrived at Pulkovo Airport off a short domestic flight from Arkhangelsk. They’d had to ditch their weapons and were now traveling unarmed. He hadn’t liked using a commercial flight, but they’d had no choice. The car would have taken many hours at best, and they could not expend that much time. But one thing was certain. If anyone official were after them, they would have already been caught. The FSB watched all the airports. Which told him that either they were giving him enough rope to hang himself, or Delov and Grishin were in this on their own.

He stopped and sat down on a bench.

Danielle joined him.

“Hurrying is what killed the cat,” he said to her.

“Who says?” she asked.

“It’s an original Luke Daniels piece of wisdom.”

“No one is watching. I would have spotted them,” she said.

He agreed.

His phone vibrated with a text from Marcia. He’d asked her for a local CIA contact who could help them out, and she’d sent an address.

“You know where this is?” he asked, showing Danielle the screen.

“Seven Dmitrovsky Pereulok. Large residential neighborhood near Fontanka River. Probably an apartment building. I can find it.”

The drive took thirty-five minutes.

Marcia had provided a car waiting for them in the airport parking lot, beneath a light post whose glass had been blown out. A battered Passat that had a hard time cranking, but he assumed it was the best she could get on short notice. Dmitrovsky Pereulok was a narrow lane, barely wide enough for two compact cars to pass each other, hemmed in by flat-fronted apartment buildings painted in pastel shades of pink, yellow, and green.

“That’s number 7 there,” Danielle said, pointing through the windshield. She found an empty spot near the curb across the street and pulled in. Luke texted Marcia. Here.

Stand in front of the building, right hand in your pocket.

He let out a half chuckle and shook his head.

“What is it?” Danielle asked.

“We’re in the most technologically advanced period in human history, yet here we are using old-school cloak-and-dagger methods.” He grinned. “But some things are classic for a reason.”

He climbed from the car, walked across the street, and stood on the sidewalk. Ten seconds passed.

Marcia texted.

Clear. Go in. First floor, third door on the right.

He did as instructed.

Danielle kept watch outside.

The building’s foyer was cramped and dimly lit with a white subway-like tile floor. A vase of wilted flowers stood on a side table. He walked down the hall to the correct door, which opened, revealing a portly man, maybe fifty years old, in a white tank top. Without a word the man gestured Luke inside and pointed to a manila envelope on a yellow Formica kitchenette table.

He grabbed the package.

Inside were two new passports.

And in less than a day. Impressive.

You had to admire the CIA’s technical prowess.

He looked questioningly at the man, who made a shooing motion toward the door. Apparently Marcia had already paid him. Not the friendly type, but who cared? He got the job done. He returned to the car and handed Danielle the envelope. Then he texted Marcia.

No toys?

Working on it. Sorry.

He told Danielle, “Let’s find a quiet place and make our call.”

She drove a mile south to Pionerskaya Square, a twenty-acre park of tree-lined pathways and manicured lawns. They found a secluded bench and sat down. He repeated the same process as the day before and dialed Ilya Mashir’s number, waited for the squelch tone, then texted, Arrived.

The return call didn’t come for an hour.

“You were right,” Mashir said. “People are looking for me. Who are they? What are they after?”

“They want what we want,” Luke replied.

“Which is?”

“Red Star.”

The line went dead.

“That was rude,” he said to Danielle.

“He is not going anywhere.”

And she was right.

Mashir called back two minutes later. “What about Red Star?”

“Efim said you’re the expert.”

“What is your interest?”

“I’ll explain when we meet,” Luke said.

“I have no idea who you are.”

“True. All I can say is that I’m not the people who are after you. They are my enemies too.”

“I have conditions.”

“Go ahead. I’m listening.”

For the next hour Mashir kept them on the move throughout the city with ever-changing text instructions. At last they found themselves parked on Liteyny Avenue outside the Bolshoy Dom, St. Petersburg’s headquarters for both the FSB and the Ministry of Internal Affairs.

“He has a sense of humor,” he said.

“Or we’re about to be arrested,” she added.

“I count no fewer than six surveillance cameras around the main entrance.”

“You think he is watching us?”

He pointed toward the outside. “Those are military-grade cameras. Armored exteriors, high-resolution optical zoom. If you wanted a better look at something, this would do the trick.”

Another text from Mashir arrived.

Stand on the sidewalk and face east.

They both exited the car and stood as instructed.

Danielle said, “He hacked those cameras while we were driving. Who does that?”

“Somebody really, really smart.” Luke raised his arm and waved toward the Bolshoy Dom’s entrance.

His phone chirped.

Lower your arm.

He did so and texted back, Are we expecting company?

Back in the car. Cross Liteyny Bridge and head northwest out of the city. Take your time. See the sights.

They did as instructed, slowly making their way through the city center until they reached the northwestern outskirts.

“Pull over and park,” he said.

Danielle did so. “What are we doing?”

“I want to see if he’s tracking us in real time.”

Fifteen minutes passed. Another text arrived.

What is your location?

He checked his map and chose a location a few miles east.

Shuvalovskiy Park.

Get on the A-118 and head west. At the E18, turn north. Instructions to follow.

Interesting. Mashir’s technology had limits.

Soon St. Petersburg proper was in their rearview mirror. Thick pine forests crowded the road. Out the driver’s-side window the Gulf of Finland appeared. In the distance Luke spotted the old Leningrad Naval Base. More instructions came. They took a left on Vyborg Road.

“I do not know this area,” Danielle said. “What can you find?”

He spent a few minutes searching and scrolling his maps app, then gave her bits and pieces as he came across them. “Kurortny District. Luxury dachas on the Karelian Isthmus. A few dozen pocket villages along the coast until the road turns north toward Vyborg. This is the Karelian Riviera.”

For twenty miles they continued along the coastal road. The gulf widened on its course to the Baltic Sea, and the water morphed into a cobalt blue under a cloudless sky.

Mashir texted again.

One mile past Dolina Resort you will see a tall black gate between a pair of red marble obelisks. Drive past to Café Argo and park. Text me then.

“He is paranoid,” he muttered.

They passed the indicated gate and a few minutes later they eased into the café parking lot and parked.

Luke texted Here.

The phone rang.
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EDMON WAS IN HIS ST. PETERSBURG HOTEL ROOM WITH DOMINIK. They’d flown back from the White Sea in the early-morning hours empty-handed.

No Efim Kozar. No American spy.

No people who orchestrated the escape from Site 6439.

He’d learned that the body of one of the guards and two strangers had been found away from the prison, near the shore, hidden in foliage. Was that the first point of attack? Then information came that Efim Kozar’s body had been found in the water, one arm blown off, which seemed further confirmation that the boat had been destroyed.

But he had a bad feeling that there’d been survivors.

He’d learned the name of the dead guard and had asked others to check into his background. His time was better spent locating Ilya Mashir, particularly given that the Americans may be interested. Aleksei’s entire plan was dependent on secrecy. Red Star was an unknown commodity that, according to Aleksei, had been largely forgotten, save for the two men left alive who’d been involved with its creation and operation. Kozar was gone. That left only Ilya Mashir. Without him Aleksei could not carry out what he intended.

“That dacha north of here has to be the place,” Dominik said. “Every source I have contacted says it is important to Anton Khurtin.”

“The question is, if Mashir is there can we get in and out?”

“We’ll need some help. The two of us cannot do it alone.”

It seemed the right time to bring in the rest of his team. The others were standing by at another St. Petersburg hotel, awaiting instructions. He wasn’t thrilled about the prospect of involving them. He’d already closed one loose end with a bullet. He’d never been one to lean on violence. Sure, a punch or two here and there could work wonders. But killing? That was something he’d rarely done. Of course, what Aleksei was planning, and he was facilitating, would be characterized as mass murder on the grandest scale. How many would die? Tens of thousands for sure. Most of whom did not deserve it.

Reality was clear.

Aleksei Delov, former president of the Russian Federation, a living legend among the people, presently in the last few months of his life, wanted to drop a nuclear weapon, from space, onto the Russian National Congress that convened three days from now in Moscow. The resulting explosion would obliterate the State Kremlin Palace, the entire Kremlin itself, and every other building within a kilometer. Every delegate, including Konstantin Franko, who would be there to open the congress, and every one of his closest allies, would be vaporized.

“Russia will have no choice then, but to change,” Aleksei said. “I simply plan to give the people no choice.”

He’d seen the wisdom. Understood the necessity.

“There will be no other choice, old friend. Sadly, our history is full of times when people have been slaughtered to effect change. Too many wars to count. Too many despots who committed genocide. Famines. Disease. Millions upon millions died for Mother Russia. Now thousands more will join them.”

Yes, they would.

But none of that could happen unless Ilya Mashir was found.

“Call the team,” he told Dominik. “And let’s go see if what we came for is there.”
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LUKE WAS GIVING ILYA MASHIR A WIDE BERTH.

Marcia had managed to learn a lot about the man.

A graduate of the Moscow Aviation Institute, he worked at the Flight Research Institute in Zhukovsky. He was reassigned to the Soviet space program and part of a variety of projects. He participated in preparations for Yuri Gagarin’s first flight, along with other flights on Vostok, Voskhod, and Soyuz spacecraft. Eventually, he became chief designer on the Zenit satellite program where he served for two decades, overseeing launches from the mid-1970s to 1994. Much was known about the Zenit program, which went through many variants, all designed to improve Russia’s surveillance capability. While the United States focused on better cameras and the ability to transmit those images back from space, the Soviets preferred the old-fashioned way. Take the pictures, then send them back for developing. Eventually, the Soviets changed tack, which led to the demise of the Zenit program. Mashir dropped off the grid, but Marcia had discovered that he was now working for a Russian mobster named Anton Khurtin, facilitating online data kidnapping and ransomware.

What was it Malone was fond of saying?

Certainty is an illusion.

Yep.

But Mashir had called back.

He let it buzz several times before answering.

“I do not like anything about this,” Mashir said over the phone.

“Understand this, Ilya. You’re dealing with folks with the horsepower to order a Russian warship to blow us out of the water. To them, your employer, though a fairly bad mobster, is a nothing.”

He was mixing half-truths with fiction, but he sensed Mashir was sliding toward panic and wasn’t about to discourage that.

“Here’s how it’ll go,” Luke said. “They’ll come through the door, kill everyone but you, then stick you in a dark room and hook a car battery to places on your body you will not like. And that’ll only be the warm-up.”

A long pause.

“They want Red Star, and they’ll do whatever they have to do to get it.”

“How do I know I can trust you?” Mashir asked.

“Don’t trust us. Trust Efim. He sent us. You’ve got two options. Us or them. Decide.”

Again Mashir ended the call.

Danielle just stared at him. But he knew what he was doing.

The phone rang.

He answered.

“How would you get me out?” Mashir asked.

“Are you alone?”

“I have five jailers. They never let me out of their sight.”

“Are they armed?”

“With big ugly guns.”

“Security systems?”

“Doors and windows are alarmed. Cameras everywhere, both inside and out. Those I can jam, at least for a short time.”

“How large are the grounds?”

“Three acres,” Mashir said. “Surrounded by a wall down to the ocean.”

“Are you allowed outside?”

“For walks around the grounds, but always with two guards close by.”

“Give me a second.” Luke muted the phone. “What do you think?”

“We have no choice,” Danielle said. “And as you say, others are looking too. If we found him, so can they.”

Good point. But unknowns came with the turf.

“We keep it simple. Ilya goes for a walk, I scale the wall, take out his minders, then we run like hell.”

“To where?”

“You can decide that while I’m doing my thing. We either do it now or not at all.”

“Then we do it.”

He unmuted the phone. “We’re coming to get you. Tell me where you are.”







60.

ONCE AGAIN LUKE FOUND HIMSELF KILLING TIME. A FAMILIAR FEELING TO anyone who’d served in the military. Hurry up and wait. The name of the game. But he’d learned to make the best of it.

Danielle drove them back south down the Karelian Isthmus to Zelenogorsk, which turned out to be not a village but a small city full of sights tailor-made for time killing. Plenty of fountains, statues, even a museum of retro cars. Ilya Mashir texted throughout the day about his upcoming escape from under Anton Khurtin’s thumb, alternately excited and worried as he offered minutiae about the guards’ activities, the best spots for entering the property, and how quickly Khurtin might mount a pursuit. Some useful information, some not so much. They seemed more a manic, stream-of-consciousness type of behavior.

Which worried him.

Near Zelenogorsk’s remaining Lenin monument, Danielle plopped down on an iron bench. “How we know Red Star is not something that has long ago become harmless?”

That had occurred to him too. Which would mean all this risk was for nothing. Still, “We have to know for sure. It’s too important not to know that.”

Stephanie had authorized his continued involvement with the mission so that he could evaluate the validity of what Efim Kozar had told him. He was the boots-on-the-ground at the tip of the spear. The man in position. The whole thing sounded a little crazy, but John had thought it credible.

And that was good enough for him.

Danielle, though, worried him.

He hadn’t forgotten her threats of revenge, and she’d stayed stoic and silent most of last evening and into today. He’d seen the look before, and nothing about it was good. It clouded judgment. Encouraged mistakes. And nine times out of ten ended in disaster. But who was he to talk? He’d likewise felt the need to avenge. In Afghanistan? Nearly on a daily basis. So much happened there so fast. He lost friends needlessly to bombs and ambush. But revenge had no place in the military. You did your job, followed orders, and accomplished the mission. No more. No less. But convincing this angry Russian woman of that? Good luck. He decided to take his daddy’s advice and focused on what lay in front.

Grab Mashir. Find out if Red Star is real. And if so—

Learn more.

They whiled away the afternoon.

Danielle kept to herself, alternately staring into space and working her phone to plan their escape route after the upcoming grab. Luke concentrated on a Google Earth survey of the environs, but had no idea how current the images might be. The dacha was a single-level, Spanish-style villa complete with mustard stucco walls, a red-tile roof, and wrought-iron balconies. As jails went Ilya Mashir could have done a lot worse.

Around 6:00 P.M. Mashir texted.

Taking stroll at nine. Will disable camera system right before but blackout only lasts 15 minutes before system reset will bring them back online.

He replied. Be chatty with your guards and stick close to the west-side wall.

I am not good at chatty.

Fake it. When it happens, follow my lead.

What does that mean?

You’re being kidnapped.

Three reply-in-progress dots appeared on the screen, then disappeared only to return a moment later.

I understand.

Play along.

He told Danielle, “Looks like we’re a go. I think I’ve come up with a halfway decent escape plan.”

He was worried less about the guards who would be accompanying Mashir on his evening constitutional than about being spotted by the other guards inside. That could lead to lots of gunfire. He needed a bloodless rescue. But that’d be up to Khurtin’s men. He was hoping they would be slow to react. Then their best bet was to head for Vyborg, an hour to the northwest.

“Going back to St. Petersburg would be walking into the lion’s den,” he said. “That’s Khurtin’s home court.”

“And if we have his men on us?”

He’d already considered that, since you never entered a fight without an exit strategy. “There’s only one route back to St. Petersburg, but three ways to reach Vyborg. Our odds of losing a tail there are better.”

He’d played the best-case-worst-case scenarios in his head. Best case? He grabbed Mashir and they were on the road to Vyborg before the cameras popped back on. They could easily put ten miles between them and the dacha before anyone noticed. Worst case? He’d improvise.

“Vyborg is a big place,” she said. “Easy for us to be lost there.”

Encouraging. Along with, “And it’s only seventeen miles to Finland.”

But he knew that thanks to Konstantin Franko’s military ambitions, Russia’s borders had been beefed up. So leaving the country was going to be a problem. But he’d figure that one out once he was there.

He tapped in Marcia’s number on his phone. Talking on an open line was problematic, but he had no choice. He could only hope that with millions of conversations happening across the mobile network, his would go unnoticed. That, along with his phone’s encryption, should work.

“Can you find me a place to lay low in the Vyborg area?” he asked Marcia.

“For how long?”

That, he knew, would depend on the intensity of Khurtin’s search for Mashir.

“For the night, maybe tomorrow. An off-the-beaten-path place, but not too far.”

“Anything else? Hot tub? Open terrace?”

“A stocked fridge would be great.”

She chuckled. “I’ll handle it. Regarding your request for a goody box?”

“They’re off limits?”

“How’d you know?”

“Just a hunch. If Franko keeps up his antics with Ukraine and other places, I’m guessing those toys will be put to better use. No use wasting them on us.”

“Sean Fernando worded it differently, but that’s the gist of it. He’s still waiting to hear from you.”

“Tell him to call my boss.”

He ended the call.
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EDMON HAD BEEN STUDYING ANTON KHURTIN’S SEASIDE DACHA FOR the past half hour. Night was fast approaching, though this far north the sun lingered longer and longer. Right now, the terrain before him was draped in pale shadows.

“The eaves are loaded with cameras, and that front door is surely hardened,” he said.

“Mobsters and their people need protection,” Dominik said.

He caught the sarcasm.

But he agreed.

A man like Khurtin would never place himself in jeopardy. Anywhere he or his people occupied for any extended period would most certainly be secure. But was that applicable here? The dacha sat ten kilometers north of St. Petersburg, directly beside the Baltic Sea, woods engulfing the property, which was surrounded by a tall stone wall veined with ivy. A fairly innocuous location that signaled nothing nefarious. Still—

“This has the feel of a prison,” he muttered.

“My thought too,” Dominik said. “It’s your call. More surveillance or we kick the door down and see what’s there? Just like the old days.”

The party congress was in three days. They had not the luxury of time. The most important piece of the puzzle might be locked behind that dacha’s door.

So it had to be done.

Like in the old days.

He checked his watch.

“Tell the others we go in within the hour.”







61.

LUKE WOULD HAVE PREFERRED TO STAKE OUT THE DACHA WELL BEFORE 9:00 P.M. but judged the risk of their presence piquing the interest of a guard too great. At 8:35 P.M. they left Zelenogorsk and drove to a grocery two miles from the dacha, where Danielle bought a case of bottled water, a miniature cosmetics mirror, a toilet scrub brush, a first-aid kit, and a roll of duct tape.

“Add a shovel to that purchase and we’re halfway to a Dateline appearance,” he said as they were leaving.

“I do not understand that.”

“Never mind.”

“Why do we need a toilet brush and mirror?”

“We’re going to make a redneck periscope.”

She gave him another curious look.

“You’ll see.”

They passed the dacha’s gated entrance at 8:50.

“Don’t slow down,” he said to her.

Out the side window he saw that the landscaping beyond the wall was lit by low-voltage spotlights but nothing else. No visible guards. Surely there were cameras. Clearly Khurtin preferred a less fortress-like and more retreat-esque vibe. More powerful security lights, he presumed, would be motion-activated, and the cameras were likely all night-vision-equipped. Never underestimate your opponent. That was basic Army Ranger 101.

He checked his watch.

If Mashir kept up his end of the bargain the camera system would go dead in eight minutes.

He said, “Slow down. Take that turnoff to the right.”

Danielle did so and he directed her into a U-turn behind a clump of bushes and pointed the Passat’s hood toward the road.

Ready to escape.

“See that break in the trees on the other side? That’s where we’ll be coming out. Keep the engine running. If you draw any attention and have to move, or hear shooting, or I’m not back in twenty minutes—”

“I know. Drive to Café Argo, then call Marcia Pooler. We go over this. Get moving. You have seven minutes.”

His route to the dacha crossed even ground well shielded by trees. He stopped fifty yards from the wall. Brick. Six feet tall. Squared-off top. No broken glass barrier or barbed wire on top and, most important, no cameras in sight.

He checked his watch. 8:57 P.M.

He sprinted to the wall.

Almost immediately he heard Mashir’s voice on the other side talking about flowers to someone. Part of the plan, a loud voice, so he could zero in on where to breach. Mashir seemed near the wall and a bit to his left. On the ride over he’d already constructed his redneck periscope by taping the mirror to one end of the toilet brush. The brick wall was old with plenty of cracks and crevices, even bricks missing here and there. He used a combination of those to bring himself up, closer to the top, where he hung with only the fingers of his right hand supporting his weight. Slowly, he lifted the brush’s handle and angled the mirror until three figures came into view. Mashir was in the lead, with a guard flanking him on either side a few paces behind. Each man cradled a Skorpion submachine gun slung across his chest. Their postures screamed boredom. Neither was looking around. One was fiddling with a cell phone. Really? Getting the drop on these guys was going to be easy. Keeping them from doing something stupid?

That was the problem.

He angled the mirror until he could study the dacha’s west wall, which seemed a mass of floor-to-ceiling windows. Not good. Inside, in a lit room a pair of guards were seated on a couch, their faces cast in the flickering glow of a television. He dropped to the ground and headed down the wall, keeping pace with Mashir and his entourage until he judged they weren’t visible from the dacha’s interior. Hopefully Mashir was taking that into account too. One more periscope peek and he waited until the group covered another ten feet, then hopped up and vaulted over the wall.

He landed on flat feet and said, “Evening.”

Both guards spun around in unison.

The one on the left stood still, mouth agape, but his partner reacted with surprising speed. His Skorpion was halfway up when Luke planted his right boot into the chest, sending the man to the ground. He used the moment to bring a right uppercut to the other guy’s jaw, which stunned, allowing him to relieve the man of his weapon. He then popped the man’s temple with the butt, dropping the guard to the ground. The other one was trying to recover but Luke aimed the gun straight at him and said, “Stay still.”

The guard obeyed.

He reached down and took the other automatic rifle away. Then he faced Mashir. “You are coming with me. Tell this guard that when he wakes up he should tell Khurtin that he can have you back for a price. I’ll be in touch.”

Mashir complied.

Luke popped the butt of the rifle into the guard’s head, which sent the man into unconsciousness. He then dragged both bodies into the bushes and slung the Skorpions over his shoulder.

“Let’s go.”

They’d made it to the wall, back in the underbrush, when he heard noise from the dacha. He snuck a look and saw the front door open and two men emerge, both also with Skorpions.

Tat, tat, tat filled the night air.

Automatic weapons fire.

But not from the guards.

Instead, both men dropped to the ground.

From the entrance gate came four successive explosive thuds. He recognized the sound. Shaped charges used to blow hinges. He’d used his fair share of them. Amid a cloud of smoke the twin gates blocking the driveway tipped forward onto the gravel drive, slamming to the ground. A black sport vehicle surged through the opening, trailing a rooster tail of gravel, and skidded to a stop near the front entrance. More firing racketed outside, more shouts, walls exploding with chips and fragments.

He and Mashir stayed in the bushes, shielded.

“Who are they?” Mashir asked.

“Probably those people I mentioned coming for you. We need to go. Now.”







62.

EDMON OPENED THE DOOR AS THE SUV CAME TO A STOP WITHIN THE walled compound. They’d breached the gate and were now in position to see if Ilya Mashir was indeed here. If not, at a minimum, they’d send a message to Anton Khurtin, one that any Russian mobster should easily understand. Would there be retaliation? Maybe. Maybe not, considering that Aleksei Delov was involved.

The other car doors opened.

Dominik and three men emerged, all shouldering automatic rifles. Two of them sprinted toward the front door. He and Dominik followed on their heels. One stayed with the car. They’d taken down two of the guards who’d emerged with well-placed shots from back at the entrance gate. He’d made himself clear earlier. They needed Mashir alive.

Dominik was surveying the surroundings.

As was he.

Nothing was moving beyond the house, but there were a lot of trees, undergrowth, and shadows.

The front door was closed.

His men approached to the left and right, then disappeared inside.

Gunfire erupted.
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LUKE WATCHED FROM THE BASE OF THE PERIMETER WALL. HE’D HELPED Mashir up, nudging his shoulder under the old man’s bony butt and launching him up and over to the other side.

But carefully.

The guy had to be in his mid-eighties, and he cradled a knapsack that he said was important. Then he climbed over, hanging by his fingers on the edge, pushing up for a quick peek back at the dacha. Two older men waited outside while two younger men rushed inside. The two older ones stood with rifles ready, cradling them like someone comfortable with a weapon.

What was this?

His mother, God bless her soul, was a dedicated member of the First United Methodist Church in Blount County, Tennessee. She prayed every day of her life and wanted her four sons to be just like her. She even went biblical with their names. Mathew, Mark, John, and Luke. Two were just like her. The other two? Not so much. He was in the latter category with religion being low on his importance list. Faith? Now, that was another matter. He definitely believed in God, just not in having to belong to an organization and follow man-made rules in order to accomplish that. His mother had been a reader too. She loved books. Especially biographies. From one of those she read something Albert Einstein once said, a phrase she’d repeated many times.

Coincidence is God’s way of remaining anonymous.

Okay. Maybe so. Here though?

Definitely not a coincidence.

These guys were here for Ilya Mashir.

And one of them had to be Edmon Grishin.

He kept watching, hoping that no one would conduct a search of the grounds and find the two guards he’d taken down. There seemed no need for a kidnapping story any longer. What was happening inside that house would give Anton Khurtin more than enough to focus on, diverting attention far away.

Which seemed like a good thing.

The two older men stepped up on the front terrace, their faces clearly illuminated. He took the opportunity to find his phone and elevate its camera above the wall with one hand while hanging on with the other. He managed to snap several images using his forefinger to tap the screen.

He dropped himself down to the ground.

Mashir faced him. “What is happening?”

“Men are attacking the house, looking for you.”

“Delov’s people?”

“I truly don’t know. But we need to leave.”

He gripped one of the Skorpions, finger on the trigger, the other slung over his shoulder, and they hustled off. Mashir was surprisingly spry and energetic, not missing a step. The older man was short, thin, with olive-colored skin and a white beard that shone with sweat. Luke led the way and they kept going until they reached the edge of the road. The Passat’s headlights blinked at him. Danielle’s arm jutted out the window, index finger extended, pointing to the right. From that direction came the roar of an engine. He brought Mashir around behind him and swung the Skorpion.

Headlights pinned him.

He dropped to one knee and opened fire, placing a three-round burst into the driver’s-side tire, then did the same to the passenger side. The sport vehicle slewed into the trees, snapping off limbs until the driver maneuvered back on the pavement and skidded to a wobbly stop.

The driver’s door opened.

Luke leveled the Skorpion and fired four rounds into the door.

“Get to the car and in the backseat,” he told Mashir.

The old man did as ordered, with the backpack draped over his shoulders. To the other vehicle he called out with his rifle pointed, “I want you to call the one in charge here.”

He saw through the windshield that the man was doing as told. Good thing, too, as the Skorpion had the firepower to obliterate the windshield and kill anyone inside the car.

The guy held up the phone.

“Put it on speaker and stick it out where I can see it.”

The driver did so.

“You speak English?” he asked in a loud voice.

“I do,” a voice said through the phone. “Do you have Ilya Mashir?”

“I do. You are Edmon Grishin?”

“I am. And you are?”

“I’m the guy with Mashir.”

“You sound American.”

Was this a friend or foe? Impossible to know. So he decided to let the man know he was not entirely in the dark. “You want Red Star too, don’t you?”

No reply.

Which was a good enough yes for him.

He retreated but kept the gun aimed. “I’m afraid there will be no Red Star for you.”

“You are in my country, working under my rules. Getting out of Russia will not be easy.”

“Who says I’m leaving?”

He kept the Skorpion trained on the other vehicle and climbed into the Passat’s passenger seat.

“Are you done making friends?” Danielle asked.

“For now. Let’s go.”
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EDMON REALIZED THREE THINGS.

First, the American on the phone was the same one who’d broken Efim Kozar out of Site 6439. Second, Kozar was dead but the American had survived. Had the woman who’d accompanied him and the prisoner, a man named John Vince, also survived? Finally, either Kozar had told the American about Red Star or that information had already been known.

Both scenarios were bad.

Aleksei’s entire plan relied on the assumption that no one knew that Red Star was still viable. Which was a safe bet, as everyone associated with the program was now dead, except for Ilya Mashir. He’d kept safe the only records that still existed, according to Kozar, and they sat inside a briefcase in the SUV. The American had gone straight for Ilya Mashir, most likely led there by Kozar before he died.

Now Ilya Mashir was gone.

“What happened?” he asked Dominik.

“The man stationed outside the wall failed to stop them. There was a woman with the American, along with Mashir, but no one else.”

He knew that John Vince was an American spy, captured in Hungary, imprisoned for two years at Site 6439. And now, suddenly, at this precise moment, they’d come for him? And they knew about Red Star?

All bad.

Time was running out.

“We must find them, Dominik.”

His old friend nodded.

“And quick.”







63.

LUKE DIRECTED DANIELLE TO HEAD WEST ALONG THE COASTAL ROAD until they came to a junction point.

“Which way you want me to take to Vyborg?” she asked.

“The least traveled.”

“That would be rougher road, and longer route.”

“I know.”

He did not want to take any chances, particularly since he had no idea who was on their tail.

Mashir sat in the rear seat, quiet.

Luke glanced back and saw the old man reach into a pocket and remove a cell phone. Really? He reached back, snatched the phone away, and tossed it out the car window.

“There was no need,” Mashir said. “It is untrackable.”

“Maybe so. But now it’s no longer an issue.”

“Who exactly are you?”

“Luke Daniels. From the great state of Tennessee. Here on behalf of the Central Intelligence Agency.”

“Is Efim really dead?”

“I’m afraid so. Killed during the escape from prison.”

He mentioned nothing about John and noticed that Danielle kept silent too. Good. They needed to proceed with caution, learning far more than they gave from this old man.

“What happen back there?” she asked.

“We had competition. They came in hot, took the gate off its hinges, then blew the front door. Lots of shooting.”

Which violated one of Cotton Malone’s cardinal rules.

Open ears save ammunition.

“Edmon Grishin was leading the charge,” he said.

“Who is she?” Mashir asked, pointing.

“Danielle Otero,” Luke said. “Former SVR. Now just an angry woman.”

He turned around for a better look at Mashir. “If you don’t mind me asking, how old are you?”

“Eighty-three.”

“You don’t look it.”

“I do two hundred deep knee bends every morning. I was born on June 22, 1941, the same day Nazi Germany invaded Russia. Why are we going in this direction, away from St. Petersburg?”

“We need to lay low while we wait to see what your employer and that contingent back at the dacha do.”

“If Edmon Grishin works for Aleksei Delov, that explains a lot.”

“I’m listening. Tell me more.”

“Delov knows all about Red Star IV. He and I spoke of it long ago. He was the one who ordered it to stay flying.”

“He seems to be after it now.”

“We are driving the wrong way,” Mashir said again.

He caught the look on Danielle’s face. No mistaking the message. Mashir was gnawing on her already frayed last nerve.

“Right now,” Luke said, “we need to get you somewhere safe.”

“I need sleep. Wake me when we get there.”

Mashir curled up on the backseat and closed his eyes, the backpack he’d worn clutched to his chest.

“How long to Vyborg?” Luke asked her.

“Thirty minutes.”

More than enough time.

He speed-dialed his phone.

Vyborg straddled the northern limit of the Gulf of Finland and the Saima Channel. It had risen to prominence as a military stronghold, specifically a Finnish castle under Swedish rule during the Third Swedish Crusade of 1293, which had been an effort to expel non-Christian pagans from the Karelian Isthmus. For the next four hundred years the city remained in Swedish hands before first falling to the Russians in the Great Northern War and then being absorbed by Finland when it declared independence from Russia in 1917.

That meant it was a hybrid.

Not fully Russian, but not part of the West either.

Efficient as ever Marcia Pooler had found them the perfect hideout, a house on a small beach just north of the Vyborg’s Saima Canal Railway Bridge, overlooking Zashchitnaya Bay. A spacious two-story, concrete building, whitewashed, with a veranda encircling the lower story. Luke provided directions that Danielle followed, steering the Passat down an unmarked dirt road until a wooden mailbox appeared in the headlights.

She stopped beside it.

“Kivisalmi,” he said, reading the placard. “This is the place.”

Danielle turned onto a half-crescent-shaped driveway and stopped beneath a carport. Luke woke Mashir, then the three of them followed wooden steps up an embankment to the cabin’s back door. As promised, he found the key dangling from a string inside a birdhouse beside the door. Danielle and Mashir waited on the porch as he walked through the cabin’s darkened interior until he was certain they were alone. Inside was pleasantly furnished, with three small bedrooms, a kitchenette, a dining nook, and a living room filled with burgundy club chairs arranged before a wood-burning stove. He gestured them inside, then switched on a few lights.

“This is not as nice as the dacha,” Mashir said.

“Get in the car,” Danielle said. “I’ll drive you back.”

“I was simply making an observation. This will do nicely.”

Mashir began emptying the contents of his backpack on the dining table. Two laptops, a small brown accordion folder, and a yellow scrapbook binder. The old man sat, arranged things just so in specific positions before him, then powered up both laptops.

He and Danielle stood staring at him.

“How did you bring those with you and not arouse suspicion,” Luke asked.

“I never leave these inside the house unattended. Not ever. House rule. No one questions the house rules. Can we get started, please? I assume you want to know about Red Star. Ask your questions.”

Luke shrugged. “Okay. What is it?”

“Red Star was a doomsday machine.”







64.

ALEKSEI LISTENED AS EDMON REPORTED WHAT HAPPENED NORTH OF ST. Petersburg at the dacha of a Russian mobster.

“The guards are dead,” Edmon said, “except for two, which the American left alive to deliver a message that Mashir had been kidnapped.”

“To give Mashir cover?”

“Surely. That way Khurtin would not be suspicious. Which means Mashir went voluntarily. That is a problem.”

“The Americans were never part of this plan,” Aleksei said.

He agreed.

“We have three days left until the conference. Did any of Khurtin’s guards send out a warning?”

“We struck fast. No alarms were set off, and the cameras were temporarily disabled. Mashir’s handiwork, is my guess. For the time being Anton Khurtin has no idea who did what.”

“That will not last long,” he said.

“I plan to burn the house to the ground. With luck, by the time they discover Mashir’s not among the dead, we will have him back.”

Aleksei tamped down his instinct to berate his longtime friend. Failure was not an option. And he wasn’t interested in details of a gun battle, or a lack of one. All that mattered was whether they had Ilya Mashir in hand.

And they did not.

“How sure are you the American and the woman were the same ones from the Site 6439 attack?” he asked.

“One hundred percent.”

His mind was remarkably clear. Panic had a way of clearing the cobwebs. “What are you thinking?”

“Knowing their interest in Red Star would make it easier to find common ground between us. Konstantin Franko is no friend of the United States.”

“Amicus meus, inimicus inimici me,” Aleksei said.

“And here I am without my Latin dictionary.”

“It means, ‘My friend, the enemy of my enemy.’ We and this American are racing against the same problem. Franko.”

“But they will never agree to what you have in mind.”

True. “What do you suggest we do?”

“I suspect there might be a fail-safe here. Anton Khurtin is not a fool. We have two leads. The guards we found outside in the bushes. But to exploit those involves something you detest.”

He knew what Edmon was referring to. He’d been thinking about it ever since learning that the two guards survived. When he was elected president of the Russian Federation, the KGB had been deep in its death throes, imploding onto itself. Lubyanka, the massive yellow brick building in the center of Moscow that served as KGB headquarters, was still operating. But not with the same frequency as in decades past. The fabled heart of darkness, home of an infamous jail where spies, political dissidents, and enemies of the state were imprisoned, interrogated, and tortured, was ending. An old joke called Lubyanka the tallest building in Moscow, since Siberia could be seen from its basement. Its main claim to fame? Torture. Which he despised. One of his first acts as president was its end, though he suspected that it continued in the far reaches of the new Russian Federation. Did it work? Of course. Everybody had a breaking point. But did it produce reliable results? Not in the least. Its victims would say anything for it to stop. Would it work here?

Impossible to know.

Until they tried.

“Do what has to be done,” he said.
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EDMON, EITHER AS A MOSCOW POLICEMAN OR AS PART OF ALEKSEI’S inner circle, had never stepped over the line he’d now jumped, starting with the killing of Kozar’s wife. His course had been set ever since Aleksei had pleaded for his help those many months ago. He’d decided then and there nothing would stand in his way. Not reason, emotion, or morality. The idea of immolating thousands of his countrymen under the fiery umbrella of Red Star chilled him. But he rationalized it all with his hatred toward Franko.

The two men they’d found at the dacha unconscious in the bushes were now in his custody. Maybe mid-thirties, dark hair, less-than-pleasant faces.

And not all that concerned.

Surprising considering their present predicament.

He’d ordered one tied up and the other brought to the dacha’s garage, a space barely big enough to fit a single car, its concrete floor oil-stained, the walls thick cinder block. A single bulb glowed in a ceiling fixture. The guard sat naked in a metal chair, watching Edmon’s every move, ankles duct-taped to the chair legs, wrists to his own thighs. The door opened and Edmon walked over and grabbed a white plastic shopping bag from Dominik, who came inside and closed the door. He removed a small container and held it up for the guard to see.

“Ammonium carbonate. Do you know what that is?”

The man shook his head.

“Smelling salts. Like what is used with boxers. You are going to need them because in the next minute or so you are going to pass out from excruciating pain. I will use these to wake you up.”

The man’s eyes grew wide.

“Then more pain, and you will pass out again. And I will wake you up again, and again.”

“What do you want?” the man asked.

“How do I find Ilya Mashir?”

“He is gone.”

“I realize that. But surely a man like your employer has contingency plans. A way to find Mashir. Especially for someone so important. Perhaps a way that only a few knew about.”

“I know nothing of that.”

He decided to pivot. “How long have you guarded Mashir?”

“Just a few weeks.”

Calm him down. Make him lose a little of the fear. “Mashir’s a valuable commodity to Khurtin, isn’t he?”

“He is.”

“Constantly guarded, correct?”

The man nodded.

“So it stands to reason that there would be ways of finding Mashir, if he strayed off his leash.”

“Don’t ask me to betray Khurtin.”

“I am not,” he said. “I merely ask that you save yourself.” He gestured with the smelling salts box. “Answer my question and none of this becomes necessary. As a bonus, my boss will make sure you’re beyond Khurtin’s reach.”

He was stretching there, but he desperately wanted this man to see reason.

“There is no such place.”

“You don’t know my boss.”

“But I know Khurtin.”

“Is that your final answer?”

The man nodded. “You don’t understand. I cannot.”

He laid the smelling salts down on the floor and, from the shopping bag, withdrew a vise-grip wrench. “You had your chance.”

The man’s eyes went wide.

And he went to work.
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IT TOOK LUKE A LONG TEN SECONDS TO FULLY REGISTER MASHIR’S WORDS.

“Doomsday machine”?

“So there you have it, your question answered,” Mashir said. “Can we now move on to the library?”

Mashir began typing on one of the laptops.

“What’s wrong with you?” Danielle asked.

“Whatever do you mean?”

“You see nothing wrong with you? Nothing at all?”

Luke motioned for her to let him handle things. Browbeating and insults weren’t going to work. Gently he closed the lid of the laptop until Mashir removed his fingers.

“What library?” he asked.

The old man tossed him a puzzled look. “Ivan the Terrible’s library. What else would it be?”

His patience was reaching its limits too. They didn’t have the time for this. “Here’s what you need to understand. A good friend of ours has been killed over Red Star. In fact, he and Danielle were in love. So her bullshit-tolerance level is way below zero, if you understand what I mean.”

Mashir glanced over at Danielle, who leaned against the kitchen sink, arms crossed.

“Your friend Efim is also dead because of Red Star. The men attacking the compound want you because of Red Star. Are you seeing the pattern here?”

“Of course,” Mashir said, “I am not deaf or blind. But the library is—”

He raised an index finger. “Don’t.”

“You are angry?”

“Not yet, but I’m getting there.”

“Can you hand me my backpack, please?”

Danielle stalked forward, grabbed the pack from the floor, and upended the contents onto the floor. Eight pill bottles tumbled out.

“What have we here,” she said, studying each in turn. “Antidepressant. Stimulant. Generic Adderall. Beta blocker.” She glanced to Luke. “The man is drug addict.”

She held up a bottle for Luke to see. The exterior was blank except for a round yellow sticker on which a happy face had been drawn.

He shook his head.

She sighed, then walked away. Mashir knelt down, gathered up the bottles, and began opening lids.

“Do you need water?” Luke asked.

“No. Just give me a few minutes alone, please.”

He walked into the kitchen, gently grabbed Danielle’s elbow, and steered her into one of the bedrooms.

“He is a druggie,” she said. “We cannot believe a word he says.”

“I don’t care if he’s from Mars and wants to eat crickets,” he said, keeping his voice low. “Both John and Efim pointed us to him. We need to know what he knows.”

She opened her mouth to protest, but he raised a finger.

“We’re partners,” he said. “Start partnering.”

She nodded. “Okay.”

They returned to the table and sat down. Danielle said to Mashir, “My apologies for snapping like that. We do need your help.”

Luke said, “Let’s strike a deal. You answer all our questions about Red Star, then we’ll listen to what you have to say about Ivan the Terrible’s library.”

Mashir pursed his lips, thought for a moment, then nodded.

“You said Red Star is a doomsday machine,” Luke said. “Explain that.”

“It was a weapons system that fell under the Zenit satellite program. Efim ran Zenit. I worked for both Zenit and Red Star as chief designer.”

Danielle asked, “What kind of weapons system.”

“A constellation of thirty-six orbital nuclear weapons platforms.”

Just as John had said. Luke had a question, but before he could open his mouth Mashir kept talking.

“In the beginning, Red Star was intended as a backup to Russia’s primary nuclear arsenal. Of the thirty-six Red Star satellites, twenty-one were assigned to strategic targets in the United States, France, and Great Britain.”

“Specifications?” he asked.

“Nuclear yield ranged from four kilotons to eighteen kilotons. In total the Red Star constellation yield was 422 kilotons.”

A lot of destructive force.

“The advantage of Red Star was anonymity and surprise. None of our enemies would know they were up there, and because the West had no counter-measure systems in place, each Red Star would drop unhindered like a stone onto its target.”

Exactly why treaties between nations had banned nuclear weapons in space. Clearly, the Soviet Union had ignored that constraint.

“A Red Star four kiloton model was designed to turn the White House into a crater before the American president could ever evacuate. The larger-yield Red Stars were of course slated for large bases, strategic command-and-control hubs, and so on. The perfect first strike weapon.” Mashir’s face broke into a wide grin. “The best way to win a war is win before it even starts.”

“Keep going,” Luke said.

“Each Red Star was egg-shaped, like the Zenit satellites, and equipped with a radioisotope thermoelectric generator. It is essentially a low-voltage nuclear-powered battery designed to last roughly eight thousand years. I designed it myself. Red Star was also equipped with rudimentary compressed gas thrusters for pre-entry alignment, a nose cone heat shield, and a micro-computer to receive ground-based instructions. The programming was quite a challenge, not to mention the circuitry.”

Danielle said, “So you tell us there is almost half a megaton’s worth of nuclear warheads above our heads. Right now?”

“Of course not. They were all destroyed, on orders of Aleksei Delov. Except for one.”

“How?” Luke asked.

“Each carried a self-destruct charge. In case—”

“You got caught,” he finished.

“That is one scenario. Yes. But for us, the world changed. The USSR ended. The Cold War ended. Red Stars became unnecessary.”

“All but one,” Danielle said, disgust in her voice.

Mashir nodded. “I have no idea why one was left. But Red Star IV is still up there. Barring impact from a near-earth object or piece of space junk, its orbit will not start to decay for another thirty years or so.” Mashir twirled his finger in a circular motion. “Round and round it goes. Every day. In orbit. Waiting for an aberrance signal.”

“Which is?” Luke asked.

“Once per orbit cycle Red Star IV passes over a signal station, which is playing a specific ‘analog song,’ for lack of a better term. If Red Star fails to hear this song, it switches to its execution frequency to await targeting orders.”

“And then?”

“Originally, if it completes five more orbital circuits without receiving new orders, it executes its original targeting package.”

“You’re telling me Red Star operated on a dead hand switch,” Luke said.

Mashir’s face beamed. “Exactly.”

“Passive MAD,” he muttered.

Danielle gave him a curious look.

“Mutually Assured Destruction,” he said. “It doesn’t depend on someone saying, Launch. The weapon activates on its own.”

“But that was changed for Red Star IV. No such auto-mechanism. You have to tell it what to do. All you need is the right codes.”

“You have these?”

Mashir nodded. “I have kept them safe all these years.”

“Do those codes shut it off too? And activate the self-destruct?”

Mashir nodded. “Of course.”
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EDMON HAD USED SOME SIMPLE METHODS TO INFLICT THE RIGHT amount of pain from the vise grips to extract what was, hopefully, useful information.

That was the key to torture.

Too little and the subject resisted, saying nothing. Too much and they told you whatever you wanted to hear, regardless of truth or accuracy.

Most people never experienced the intentional and systematic infliction of pain. So the vast majority caved quickly. Even the most highly trained had a breaking point. Here, the men they’d captured had no vested interest in anything that related to Anton Khurtin. They were hired help. No more. But they were fearful of Khurtin. And with good reason. Still, only a few minutes of pain were needed to overcome that fear.

And he’d learned what he needed to know.

Ilya Mashir worked as an integral part of Khurtin’s overall operation, creating the computer programs needed to carry on international thievery. He was kept secure at the dacha, under guard, where he worked alone. To maintain a tight hold, all of his electronic devices—including a phone, laptops, and desktops—were tagged with tracking devices, and Mashir had no idea. Or if he did, he’d done nothing to silence the trackers. The guard told them that there was a receiver inside the dacha that could be used to track them. Which Dominik had located. Mashir’s mobile phone was not found, but he had to assume the American had discarded it. No sense taking it along since phones came with their own ability to locate. The desktops were still inside the house. So they focused on Mashir’s two laptops.

And the tracking device indicated that they were near Vyborg.

“We need to leave,” he said to Dominik.

Their team was outside, maintaining guard. It was reasonable to assume that others might arrive, as the dacha was no longer functioning. At some point that omission would come to the attention of other parts of Khurtin’s criminal enterprise, and people with guns would be dispatched.

But they’d be long gone.

“Tell the others we no longer need them,” he told Dominik. “Pay them, with our thanks. This is just for you and me now.”

“And the two guards?” Dominik asked.

He retrieved his automatic rifle.

“I will deal with them.”
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LUKE WAS HAVING A HARD TIME BELIEVING WHAT HE WAS HEARING. BUT he’d been sent to investigate and evaluate, so that’s what he was going to do.

“As long as the transmitting station does not go dark,” Mashir said. “Red Star stays dormant and harmless. They are called a numbers station, a now defunct Cold War project. There were many of them throughout Russia, there to broadcast to the thirty-six Red Stars. They transmit at around 4,625 kHz, or 4.6 mHz, which is roughly the same frequency used in the Sputnik era. The Red Star satellites were built on modified Sputnik platforms. Quite amazing—”

“Focus,” Luke reminded him.

“Yes. Yes. Of course. The stations broadcast a tone, ‘the buzzer,’ about twenty times a minute, twenty-four hours a day, and also occasionally transmit three types of block audio messages called Monolith, Komanda, and Uzor.”

Danielle stared at Mashir. “What in world are you talking about?”

“I understand. It is all complicated. But I have an example.”

Mashir opened his laptop, navigated to a file called UVB-76, and clicked on it. From the speaker emerged an almost robotic female voice.

“Ya UVB-76. Ya UVB-76. 180 dash 08 BROMAL. 74 27 99 14. Boris, Roman, Olga, Mikhail, Anna, Larisa. 7 4 2 7 9 9 1 4. Ya UVB-76.”

Mashir muted the recording. “The messages vary, but they are of a similar format.”

“And the point of these numbers stations?” Luke asked.

“They were there to control the Red Stars. I was told that many of the stations are gone. Some converted by the SVR for communicating with sleeper cell agents in the West. Others are aimed at our ballistic missile submarines to send messages. The rest are harmless, still sending out their music. I suspect they have been left running just to confuse the West. Kind of a running joke that no one can decipher. Red Star IV was different. We reprogrammed things so it is controlled by a single station with an automated broadcast.”

“Where is this station?” Danielle asked.

“Siberia. A remote location, hard to find. I went there two times. As for Red Star IV’s command protocol codes, those I have. But Red Star IV is perfectly safe as long as it is not interfered with.”

“What is the kill range for Red Star IV,” he asked. “How powerful is it?”

“Low yield.”

“How low?”

“Six point two kilotons. The fireball would extend about three hundred meters. Over-pressure destructive power? About eight hundred meters. Any building within half a kilometer would be razed to the ground. As for radioactive fallout, it would be extensive. It is a dirty bomb.”

“What is Red Star IV’s target?” Luke asked.

“The Kremlin.”

Had he heard right? “You targeted a nuclear weapon on yourself?”

Mashir nodded. “On orders of President Delov. Those were dangerous times. No one knew what was going to happen. The communists were out of power, but they were trying desperately to return. My guess is Delov was terrified of them, so he set up a way to stop them. If need be. Thankfully, that need never came.”

“Until now,” Danielle said. “Now Delov wants Red Star.”

“But we don’t know why,” Luke noted. “The satellite can be reprogrammed. The target changed.” He needed to know. “Did you tell Anton Khurtin about Red Star?”

“Never. That man is crazy. A criminal. The only reason I offered my services to him was I had no choice. I had to live. I have been stealing money from him for a long time. Which was quite easy, by the way. There are no internal controls on anything he does. Truth is, I had forgotten all about Red Star before you came along.” Mashir paused. His eyes narrowed. “It is synchronicity.”

Luke waited for an explanation.

“A term created by Carl Jung. It has to do with meaningful coincidence. You showing up, asking about Red Star, and my need to leave Khurtin’s employ. They are connected. It is simply remarkable. When this is over I will write a paper on the subject—”

Luke held up a hand to stop the rambling.

“Focus,” Mashir said. “I know. Focus.”

He decided to placate the older man. “Tell us about the library.”

Mashir’s face lit up. “It has been an obsession of my family for a hundred years.”

“Which has nothing to do with what we need,” Danielle said.

“Oh, no, you are wrong. It has everything to do with it. Everything. Synchronicity.”

Luke was intrigued.

“You see, when I designed Red Star I created my own cipher for communicating with the satellite. It had to be foolproof and impossible to break. So I used a book from Ivan the Terrible’s library as the key for my cipher programming. A one-of-a-kind book. The only edition in the world. Do you not see? Red Star and the library are two sides of the same coin.” Mashir looked at Luke, then Danielle. “Without the library we cannot talk to the satellite. I have the codes, yes, but they have to be decoded to work. Yes, I know how to decode them, but I cannot accomplish that without that particular book. If you want Red Star, we have to get the library.”

“Okay,” Luke said, “I’ll play. Tell me more about this library?”

“It was a wonder of Ivan IV. The first Tsar of All Russia, who died in 1584. He acquired it from his father. Yes, Ivan acquired the rather depressing moniker of the Terrible. Sounds awful. But he was a learned man. His library was lost for over four hundred years, but my family found it.”
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MANY NAMES HAD BEEN ASSOCIATED WITH IT.

The Lost Library of the Tsars. The Golden Library. The Grand Duke’s Library. But the label that had stuck through the centuries was the Lost Library of Ivan the Terrible.

Its story began in the fifteenth century when the Turks conquered Constantinople and finally toppled the all-powerful Byzantine Empire. Many Greeks of the Orthodox faith fled, among them Thomas Palaiologos, brother of the last Byzantine emperor, Constantine XI. He took refuge in Rome, but not before packing up a collection of precious manuscripts and taking them with him. Many were rare Greek, Latin, and Egyptian works from the libraries of Constantinople and Alexandria, as well as second-century Chinese texts. Among the precious works were an original copy of the Pandects of Justinian from the sixth century. Cicero’s letters. Two manuscripts of Tacitus, one of them containing the first five books of the Annals. An ancient copy of Sophocles’ tragedies. A Greek treatise on surgery. The commentaries of Julius Caesar. A fourth-century copy of Virgil. The Codex Amiatinus, an eighth-century copy of the Bible. A tenth-century Pliny. And a full version of Cicero’s De re publica.

The books were inherited by Thomas Palaiologus’ daughter Sophia Palaiologina. After the death of Ivan III’s first wife in 1467, Pope Paul II suggested that Ivan wed Sophia, the niece of the last Byzantine emperor, in an attempt to bind Russia to the Holy See in Rome. In 1472 Ivan and Sophia were married and the collection of books from her father were brought along with her to Moscow. Eventually Sophia and Ivan’s grandson, Ivan IV, not only inherited the library but expanded it by sending men all over Europe to collect other rare folios and manuscripts. He even had many of them translated from their original languages into Russian. About three hundred all total eventually made his library.

But after his death in 1584, the library disappeared.

Luke listened with fascination as Ilya Mashir spoke.

“Ivan is misunderstood,” the old man said. “He was described as grozny, which in old Russian means ‘dangerous, powerful, courageous, magnificent, magisterial.’ But today grozny is translated as ‘terrible,’ implying cruel or evil. Ivan was that, for sure, but he was also a formidable ruler.”

On his downtime between missions Luke loved to read, history his favorite subject. And no particular period. He loved them all, from antiquity to modern times. Danielle, on the other hand, did not appear to care for the history lesson, but he was glad she was staying silent. He also noticed that Mashir’s voice and demeanor were much calmer when he discussed the past.

“By 1547 Ivan was a mere teenager but, by then, he had destroyed or cowed all his enemies. He was in complete control of Russia. For the next twenty-one years his rule was unchallenged. Eventually, toward the end of his life, he hid the library in the catacombs beneath the Ascension Convent in Moscow, along with his mother’s coffin.”

“How can you possibly know that?” Danielle asked.

Luke heard the skepticism in her voice.

“My father told me, as his father told him.”

“Not an answer.”

Mashir shrugged. “They studied old accounts and journals. Research. Especially into Bogdan Belsky. He was Ivan IV’s closest associate. Ivan died in his arms. They were about to play chess when Ivan had a stroke.”

Mashir explained that Belsky was blamed for the death and accused of plotting to murder Ivan’s son and heir, Feodor. He was eventually banished from Moscow. When Feodor died in 1598, Belsky returned to Moscow and nominated himself for the throne. That effort failed and he spent the rest of his life as a rebel, always at odds with whoever held the title of tsar.

“He was eventually killed by a mob in 1611,” Mashir said. “His loyalty to Ivan IV never wavered, though. The library stayed below the Ascension Convent, untouched, for 359 years.”

“So how did your family find it?” Danielle asked.

She was like a dog with a bone, never letting go.

But he was curious too.

“No secret is absolute. Three men hid the library at the convent. To make sure they stayed silent Ivan locked them in a cage atop the ice in the Moskva River, surrounded it with kindling, and set it afire. The heat cracked the ice and sank the cage, killing them all. At that point only Ivan and Bogdan Belsky knew the secret. Like I said, Belsky was Ivan’s rynda, personal bodyguard. His closest person. Belsky even slept within sight of Ivan every night. He was also the oruzhnichiy, the keeper of the tsar’s weapons. We know Ivan entrusted him with his most intimate affairs, like learning about a potential wife or a new mistress or even negotiating a marriage.”

“Belsky told someone?” Luke asked.

“I don’t know for sure. Few written records survived from Ivan’s time. But after 1584 Belsky was the only person left alive who knew. So a legend was born that became more and more embellished as the centuries wore on. The convent itself was always off limits. Until the twentieth century. By 1918 the Bolshevik Revolution was a year old, as was the Russian Civil War. Reds versus Whites. The last of the Romanov tsars, Nicholas II, had been ousted from power a year earlier, then murdered along with his family. In Moscow, White Army monarchy loyalists, fearing that the Bolsheviks planned to destroy the remains of the royal Romanov line, moved anything and everything associated with the tsar to safer locations. But they knew nothing of what was hidden beneath the Ascension Convent.”

“So Elena Glinskaya’s bones and the library were left behind?” Luke asked.

Mashir nodded. “Along with one other thing. The bones of Ivan the Terrible himself. We now know he ordered his body hidden away with his mother and library. Belsky was the one who made that happen. Ivan would have trusted no one else. People think Ivan is buried within the Kremlin in the Cathedral of the Archangel. He is not. He rests beneath Ascension Convent. By 1929 the Russian Civil War ended. The White Army was vanquished. The Bolsheviks owned Russia. There was utter chaos across the nation. Turmoil that my great-grandfather Georgy Aleksandrovich Sheremetev used to his advantage.”

“And told no one,” Danielle noted.

“There was no one to tell. The Soviets cared nothing for Russian history. They were working as hard as they could to either eliminate or rewrite it. He managed to save the library, retrieving the books in the dead of night. But the two sarcophagi? They are still there. In the catacombs.”
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LUKE LEANED BACK IN HIS CHAIR, PLACED HIS PALMS OVER HIS EYES, rubbed them briefly, then combed his hands through his hair. This was a lot. A nuclear weapon in orbit? Numbers stations broadcasting gibberish for the past fifty-plus years? And to stop it he had to find a bunch of five-hundred-year-old manuscripts collected by a Russian tsar.

“Do you believe him?” Danielle asked.

“Incredibly, I do.”

“I know,” she said. “I do too.”

They were talking to each other as if Mashir was not in the room, which, strangely, seemed the case—the odd old man had gone back to tapping on his laptop, oblivious to them.

“There is still the drug use,” she said.

“Which I need to function,” Mashir suddenly said. “I am old and sick.”

“I might agree about some of the meds,” Luke said. “But those bottles there with unmarked pills, what are they?”

Mashir gave them a quick glance. “My retreats.”

“Can you explain that?”

“They allow me a momentary escape from this world.”

“In other words they’re narcotics.”

“That is such an ugly word. I prefer respites.”

Danielle’s expression was one of I told you so.

A problem, for sure. But he had no choice.

“What do we have to lose?” he asked her.

“Time,” she said. “And maybe our lives?”

He agreed. On both. “You said the numbers station was in Siberia.”

“A day, at most, to get there,” Mashir said, not looking up from the laptop. “And there is something else. You may not like it, though.”

Damn. There was always a catch.

“As you might have noticed, I am something of a genius.”

“And modest too,” Danielle added.

“I see no reason to deny the obvious. At an early age my parents saw brilliance in me. I graduated university early, attended all the polytechnic institutes, attained multiple degrees, then came to the attention of party officials. My point is, I still have my wits, and I am the only one who can communicate with Red Star IV.”

“You mentioned there was something I was not going to like.”

“Anton Khurtin has the library of Ivan the Terrible. I gave it to him.”

Luke spotted the disgust on Danielle’s face, which he couldn’t blame her for showing. This just kept going from bad to worse. “Why would you do such a thing?”

“I had no choice. I was old with no job, no money, no pension. Khurtin is a murderous criminal. An amoral sociopath. But he loves books. Odd that such an evil soul has a devotion to something so precious. He has an impressive private collection, most of which are stolen by the way. So I made an agreement with him. I gave him the library in return for employment and protection.”

“And the opportunity to steal money from him,” Danielle added.

“That came later. But it is an opportunity I created for myself.”

“How much have you skimmed?” Luke asked.

Mashir shrugged. “Fifty million euros.”

He was impressed. “Khurtin will never stand for that.”

“Which is why you and I are having this conversation. I want out of Russia. I also want the library back.”

“And the money?” Danielle asked.

Mashir shrugged. “That I will trade for the library. Most of it, anyway.”

“Is that why you took it in the first place?” he asked.

“It seemed the best way to get Khurtin’s attention.”

“Damn risky, if you ask me.”

“Yet that is the reality,” Mashir said. “The cipher I created is impossible to break without the key, and the key is one of the manuscripts in the library. Thirty-two remained when my great-grandfather found them under the Ascension Convent. Those are all now in the possession of Anton Khurtin.”

He shook his head.

Just frickin’ great.
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EDMON DROVE THE CAR WHILE DOMINICK KEPT WATCH ON THE TRACKER. They’d left the dacha, leaving only bodies behind. Anton Khurtin was not going to be happy. Thankfully, not a thing pointed their way, and they’d managed to scrub the scene clean. He’d also called Aleksei.

“It was as I thought,” Edmon said over the phone. “Khurtin has an electronic leash on Ilya Mashir.”

“Do I want to know how you got this information?”

“A cooperative guard from the dacha.”

“How many fingers did you break?”

“He started to talk after the first finger. It took two more before the whole truth came out.”

“Where is Mashir now?” Aleksei asked.

They were about to find out the answer to that question.

The time was approaching midnight. Traffic outside of St. Petersburg was light for the middle of the night. The tracker indicated that the laptops were north of Vyborg’s Saima Canal Railway Bridge, near Zashchitnaya Bay.

“It’s moving,” Dominik said.

They were still a long way from Vyborg.

“Heading north.”

He knew what that meant.

The Finnish border.

And there was nothing he could do to stop it.

“The American is taking Mashir away,” he told Dominik.

“Tell me more about this American who called you,” Aleksei asked.

“Well trained. Cool under fire.”

“CIA?”

“Maybe, but the little podonok seemed to be enjoying himself. Definitely capable since he breached Site 6439 and escaped.”

“Both us and the Americans chasing the same prize?” Aleksei said. “I wonder, is it for the same reason?”

He’d had no answer to that inquiry. The hope was that he would retrieve Mashir and all could get back on track.

“The laptops are across the border,” Dominik said. “Not far across, but definitely in Finnish territory.”

A real problem.

But something told him he’d not seen the last of the cocky American.

And Ilya Mashir.
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THURSDAY — MAY 29 — 12:20 A.M.

LUKE READ WHAT MARCIA HAD SENT HIM ABOUT THE LIBRARY OF IVAN the Terrible.

Which wasn’t much.


The earliest written reference to the library of Ivan the Terrible came in 1518. Michail Tripolis, known widely as Maximus the Greek, came into contact with Grand Prince Vasili III, the son of Ivan III, who showed him a “multitude of rare Greek books.” The next reference came from a Livonian writer, Franz Nyenstadt, who wrote about Johannes Wetterman, a German Protestant minister who established a church in Russia and met with Ivan the Terrible. Ivan had been hiding multitudes of weapons underneath the Kremlin. Wetterman was summoned by Ivan not to look at a weapons arsenal but to see some “ancient books.” Wetterman noted that there were “many works present that were only referenced in passing by other scholars because they had been either destroyed in fires or lost during wars.” He was offered the opportunity to translate one of the books. But he declined, afraid the assignment would keep him in Moscow indefinitely.

A 1724 report by a Moscow official, Konon Osipov, mentioned a discovery made by V. Makariev in 1682, who was ordered to go into a Kremlin secret passage and found a room full of trunks. When Makariev reported the find to Princess Sophia Alekseyevna she made it forbidden for anyone to access those rooms.

In the early nineteenth century Professor Dabelov of the University of Tartu claimed to have found, in the archives of the city of Pärnu, a document called Manuscripts Held by the Tsar. Dabelov left Pärnu to inform a university associate of the find, yet when returning the document had seemingly vanished. The only information that survived was some of what Dabelov had copied down on his first visit, which detailed that the tsars had “manuscripts that were gifted to Russia from an unknown Byzantine emperor.”

In 1834, Nikolay Karamzin wrote a History of the Russian State. He mentioned the meeting between Ivan IV and the Protestant minister Wetterman. He also noted that Ivan IV’s library had been destroyed by fires caused by the seventeenth-century Polish invasion.

In the 1890s Professor Thraemer of the University of Strasbourg located a manuscript of Homer’s hymns that he believed “were once a part of the collection of manuscripts brought to Moscow by Byzantine Princess Sophia Palaiologina when she married Ivan III.” For several months in 1891 Thraemer lived in Moscow, searching the city’s archives in the hopes of locating the library. He eventually decided that it must be located inside hidden subterranean rooms underneath the Kremlin.

In 1893 Professor I. E. Zabelin wrote an article called “The Underground Chambers of the Moscow Kremlin” where he concluded that the library was destroyed in the seventeenth century. Some attempts were made at excavating underneath the Kremlin, but all the chambers and tunnels were found empty.

In the early twentieth century archaeologist Georgy Aleksandrovich Sheremetev searched for the library to no avail. Using maps of the Kremlin from different centuries and the archival material he was able to speculate on the location of the library. In 1933 Stalin even granted him permission to excavate. But all that work ceased with the outbreak of World War II. He died in 1949, finding nothing.

As of the 1990s efforts were still being made to discover the library. The search was extended beyond the Kremlin to Sergeyev Posad, Alexandrov, and the village of Dyakovo near Kolomenskoya, all places once under the influence of Ivan IV.

Some doubt the library ever existed. Alexander Filyushkin, an associate professor of Russian history in St. Petersburg, told Komsomolskaya Pravda that, “even if the library of Ivan the Terrible had existed it could have easily been destroyed.” Moscow was ravaged by fire in 1547, 1571, and 1626. Much of the city burned to the ground. One story even said that when the Poles invaded Russia at the beginning of the seventeenth century, they ran out of food after being besieged in the Kremlin, so they ate the leather covers of the folios and destroyed what remained. Many of the sources that mention the library contain no reference points, so they are immediately suspect. Every mention of it sounds more like a myth than fact.



The reference she noted to “early twentieth-century archaeologist Georgy Aleksandrovich Sheremetev” had caught his eye.

That was Ilya Mashir’s great-grandfather.

But what she discovered about Sheremetev only added to his confusion and, most important, he died in 1949, finding nothing.

After listening to Mashir he’d made a field decision. Too much was happening too fast, and he was worried about staying inside Russia any longer. Not only could Anton Khurtin be looking for them, but Edmon Grishin was out there too. Neither of whom was an official of the current Russian government, which meant there might be an opportunity for a quick exit, stage west. So they’d used the night and fled the house, driving farther north, easily crossing the border into Finland. There they were met by a Volvo sedan bearing U.S. embassy diplomatic plates, which deposited them in what Luke assumed was a safe house near the town of Kotka. Without a word the driver herded them into one of the bedrooms and placed an open laptop on the nightstand. There he connected on a videoconference call where the split-screened faces of Sean Fernando and Stephanie Nelle appeared. Marcia Pooler’s face, as the host, occupied a smaller square in the corner. Neither Stephanie nor Sean was smiling, and Sean looked particularly dour. Danielle was entertaining Mashir while he took the call.

“Fascinating stuff on the library,” he said to Marcia. “But awful sparse.”

“That’s because there is precious little out there on it. No books. No firsthand accounts. Just thirdhand information that seems more fiction than fact. Outside of Russia, it’s barely known to exist.”

“I’m getting an earful here from an old man on drugs who knows a lot about the subject.”

“People have searched for a long time,” Marcia said. “Peter the Great even tried, wanting the manuscripts to sell to finance his wars. Napoleon also looked when he invaded Moscow. The lure of those books has been attracting people for a long time.”

“One of those who searched, Georgy Aleksandrovich Sheremetev, was Mashir’s great-grandfather. What you sent says he found nothing. Mashir says he hit the jackpot. I need more on him.”

“Which brings us back to square one,” Sean said. “We have no idea if this old man is for real.”

“Are you okay out there?” Stephanie asked.

He appreciated her concern, and her effort to quelch Sean’s momentum.

“I’m still vertical,” he said. “But this thing is growing by the minute.”

Marcia had made sure that the line was secure on her end, the laptop from the embassy taking care of his side. Being in Finland helped. But there was still a security danger.

“You and I have a serious problem,” Sean said. “A big one. There’s fallout from the Kremlin over what you did at that prison. I was expecting you to—”

“You wanna keep chewing my butt or hear my report?”

Stephanie said, “Go ahead, Luke.”







70.

LUKE TOOK THEM THROUGH A CONDENSED VERSION OF EVENTS, STARTING with their rescue of John and Efim from Site 6439 and ending with their partial debrief of Ilya Mashir.

“As I see it,” Sean said, “this all boils down to that old man’s mental fitness and credibility.”

“Thanks for that assessment, Captain Obvious,” he said.

“We don’t even know if this is real,” Sean said.

“Can we afford to assume otherwise?” Stephanie asked. “We’re talking about a tactical nuclear weapon that can drop from the sky and hit any target on earth, without warning. It’s just there. Waiting. And we can’t say one thing about this to the Russian government. There’s no telling what Franko would do.”

“Hell, Luke,” Sean said, “who’s to say Mashir is not just using you?”

“Luke is,” Stephanie said.

He appreciated her support. Still, “Sean, you’re not doing the math. Two different groups are looking for Red Star. Us and the folks from the dacha, headed by Edmon Grishin, connected to Aleksei Delov. Grishin went to a lot of trouble to storm that place.”

“He’s a known commodity,” Sean said.

“Does he still work for Delov?” Luke asked.

“He does. But they’re both dinosaurs. Why would Delov be after Red Star? Granted, from all accounts, Delov is no fan of Konstantin Franko. But he stays quiet, out of the limelight, and he’s old. We do know that Franko and Delov met a few days ago at Delov’s lake house in north Russia. Their first face-to-face.”

“Any indication what that meeting was about?” Stephanie asked.

“No idea,” Sean said. “Frankly, it was unimportant, until this moment.”

“I’d feel a lot better if we knew who we were up against,” Stephanie said. “Where’s the enemy? For all we know, Grishin, Delov, and us are all on the same side.”

“I might be able to help with that,” Mashir said, coming into the room with Danielle behind him. “If I’m not overstepping my bounds. I am not a stupid man, nor one given to flights of fancy. I am well aware of my shortcomings. I am a self-diagnosed manic-depressive who abuses prescription drugs. I am also fairly confident I have cancer with two, perhaps three, years left on this earth. I am telling you this so you will understand I am not delusional and I am not lying. Almost a century ago my great-grandfather found the library of Ivan the Terrible. He retrieved it and kept it safe from the Soviets. Since then, each generation of our family was tasked with keeping it hidden. I inherited that duty, but used it to save myself. I am ashamed of that. I want to rectify that mistake. Before I die.”

“And this business about it being intertwined with Red Star?” Sean asked.

“May I pose a question,” Mashir asked.

“Go ahead.”

“Your personal, non-work-related computer at home is protected by a password, yes?”

“Of course.”

“That password likely contains an amalgam of familiar things. Your child’s name. A deceased pet. An important date. You might have mixed in some symbols and jumbled things around, but I am correct, aren’t I?”

“More or less.”

“Those things are meaningful to you. I am eighty-three years old. For sixty of those years I have been obsessed with the library of Ivan the Terrible. Do you not think it reasonable I too would do the same thing?”

“I see your point,” Stephanie said.

So did Luke.

And for the first time Mashir was talking and acting rational.

“The Zenit Red Star program was born in a zakrytye admin-istrativno-territorial’nye obrazovaniya. Closed administrative territorial formation. A ZATO. Ours was called Reka-31.”

“We call them Atomic Cities,” Sean said.

“I have heard of that label. Shortly after Red Star was canceled, soldiers came to Reka-31 in the middle of the night, bundled us onto trucks, and drove us away. We were allowed only the clothes on our backs. Before we’d even traveled a mile from Reka the demolition began. Bulldozers, flamethrowers, dynamite. The last I saw were flames reaching into the sky. Luckily, the library was not there. I had it safely hidden away. But now Anton Khurtin has it.”

Which presented a huge problem.

“I created a cipher that is unbreakable,” Mashir said. “Using a specific book from the library as the key.”

“Which one?” Sean asked.

“I will tell you that when I have those manuscripts in my possession.”

“You are hardly in a position to bargain,” Sean noted.

“On the contrary, I am in the perfect position. We both want something, so let us trade.”

Luke knew that there was a big difference between a code and a cipher. Codes joined one meaning with another. They operated by substituting entire words and phrases for single letters, numbers, or symbols. But codes came with drawbacks, including being broken and the difficulty of managing a cumbersome codebook. Ciphers were different. They depended on a critical piece of auxiliary information. A key. Used to encrypt the message. Without the key it would be next to impossible to decrypt the ciphertext into readable plaintext.

“There is no way to communicate with Red Star IV,” Mashir said again, “without the cipher.”

“Does that include cutting the satellite on and off?” Sean asked.

“It does. Along with its targeting and self-destruct.”

“Right now,” Sean said, “its target is the Kremlin?”

“And it seems it might be a good idea to blow Franko and all his people to hell?” Mashir asked.

“As wonderful a thought as that is,” Sean said. “We can’t allow that to happen.”

“Agreed,” Stephanie said. “And the other question of the day is, do the others searching know that and feel the same way?”

“They know,” Luke said. “Kozar said that Delov’s man came to see him. Kozar also said that the damn thing was left up there on Delov’s orders. They’re after it. They want to drop that thing on the Kremlin.”

“The party congress is in two days,” Sean said. “Everybody who is anybody will be at the Kremlin.”

That was new information.

“Delov must not know where that numbers station is located,” Luke said. “If he did, he would not be messing with us, he’d be headed that way.”

“He needs me,” Mashir said.

“We need this threat neutralized,” Sean said.

Luke knew what had to be done. “I’ll get the book Mashir needs to work the cipher.”

“Not yet,” Sean said. “And I mean that, Luke. Sit tight. We’ll be back to you shortly.”
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LUKE REALIZED THAT HIS REVELATION OF RED STAR IV’S EXISTENCE WOULD garner an immediate reaction from Langley. The idea of a nuclear warhead floating somewhere above the earth was disconcerting enough. But that it was operating on six-decades-old Sputnik-era technology whose only master seemed to be a drug-addled octogenarian who coded everything with an ancient manuscript now in the possession of a Russian mobster? Now, that seemed enough to push the panic button. Add in there that the current target was the Kremlin, and you had, as his daddy used to say, a grade A, number one problem.

A return video call from overseas came about twenty minutes after Sean, Stephanie, and Marcia hung up. All three were again on the line.

“We’re sending you back in,” Stephanie said.

He suspected the kerfuffle at Langley would be over how much worse this situation could get. The Kremlin was already pissed about the jail break. Now to go back into Russia after some mysterious numbers station? It was definitely pushing the limits of international protocol. Uncertainty had probably been the deciding factor. Why were Aleksei Delov and Edmon Grishin after Red Star? What did they want? Was Ilya Mashir the only one capable of rendering it safe? Lots of unknowns. Should they tell Moscow? No way. Why give Konstantin Franko an orbiting nuclear platform. Like that would be a good idea in any universe. The smart play, the only play, was to finish this.

“The easier option would’ve been to send up an F-35 with an anti-satellite missile,” Sean said. “But there’s too much space junk in orbit to pinpoint the damn thing, and Red Star’s warhead would be almost invisible against background space radiation. I checked with NORAD. They have nothing on this satellite.”

“Mainly because it rarely transmits a signal. It mainly receives,” Mashir said. “That is how I designed it.”

“For the record,” Sean said. “This is not the way I would do this. It’s the powers that be who want to take a shot with you.”

“I’ll try not to take it personally that we’re not your first choice.”

“If I had my way—”

“Luke,” Stephanie said. “We’ll give you all the support we can muster. Within reason, of course.”

“Let’s chat about that phrase,” he said. “Who gets to decide what’s reasonable?”

“I do,” Sean said.

“That’s an easy call from five thousand miles away.”

“And an impossible one to make when you’re so close to the trees you can’t see the forest,” Sean said.

Danielle said, “What does he mean?”

“It means there’s a bigger picture to consider,” Sean said. “One wrong step from us and we’ve got a war on our hands.”

Unlike in books, movies, and television where spies moved at will in foreign territory, destroying property, shooting weapons, even killing people, in real life those were considered acts of war, and intelligence agencies were careful not to cross that line. Luke had already ventured to the other side with the attack on Site 6349. But there was deniability there and no way for the Russians to prove a thing.

Now he was headed back in.

No telling what would happen.

“Everybody take a breath,” Stephanie said. “Luke, what exactly are you asking for in support?”

“I’ll know when I need it.”

“And that’s when we’ll let you know if it’s doable,” Sean said. “Just know if this trip to get an old library book doesn’t pan out, you head straight to Red Star’s control station and do whatever it takes to shut the thing down.”

“That will be impossible without the particular book I need,” Mashir said.

“Explain that one some more,” Sean said.

“I have an encoded file,” Mashir said. “I transferred it from paper a long time ago. The codes are all there for the satellites’ basic functions.”

“And you don’t remember the unencrypted text?” Stephanie asked.

“There was a lot of code. Each Red Star was different. So no. I do not.”

But Luke wondered about that one. Surely Mashir was playing his whole card, knowing they had no choice then but to go after the book in the library.

“Mashir,” Sean said, “you said you know the station’s location?”

“It’s a few hundred miles east of Reka-31.”

“How big is this station?” Sean asked.

“Small. A radio tower on a hill with an equipment building to the side. All camouflaged.”

“Why don’t we just destroy it?” Sean asked.

“You could,” Mashir said. “It is certainly set to the right frequency to communicate an uplink. But the frequency could be redetermined. It would take time, but it could be done.”

“And anyone who does that still needs the codes?” Danielle asked.

“Correct.”

He saw the wisdom. Might as well use the station to self-destruct the satellite.

“This is insane,” Sean said. “How do we know any of this is true? Like Marcia said earlier, experts are split on whether the library of Ivan the Terrible even exists.”

“It does,” Mashir said.

“And you’re going to have to take him with you,” Sean said.

Luke said, “I know.” Which added another level of complexity to the whole endeavor.

“I will keep an eye on him,” Danielle made clear. “Close eye.”

“Do what you have to do,” Stephanie told him. “But this one is going to be extra tricky.”

“Tell me about it.”

And he ended the call.
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ILYA WAS NOT SURE IF HE’D MADE THE RIGHT DECISION OR NOT. HE’D opted to trust an unknown American to get him away from that dacha. Which worked. But had he traded one jail for another? He seemed to be involved with a number of American intelligence operatives who were determined to end Red Star. Which was not a bad thing. But he had to wonder, what did the other group after him want? To activate the satellite? Would they have been a better choice to help him retrieve the library?

Russians versus Americans?

Luke Daniels certainly appeared capable. The woman, Danielle, was another matter. She seemed on edge, anxious, ready for a fight but not sure exactly with whom or where. Their course seemed set. They were going back. Not a great prospect. He was out. Free. Away from them all. With Anton Khurtin’s money. Why not just stay out? The answer was simple. He had to retrieve the library. He owed that to his father, grandfather, and great-grandfather.

“I need to know more about your great-grandfather,” Daniels said. “My person was not able to find much, but what she did find says he never located the library and died in 1949.”

“My great-grandmother Ludmilla Mashir was Georgy Sheremetev’s mistress. They named their bastard child Anatoly.”

“Your grandfather?” Luke asked.

“Correct. Sheremetev never publicly acknowledged Anatoly, of course. That was not the way back then, especially considering he was married with other children. He was also an archaeologist of some renown, with a reputation, but he privately took care of both the child and Ludmilla. She was killed during the civil war when Anatoly was sixteen. Sheremetev took the boy in after that and raised him as his own.”

“How did he find the library?” Luke asked.

“In 1929 Stalin decided to raze the Ascension Convent. Out with religion, in with a new Red Army officers school he wanted to build on the site. Georgy took advantage of that opportunity to explore. He made several trips in and out until he finally found the catacombs. The Ascension Convent was called the Starodevichy Convent until 1817. The word starodevichy, old maiden, found its way into the lure of the library. There are references to it in historical accounts that mention the library. I suspect that is what drew Georgy to the site, hoping there was a connection. But getting inside the Ascension Convent before 1929 would have been impossible. It was sacred ground. Off limits.”

“What makes these books so special?” Danielle asked.

“They are one-of-a-kind manuscripts,” Mashir said. “We can only imagine what the entire library was like in the mid-sixteenth century. There were hundreds of volumes. But only thirty-two that survived. Priceless in value. But to a scholar, an academician, they are even more valuable. A rare opportunity to read something believed to no longer exist. These may be the rarest thirty-two books on the planet.”
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LUKE USED HIS PHONE TO GOOGLE THE WORDS ASCENSION CONVENT, trying to learn more. True, among those buried at the convent were Sophia Vitovtovna, the wife of Vasili I, Sophia Palaiologina, the wife of Ivan III, and several wives of Ivan the Terrible. Peter the Great renovated the convent in 1712. By 1907 it had a mother superior, sixty-two nuns, and forty-five lay sisters. But in 1929 the building was razed to the ground. The icons were moved to the State Tretyakov Gallery and the Kremlin museums. The tombs of the Muscovite royalty were transferred into an annex of the Cathedral of the Archangel, where they remained to this day. No mention anywhere of any catacombs or chambers beneath. Did Georgy Sheremetev find the library and the sarcophagi of Elena Glinskaya and Ivan the Terrible? The answer to that question depended 100 percent on the credibility of Ilya Mashir.

Like the old Jack tales.

They came from England, brought to the mountains of east Tennessee by settlers. His grandmother and grandfather, on both sides of the family, loved to tell them. About a boy named Jack, with brothers, Tom and Will, who made it their life’s mission to get the best of Jack. In every one Jack appeared lazy and foolish. But it was all a façade to hide his wit and trickery. Which allowed him to always come out on top. The stories were told throughout the Blue Ridge Mountains. He grew up in a time before the internet. Reading was the big thing in the Daniels house. Many evenings were spent on the porch listening to Jack tales. “Jack and the Varmints.” “Soldier Jack.” “Jack ’n’ the Beantree.” “Jack’s First Hunt.” “Jack and the Robbers.”

Stories.

Told as supposed fact.

Had he just listened to a Russian version?
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ILYA SAID, “I WON’T BORE YOU WITH THE DETAILS, BUT FROM 1929 onward my family dedicated themselves to keeping what remained of the library safe. Down through the Sheremetev line, beginning with Georgy, then his children Alexander and Catherine, to my grandfather Anatoly, to my father, then to me. None of us were ever Communist Party members. I was forced to join before being allowed to work on the space program, but I never believed. I did my best to keep the library safe. But eventually, the money dried up for me. So I turned to Khurtin. He is a big collector of artwork and artifacts. He keeps it all within his own private museum. That is what drew me to him. So I struck a bargain. My services for a big salary and a guarantee to protect what remains of the library. I considered it a stopgap measure until I could skim enough to trade for the library and disappear.”

“Why not just give it to a museum?” Daniels asked.

“Or university,” Danielle added. “Instead of making deal with devil.”

“There was a brief window during Aleksei Delov’s presidency where it might have been possible, when history was respected. But then came the rise of the oligarchs and Konstantin Franko. None of them care anything about Russian history. They are only concerned with themselves. The irony is everything ended up with an oligarch anyway. Thankfully, Khurtin is not one to sell what he collects.”

“Which book do we need to talk to Red Star?” Daniels asked.

“Cicero’s De re publica. The original manuscript is written in Latin. Ivan IV had it translated to Russian.”

Okay. “Where is that book and the rest of the library located?

“Not a good place,” Ilyar said. “It is in the sub-basement preservation room of the Oreshek Museum, about sixty kilometers outside St. Petersburg near the southern coast of the Gulf of Finland. The site belongs to Anton Khurtin. The upper floors are for the public to see. The sub-basement is where he keeps his private treasures, including Ivan IV’s library.”

“How sure are you the books are still there?” Daniels asked.

“I saw them there three months ago.”

“Can you handle this?” Danielle asked him. “Your body is old.”

“I am ready. Besides, you have little choice. Only I know where the library is and only I can work the cipher.”
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GULF OF FINLAND — 4:40 A.M.

LUKE DIDN’T KNOW FOR SURE WHETHER THE BOAT THEY’D BOARDED OFF the coast of Kotka was a real working fishing trawler or whether its captain and deckhand were CIA, Finnish Security and Intelligence Service, or simply contractors hired to transport them across the gulf.

Not that it mattered.

The captain seemed to know not only the area, but also the routes and times of the vessels that prowled the waters. Outside the Gulf of Finland Reporting Channel, which served as an international water passage for inbound and outbound maritime traffic, the gulf was patrolled by Finnish, Estonian, and Russian warships.

Sean Fernando had arranged the trip, opting for a water entry instead of driving back into Russia over land. They’d managed a few hours’ rest and had eaten a meal that had been delivered by the embassy. Mashir was lying down belowdeck, not a fan of boats. Luke and Danielle had found a spot on the afterdeck where they could watch the stars passing overhead, dawn not far away. The boat’s engine was surprisingly quiet, further reinforcing his suspicion that the trawler and her crew did less fishing and more sneaking and peeking. Everyone in the region, the Finnish SIS especially, had good reason to keep a close eye on Franko’s Russia.

Out on the water, from the darkness, came the clang of buoys and the occasional moan of a ship’s horn. Astern, the rapidly dwindling lights of Finland’s coastline winked back at them.

Danielle blew the steam off her coffee mug and took a sip. Her nose wrinkled. “That is awful.”

“Sailor’s coffee,” he said. “It’s an acquired taste.”

They were silent for a few minutes.

“They’re not going to pay for it, are they?” she murmured, staring into the darkness.

He knew what she meant.

“For what they did to John. They get away with it.”

There was no good reply.

Yet who was to blame? The Russian agents who first captured John? The apparatchik who sent him to Site 6439? The guards who brutalized him? Or Konstantin Franko himself, for Russia’s reversion into a Cold War police state? No. Most likely, nobody would pay for what happened to John. Not specifically, at least. Maybe through karma, if you believed in that sort of thing, but he knew that wouldn’t be enough for Danielle. Or for him either. The truth was, sometimes outcomes just sucked.

“It not fair or right,” she said.

Life was neither. Good people sometimes died and bad people lived. Thinking too hard about the why of it all could drive you crazy. He sipped his own coffee. She was right. It was awful.

“How do you come to be okay with not winning?” she finally asked.

“Practice.”

“That does not sound good.”

“Would you rather I lie?”

“I suppose no,” she said.

Truth be told, he hated losing. His job was to win. But sometimes the outcomes were uncontrollable. “Are you going to let it go?”

“No.”

Firm. To the point.

“I need your head in the game.”

“It is.”

“You understand you don’t have to be a part of what I’m about to do. It’s an American operation. You can walk away.”

“Why would I do that?”

“Exactly. This is not a revenge mission.”

She stared up at the late-night sky. “Up there is bomb that can kill them all.”

She seemed to like that possibility.

“I think the man on the call, Sean, is right. The party congress has everyone in the right place.”

He agreed. It seemed likely that was what Aleksei Delov had in mind. But tens of thousands of other innocent people would also die. A prospect that she seemed not to mind.

“I loved him,” she said.

He knew it hurt. How could it not.

“And I watched him die.”

He had to know. “You going to be okay?”

“I do not know.”

That was about as good as he was going to get.

So he let it go.

“How long until we arrive?” she asked.

“Two hours, give or take.”

“I am going to get more sleep.”

She tossed the dregs of her coffee over the gunwale and walked away.

Just before sunrise the trawler dropped anchor in a sheltered cove a few miles down the coast from Koskolova, near a fish processing plant.

“Better get a move on,” the captain told them, as a deckhand lowered an inflatable raft over the side. “Our identifier is pinging us as a Russian trawler ID, but that won’t hold up if their coast guard gets nosy.”

Clearly, this guy had done this before. The captain looked old enough to have lived through the tail end of the Cold War. Who knew how many agents he’d landed in this spot over the years. Knowing how efficient and ruthless the KGB was back then, he imagined that fewer had been picked up than dropped off.

“Thanks for the ride.”

And he shook the captain’s hand.

Then he sat on the gunwale and lowered himself into the bobbing raft, helping Danielle and Mashir aboard. The older Russian toted his backpack with the laptops and pills, insisting that all three would be needed.

“Sink the raft once you’re ashore,” the captain said.

They drifted away.

Luke waited until the trawler disappeared into the darkness, then started the electric motor and headed toward shore. A few minutes later the raft’s keel scraped sand and came to a stop. Danielle and Mashir climbed out. He used his pocketknife to slit open one of the side walls. He then revved the engine, set the throttle lock, and watched the raft head for open water. It got a quarter mile before disappearing beneath the surface.

He checked his watch.

“Let’s find our transportation.”
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LUKE KEPT THEM ON THE BEACH, AND THEY COVERED THE THREE MILES to Koskolova in short order. As promised by Marcia, a black Lada Granta with St. Petersburg plates waited in the parking lot of a roadside campground. They watched from a screen of trees across the road until he was satisfied the car wasn’t under surveillance, then walked over and climbed in. Danielle slipped in the driver’s seat and started the engine.

“You navigate,” she told him. “Where to?”

“Oreshek Museum,” Ilya offered from the backseat.

Luke studied his map for a minute. “We’re back in Khurtin’s territory, so we’d best give St. Petersburg a wide berth. Head south. It’s about 110 kilometers away.”

Out of an abundance of caution Luke took them to the A-118, a ring road that followed the outskirts of St. Petersburg before picking up a highway that took them east toward the River Neva. The drive was long and dull with only a couple of stops. One for food, the other for a bathroom. Once on the west bank they followed signs for Shlisselburgskaya—the City of Shlisselburg—finally arriving two hours after they left Koskolova.

It wasn’t so much a city as a three-hundred-acre settlement sitting on a rounded peninsula jutting into the Neva-Ladoga estuary. Lots of small fieldstone buildings with few windows and battered tile roofs. Low stone walls lined many of the paths. An Orthodox church, a white-painted wooden structure with a single steeple, centered the town. The whole place seemed tired, the structures like crumbling skeletons, merely hinting at what once had been. Danielle followed side streets until turning into a ferry terminal parking lot. As best Luke could tell this was the only way to reach Oreshek Island.

Officially, at least.

They climbed out.

Where the skies over Koskolova had been gray and swollen with rain, the weather here on Lake Ladoga was clear and bright, with only a few cotton puff clouds on the horizon. The sun reflected sharply off the lake’s surface, slightly chopped by a brisk wind.

Danielle zipped up her coat and shivered.

He agreed. The air carried a bite.

“Follow me,” Mashir said. “I know the best vantage point.”

They walked north along the road, near the shore.

“If Khurtin gets his way,” Mashir said, “this will be gone in five years. All torn down and replaced by a marina, a members-only sailing club, and condominiums.”

“What do the locals think of that?” Danielle asked.

“They’re unhappy, but what can they do? Their choice is be forced out by murder or arson or take Khurtin’s buyout offer and find new homes.”

They turned onto a dirt path.

To their right sat rows of shabby houses with overgrown front yards. To the left was an inlet roughly a hundred yards across and on the other side another row of structures, those little more than lean-to cabins with tin roofs and canvas walls. A far cry from luxury condos.

“Trushchoby,” Mashir said. “‘Slum’ is probably the closest English translation.”

Which fit. Sadly.

They reached a footbridge spanning the narrowest part of the Novo Ladozhskiy Canal then picked their way through the shantytown to a narrow beach overlooking the lake. Directly across the water from them sat Oreshek Island. Maybe a quarter mile long and about half that wide, its circumference was ringed by a thirty-foot-tall wall of ocher stone, recently cleaned, and so well fitted the façade appeared like one piece. Water swirled against the stone bulwarks like an ancient hulk pressing through the surface.

“Shlisselburg Fortress,” Mashir said. “Once an imperial prison. The Soviets made it a museum of the October Revolution. The Germans tried to take it in the Great Patriotic War but failed. They did manage to destroy most of it with artillery fire. It was renovated some after the war. Khurtin bought it ten years ago. He spent a hundred million euros on renovations. And that’s not counting the contents. See the red-domed towers at each corner. Several of those had fallen into the sea. He had them rebuilt using as much of the original stone as possible.”

Luke’s Ranger-trained brain engaged as he continued studying the island, picking out blind spots and likely infiltration points, as well as gauging the estuary’s currents. “How cold is the water?”

“I have never seen anyone swimming here, if that gives you a clue. There is a drop-off between here and the island, so it will be colder there than the shallows.”

“Why not take last ferry of the day,” Danielle said. “Then hide and wait for place to clear?”

“There are overnight security patrols,” Mashir said. “And they do a head count of passengers. The last time I was there one of the visitors disappeared. They delayed our ferry for an hour before he was found.”

Lights burned in some of the windows, which were too small and too high to allow in much sun.

“Tell me about the night duty staff,” Luke said.

“Ten, maybe twelve guards, all armed. Serious types from a security company Khurtin employs.”

“So probably ex-military,” Luke said. “Surveillance systems? Alarms?”

“I have seen cameras in the courtyard, but I do not know about alarms. Khurtin likes to brag that nobody would dare to steal from him. The lower rooms have biometric access doors.”

“As in fingerprint readers?” Danielle asked.

Mashir nodded. “And facial recognition. Same with Khurtin’s private gallery, which is next door to the preservation room.”

“Do your biometrics work?” Luke asked.

“They did. We will find out if they still do. If they do not, the guard commander will have bypass access keys.”

Luke hoped it didn’t come to that. Ideally they’d get in and out without the guards even knowing they’d been there. Then again, what was the saying?

The best-laid plans—

He pointed. “See that tower on the island’s far northeast corner?”

“It’s called the King’s Tower, or Naryshkin Tower. I have been up there. It offers the best view of the lake.”

“Tell me about the terrain below it. Vegetation, slope, how far from the waterline to the wall?”

“Shrubs, trees, a pretty steep grade until you get within ten meters of the wall. There is a short cliff at the waterline. A meter maybe high.”

“Searchlights?”

“Just decorative landscape spotlights that shine on the wall.”

Danielle said, “What are you thinking?”

“The back side of the island screens us from shore. The only way we’d get spotted is from vessels on the lake.”

“We’d need a boat.”

“I think I can help with that,” Mashir said.

They wandered back the way they came. At the far end of the canal Mashir stopped at a cabin and knocked on the wood door. A man with a wind-worn face and chest-length beard poked his head out, a knife clenched in one fist, fish in the other. His expression transformed from irritation, to surprise, to joy.

The two men warmly greeted each other.

Apparently they were not strangers.

They had a quick conversation in Russian, which Danielle followed. He knew enough to keep his mouth shut. Finally, each man nodded at the other, and they said their goodbyes.

Mashir faced them. “Lev and I became friends when I was assigned here for a while. I just made a deal for us to rent his small fishing boat for the evening. Twenty thousand rubles. I told him we would return it by dawn.”

Luke liked what he was hearing. About $200. “We can handle that. I have the money in the car.”

“Of course,” Mashir said, “if we break it—”

“I know. We buy it.”
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EDMON’S PATIENCE HAD PAID OFF.

He’d opted to stay on the peninsula and see what happened with Mashir’s laptops. Sure enough, they began to move. Coming from Finland across the bay and landing near Koskolova. Then the tracker had recorded them heading to Shlisselburg. They had followed at a discreet distance, getting no closer than a few kilometers.

Now they were parked about a kilometer away.

“That fortress out there on the island,” Dominick said, “is Anton Khurtin’s attempt at being respectable. He bought the whole thing, renovated it, got the United Nations to stamp UNESCO protection, then opened a museum of Russian history.”

He was impressed. “You know a lot about this.”

“I have been inside. It is interesting.”

“There is nothing in Shlisselburg, except that fortress on the lake,” he muttered.

Was the American going out there?

And was that not foolish, considering what had happened at the dacha? Khurtin surely knew all about it now. The good part was Khurtin had no idea who made it happen, why it happened, or whether Mashir was dead or alive. The dacha lay in ashes, full of burned bodies. They’d set fire to it before leaving and made sure there was plenty of accelerant.

“They are here for a reason,” he said. “We shall sit, wait, and find out what that is.”

He paused.

“Before we act.”







75.

LUKE WOULD HAVE PREFERRED TO TREAT THEIR FORAY TO ORESHEK Island as he would any Ranger operation. They were infiltrating an isolated and guarded installation with a limited approach route. He’d dismissed the idea of playing tourist, secreting themselves on the museum grounds until after closing time. Instead they would make their own way to the island, after dark. To formulate that plan he turned to the history of Oreshek Island. Mashir had told him some, but he needed to know more.

Were there any chinks in the armor they might exploit?

To find the answers he used his phone.

The fortress, originally named Oreshek and built entirely of wood, was nearly seven hundred years old. It started out not only as an outpost for the Republic of Novgorod, one of modern Russia’s oldest cities, but also a gateway between the Baltic Sea and Russia’s northern reaches. Over time, as the island changed hands between Russia and Sweden, the walls were reinforced by stone, the corner towers widened and increased, the shoreline steepened to make direct assault landings more daunting.

In 1348, two decades after the fortress’ creation, the Swedes attacked and briefly took the fortress but lost it three years later. In 1554 the Swedes tried again during the Russo-Swedish War only to be driven away. They tried again thirty years later and failed then too. In 1611 the Swedes finally got it right, capturing Oreshek after a nine-month siege. Half a century later Tsar Alexei Mikhailovich decided it was time to eject them and laid siege to the island for five months before giving up. A hundred years later Peter the Great put an end to the Swedish occupation. For reasons lost to history Peter decided against re-adopting the name Oreshek, opting instead for Shlisselburg, a German word meaning “key fortress.”

Almost immediately the site went from military stronghold to tsarist political prison for hardened criminals, insubordinate soldiers, and anti-monarchist troublemakers. After the Russian Revolution all the inmates were released and the wooden parts of the fortress set ablaze. The island sat forgotten until 1928 when it was partially reconstructed to serve as a branch of Leningrad Museum of the Revolution. For most of the Soviet era Shlisselburg lay neglected save for occasional halfhearted attempts to excavate and restore it, endeavors that sporadically gained and lost momentum.

“And then along came Anton Khurtin,” Mashir said.

“Oligarch, mob boss, and would-be cultural heritage benefactor,” Luke added.

“How much in stolen art and artifacts does Khurtin have hidden there?” Danielle asked.

“Billions of rubles’ worth. Many, many pieces. The government allows it because he opens part of it to the public.”

They’d retreated out of Shlisselburg, far enough away to not be noticed, so as to regroup and think things through, parking in an empty lot for a closed business. Thankfully, there was mobile phone service in the area.

“I helped Khurtin with some of the renovations,” Mashir said. “A few years back. I think I know some information that might help us. Can I use your phone?”

He handed the unit over.

Mashir tapped the screen, then showed him the phone. “St. Petersburg University’s library archive portal. A book. Novgorod History: Pre-Muscovy to Revolution. I studied this text a few years ago for the renovations. According to the author Naryshkin Tower, the one I pointed out on the island’s back side, is rumored to have a secret underground entrance built during the Ingrian War. One of the Oreshek defenders, a teenager named Fyodor, was the son of Prince Ivan Vorotynsky. The garrison commander was keen to smuggle Fyodor out of the fortress, lest he fall into the hands of the Swedes. There is a tunnel known as the Prince’s Passage.”

“Did they get the kid out?” Luke asked.

“Apparently so. Fyodor’s date of death is listed as 1752, in Moscow, of natural causes.”

Danielle asked, “Is anything original left of Naryshkin Tower?”

Mashir nodded. “It and Golovkin Tower survived. Khurtin restored both of them. I have been inside Naryshkin. There is a trapdoor set into the stone floor that is padlocked.”

Luke was intrigued.

“So there could be something down there,” Danielle said.

But was it a secret exit tunnel?

“Let’s hope so,” he said. “Otherwise we’ll have to sneak through the boat landing’s tourist gate, and that will not be easy.”
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LUKE CHECKED HIS WATCH.

11:05 P.M.

He, Danielle, and Mashir had made their way back to Novo Ladozhskiy Canal. They’d spent the past few hours gathering a few supplies, having a meal, and planning their assault. They found Ilya’s friend from earlier on the beach, sitting before a small pit fire in the sand. He and Mashir spoke for a moment.

“He says that the last group left Oreshek Island at 6:00 P.M.,” Mashir said.

Luke handed over the twenty thousand rubles. “Ask if he’s seen any boat traffic out there?”

Mashir did, then said, “Not since dusk.”

“Anyone walking the battlements?”

More chatter.

“Not that he could see,” Mashir noted.

On the island the red stone walls of the fortress were lit by ground-level spotlights. Shining from each tower’s cupola was a yellow light, and dotted along the crenellated battlements were what looked like flickering candle lanterns. The lake water between the beach and the fortress loomed flat calm. The island’s lights cast stripes of white on the mirrored surface. Their “boat” was nothing more than a dinghy with two benches and oars for power. More than sufficient, he assumed, for the fishing around here.

He slipped the backpack off his shoulders. “I’ll man the oars.”

As the crow flew it was a mere six hundred yards to the island, but—wary of being spotted by a stray guard—Luke gave it a wide berth, heading northeast for almost a mile before turning west. Another twenty minutes of rowing brought them to the rear side. Ahead and to their left and right were the Golovkin and Naryshkin Towers.

Luke let the boat coast to a stop.

Danielle scanned the shoreline. “All looks quiet.”

“To my knowledge the guards aren’t particularly worried about amphibious assault,” Mashir said. “They’re more concerned with the museum. Khurtin is extremely paranoid about his collection.”

Luke started rowing again and soon the boat’s keel scraped sand. He and Danielle dragged the boat up the beach and tucked it beneath a tree beside a short stone wall.

Luke said to Mashir, “You’re on.”

Given Mashir’s familiarity with the fortress and the Naryshkin Tower specifically, he figured the engineer would give them the best chance of finding the secret entrance.

If it actually existed.

With a boost from Luke, Ilya got atop the wall then helped Luke and Danielle up. He led them to the fortress’ main battlement wall, then down its length to the rounded, protruding base of Naryshkin Tower.

Mashir paused to look around, then pointed. “If a tunnel exists it’d be set into the short wall down there. Give or take ten meters. Unless they dug it down to the waterline, then who knows.”

“You mean it could be underwater?” Danielle asked.

“Maybe. We’re talking about three centuries ago. Who knows where the lake’s surface was then.”

Luke hopped down the wall, followed by Danielle. Mashir stayed on top. With hands cupped over their flashlight beams they walked, then crouched over along the wall looking for any sign of an entrance.

Danielle let out a soft whistle.

Luke joined her at the far end of the wall where it sloped down to the beach. Water lapped at their feet. She pointed to a vertical fissure between two of the flagstones. Luke leaned closer and shined his beam through the gap, revealing a small open space.

“I can’t see more than a few feet.”

Above them Mashir whispered, “It could just be an erosion cave.”

“Or the Prince’s Passage,” Danielle said.

Luke squeezed his hand into the fissure until his fingers found the back side of the stone. He pulled gently. With a grating sound the stone loosened. He adjusted his grip and tried again. The stone came free and thudded to the ground at his feet. He peered through the opening and panned his flashlight.

“It goes back a way. The water’s about waist-deep.”

“Fantastic,” she muttered.

“Not a fan of enclosed spaces?”

“Not drowning in them, no.”

“You can wait here if you want.”

“Not on your life.”

“You up for this?” Luke asked Mashir.

“I will have to be. Otherwise you will not get into the right room.”

Mashir came down to them. He and Danielle quietly removed more stones from the wall until they had an opening big enough to crawl through. Luke wiggled through first, followed by Mashir, then Danielle. The alcove was tall enough to stand hunched over. He realized the floor beneath their feet was lined with stone. Similarly, the ceiling was of an arched keystone design. The water sloshing at their waist was ice-cold.

“They built this tunnel correctly,” Mashir said.

“The fortress siege lasted nine months,” Luke replied. “They had time on their hands. Let’s keep going. Step carefully. No talking from here on. Sound will carry here.”

He led and they headed deeper into the tunnel, which steadily sloped downward until the cold water reached their chests. When the water rose to shoulder height he felt the stone floor level out then cant upward, first gently, then steeply. His foot bumped against something hard. A step. Then another. A stairwell. He shined his flashlight upward and counted twenty rough-hewn stone steps rising to a landing.

He turned to Mashir and Danielle and gestured toward the risers.

Six steps up the water dropped to their ankles. A few more and they were on dry stone. At the landing the steps switched back on themselves and continued upward to a second landing and a ceiling that forced them into a crouch.

Above their head was a wooden trapdoor.

Faint light seeped through the boards. The hatch was new, certainly not three hundred years old. Clearly at some point someone had found the Prince’s Passage, whether an archaeological team or construction workers Luke didn’t know. He doused his flashlight, as did Danielle and Mashir. He removed from his backpack the tire jack he’d taken from their car. He’d thought it might come in handy. He applied gentle pressure on the boards and found one looser than the others, so he nestled the jack’s curved end against the wood and slowly pressed upward until the board splintered near the edge. He stopped, went still, and waited to see if the sound had attracted any attention from above. Satisfied it had not, he repeated the process until he was able to stick his hand through the opening and wedge the tip of the crowbar under the padlock hasp. Another two minutes of prying and the hasp popped free.

Again he paused and listened.

Nothing.

He whispered to Mashir, “From here on, you’re in the lead.”

“I do not know if that—”

“You know this place better than we do. Just focus on getting us where we need to go. Danielle and I will watch for guards.”

The old man nodded.

Luke wasn’t as confident as he sounded. If spotted he would have only seconds to react. One raised alarm and their chance to reach the library was over. Even worse, they would be right in the hands of Anton Khurtin.

He pressed his palm against the trapdoor, pushed it halfway open, then stood up and eased it back onto the floor. He climbed through. Danielle and Mashir followed. He stepped over to the tower’s entrance arch.

The museum grounds lay before them.

The courtyard was dominated by a lush green lawn and flower bed crisscrossed with crushed white gravel pathways. In between those and along each wall were the fortress’ reconstructed and revamped buildings, all spotlit from below in the same fashion as the exterior walls. For a criminal Anton Khurtin had a showman’s sensibilities. The buildings, which once ranged from barracks and kitchens to munition vaults and supply stores, had been returned to their original white-walled, red-roofed condition. Windows were covered in black wrought-iron bars. Interspersed between them were bronze plaques set upon granite plinths, each one describing, he guessed, Shlisselburg’s long and legendary history.

Mashir pointed across the expanse.

“That’s the museum.”
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LUKE COULD SEE THAT IT WAS HARD TO MISS.

The massive, two-story, octagon-shaped building dominated the courtyard’s center. Like the rest of the buildings, the museum was red-on-white. While the first floor was windowless, the second story held a series of floor-to-ceiling windows that enveloped the structure’s circumference.

“Khurtin’s private museum is in the basement,” Mashir whispered. “Accessible only through the security office. The building there, to the left, without windows. There is an underground passage.”

Luke counted four guards in sight, each one strolling the pathways, two near the guest entrance, the other two closer. Occasionally one would walk across the grass and shine a flashlight through a window before moving on. One turned down the nearest path and headed their way, toward the Naryshkin Tower.

“Back,” he whispered, motioning.

Danielle and Mashir climbed through the trapdoor. He closed it behind them, then arranged the padlock hasp so it hopefully appeared secured. Outside, the guard’s footsteps crunched on gravel. Luke hurried to the arch and pressed himself against the wall. The guard stepped through the entrance, within arm’s reach. Luke raised his crowbar. The guard’s flashlight swept across the floor, over the hatch, then continued on.

The beam stopped.

And swept back, refocused on the hatch.

A moment of study, then the guard freed a portable radio from his belt and headed toward the trapdoor, kneeling beside it. Luke advanced in two quick steps. His shoe scuffed the stone floor. The guard spun around, but too late. The crowbar caught him behind the ear and the man slumped forward onto the trapdoor. He hoped he hadn’t killed the guy.

“Stay put and quiet,” he whispered to Danielle and Mashir, then he backtracked to the door and checked to see if the commotion had attracted any attention.

Nope.

All the guards were where they should be.

He returned to the fallen man and checked his pulse. Strong and steady. Good. A small laceration beneath the ear dribbled blood but Luke felt nothing broken beneath the skin. Crowbars weren’t exactly subtle tools, and he wasn’t keen on killing a guy who was just trying to do his job. He rolled the man onto his side, frisked him for his magnetic strip ID badge, then stopped. He and this guy looked to be about the same size. A uniform might make crossing the courtyard much easier. What had MacArthur said?

There is no security on this earth. There is only opportunity.

He stripped the man’s shirt and pants but skipped the shoes as they were clearly too small, then changed into the new clothes, stuffing his own in the backpack.

He lifted the hatch. “Danielle, help me with this guy.”

Together they lowered the guard into the tunnel. There was nothing to tie the man up with, but he’d be out awhile.

Hopefully, long enough.

Luke returned the hatch to its original position.

Mashir studied Luke’s outfit. “At a distance it will do, but all the guards know one another, so be careful.”

One of the not-so-secrets to covert operations was observation. In this case Luke needed to see the roving guards in action. Did they stick to the same routes at roughly the same intervals? Were some more curious or diligent than others? Who looked lazy or tired or distracted? His training and experience had taught him to spot chinks in security armor.

Fifteen minutes of observation revealed a clear pattern. Six guards on patrol, minus the one he’d knocked out, and at any given time one passed in close proximity to the security office on the other side of the museum. The next guard, the one he’d dubbed the spotter, came along about ninety seconds later. Luke estimated he had another thirty seconds before he was recognized as an intruder. It didn’t really matter, though. Their only chance of reaching the library was through the security office. He briefly outlined his plan and got nods from both Danielle and Mashir.

“That key card will get you in the outside door,” Mashir said. “But there will be a guard right inside. You will have to be quick.”

“Quick is my middle name.”

Luke watched until the guard closest to them made a pass along the museum’s west wall and headed down the gravel path. The moment his back was turned, Luke started counting seconds.

Ninety. Eighty-nine. Eighty-eight.

He stepped out, trotted on flat feet along the wall, leaped over the gravel path onto the lawn, then headed toward the museum. He glanced over his shoulder to ensure Danielle and Mashir were still with him, then followed the contour of the museum’s curved wall until he could see down the next gravel path. A couple hundred yards away the spotter was headed their way, shining his flashlight over the nearest buildings.

The security office was fifty feet ahead.

Ready? he mouthed.

Danielle nodded.

Together Luke and Mashir stepped out into the darkness, with the old man glued to his right side. Halfway to the security office Luke raised his hand to the spotter and got a wave in return.

“Now,” Luke whispered.

Mashir called out in Russian, “Give barracks two a quick pass, will you?”

The spotter did not immediately reply and the silence stretched out. Finally, the spotter turned left and headed across the lawn toward the barracks. Luke gestured for Danielle to follow. She was carrying Luke’s backpack and fell in beside Mashir.

They reached the security office door.

Luke didn’t hesitate.

He swiped the card in the magnetic lock. A click and a green light came in return. The door swung open and they stepped through. To his right, movement. He turned and saw a guard leaning over a desk below a bank of cameras. Luke was on him before the guy could get out a word, catching him on the chin with a tight hook that dropped the man onto the desk. Luke caught him, then lowered the limp body to the ground.

“Block that door,” he told Danielle.

She slid a nearby steel filing cabinet against the door, then another one for good measure.

He scanned the room.

The security office was small, roughly twenty feet long by ten feet wide, most of it dominated by the desk on which sat a laptop, digital recorders, what looked like a lighted alarm system panel, and the wall-mounted array of six TV monitors.

“Take a look at the recording system,” he said to Mashir. “If we’re on camera, erase it.”

Mashir leaned over the laptop and started tapping keys. At the far end of the room a short stairwell led down to a landing and a steel door. A key card lock was attached to the wall, like the one on the exterior door, save for one difference, a protruding camera lens.

“Is that on?” he asked Mashir.

“Only when a card is swiped. Okay, the video log is deleted for the last thirty minutes and it will not record for another hour.”

“That should be enough. Danielle, you set?”

“They will be able to force themselves in, but it will take some time.”

Luke noticed she’d stacked a pyramid of coffee mugs atop each filing cabinet as an early warning system. “Not your first rodeo, I see.”

She smiled.

He turned to Mashir. “Okay, do your thing.”

They were about to find out if the old man’s face had been put on the no-fly list.
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EDMON CROSSED THE FOOTBRIDGE OVER THE NOVO LADOZHSKIY CANAL. TO his right Dominik gave him a wave from the beach. When Edmon approached he saw that Dominik stood near a man sitting on the sand.

“A couple of locals say three strangers were down here about an hour ago,” Dominik said. “This man was with them.”

“Have you talked to him?” added Edmon.

“If you can call it that. He keeps saying his boat was stolen. That is all he knows. Stolen.”

Edmon crouched down. “Your name?”

No reply.

“You have nothing to fear from me.”

“Your man there was not kind.”

“I am sorry about that. Dominik, you should apologize.”

He realized that his old friend knew he wasn’t angry. All part of the act to get the job done.

“Please, kind sir,” Dominik said. “I am sorry if I hurt you.”

“See, he is sorry. So tell me your name.”

“Valentin.”

No surname. And he had no way of knowing if the name was true or not. Okay. He’d allow him that privacy. “You live here?”

“All my life.”

“You ever see Anton Khurtin?”

Valentin let out a guffaw. “Stupid question. Of course, he owns this town.”

“He is a criminal.”

“Sure he is, but he spends money here. Things have become better. It is more than Moscow does for us.”

A sentiment that many across Russia would echo. Hence why the oligarchs and mobsters were tolerated. They took care of the people.

He pulled a wad of rubles from his pocket, counted out a number of them, and held them before Valentin’s face. “I need some information. What do you say?”

The older man’s eyes were locked on the money.

“Tell me about the people who stole your boat. What they looked like. Where they were headed.” He had a feeling that no theft had occurred. Then he sensed something. “You know one of them?”

“I do. A friend.”

He played a hunch. “Ilya Mashir?”

Valentin nodded.

“This is not a betrayal. I merely want to stop Mashir from doing something that might bring him harm.”

Valentin held out his hand and Edmon laid the money in it.

“They went to Oreshek.”

“Why?”

“They did not say.”

Edmon threw him a hard stare. “Are you lying to me?”

“Why would they tell me? I have a boat, they wanted a boat.”

“Anything else?”

“He said they would have the boat back by sunrise. That is all I know.”

Edmon patted Valentin on the shoulder. “Take the money and do not talk to anyone about this. If you do, I will be back. Without money.”

He saw the older man understood.

Valentin climbed to his feet and sprinted off into the darkness.

He stepped over to Dominik and pointed to the dark water. “They went out there. To the island fortress.”

But the question was, why?

“Let’s go get them,” Dominik said.

“No. We will allow them to come to us.”
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ILYA APPROACHED THE KEY CARD READER AND SWIPED HIS OLD BADGE. Luke and Danielle stood on the steps behind him. Three long seconds passed. Above the reader a green LED lit up. He centered his face with the camera. The green light flashed red.

Not good.

“What now?” Danielle whispered.

“I get three attempts,” he said.

“Then what?”

“Try again,” Luke said.

He swiped his card again. Another red flash.

“Preservation vault, this is Control. Vadim, is that you trying the door?” The female voice came through the speaker on the desk above them. Ilya raised his badge for another attempt.

Luke shook his head. “Go to the desk and answer.”

Danielle grabbed his elbow and walked him back up the steps to the desk. Luke followed. She found the REPLY button on the security console. “Stand back half a meter or so. Do your best.”

“Tell her your badge isn’t reading,” Luke said.

Danielle pressed the button and nodded. He recited what Luke had suggested he say.

“Hold on?” the voice said through the speaker. “I am sending someone.”

Luke drew a pistol and sidestepped to the door’s hinge side. “You two hide.”

A moment later the door’s electronic bolt opened with a thunk and a figure stepped into view. Luke pressed the gun to the woman’s skull.

Danielle spoke to her in Russian. “I told her that if she moves, you shoot.”

Luke nudged the barrel of the gun into her hair to emphasize the point. Danielle stepped over, grabbed the guard, and spun her to the floor. Luke peeked around the door to ensure no one else was in view, shut it, then knelt down beside the guard, who started talking.

“Hey,” Luke growled. “Eyes on me.”

The American motioned with two fingers, indicating she needed to pay attention to him.

“No one has died so far tonight, and I’m keen to keep up the streak. You get my meaning?” Luke said.

Danielle translated and the guard nodded her understanding.

“Tell her we’re going to have a conversation.” For emphasis Luke tapped the gun against the floor beside her face. “And I want the truth.”

Danielle complied and they started a back-and-forth.

“Artifacts and art are not worth dying for,” Luke said. “I know who owns this place. But he’s not your problem now. I am.”

The guard nodded.

“How many guards on the other side of that door.”

“One.”

“Is he armed?”

“There is a shotgun mounted on a wall at the bottom of the steps.”

“Any panic buttons down there?”

“Two. One on the north wall, one on the south.”

“Does that guard have any way to contact the outside?”

“A cell phone.”

“Radio?”

“Only goes to the guards on site.”

“We’re going to tie you up. You think a few bruises might keep you out of trouble with Voldemort?”

Danielle gave Luke a strange look, but Ilya knew exactly who he was referring to. He was a Harry Potter fan too.

“Khurtin,” Luke said.

“It might.”

Danielle punched the woman in the face. Then again. She then drew her leg back to kick her in the belly. Luke stepped in between them. Danielle’s face was flushed, her eyes hard.

Luke grabbed her right arm and stopped the beating, “What the hell are you doing? Bruises. Not internal bleeding.”

Danielle pointed at the woman, who’d curled herself into a ball, in pain. “These people. They—”

“They what?”

“They killed John.”

“These people didn’t do any of that.”

“They are all the same. All of them.”

She’d lost control, trying to free her arm from Luke’s grasp.

“I get it,” Luke said. “Losing John was a gut punch, but this is about Red Star now. If I can’t count on you our chances of getting this job done are about zero.” The American leveled a finger at her. “Get. It. Together. Focus. Payback comes later.”

“When?”

“After we finish what John started.”

“Promise me.”

“I can’t do that. It’d be a lie. But I will try to make it happen.”

“I hate them too,” Ilya said.

They both glared at him.

“They all bring nothing but misery. They ruin my life and force me to do things I would have never done.”

“Are you losing it too?” Luke asked.

He said nothing.

“Both of you take a breath,” Luke said. “Pull yourselves together.”

Danielle wrestled free and raised her hands. “I am good. Sorry.”

“Don’t be sorry. Do better.” Then Luke faced him. “How about you?”

He knew what to say and nodded. “I am good.”

“Okay. We’re going inside. Once I deal with the guard, you’re on Ilya.”

“I am ready.”

It was easy to read the younger man’s thoughts. Things were unraveling. The goal? Bring them back together. Like the end of Zenit and Red Star, when it all fell apart. A finely oiled machine devolved into a disaster.

And no one could put it back together.

“Ilya, are you with us?” Luke said.

His eyes focused on the American.

“You want your library?” Luke asked. “Tell me you’re ready.”

He grabbed hold of reality.

“I am.”







80.

LUKE USED THE FEMALE GUARD’S BADGE AND FACE TO REOPEN THE preservation room door. He eased it open then used a strip of the duct tape bought earlier to pin the dead bolt open. He tossed the roll to Danielle who used it to bind and gag the guard, who was still in pain.

“Your job is to keep Mashir safe,” he whispered to her. “I’ll clear the room, then call you in.”

“I can help.”

“Do what I ask,” he said. “Please.”

Their mission might survive losing either him or Danielle, but not Mashir. Only he knew how to use the right book to control Red Star. Even more important, Mashir knew the location of Red Star’s control station.

“Shut this behind me,” Luke said.

He sucked a breath. Getting trapped down here would be a bad, bad thing. Pistol raised, he swung open the door and stepped through. A guard was there, cradling an automatic rifle, at the base of the stairs. Had the guy heard Danielle’s thrashing in the control room? Or was he simply just doing his job on patrol?

Didn’t matter.

“Hey,” he said.

The guard froze, eyeing Luke and the gun, the automatic rifle cradled at the chest. Surely the uniform Luke wore was causing some momentary confusion. His right hand lay on the trigger, but he’d never get the weapon raised before taking a round himself. He caught the tension in the man’s shoulders, the darting of his eyes left and right. Calculating his chances?

Maybe.

Luke shook his head, indicating it was a bad idea.

The guard spun on his heels and darted around the corner.

Really?

He hustled down the stairs, paused at the corner, and peeked around it. A blast of automatic weapons fire tore into the wall beside his head. He jerked back. So much for stealth. But they were belowground. And the guy was close. No more than twenty feet away. He listened for sounds of either a radio or phone call but heard nothing.

He grabbed his bearings.

Above him, wrapping around a rectangular space, maybe fifteen hundred square feet or so, was a walkway made of blond wood and bordered by ornate black railing. The wall side of the walkway was dominated by artifacts and artwork set into cubbies lit by angled halogen lights. He caught the faint strains of classical music coming through hidden speakers. To his right a spiral staircase descended through an opening in the hardwood floor. Leading to, he assumed, the preservation clean rooms where the library was supposed to be. The mystery was what lay around the corner he was using as cover. It seemed to lead back under the security office. Another blast of weapons fire tore deeper into the wall. Still, he held his fire. Why had the guard not fled? Was it because this was the only way out?

Maybe.

He dropped to his belly and scooted forward until he could see around the corner. Ten feet away he saw the lower half of the guard’s pants behind a thick-legged artifact table. The posture told him the guard was leaning forward, weapon propped on the display table, barrel fixed on the wall at the height a man would stand. He was concerned about the weapons fire. But Danielle was above him, in the security room, and would gladly cut down anyone who came through the outer door.

He caught the squelch of radio static.

Another peek.

The guard had a radio in one hand.

No choice.

He took aim on the left leg and fired. The round tore through the fleshy part of the calf. The guard shrieked in pain and fell backward with the rifle still in his hands.

He fired again.

The second bullet punched into the right thigh.

He sprang to his feet and sprinted to the table, dropping to the floor beside the man. He tore the weapon away and shoved it across the floor. The guard was writhing in pain, each hand reaching for one of the wounds.

Neither of them was life threatening.

To be sure he examined the wounds.

Neither was spurting.

The man would live.

He grabbed the radio, which lay on the floor a few feet away, and listened. There’d been no transmission from this end, but someone might have heard either the shots or the cries of pain. He allowed a full two minutes to pass. The radio remained silent. Assuming the other guards weren’t responding without first replying, he decided he was okay.

But not really.

The guard stopped moving. He checked for a pulse. Strong. Good. Probably in shock and just passed out.

He hustled back up the steps and lightly tapped on the door.

Danielle opened it.

He pointed at Mashir. “Let’s go.”

The scientist headed down, then descended the spiral staircase.

Luke followed.

Where the upper section of the private museum was all aesthetics and atmosphere, the preservation area was more clinical. Lots of chrome, white Lexan tables, and built-in shelving. Arrayed across the rear wall were three sliding doors that could’ve been taken straight from a Star Trek movie set. Heavy, white, with glass portholes at shoulder height. No light showed through them. The air smelled of mild disinfectant. Vents in the floor blew cool air. From the clean room doors came a sucking-hissing sound.

“Hermetically sealed with negative ventilation and computer control humidifiers,” Mashir explained. “Before I was involved they were essentially closets with weather stripping around the doors. Now they are temperature-controlled vaults.”

“Which one is it?”

“There, on the left.”

Danielle remained up on the next level. Luke stepped to the spiral staircase and said to her, “We’re good here. Go get the woman.”

They needed her face.

Two minutes later Danielle came down the stairs, frog-marching the female guard before her, her arms taped behind her back, the mouth duct-taped.

He pointed to the left door.

Danielle walked the woman close, swiped her badge, then, using both hands, centered the face with the camera lens. Danielle spoke to the woman in Russian, then ripped the tape away from the mouth to allow the scanner to get a complete look.

“I told her if she made a sound, I would beat her to death.”

And there would be no reason to doubt that, considering what had already happened.

An agonizing few seconds passed before the lock clicked and the LED flashed green. The doors slid open and the clean room’s bluish lights blinked on. Inside was pristine white. The walls had no right angles. Each corner was rounded. The lack-of-depth effect caused Luke a moment of dizziness. From floor to ceiling the left wall was dominated by a grid of plexiglass-covered niches, each filled with books and parchments. Mashir swept the room, staring through the plexiglass in each of the niches.

The Russian shook his head.

“Not here.”







81.

LUKE MENTALLY CROSSED HIS FINGERS.

“Danielle, get those other two rooms open.”

He’d suspected Mashir would lobby for taking the entire library with them. But that had always been a non-starter, something they would try to make happen later. His hope was Mashir could be pacified by knowing the books were safe. But now even that was in jeopardy.

Danielle used the guard’s face to open the middle, then the right-hand door. Each one hissed open with a gust of cool air. Mashir darted into the middle room, but quickly exited shaking his head. Then he stepped into the right-hand vault and lingered.

Luke waited.

“It’s here,” Mashir called out.

He, Danielle, and the guard entered the vault.

Mashir stood before one of the niches. Beyond the plexiglass were six shelves. On them were—he counted—thirty-two separate volumes, each one inside a marked plexiglass box. Some were bound volumes. Others were just stacks of loose folios, the pages like brown leaves after a dry autumn.

Time to deal with reality.

He walked over to Mashir, “We can’t take it all. You know that.”

“My father and grandfather would be so ashamed of me.”

He wasn’t unsympathetic. “We’ll get it back for you. I’ll personally negotiate the deal with Khurtin. The money you stole for these.”

“You are right. They are safer here. For now.”

“Once we deal with Red Star, you’ll have a grateful CIA on your side too.”

Here he was making another promise. Danielle wanted payback. Mashir wanted the library. But the mission was to prevent Red Star from falling from the sky. Get the damn job done. The first rule for any intelligence officer.

“Are you with me?” he asked. “I need you with me.”

After a few long seconds of silence, Mashir nodded. “I am with you. Red Star first.”

“Which book do we need.”

Mashir scanned the shelves. Finally, he settled on one of the containers and opened the outer door, sliding the receptacle free.

“Cicero’s De re publica,” Mashir said. “The original was written around 51 B.C. A dialogue on Roman politics. Quite controversial at the time. And there is no complete text of it anywhere in the world. Except right here.”

He had to admit, that was impressive.

“This is the Russian translation that Ivan the Terrible ordered created, from the original Latin. Texts of other editions that survived have been edited and mangled over the centuries. But here is the complete work, in Russian, untouched by anyone other than the single translator.”

“It looks fragile.”

“It is nearly five hundred years old. We need to place this container inside something else.”

He agreed.

A brief search revealed a small stainless-steel case, its edges rubber-sealed. Mashir placed the clear container inside and snapped the lid shut.

Time to go.

Okay. They were making progress.

He motioned for them to leave.

Danielle helped the female guard to the floor. Luke gave her a stare, like daggers, daring her to do anything more.

But she was respectful to the injured woman.

“Tell her we’re going to leave her inside here. It’s cool, comfortable, with plenty of air. She’ll be fine until they find her.”

Danielle spoke to the woman in Russian.

Her words took longer to say than seemed warranted.

Then Danielle left the vault.

“What did she say?” he asked Mashir.

“She told her that she was lucky you were here. Otherwise, she would have killed her and enjoyed every moment of it.”

Their exfiltration from Fortress Shlisselburg went smoothly. Less than a minute after leaving the security office they were back in Naryshkin Tower and climbing through the trapdoor. Luke brought up the rear and paused to check the guard he’d coldcocked earlier. Though he was still unconscious, his pulse remained steady and the wound had stopped bleeding. The same had been true for the man he’d shot below.

They made their way down the steps, into the tunnel, and soon emerged from the entrance. A light rain had begun to fall, which carried a chill. Wisps of fog swirled over the lake’s surface. The rowboat was where they’d left it.

He was pleased.

Mr. Murphy and his law had made only a brief appearance tonight.

Everyone climbed aboard. He shoved the boat off into the shallows, then settled between the oars and started rowing.

“We are going the wrong way,” Mashir said.

“Never leave from the same way you came in,” he said.

Another Ranger rule.

“Don’t worry,” he said. “We’ll make sure your friend gets his boat back. Just worry about that book.”

Which Mashir cradled against his chest like it was a newborn.

Okay. One task done.

Now for the really hard part.
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EDMON STOOD AT THE NOVO LADOZHSKIY CANAL, DOMINIK BESIDE HIM. They both scanned the water with night-vision binoculars.

“I see nothing,” Dominik said.

Edmon lowered his binoculars and frowned.

The tracker placed the laptops nearby, and they’d found them inside a parked car, probably in the backpack they’d spotted on the rear seat. Most likely the car was being used by the American. So they knew their end point. But where were they now?

“The American is resourceful,” he said. “They went into that lion’s den of a fortress for a reason.”

This was like stalking a deer after wounding it in the flank. You followed, but not too close, watching, waiting for the bullet to do its damage.

Eventually, the deer would go down.

But he had an advantage over the deer.

He knew exactly where that would happen.







82.

LUKE HAD CHOSEN THEIR LANDING AREA AT RANDOM, THE ONLY TWO criteria being that it placed the Neva River between them and Shlisselburg, in case they’d picked up any followers he’d failed to notice, and also that the beach was wide and open, providing ambushers no place to hide. Another example of the five P’s. Prior Planning Prevents Poor Performance.

The rowboat’s keel scraped the sand and he and Danielle pulled it onto dry ground. Then he helped Mashir out with the case.

“Let’s get moving.”

They headed south along the beach, which was set back from the main road off to their right. Luke counted cars as they walked. Five in ten minutes. Good. Not a crowd. And no one seemed interested in them.

“How far?” Mashir asked, panting slightly.

“For you, not far.”

Earlier, he’d perused area maps and spotted a private, one-man ferry service that offered crossings to the Shlisselburg side for about $20 U.S. each.

“You two will lay low,” he said. “I’ll go get the car and come back for you.”

“And then?” Danielle asked.

“We put distance between us and St. Petersburg and find a quiet place to work on the cipher.”

In the soft sand Mashir’s stamina continued to decline. Finally, the ferry landing came into view. He pointed out a cluster of bushes. “Make yourselves comfortable there. I’ll be back in no more than an hour. If I’m not, and you don’t hear from me—”

“Call Marcia and await instructions,” Danielle finished.

“Not just that. Shut down Red Star. Whatever it takes, get there.”

“You sound like you’re not coming back,” Mashir said.

“I’m coming back. Just playing the worst-case scenario game. An old habit.”
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EDMON FOCUSED ON THE WATER THROUGH THE NIGHT-VISION BINOCULARS as Dominik drove.

They crossed the Ladozhskiy Canal.

“I see them,” he said. “In a rowboat. They are headed for the beach. Keep going. I do not want to alert them.”

He glanced at his watch.

11:45 P.M.

He’d guessed correctly, thinking that the American would not immediately return to his starting point in Shlisselburg. That wiliness was both admirable and frustrating. A saying came to mind.

Be where your enemy is not.

“Let us head back to their car,” he said to Dominik.
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LUKE STUDIED THE FERRYMAN, WHO WAS INTO HIS SEVENTIES AT LEAST, wiry and roped with taut muscle. The old guy made the mile crossing across the river to Shlisselburg look easy, playing the Neva’s various currents like a violin master. He’d paid the man two thousand rubles for the quick trip. Once the raft bumped against the wooden pilings he hopped onto the pier, gave the ferryman a wave of thanks, then made his way to the nearest road.

He took his time on the walk back into Shlisselburg, using side streets and doubling back until he was certain he wasn’t being followed. The tradecraft was exhausting, if not physically then mentally, and the unrelenting paranoia came at a cost. It wore a groove in the brain, especially among the more seasoned operators. Is that fruit vendor paying too much attention to me? Has my cover been blown? Is the agent I’m recruiting a double who’s going to snatch me up? If everything goes pear-shaped, can I reach the embassy before a pair of black sedans pull to the curb beside me? No wonder alcoholism ran rampant among them. How could he blame them?

He reached the parking lot and stayed hidden for a few minutes, watching. Finally he decided, Time to move, and he hustled to the car.

He climbed in and started the engine.
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EDMON LOWERED HIS BINOCULARS.

“He is leaving.”

They’d set up a watch post far enough away and sufficiently in the dark to ensure no detection. He wanted the American to keep moving. Whatever they’d accomplished inside the fortress was over.

So were they headed for the next thing?

The tracker was working.

The deer still wounded.

Keep following.

It would fall.

Eventually.







83.

LUKE WAS ABOUT TO LEAVE THE EMPTY LOT WHEN HE SAW THE LIGHTS of the fortress across the water blaze to life, the whole complex burning with brightness. Apparently the three injured guards they’d left behind had been discovered, as had the theft. Shlisselburg itself remained dark and quiet. He decided it was time to vanish. So he gunned the engine and headed out. Near the Neva Bridge a dark-colored Mercedes approached in the opposite lane. The car passed, then screeched to a halt and spun one hundred eighty degrees in his direction.

That was definitely a problem.

He increased speed.

But he had to wonder. Were these Anton Khurtin’s men? Called in by the fortress? Or were they the same folks from the dacha?

Edmon Grishin and company?

The first step to getting out of trouble was to know how many opponents you were up against. The smart move for them was the Neva Bridge. Box him in, cut off escape routes. He had a rudimentary map of Shlisselburg in his mind, so he took a few moments to recall it, then made a decision. He floored the gas pedal and raced to the next stop sign, which he blew through and turned left, followed by a quick right, where he stopped in an intersection. The Mercedes reached the stop sign and paused.

Looking for me. Here I am.

The driver spotted him, hit the gas, and headed toward Luke, who sped down the block, turned right, then right again, then once more at the next stop sign. He had a reason for this game of ring-around-the-rosie. They used to do it on Friday nights with the Blount County deputies. Hide-and-seek with cars. Trying to stay out of trouble. He was forcing the Mercedes’ driver into reactive mode. The idea? Hurry up. Anticipate. Make a mistake.

He headed into his second time around the same block. As he reached the next stop sign the Mercedes was rounding the corner behind him. He turned right and kept going straight for Neva Bridge. A hundred yards from the on-ramp he spotted a second Mercedes parked perpendicular to the road, hood out, lights dark. He blew past the car, which whipped out and fell in behind him, followed soon after by the first Mercedes.

Okay. Now we’ve got a parade.

And where was a cop when you needed one.

Any other time they would be everywhere trying to haul in more bribes for nonsensical charges. Traffic within Shlisselburg proper had been light, but not so on the Neva Bridge. This was the only crossing between here and the Pavlovo Bridge, ten miles to the south.

So there were some cars.

Even at this hour.

Horn blaring and headlights flashing, he weaved the Granta back and forth across the centerline, causing cars in both lanes to either screech to a halt or veer left or right. Slowly he built up an ad hoc obstacle course and his pursuers began to lose ground. He sideswiped a car, snapping off its mirror. He shouted an unheard “sorry” out the window and kept going, swerving, barely missing more cars and rear-end collisions. In the rearview mirror the lead Mercedes swerved hard, overcorrected, then crashed into the bridge’s guardrail, which bowed outward, leaving the car’s hood dangling over the river.

One down.

The second Mercedes zigzagged past its partner and picked up speed, expertly weaving through the labyrinth of stalled cars. That driver was definitely the better of the two. He had training, and quickly closed the gap to the Granta. Ahead, the end of Neva Bridge came into view. He was less familiar with this area, but keenly aware it led back to St. Petersburg.

Anton Khurtin’s lair.

The quicker he ended this chase, the better.

Once over the bridge he took the first turnoff, which pointed north along the river into densely wooded farmland. The Mercedes was a mile back but coming up fast. The Granta’s engine was no match for that German engineering.

He spotted a dirt track angled off the main road. He took it at full speed, trusting the Granta’s greater maneuverability would buy him enough of a lead. He was two sharp turns ahead when he spotted a plume of dust in his rearview mirror as the Mercedes made its own turn. Pick a spot. Fortune favors the bold. Usually, but no guarantees.

There.

He skidded through a switchback turn then slammed on the brakes, shifted into reverse, and backed under some trees. He climbed out and lay flat beside the Granta’s front tire. Thirty seconds later the Mercedes appeared, slowing for the sharp turn. It drew even with Luke, and he emptied his pistol’s magazine into the front and rear tires. He did a tactical reload and took aim on the Mercedes passenger door.

Which opened.

He placed a round into the side mirror.

“Close it,” he called out. “Or the next bullet goes into your ear.”

The door closed.

Time to play twenty questions.

“Window halfway down,” he shouted.

The passenger complied.

“I assume you can hear and understand me.”

“We hear you.”

“Engine off.”

The engine died.

“I’ve got plenty of rounds and have a damn good aim. Tell me now if you want a gunfight.”

A long pause.

Damn. They were actually thinking about it? While they were almost certainly better armed than he was, and had a numbers advantage, it would take them a good three seconds to climb out and begin putting fire on him. He’d immediately get one of them for sure. The second would be tougher, but he was confident he’d also win that exchange.

“Let’s have your answer,” he said. “Are we doing this or not?”

“Not,” came the laconic reply.

“Smart. Weapons out the window. And cell phones. You’ve got five seconds then I start punching holes in your windows.”

The guns came out immediately, a pair of 9mm Grachs and a pair of PP-2000 submachine pistols.

Cell phones followed.

He walked across the road and shined his flashlight through the front and back windows. Two figures sat in the front.

“Roll down your windows, turn in your seats, and put your palms flat on the roof.”

Once that was done he circled over to the driver’s side and planted two rounds in each tire as he went.

He stopped beside the driver’s window.

“Who do you work for?”

“A man who is not going to be happy with you.”

“How did you get here so fast?”

“We have cameras all over this town. It was easy to find you.”

Okay. Makes sense. “Tell Anton Khurtin that we’ll be in touch. We have something he wants, and I’m not talking about the book we stole. Something far more valuable. About fifty million of his euros. We’ll make a deal. Real soon. Tell him to sit tight.”

“He does not take orders from people like you.”

“Yeah. I get it. But tell him I’m CIA and it will be worth his while if he just sits back and stays patient.” Not something he would usually admit, but he thought it necessary here. “This is where we part company. Pop the hood for me, then hands back on the roof.”

The driver complied.

He walked around to the front of the car, fired two rounds into the radiator, then did the same with several engine hoses. Steam billowed. The stink of hot brake fluid filled the air.

That should end things.

He gathered up the weapons and cell phones, returned to the Granta, and drove away.







84.

FRIDAY — MAY 30

LUKE BACKTRACKED AND RETRIEVED DANIELLE AND MASHIR. AFTER A brief detour to drop the cell phones he’d collected into the Neva River, he drove north along Lake Ladoga’s western shore for the remainder of the night, reaching the town of Sortavala just as the sun was rising through the passenger window.

“We’re almost there,” he said, giving Danielle’s shoulder a gentle shake. In the backseat Mashir was snoring, the steel case containing the book and his backpack with laptops on the seat beside him.

Danielle came awake and sat up straight.

She’d chosen their destination, saying Sortavala was big enough that strangers wouldn’t be a novelty but small enough that they could get beyond the city limits quickly should trouble arise. He’d spent most of the journey on autopilot, partially because he was exhausted and partially because he was plagued by a question. What happened to Edmon Grishin? The man had gone to a lot of trouble to raid that dacha, only to come up empty-handed. In the Rangers everyone had a nickname. His had been Bird Dog for his ability to sniff out a trail and stay on it. In the desert and sparse highlands of Afghanistan that had been challenging. But here? Something wasn’t right. Sure, they’d tickled Anton Khurtin’s funny bone with the raid and theft. He had every right to be pissed, and sending men after them had been expected though not quite so fast as it happened. But Grishin. That was the rub. Where was he? There were three possibilities, none of which rang true.

Tracking, betrayal, or they flat-out lost him.

The last one was certainly a viable explanation. And sometimes the simplest is the best. But he decided to hold that one in reserve.

Tracking, then?

His and Danielle’s phones were new, picked up before they left Finland, and CIA-encrypted. Ilya had his laptops, of course, but given the man’s technical genius and obsession with online security, that too seemed unlikely.

That left betrayal.

As best he knew, besides the three of them, only three other people knew they were headed to Shlisselburg.

Sean Fernando, Stephanie Nelle, and Marcia Pooler.

Sure, the boat crew had taken them across the gulf, but no one on board knew their final destination and they had not been tailed once they came ashore.

The other three?

Those he dismissed as suspects.

He was in Russia at Sean’s behest, and Stephanie and Marcia were above suspicion. As for Danielle, why would she hamstring their chance to complete John Vince’s mission by working with Grishin?

It made no sense.

Same with Mashir.

His best chance of securing the remainder of the library remained with the CIA and the U.S. government.

So that left what, exactly?

Nothing he could think of.

Either way, they’d escaped the latest skirmish by the skin of their teeth. He could not count on that luck continuing.

He needed to figure this out.

And fast.

Since he could not shake the feeling that they were somehow being watched.

“Turn left up here,” Danielle said. “The Hotel Sortavala. It is downtown with several routes out of town and a parking lot screened by trees.”

“You’ve visited before?”

She nodded. “Twice.”

Luke pulled into the parking lot and chose a space beside a crane that appeared to be part of a construction project for a neighboring apartment building. Danielle got out and walked into the lobby. He roused Mashir. She was back ten minutes later.

“Two rooms, second floor, one near the elevator, the other five doors down. No cameras that I could see.”

“You’re firing on all cylinders today,” he said.

The hotel had a rear entrance, which led directly to the elevator. When the doors parted Danielle approached the door for Room 205, swiped her key card, pushed the door open, and let it close. They all then walked down the hall to their other room.

Room 214.

The interior was a bit dated but clean and comfortable, with two queen beds, a couch, and a small seating area near a balcony window.

Luke closed the curtains.

“What do you need to get started?” he asked Mashir.

“That table, a chair, and quiet,” the old man said, taking a seat and opening the case with the ancient manuscript. “I wouldn’t say no to breakfast.”

“I will get some,” Danielle said, and she left the room.

He stepped into the bathroom and shut the door, then dialed Marcia Pooler.

“Where are you?” Marcia asked.

“Get the whole gang looped in first.”

It took a few minutes. Once Sean and Stephanie were on the line he gave everyone a recap of their foray into Shlisselburg, the fortress, and the aftermath.

“We know who you’re up against,” Stephanie said. “Marcia?”

“The picture you sent of the man from the dacha. His name is definitely Edmon Grishin. Longtime bodyguard and close associate of former Russian president Aleksei Olegovich Delov.”

“Delov was at the helm when the Soviet Union became Russia and everything broke up,” Sean said. “He had, and still has, close ties to the West and friends in high places in almost every Western nation. He is well respected. What he doesn’t have is a good relationship with Konstantin Franko. Delov has been increasingly critical of Franko, his politics, and lately his aggression toward Ukraine. He has expressed concerns to journalists that he thinks Franko is a threat to Russia. And he isn’t wrong. The man is a despot.”

“None of this makes sense,” he said.

“We agree,” Stephanie said. “But you may have the answers right there with you.”

He understood. Mashir.

The answers were here.







85.

LUKE’S ASSESSMENT WAS THAT HE HAD TWO PROBLEMS. THE FIRST WAS that nagging feeling somebody was on his tail. The second was trying to understand what exactly was happening here. He stepped from the bathroom and decided to deal with problem one first.

“Do you check your laptop’s software, the operating system, regularly?”

“Please stop bothering me.”

“Answer my question.”

Mashir looked up from the screen. “Yes, yes, I check all that. I do it often.”

“What about the hardware?”

Mashir’s eyes narrowed.

Just as he thought. “Give me your laptop.”

He sat down at the table and turned the machine back-side down, studying the metal cover. “Have you ever changed the battery?”

“Never.”

“Upgraded the RAM? Replaced the hard drive? Sent it out for repair?”

“No.”

He slid the laptop over to him. “Then why are there tiny scratches beside each of these screws.”

Mashir leaned in for a closer look.

He asked, “Would you recognize something that doesn’t belong inside?”

“Of course.”

“Can you open it?”

Mashir found his backpack and removed a small leather case. “I carry a tool kit with me.”

A little odd. But he’d ride with it.

“Open it. Look, but don’t touch.”

Danielle returned with two bags of sandwiches, along with bottled water and some Russian soft drinks. Where he came from everything was called a Coke, no matter the brand. That was the way in the South. Here, he saw that Pepsi ruled the day.

While he and Danielle ate, Mashir carefully disassembled the two laptops, laying their individual components on the table before him. Finally he leaned back in his seat and dropped his head in his hands.

“That, right there, the thumbnail-sized bit. It’s a microprocessor. It’s attached to both the battery and the PCI card.”

“Is that bad?”

“It interfaces with the WiFi. On both units.”

“And it does not belong?” Danielle said.

“That is a tracker. Khurtin must have had it installed, in case I made a run for it. I’ll take it out.”

Luke shook his head. “No. Not yet. I’m going to put you on the phone with someone who can help us.”

He called Marcia and explained the problem.

“Sit tight,” she told him.

Half an hour later she called back.

“It’s not in my skill set,” Marcia said. “But the CIA’s technical folks say it’s easy peasy. We’re sending you a file. Click on it and it’ll do the rest.”

“What’s the rest?” he asked.

“The GPS location on those laptops is going to go walkabout. It’ll show you heading back south toward St. Petersburg. About fifty miles out the signal will vanish. The tracker will go dead. Meanwhile, according to Stephanie, you head toward Lakhdenpokhya. It’s about an hour south of you. Find someplace to hunker down and finish the deciphering.”

He realized they were literally sitting ducks where they were now. So he knew exactly what had to be done.

“We’re out of here.”

They were ten miles out of town before Luke stopped glancing at the rearview mirror every thirty seconds.

“You think this will work?” Danielle asked.

“Marcia says it’ll work, it’ll work,” he said.

“This could have been devastating,” Mashir muttered from the backseat.

“Mistakes don’t matter,” he said. “Fixes matter. We’ve fixed it.”

“Even so, how stupid of me.”

The old man was spiraling downward, and taking his focus with him. He needed Mashir’s brain back on task.

“Tell us about Cicero,” he asked. “The book. What’s it called again?”

“Cicero’s De re publica. In English? On the Commonwealth. It is a dialogue about Roman politics written around 52 B.C.”

He caught Danielle’s eye and tossed her a wink, which she seemed to understand.

“Go on,” she said, turning in her seat.

“As far as the academia believes, no complete copy exists. Just bits and pieces. The last one was found in 1819.”

“And this is what you used to encode Red Star?” Luke asked. “Why this book?”

“I admire Cicero. Statesman, lawyer, scholar, philosopher, author. He was, in my opinion, history’s most self-realized man. And how this original made its way to the library is a great story too, involving Johannes Wetterman.”

He recalled the information Marcia had provided.

The next reference came from a Livonian writer, Franz Nyenstadt, who wrote about Johannes Wetterman, a German Protestant minister who established a church in Russia and met with Ivan the Terrible.

“Wetterman arrived in Moscow during Ivan’s reign with the intention of establishing a Protestant church. Reportedly, he came bearing gifts so impressive that he and Ivan became friends. One of those gifts was a complete edition of Cicero’s De re publica. The book right here, in this case.”

Impressive.

Especially that the book had survived the centuries.

“We’ll find a safe place to lay low, so you can do your work,” Luke said. “How long will you need?”

“An hour. No more.”

Luke had Danielle choose the Lakhdenpokhya Hotel, another one near the center of town with plenty of exit routes. With any luck Edmon Grishin was chasing ghosts down south, but Luke wasn’t taking any chances. Once they were in the room, Mashir went to work.

But he wanted to know, “Which numbers station talks to Red Star IV?”

“Angara-47.”

“Where is it?”

“Siberia. Near Lake Baikal.”

That was a long way.

“Do you know exactly?”

Mashir nodded. “It’s encoded here too.”

He watched as the old manuscript was carefully removed from its storage container.

Mashir pointed to one of the handwritten lines. “Roughly, it means, ‘This excessive liberty soon brings the people, collectively and individually, to an excessive servitude.’ Cicero used this work to explain Roman constitutional theory. An imitation of Plato’s Republic in a Socratic dialogue. Amazing. This may be one of the rarest manuscripts in the world.”

“How does it figure into all this?” Luke asked, getting to the point.

Mashir pointed to a sheet of paper on the table.

Luke saw a series of random numbers.


13 9/ 45 6/ 22 67 89 2

233 56 187 4689 3409 234

679 1004 456 389 290

97 8/ 256 51/ 82 345/ 2178 9

3940 902 23 689 572



“There are five main codes. Reentry sequence. Thruster orientation. Re-targeting. Self-destruct. Main engine fire. Once entered there is access to other control functions. Reentry and self-destruct are single inputs. Once the code is entered Red Star follows it.”

Mashir explained that, with a book cipher, each word or letter in the plaintext of the message was replaced by a code that located that word or letter in another text, which was called the key. To make it work the sender and receiver had to use the same book as the key. The beauty was that, if someone intercepted the message and attempted to decode it, they must have the same book too. Otherwise, it was nearly impossible to decipher.

“Sometimes special codebooks were used,” Mashir explained. “But if these were discovered, not only was the person revealed as a spy but the cipher was now wide open. With a book, though? And one carefully chosen? It makes the cipher foolproof.”

“And you chose a book no one has,” Danielle said.

Mashir grinned. “I did. Thinking the library would always be with me, like it always was before.” He pointed to the numbers. “Those correspond to letters in the manuscript. These are Red Star’s main control codes.”

“What would have happened if you were dead?” Luke asked.

Mashir shrugged. “Red Star would keep going until its orbit decayed and it reentered. That would not have been controlled, so it would have just burned up.”

“Mind if I watch over your shoulder?” Luke asked.

“I do. But across the table would be acceptable.”

Mashir’s decoding took less than an hour. Finally, the old man laid down his pen and looked up. “We have what we need.”

Luke studied the paper.


Й Ҩ Ӝ Ђ А

Ѐ Ш Ј Э Љ

Ѕ О Ќ П Г

Џ Ӂ Ѝ Ҟ Ө

Ӯ Ф С Н Я



“Write out to the side what each of these do,” he said.

Mashir did as asked, and he saw that the fourth set of letters was the self-destruct.

“We have no way to know if this is right,” Danielle noted.

“It is,” the old man said. “Once destroyed, you will then get my library back?”

“Once it’s verified,” Luke said. “Which will be easy to do. How are these communicated to Red Star?”

“There will be a terminal at the numbers station. Someone has surely been maintaining the site for a long time, as they still broadcast. We can only hope they kept the keyboard in working condition. I’ll need a map. But, like I told you, Angara-47 is near Lake Baikal. Southern Siberia.”

“Have you been there?” Luke asked.

Mashir nodded.

He reached for the paper with the identified codes. “I’m going to send an image of this back to Langley. And keep one for myself. Then I’ll get you a map.”
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ALEKSEI MISTOOK THE TELEPHONE’S RINGING AS PART OF HIS SPLITTING headache. This was the worst one by far, a symptom his doctor had told him to expect. But nothing of this magnitude—the stabbing, burning, throbbing—had ever occurred. How such a relatively small thing tucked away in his brain could have such an effect was beyond his comprehension. His stomach also heaved with nausea and he clenched his jaw against it.

Breathe.

It will pass.

He sat alone in the den before the fire wondering if he could finish what he started. The party congress would convene tomorrow. Everyone would be clustered within the grotesque State Kremlin Palace. Konstantin Franko would be there to give the opening speech and explain to the delegates what was expected of them. All of his cronies, the entire Russian government, would also be there.

One strike. One blow. Over.

But it all now looked for naught.

The anguish in Edmon’s voice over the phone from earlier still rang in his ears.

“We’ve lost them. The signal has vanished.”

They’d been tracking Ilya Mashir’s laptops, staying on the trail, seeing where Mashir and his American ally would take them. They’d decided the Americans were after Red Star, using Mashir to find it, so the decision had been made to tag along until everything was clear. But five hours ago they’d lost the tracking signal, last noted somewhere close to St. Petersburg. Since then there had been no signal.

The nausea started to fade and then, as if a curtain had been lifted, the pain in his head blinked out of existence.

His brain clicked on.

And he finally recognized the phone’s ringing for what it was.

His private landline.

He reached over to the side table and lifted the receiver.

There were a few seconds of silence then a series of clicks and static bursts.

“Am I speaking to Aleksei Olegovich Delov?”

Aleksei didn’t recognize the voice. Male. Speaking Russian. But muffled, tinny. A voice scrambler of some kind? Or just a hand cupped over the mouthpiece?

“Who is this?” he asked.

Few people possessed the telephone number.

“The weather outside is growing bad.”

Intentionally vague? Maybe. Edmon was concerned that the phone line was being monitored. Did this caller know that?

Play along.

“I appreciate the warning. Do you know when the storm arrives?”

“It is moving your way right now.”

The line clicked dead.

He hung up the phone.

It was the middle of the night, dawn a few hours away. “The weather outside is growing bad.” What was that all about? He stood from the chair and walked to one of the windows. Outside was pitch dark. He’d always liked that about this place. No urban lights. Nothing blocking the stars and planets. Amazing how the older he’d become, the more introspective he was. No more politics. Just simple right and wrong.

A soft knock broke the silence.

Which, for some strange reason, had not startled him.

It is moving your way right now.

He unlocked and opened the front door. A blast of cold air swept over him. He wore only his nightclothes and was barefoot.

A man stood outside in a heavy overcoat. Dark-skinned. Dark hair. Pakistani? Perhaps.

“My name is Sean Fernando. I understand you are looking for Red Star.”

The words came in clear, crisp American English.

“And your interest?”

“I am looking for it too. The trackers in Ilya Mashir’s laptop went dark on my order. Your man, Edmon Grishin, is chasing a ghost. My man, on the other hand, has that ghost.”

“Ilya Mashir?”

Fernando nodded. “I was in the neighborhood, at the embassy in Helsinki, so I decided to come for a visit.”

“CIA?”

“What else? You want Red Star. I want Red Star. I just want to know what you plan to do with it, once you get it.”

They were standing there in the cold, staring, each surely assessing the other, trying to determine if the risks were worth taking. This man, though, held far more leverage.

No need to even be here.

Yet he was.

“I want to end Franko,” he said, taking the chance.

“So do I.”

“Your superiors think otherwise?”

“Let’s just say that I am more interested in what you want to do than they are.”

“Then come inside, Mr. CIA, and we will talk.”
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SATURDAY — MAY 31

LUKE REALIZED THAT TRAVELING THREE THOUSAND MILES, THROUGH five time zones and who-knew-how-many military districts, from Lakhdenpokhya in the west to Lake Baikal in the east, in less than twelve hours seemed a near impossibility. But among Marcia, Stephanie, and Sean the itinerary was quickly put into place.

Their first stop was a remote meadow outside Tervenichi, fifty miles east of Lake Ladoga. Here they found an unmarked Sikorsky HH-60 helicopter waiting for them. As a Ranger he’d many times ridden a Pave Hawk into the most distant corners of Afghanistan.

The three of them climbed aboard.

He assumed Stephanie and Sean were pulling on some deep, anonymous strings. Who was the pilot? He had no idea. Nor would he learn anything here, on site. He suspected the remainder of their flights would go the same way.

In and out. No questions.

Throughout the remainder of the day they hopped and zigzagged across the heart of Russia, from makeshift helicopter pads in forest clearings to single-runway airstrips in remote meadows. The aircraft were all unmarked, the pilots and crew uncommunicative but efficient. He was impressed with this ability to move within a police state, which was exactly what the Russian Federation represented. Outside Karaganda, just after nightfall and about three hundred miles from their destination, a wall of thunderheads moved in from the west and settled over the steppes. Rain came in sheets with frequent flashes of lightning and the rumbling of thunder.

The pilot’s voice came over the loudspeaker in unaccented English. “We’re grounded. Weather reports show it clearing, right before sunrise. Get comfortable.”

That was a tall order. They were in the belly of an aging Kamov Ka-27 military transport helicopter. The floors and walls were made of aluminum, the seats hard wooden benches attached to the walls. He rapped the bulkhead with his knuckles.

“How thick?” Danielle asked.

“About a quarter inch. Five millimeters or so.”

Her face went pale. “I should not have asked.”

He agreed. Not much protection.

Mashir was rolled on his side, snoring. The cabin was deafeningly quiet, the helicopter waiting in the dark with all systems off.

“Once we are done at control station, how do we get out there?” Danielle asked.

“I rely on Marcia for that. She knows we need an exit plan.”

Normally that would be formulated before anything happened, but there’d been no time here. So they’d headed east while Marcia, Stephanie, and Sean figured out the rest.

“What about the library?” she asked. “You told Mashir you get it for him.”

“And I will. But I think we can negotiate long-distance. That might be better. I’m taking Mashir with me when I leave. I’m assuming you’d prefer getting out of Russia when this is over?”

“Nothing left for me here.”

“I’ve already talked to Stephanie about that. You can come, if you want.”

“I appreciate it.”

She seemed much calmer, more in control.

Thank goodness.

Before long she was out, curled up against the bulkhead, coat tucked around her chin.

He found his phone and once again studied the area around Angara-47. It wasn’t as near to Lake Baikal as Mashir had made it sound, but rather about forty-five miles to the north. The terrain was mountainous and rugged with deep canyons split by rivers. The station itself was all but invisible on Google Earth, a roughly square-shaped blob that pixelated into nothing the closer he zoomed in. Stephanie had told him the CIA standard imagery was no better, and Langley wasn’t about to retask a more sophisticated satellite from high-value targets.

But it didn’t matter.

The station was there.

Its architecture and the surrounding terrain were something they would deal with once on the ground. To that end he’d asked for, and been provided gear, which lay on the floor of the helicopter beside Danielle. Two backpacks containing standard survival kits, rain slickers, spare magazines for their pistols, two coils of rope, two pairs of crampons for their boots, and sundry climbing pitons, cams, and ascenders, the latter for Mashir’s benefit. He hoped no climbing would be necessary. Mashir was in no shape to scale even the gentlest of rock faces. He and Danielle would have to haul him up by hand.

The final item, a backpack-sized electric generator, would be Luke’s burden. While Mashir was confident Angara-47’s radioisotope thermoelectric generator, or RTG, battery would still be operational and able to power the transceiver, Red Star’s control console had been powered by a diesel generator in the bowels of the station. This, he said, could be long dead, a casualty of sixty years of Siberian winters.

In his mind’s eye he saw Red Star floating above the atmosphere, making one of its final orbits around earth. Silent and solitary it flew in a defined path, waiting to perform its one task.

Would it still function?

Had decades in space rendered it neutral?

Or was it still a killing machine?

He felt a moment of anthropomorphic sadness for the thing. Up there since before he was born, waiting, listening, hearing nothing, faithfully continuing its mission.

Time to put it out of its misery.

Luke roused.

The cabin door was opened.

He noted the time.

6:04 A.M.

The pilot was as good as his word, saying the weather had cleared. “Buckle in. Liftoff in five. Time to destination two hours twenty.”

He set a timer on his watch.

The engines whined to life and the rotors began spooling up, causing the helicopter to rock from side to side. He helped Mashir get buckled in then took his own seat. He gave them each a thumbs-up and got one in return. With a few tentative hops and gentle bounces, the helicopter lifted off and climbed to a hundred feet.

The nose dipped and they headed east.
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SIBERIA

LUKE WOKE TO HIS WATCH VIBRATING ON HIS WRIST.

He opened his eyes.

The helicopter was rocking, surfing a stream of buffeted air. Butterflying was his preferred term. He smelled rain. Danielle and Mashir were still buckled in, their postures stiff, eyes darting. He could understand. If you didn’t do this often, it could be a nerve-racking experience.

We’re fine, he mouthed to them.

He unbuckled and made his way forward to the cockpit entrance and knelt beside the pilot’s seat. Through the windshield a line of dark, rain-swollen clouds sat stacked above jagged ridges.

The pilot lifted his right-hand earphone. “You need to return to your seat.”

“Talk to me about that,” Luke said, nodding ahead.

“That’s the storm we found at Karaganda. It decided to park itself again.”

He now placed the pilot’s accent. Definitely American. North Carolina, if he wasn’t mistaken.

“You an East Carolina Pirates fan?” he asked the pilot.

“I’ve been known to root for them on occasion.”

“I caught that twang in your voice. I’ve heard it before. Can we get through this weather?”

“I’ll know in about ten minutes. This important?”

“About as important as it gets,” he said with a bit of steel in his voice. “Probably not the first time you’ve been in a spot like this.”

“Not my first rodeo.”

“Joint Special Operations Command?”

“Four Twenty-Seven Squadron. You?”

“Seventy-Fifth Rangers.”

The pilot smiled grimly. “I’ll get you in there, Ranger.”

How Sean had arranged for this he would never know. But one thing he’d learned from his time in the intelligence business. Never underestimate the reach of the CIA. “You know the area? The terrain?”

“Just what I could see on a map and satellite. I assume you’re headed to the structure, whatever it is.”

“Put us down as close to it as possible. I don’t mind a short walk, but I’d prefer no climbing.”

“There’s a bowl canyon half a mile to the north. I’ll try for that.”

He nearly smiled.

That was going to be his choice too.

Great minds did think alike.
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EDMON WAS ON THE MOVE AGAIN.

The tracker in Mashir’s electronics had sent him on a fool’s errand to nowhere, and he’d thought the trail gone. But a call from Aleksei had added new enthusiasm.

“I know where they are headed,” Aleksei told him.

And he’d listened.

“That is a long way to the east.”

“I know, old friend. But I will make the arrangements to get you there. How many others will go with you?”

“Three.”

And his boss had delivered with a private jet charter that left St. Petersburg on a direct flight to Irkutsk.

Which had taken about six hours.

A helicopter had been waiting on the tarmac that easily accommodated all five, along with their weapons and equipment. The pilot had already been told precise latitude and longitude coordinates, supplied by Aleksei too. Apparently he’d cultivated some excellent intel. Of special interest was the presence of explosives with detonators.

“Once the satellite is sent down,” Aleksei told him, “destroy the station. Taking into account the seven-hour time difference, you have to plan carefully.”

He understood.

The plan was simple.

The Russian National Congress would convene at noon inside the Kremlin. That session would last until 5:00 P.M. Moscow time. The local time in Siberia was nearly 1:00 P.M., making it currently 6:00 A.M. in the capital. So the critical time period locally was between 8:00 P.M. and midnight. He had to find the transmitting station and force Mashir to bring the satellite down within those four hours, which would allow Red Star IV to do its job while Franko and everyone else vital to his government were present. Even if they left the congress hall, the blast radius would obliterate the entire Kremlin complex.

Aleksei had also provided some more valuable information.

“Mashir is obsessed with the famed library of Ivan the Terrible. Frankly, I thought it only a myth, but apparently it exists. He gave it to Anton Khurtin and desperately wants it back. Use that to get him to do what we want.”

He’d also brought along the documents obtained from Kozar.

They were now in the air headed out toward Lake Baikal and the coordinates Aleksei had provided.

They were back on track.

Finally.







89.

LUKE KNEW THEY WERE CLOSE.

His internal mission clock had rattled off the time and distance and he estimated they were less than ten miles out. The wind and rain had picked up, the chopper bouncing and slewing across the wet, rough air. From the cockpit something started beeping, then went silent, then returned.

“I do not like this,” Danielle said.

He heard the anxiety in her voice and saw that Mashir felt the same way. So he offered, “You don’t have to worry unless we get lightning.”

From the cockpit the pilot yelled, “Ranger, come here.”

He released his harness and half stumbled, half walked up to the cockpit. The windshield was blurry with rain, the wipers barely keeping up. He caught glimpses of serrated peaks and plunging cliffs.

“Five minutes,” the pilot told him. “The quicker you can disembark, the better. I can’t stay. Too dangerous for detection. But I will head south and wait for a radio call from whoever.”

He clapped the pilot’s shoulder, then returned to his seat and buckled in. Five minutes dragged into ten, then fifteen as the pilot fought the wind shear, circling, surely looking for a pocket of calm he could thread and get them down. At last Luke felt the wheels bounce on solid ground.

He unbuckled, stood up, and opened the side door.

Rain and cold wind poured in.

Danielle hopped out and he handed her the backpacks, then got Mashir to his feet and moving toward the door. Once the old man was standing beside Danielle, he looked forward. He and the pilot exchanged nods, then he jumped out. The helicopter lifted up, wheeled, and headed south, immediately engulfed by a cloud.

“Let’s gear up,” he said, and began passing out coats.

He looked around.

The pilot had called their landing zone a bowl canyon. A perfect term. Measuring roughly five acres, the land was oval-shaped with a small glacial pond at the far end and sloping rock walls that were, he realized, gentler than the satellite image had made them look. While the rain was falling heavily, the wind had slackened to almost nothing. To the south he could make out Angara-47’s antenna tower rising through the gloom.

Half a mile, give or take.

He donned his backpack and shook off a wave of tiredness and the gritty sensation behind his eyes.

“Come on. Let’s get out of this mess.”

The ground, a patchwork of scree and soft earth, was mushy underfoot. They were dressed for the weather in warm rain gear, staying aware, heads turning like machines to study the terrain. With Luke in the lead and Mashir holding on to his belt, they plodded south, giving the pond a wide berth as its banks were already flooding. Luke decided it wasn’t so much a pond as a rain catchment.

They reached the slope.

While the grade was less than twenty degrees, finding foot- and handholds would take a dexterity and strength Mashir just didn’t have.

“I’ll rig a line,” he said, shrugging off his backpack.

“You’re a considerate young man,” Mashir said, head bowed against the rain, a half smile on his lips.

Rope coil, cams, and pitons in hand Luke picked his way up the slope, setting anchor points through which he threaded the line. He chose what looked like the easiest, if not the shortest, route up, but he knew he and Danielle still would have to do a little manhandling to get Mashir over the top.

“Danielle, you’ll take the lead, then you, Ilya. I’ll bring up the rear.”

“One step at a time, yes?”

He nodded. “Be the tortoise.”

“Pardon?”

“The old story of the tortoise and the hare. Slow and steady wins the race.”

Mashir handled the climb surprisingly well, only twice needing a pull or a push and only pausing once to catch his breath. Ten minutes after they started up all three were standing atop the ridge.

Below them stood Angara-47.

Not much to look at.

But then again Red Star’s control station, having been their aim for so long, had naturally grown in grandeur. It was, in essence, an asymmetrical stack of square shacks tucked up against the rock face with galvanized-steel walls and roofs covered in patches of rust, which had eaten gaping holes. The antenna tower itself, made of thicker, cross-braced steel and secured to the rock wall with massive bolts, had fared better. Its rust looked more cosmetic.

“As tall and straight as the day it was erected,” Mashir said. “The Soviets didn’t get many things right, but they knew how to build towers.”

“Towers and nuclear satellites,” Danielle said.

“And that too. Can we please get out of this rain? I cannot feel my fingers.”

Before they set out, he took a moment and assembled an uplink for the satellite phone he carried in his pack. He might need good communications so he wanted to be ready. The uplink unit came with a battery that should last for a few hours.

The route down was easy, a series of winding saddles along the ridge that eventually deposited them at the station’s entrance. The corrugated-steel door was so pocked with rust holes that it simply sat askew across the threshold.

Luke gave it a kick.

It fell backward and crashed against the rock floor.

The wind cried from inside.

“I guess we’ve arrived,” he said.
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ALEKSEI HAD NOT BEEN ABLE TO GO BACK TO SLEEP AFTER HIS LATE NIGHT visit from Sean Fernando. He wasn’t sure why, but he’d trusted the man. Perhaps it was because he had no choice. They were essentially dead in the water, but the CIA had changed all that.

“We hate Franko as much as you do,” Fernando had said.

“Who is ‘we’?”

“I will not lie to you. The White House, the president, they know nothing of this. None of them would have approved. But I have a different belief. Franko has to go. We have no idea how to make that happen. But you, Mr. President, do.”

“I am dying.”

“I was unaware.”

“I will not be here to deal with the aftermath. But you will.”

“I understand. But we have a man on the ground, in Siberia, with Ilya Mashir. It would be best if he, Mashir, and the woman with them do not come back alive.”

“I will pass that information along to my man on the ground and tell him to make sure that happens.”

Interesting how the Americans turn on their own.

But he admired the courage.

And that was what it would take to defeat an evil like Franko.

Everything hinged on Edmon making it to the transmission station and sending the signal. Fernando had provided plenty of good information that would be needed to make that happen. Thankfully, no one inside Franko’s government seemed to know a thing about Red Star. Instead, they’d maintained the transmitters as a way to keep the West guessing. Their music and jumbled messages had to mean something. Right? Why else would they be transmitted?

Clever, for sure.

Now that cleverness could prove fatal.

His head hurt.

A sign this was going to be a bad day.

But the prospect that in just a few short hours the reign of Konstantin Franko would be over buoyed his spirits. He prided himself on being a student of history. Long ago he read a biography of the quandary that American president Harry Truman had faced in 1945 about the recently developed atomic bomb.

There’d been four options.

Don’t use it at all. Instead, continue conventional air attacks. But even the firebombing of Tokyo had not forced a surrender. The second choice had been a ground invasion of Japan. But the casualties, both civilian and for the U.S. military, would have been horrific. His third option had been to stage a demonstration over an unpopulated area so the Japanese could see the devastating impact. But they only had two bombs and it was decided not to waste one on a mere show. The last choice was to drop it over a densely populated city for maximum effect. Certainly the most difficult path in terms of lives lost and physical destruction.

But it worked.

Truman said afterward, The only language they seem to understand is the one we have been using to bombard them. When you have to deal with a beast you have to treat him as a beast.

Precisely.

And Konstantin Franko was a beast.

No doubt about it.

All he would understand was brute force. So that was exactly what he was going to get. Hundreds of thousands of people died in Japan. The same would be true in Moscow. Truman also said, For myself I certainly regret the necessity of wiping out whole populations because of the “pigheadedness” of the leaders of a nation. But he offered no apologies and said years later that he would do the exact same thing, given the same circumstances.

Aleksei too had no apologies.

He loved Russia and its people.

But this had to be done.

Today.
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LUKE FOUND A FLASHLIGHT IN HIS PACK, CLICKED IT ON, THEN USHERED Danielle and Ilya inside, leaning the door back in place.

A foul odor hung in the air.

A medley of dead animals, mold, and mildew.

Above their heads came the fluttering of wings—bats or birds, he couldn’t tell. Wind whistled through unseen gaps in the walls, and rain pattered the roof. As unimpressive as Luke had found the station’s exterior, the understructure was a different story. Thick steel girders and joists, all coated in corrosion-resistant paint, buttressed the walls and floors.

“You’re right,” he said to Mashir. “The Soviets knew their towers.”

To their right a narrow, switchbacked steel staircase led upward. To their left, at the bottom of a short ramp, was a curved steel wall with a half-height door set into it.

“That’s the generator room,” Mashir said. “The RTG vessel is through a door on the other side. They carved an alcove in the rock for it.”

“Do we need to check it?”

“The RTG? No. It is still working, of that I have no doubt. But if somehow power is not reaching the antenna, there is nothing we can do about it. Not unless you happen to know anything about nuclear electronics engineering.”

“I’m still working on my degree in that.”

Mashir smiled. “It is not an issue. If the RTG was exposed it would be a core breach. There would be nothing growing within a kilometer from here.”

“Was this place ever manned?” Luke asked.

“For a few months. As you can imagine, soldiers did not much like the duty here.”

“You don’t say.”

“So they just sat here, waiting for a call with an order to activate Red Star?” Danielle asked.

“More or less. I think the plan was to eventually build a more permanent structure, but then the program was shut down.”

She shook her head. “And everyone walked away leaving a nuclear battery behind an unlocked door, and a bomb floating overhead.”

“Essentially, yes. There are dozens of these RTGs spread across Russia, happily humming away with no one the wiser.”

And still transmitting gibberish to the sky, Luke thought.

“The Red Stars could be controlled from the many different stations,” Mashir said. “Spread out everywhere. Each station was able to communicate with a specific Red Star. They can also be reprogrammed to talk to others, if needed. This station was assigned to Red Star IV, primarily thanks to its isolation.”

“Let’s get to it,” Luke said. “Where’s the control console.”

“Level three.”

He walked to the stairs and looked up, his flashlight leading the way. The first level, twenty feet above, exited onto a catwalk. Same with the second level. Level three was lost in darkness.

“More catwalks,” he muttered. “Great.”

He grabbed the handrail and gave it a tug. It wobbled, creaked a bit, but nothing broke loose. He decided to rig a safety line just in case. Stepping carefully, probing with the toes of his boots as he went, he started upward, stopping every five feet to loop a running clove hitch around a girder. When he reached the third level he dropped the rope coil down to Danielle and Mashir.

“About a dozen steps are weak,” he called out. “Test them as you go and you’ll be fine. One hand on the rope, one hand on the rail. Ilya, you first.”

He waited until they were headed up, then followed the catwalk down to an open doorway on the right. Red Star’s control room measured about twenty feet square. In its center, mounted atop four plinthlike cabinets, were separate slanted control boards covered in toggle switches, knobs, glass-faced gauges, and alphanumeric keypads. Rising from the center of the arrangement was a thick power line that split off into each cabinet. Dust and grime coated everything.

Would this stuff even work?

He shrugged off his backpack and found the battery. In turn he checked each of the cabinets until he located what looked like a circuit breaker box.

“That is it,” Mashir said from behind him. “There should be a dipole terminal in there, the kind you would find on a car battery.”

“I see them. How much juice will they need?”

“Two hundred watts per hour, as I recall, but our task will take far less time than that.” Mashir approached the control panel to Luke’s right and studied it. “This is Red Star’s board.”

“And these others?”

“One is a backup console, the other two monitor the RTG’s status and the generator’s output. Connect the battery and give me a little power.”

Luke attached the cables to the metal posts. “Okay, we’re running.”

Mashir reached beneath the console and flipped a switch. After a few seconds the console began humming. Backlit buttons, knobs, and gauges glowed to life.

“Give me another hundred watts,” Mashir said.

Luke adjusted the battery’s output.

“A little more. There, that is it.”

Luke joined Danielle and together they watched Mashir as he familiarized himself with the console interface.

“That gauge there is antenna power. Looks good. The waveguide is a bit out of tolerance but acceptable.”

Luke found the slip of yellow paper on which Mashir had scrawled the deciphered codes. He’d kept it tucked safely inside his pack within a waterproof zippered compartment. He unfolded and laid it down in front of Mashir.

“Thruster direction, fin stabilization, nose cone attitude. All important,” Mashir said. “The instruments seem to work. If the reentry angle is too steep, Red Star burns up in the atmosphere. Too shallow and it skips off into space.”

“Actually, either one of those would be great,” he said. “Let’s get the show on the—”

His voice trailed off and he looked up, cocking his head, focusing his ears. He signaled for quiet. Then heard it again.

A distinctive far-off thump.

Helicopter.
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LUKE WALKED TO THE WEST WALL AND PEEKED THROUGH A GAP IN THE siding. He could see nothing through the driving rain. Fifty feet above the bowl valley, the wind whipped ferocious, driving the rain sideways and cutting visibility to a couple hundred yards. If it was Grishin, he’d be coming from the west. In a hurry. Playing catch-up. He would not detour around the storm. He’d push through. But how were they still tracking? The laptops were clean and, besides, they hadn’t even brought them. Mashir had no cell phone. Danielle? No way. She hated them all.

“A private helicopter trying to get back to Irkutsk?” Danielle asked.

“Maybe.”

But his gut said otherwise.

“You two stay here and keep working. I’ll be back.”
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ILYA DID THE MATH.

Was that helicopter bringing trouble?

Luke was gone. Off to investigate.

“You do know that he cannot get your library back,” Danielle said.

He faced her.

“An American? Taking on Anton Khurtin? Never happen. He just wants you to blow up Red Star in space.”

“What do you want to do?” he asked her.

“I hate all of them. Why not end them?”

He heard the anguish in her voice.

“They killed the man you love?”

She nodded.

Why not end them?

The thought was definitely intriguing. And there was something else. Last night he’d searched the internet to find out what he could about Anton Khurtin. He knew plenty of people within the criminal organization. Not exactly friends. Definitely acquaintances.

But he could not contact any of them.

He’d found several newspaper articles about the fire at the dacha. Bodies had been recovered, none of which had yet been identified.

Good. Being “dead” had its advantages.

But Khurtin was surely aware of the museum breach. Thankfully the cameras had been disabled, so he had no idea as to the intruders’ identity.

At a minimum Khurtin was confused.

All of which was good.

But the most important thing he’d learned from his online search came from an article in Pravda. During the Soviet era it was the official organ of the Central Committee. It remained pro-government, pro-Franko. Which meant that what it printed carried the Kremlin’s okay. The article had been about those attending the party congress, starting today in just a short while. All of the government ministers would be there to hear Franko’s opening remarks. They would also be televised live around the country. Even more important, many of the nation’s leading industrialists would be there. That was the government’s way of describing oligarchs. Not monopolists, criminals, swindlers. Instead, they were industrialists. He’d glanced at the list of names.

One grabbed his attention.

Anton Khurtin.

Red Star IV was targeted at the Kremlin.

So why not end it?

“Can you make the bomb fall?” Danielle asked.

He nodded. “I can.”

“Then do it.”

All he had to do was enter the right code.

A few taps on the keypad.

“What about Luke?” he asked.

“I will deal with him.”
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LUKE GRABBED THE SPARE PISTOL MAGAZINES FROM HIS PACK, DESCENDED the steps, and slipped outside. Moving at a trot, he retraced his path up the winding saddles. To his left a helicopter appeared out of the mist, banked hard, and headed toward the bowl canyon. He picked up his pace, bounding over rocks and scrambling up ledges until, panting hard, he reached the ridgeline. In the bowl canyon a sleek white helicopter had touched down on the north side of the catchment. He found his binoculars and zoomed. Three men, hunched over in the rotor wash, were sprinting away. Two more hopped from the open side door and joined them.

All were armed with assault rifles.

The knot of men moved with urgency toward him.

They were too far away for Luke to make out faces, but he didn’t need to. Grishin was here.

But how?

He dropped to his belly on the wet ground and wriggled backward until only his eyes were visible. Below, Grishin’s team was following the same path he, Danielle, and Mashir had taken around the pond. They reached the bottom of the slope, and Luke inched forward until the group came into view. One of the men had already found Luke’s safety line and started climbing.

He hated having to do what he was about to do.

But like Malone said. Sometimes you just gotta pull the trigger.

He allowed the guy to get halfway up, then rose to his knees, leaned out, and shot the man in the head.

The body slid backward and landed in a heap. He took aim on another man, fired twice, and dropped him.

The return fire started.

All three rifles on full automatic, chewing up the ground at Luke’s feet. He stumbled backward, lost his footing, and barrel-rolled to the ledge below.

Time to go.

He’d surrendered his advantage of surprise. So he fled and made it back to the station entrance in two minutes.

He was up the stairs in half that.

“Grishin’s here,” he said, catching the surprised look on both of their faces. “Where are we with Red Star?”

“Wake-up signal sent and received. I am waiting for telemetry. How far downrange it is will determine the skip out input.”

“Keep working. If Grishin wants Red Star he’s in for a fight.”

He walked out the door then down the catwalk.

Danielle followed and asked, “What are you doing?”

“Dropping the stairs. We’ll see how good they are at free-climbing.”

“Stop,” she barked.

And he heard the double click of a pistol being racked.
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EDMON WATCHED AS TWO OF HIS MEN WERE GUNNED DOWN.

Dominik raised his rifle and opened fire. He and his remaining man did the same, peppering the ridgeline at the top of the slope with multiple rounds.

He signaled to stop firing.

They rushed over to the two men and Dominik checked for life signs. A shake of the head signaled that they were both dead. His remaining acolyte kept watch on the ridge with his weapon aimed and ready.

But the attacker would be gone.

Surely, back to the station.

“We have to get up there,” he said.

He toted the explosives and detonators in a backpack. He motioned and his last associate led the way up the rope. Dominik followed and he brought up the rear.

They reached the top.

He spotted the tower and station.

And headed for the structures.
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LUKE TURNED.

Danielle stood ten feet away, her pistol leveled at his chest.

“You told Grishin where we are? That’s how he got here?” he said to her.

“I did not.”

“Why lie about it now?”

“Not a lie.”

“Then what’s this about?”

“You know,” she said, her voice cracking, eyes moist with sadness.

“John,” he said. “Payback?”

She nodded. “We can kill them. Like you said, Franko is to blame and we can get him right here, right now.”

“You’re going to kill thousands of other people in the process.”

“John was my love. They took him. You saw what they did. Franko, we can end him. Today.”

“If you’re not in this with Grishin, then what was the plan?” he asked. “We get here, you kill me, force Mashir to drop Red Star on the Kremlin?”

“I do not have to force him.”

Interesting.

“He wants them dead too. You cannot get his library. He knows that. So let the bomb come. Why does America care? Franko is a monster.”

He assumed what he’d been told about skip velocity was bullshit. Mashir was readying to send the code for controlled reentry to target.

“Sure,” he said. “Killing Franko is a no-brainer. America would love to see him dead. But the collateral damage would be enormous. That’s not our way.”

She kept her gun pointed at him. “Men like Franko never get what they deserve. I have chance to change that.”

He raised his hands to shoulder height and took a step toward her.

She fired.

The bullet zinged off the girder beside his head. Really close.

He froze.

“Don’t test me,” she said. “And if you take one more step, or move a hand closer to gun at your waistband, like you are doing right now, I will put bullet in both legs.”

“Ilya, where are we with the satellite?” he called out to the control room.

“Less than ten minutes until I can enter the code.”

“You with her?”

“I am. Khurtin is at the Kremlin. We can end him and Franko.”

So they both had a personal stake in this. He faced Danielle. “You’re really doing this?”

“I have to.”

Below them the steel door crashed open.

“Grishin won’t leave you alive,” Luke said. “As soon as Red Star falls, he’ll put a bullet in your and Ilya’s heads. No need to have witnesses.”

Danielle shrugged. “I will handle him.”

Footfalls pounded the metal stairs.

“Still time to change your mind,” he said.

She stared at him.

Then mouthed, No.
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LUKE NEEDED TO ACT, BUT HE WAS GIVING THE GUN AIMED HIS WAY THE healthy respect it deserved. Danielle was in desperation mode and, based on past experience with other desperate people, anything could happen. Also, right beneath him were armed men who were probably not in a good mood considering he’d killed two of their own.

“Edmon Grishin, you hear me?” Danielle called out in English. The choice of language was probably for his benefit.

“Who am I speaking to?” a male voice said.

“Danielle Otero. We want same thing.”

More footfalls. Coming up.

“First person I see is shot in the head,” she yelled. “Everyone stay still, until we reach agreement.”

“What is it you want?” Grishin said.

“Red Star dropped on the Kremlin. Franko vaporized.”

“As do I. May I come up and talk about it? But the American, where is he?”

“I have Luke Daniels here, at gunpoint. Mashir is in the control room, ready to input the code.”

“He can do that?”

“He can.”

Luke stood silent, listening, hoping to find out the answer to the question running through his brain. How did they find us?

“We are on the same side,” Grishin said again.

He took a step toward Danielle and said softly, “He’s lying.”

She focused the gun at his head and motioned for him to step back.

“May we come up?” Grishin asked.

“We will come down,” she said.

She motioned with the gun for him to turn around.

He did.

A moment later he felt the muzzle of her gun press into his spine. She reached around and slid the gun from his waistband.

He whispered, “Last chance.”

“Down the stairs.”

He could take her. For sure. Still, the odds seemed about fifty–fifty that she’d pull the trigger in the process. A bullet to the spinal cord would not be good. But that was the thing about even odds. Winning and losing were equal options. So he decided to bide his time. Wait for the right moment.

They descended the stairs.

The men below were also retreating. At the bottom they found Grishin and his two remaining men standing, rifle barrels aimed their way.

“We finally meet,” Grishin said. “Where is Mashir?”

“Third level. At Red Star console,” Danielle said. “He wants to drop the bomb too. He has the code.”

Grishin seemed to be considering her credibility.

Was she for real?

Sadly, she was.

A switch had flipped inside her head. He’d seen it first back in Shlisselburg. The rage, the irrationality. He’d thought she had it under control. But he was wrong. She’d already decided that sacrificing tens of thousands of lives, turning central Moscow into a radioactive crater, was okay for the sake of one man’s memory.

“If you would, please,” Grishin said. “Lower your gun and hand it over.”

“I will not,” Danielle said.

In response to her defiance the other two men readied their rifles, fingers on the triggers.

“If you are truly with us in wanting to bring Red Star down,” Grishin said, “then hand over your weapon and trust me to get that done.”

She stood behind him so he could not see her face, but he imagined her swirling thoughts.

Do I? Or don’t I?

Finally, she stepped past him and handed Grishin her gun, along with the one she’d yanked from Luke. No one searched him or took his cell phone. No matter. There was zero signal here, so it was useless.

Grishin motioned.

One of the men with rifles walked over to a steel door with a locking latch on its exterior. He released the latch and looked inside, then reappeared and nodded, saying “Empty storage area.”

“Lock him in there,” Grishin ordered.

Luke was led at gunpoint, then pushed inside the room. The door was closed behind him and he heard the latch being slid into place.

Blackness enveloped.

No way he could force his way through that barrier.




[image: image]







EDMON MADE A FIELD DECISION.

No bullet to the head for the American.

Instead, they’d blow the station with him inside, providing some physical evidence that America had been behind bringing Red Star down. Whatever government emerged after the carnage would love to have that propaganda coup.

Shooting him would defeat that purpose.

But the threat was now contained.

He faced the woman.

“Lead the way to the control room.”
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ILYA LISTENED FROM ABOVE AS THE SCENE BELOW PLAYED ITSELF OUT. Danielle had given up the American, who was now locked away. They were all coming up the metal stairs his way. Only a few more minutes until the satellite was overhead, ready to receive instructions.

Would Red Star respond?

Of course it would.

He’d designed it with care, building it to last, as no one back then knew how long they would stay in orbit before being needed. The threat of war then was constant. Everything done had been designed to be either offensive in striking first, or defensive in case the other side was faster.

Red Star had the ability to be both.

Which was what had made it so special.

Vaporizing Anton Khurtin would allow him to keep the money and hire an army to get his library back. No need to deal with the Americans.

Danielle appeared at the top of the stairs.

Then three other men.

One of them stepped forward.

“I am Edmon Grishin. It is good to meet you.”
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LUKE STOOD IN DARKNESS INSIDE THE WINDOWLESS ROOM. HE FOUND his phone and used the light to check out the lay of the land. He located a light switch and brought an overhead fixture to life. Thankfully, it still worked. Near the door was a narrow workbench with an upper cabinet. Next door in another room he heard the hum of the generator. A steel exhaust pipe ran along the ceiling above him through a hole in the north wall for venting.

Too small for an exit, though.

He spotted another door.

More an oval hatchway, like ones found on warships. He grabbed the dogging lever and heaved. It didn’t budge.

He tried again. Nothing.

He walked to the workbench, opened the upper cabinet, and rummaged around until he found a pint-sized tin. The Cyrillic label was all but faded, but not so the oil-drop icon in the logo and the slippery residue coating the outside. He returned to the hatch and, using his finger as a brush, worked the oil into the edge seals and the dogging lever’s center pivot.

He tried again.

It gave an inch, and then two, then froze in place. He repeated his oil-painting process, set the can aside, then repositioned himself for another try.

Come on, open for me. You know you want to.

He leaned backward, applying his torso weight on the lever, then lifted his feet off the ground. With a gunshot-like squeal, the lever slammed open, catching Luke’s left hand between it and the steel jamb.

White-hot pain shot up his arm.

He opened his mouth to scream but swallowed the impulse. Pain shot through his head, short-circuiting his brain in a starburst of sparks before his eyes. His hand felt as though a branding iron had been held against it, then run over by a truck.

He studied his hand.

Both his pinkie and ring finger knuckles were blood red from the bruising. His wrist hurt too. Bad. Even worse, the lever’s violent opening may have attracted attention. He hustled back to the locked entrance. Beyond on the other side all seemed quiet save the faint peppering of rain on the station’s walls.

“Come on, if you’re coming,” he whispered.

He waited a couple of minutes then returned to the hatch and gave it a shove. It silently swung open. Cold air gushed through. He stepped out and found himself in a short breezeway made of the same corrugated steel as the rest of the station. At the other end, leading into the rock wall, was another door. Probably the RTG vessel.

That was a dead end.

Abruptly his vision turned red and began to sparkle. Another wave of pain radiated up his arm, this one worse than the first, as though his hand had been dipped in lava. His stomach roiled. He sucked another breath, let it out. Then another.

Forget your hand.

Focus.

The RTG room was carved into the rock. The breezeway where he stood connected the station to the RTG. He was outside. The antenna tower rose somewhere to his right. He leaned his weight against the left-hand breezeway wall. Solid. Secured, he suspected, to a diagonal cross-girder. Same with the right-hand wall. Should he destroy the power sources? True, it would prevent Mashir from contacting Red Star, but it would also hamper any effort to self-destruct the damn thing. So he decided to leave them alone.

For now.

And go up.

He placed the palm of his good hand on the ceiling and gave it a shove. The steel panel lifted upward. He did it again, this time angling his push. The steel slid up and away then disappeared, eventually hitting the ground with a clanging gong.

Rain began to drench his face.

The gap between the rock face and the station’s exterior wall was barely wider than his shoulders. The path shot through a vertical fissure, but he had no pitons. Even with those this kind of climb required two good hands. Which he was now in short supply of.

Work with what you have.

That’s what Cotton Malone taught him.

Chimney climb it was then.

He’d practiced the technique plenty of times in training but had never used it in the real world. The concept was simple, but the application exhausting. Brace your feet against one wall, press your back against the other. Work your feet and slide your back upward. Reposition your feet, press, slide, and so on. What to do once he was up there was an unknown. He was making this up as he went, running on adrenaline, instinct, and not a small amount of fear.

Trust your gut. More Malone wisdom.

He’d been here before, with no good options and terrible odds.

Do something, even if it’s wrong.

After three failed attempts he boosted himself atop the breezeway’s side girder, then scooched around, back and feet against the station wall.

He braced himself.

And started climbing.
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EDMON ENTERED THE CONTROL ROOM, FOLLOWING ILYA MASHIR.

Not much there.

Just two consoles with screens, switches, and dials from a long time ago. The only thing out of place was a more modern addition to one of the control panels, the technology more current. He assumed it had been added in recent years to keep the facility transmitting. Somebody had been maintaining this station. Nothing unusual there. He’d learned long ago that Russian governments loved to keep doing the same thing over and over.

Even if it was pointless.

He motioned at the consoles. “Is that how you communicate with Red Star?”

Mashir nodded. “With the codes I have.”

He slipped the backpack off and motioned to Dominik, who grabbed the bag and stepped toward the control boards.

“What is he doing?” Mashir asked.

“We are going to blow these controls to oblivion.”

He saw the shocked look on Mashir’s face.

“After,” Edmon said, “you send the code and the Kremlin is gone.”
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LUKE HAD LITTLE TROUBLE MAINTAINING FRICTION BETWEEN THE ROUGH rock wall and his spine. The station’s steel wall, slick with rain and speckled with mold and lichen, was a different matter. It took him five minutes and three near falls to cover the first ten feet, each exhalation and inhalation requiring effort.

Keep going. The worst they can do is kill you.

Really?

His technique steadily improved and he found a rhythm, feeling the cross-girders under his feet and developing a sense of where they were headed.

He stopped to catch his breath.

Time check.

It would not be long until Mashir ordered Red Star into its attack pattern.

He kept climbing.

His hand ached. But that was the least of his problems. After another twenty feet he stopped and held his breath, hearing voices.

Above and to his left.

He was between levels two and three.

Decision time.

His only way inside would be a panel loose enough to pry free or a gap he could force himself through. Whichever he chose, there was no way his entry would go unnoticed. If he became stuck halfway through he’d be cut down by Grishin’s men. Nothing to be done about that, though.

Hail Marys came with risks.

Do it.

He braced his back against the rock, slid his right foot up, then his left foot. Back braced, right foot, left—

His boot punched through the wall.

His ankle bone glanced off something hard.

Not a girder.

Maybe the level two catwalk?
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EDMON HEARD A BANG.

Not a gunshot.

More something pounding into metal. Like the sheets that wrapped the station’s exterior. He motioned to his remaining man to go and investigate. Dominik was still setting the explosives. Danielle and Mashir watched, saying nothing. These two really did want to end it all.

Allies were always appreciated.

“Red Star will be overhead in eleven minutes,” Mashir said.

“Can the codes be punched in now?”

The old man shook his head. “If you start the sequence too early, Red Star will abort and orbit again. Another ninety-minute wait.”

He motioned. “Be ready to send the code.”
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LUKE KEPT HIMSELF WEDGED BETWEEN THE ROCK FACE AND THE STATION’S exterior wall, mindful that he’d made enough noise to attract attention. He jerked his boot free, cocked his leg to his chest, and kicked, aiming a couple feet to the left. The wall panel bowed inward, then bounced back.

He kicked again, then again.

The panel buckled inward.

He leaned forward, reached through the wall with his left hand, and, teeth gritted against the pain, grabbed the first solid thing he found and pulled hard. His upper torso hit the catwalk’s edge. He pulled again and dragged himself halfway onto the catwalk.

Work through the pain.

That’s what Ranger school taught.

But that was definitely easier said than done.

Footsteps clanged on the level three catwalk above him, then started down the stairs toward where he was on level two. He sought cover and spotted a silhouetted head peaking over the railing.

Those guys had guns. He had nothing.

Except perhaps surprise.

He slipped behind one of the girders and waited for the guy to come to him.

Always easier that way.

In the semi-darkness he spotted a shadow playing across the floor. Surely this was one of the three men, coming to investigate. He needed to take this guy down fast, get his gun, and head to the control room.

The shadow moved closer.

He risked a peek.

One man. Cradling an automatic rifle.

Come a little closer.

The man advanced toward an exit to Luke’s right. He used that moment to spring from behind the beam and wrap his right arm around the neck and clamped into his injured left in a solid choke hold. The guy released his grip on the rifle, which now hung by its strap, and tried to free himself, struggling to breathe.

The idea was to cut off blood and air.

Choke holds were superior to brute-force strangulation, which generally required lots of physical strength to work. Rather than using the fingers or arms to crush the neck, choke holds used leverage.

Average time to unconsciousness? Nine seconds.

This guy went down in ten.

He released his hold and helped the limp body to the floor.

He then slipped the rifle free and checked for a spare clip, which he found and pocketed. He also took the guy’s sidearm, an automatic pistol, along with another spare magazine.

He rose.

His eyesight narrowed and he blinked until it cleared, then glanced down at his left hand.

Red and swollen and it hurt.

No matter.

He was armed and ready.







97.

ILYA STEPPED TO THE CONSOLE AND READIED HIMSELF.

Red Star was approaching from the west, now probably somewhere over the Atlantic Ocean and coming their way fast. The code to reenter the atmosphere would cause the satellite to re-orient itself, heat shield leading the way, then to fire its retro-rockets, slowing forward velocity enough that gravity would suck it back down to earth. There it would reenter somewhere over Europe and start its descent through the sky toward Moscow and the Kremlin. He’d designed its navigation system himself to be devilishly simple. The trick was timing the descent so that the satellite pierced the atmosphere at precisely the right moment. Since Red Star had limited transmitting ability, the only confirmation would be a light on the control console, signaling that the codes had been received and were executing. No light meant something had gone wrong. Had it been foolish to launch nuclear weapons with so few safeguards?

Absolutely.

But back then the only worst-case scenario anyone envisioned was being caught off guard and unable to respond.

He floated his fingers about the old input keypad. Not really a keyboard, as those were not yet popular when this technology was invented. More just thirty buttons, each labeled with a Cyrillic letter. He’d used Cicero’s manuscript to unscramble the cipher that protected the five vital codes.

Reentry sequence. Thruster orientation. Self-destruct. Re-targeting. Main engine fire.

More of his simplicity.

Everything else was done by the satellite’s onboard computer, another marvel ahead of its time.

The paper with the deciphered codes was lying beside the keypad. He began to press the appropriate keys, entering the command for reentry to target. He punched slowly and deliberately, making sure there were no mistakes.

He completed the entry.

A moment passed. Then another.

A light sprang to life on the console, its glass covered in dust and grime, dulling the orange glow to a dull amber.

Message received.

And executed.

“Red Star is falling,” he said.

“What happens now?” Grishin asked.

“The satellite will come through the atmosphere and explode over the Kremlin.”

“How can you be so sure?” Grishin asked.

“I built it.”
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EDMON STARED AT THE LIGHT ON THE PANEL.

Done.

But he had to know, “Any way to stop it?”

“Only with the self-destruct code,” Mashir said.

“How long till it blows,” Danielle asked.

Mashir glanced at his watch. “Less than ten minutes.”

Edmon had already noted the time himself. Nearly 8:00 P.M. Which meant it was around 1:00 P.M. in Moscow. The congress would be in full swing. Even if Franko was not in the great hall itself he would be inside the Kremlin, as he rarely left its tall, thick walls. Interesting how a man craved so much power and adulation yet was afraid to show himself. Instead he relied on radio, television, and the internet to spread his message.

Today technology would be his end.

“Nothing can stop it now,” Mashir said. “The light indicates that the onboard computer has accepted the code and is acting. We provided it in plenty of time for the craft to re-orient itself. It is reentering, right now, as we speak.”

Decision time. He’d known it would come to this. True, he’d not expected the two betrayals, but that had only made things easier and hastened this moment. The American was trapped below. He’d have to be killed too, but he would leave that to the explosion that would destroy the station, trapping him inside. With luck his body would be identified and the entire event blamed on the United States. Yes, Russia needed a new government, new ideas, but never underestimate the value of a common enemy.

Hopefully, Aleksei would approve.

He caught Dominik’s eye.

The explosives were ready.
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LUKE LEANED AGAINST THE RAILING AND POINTED THE RIFLE AT THE catwalk above. A shadow passed the control room’s threshold. Someone crossing from right to left. He had to be careful. He might be forced to engage spread-out targets in that critical split second when he made entry. Too far apart would give them the advantage.

He was slowly making his way up to the control center, formulating a plan to take down Grishin and the other man. Both his partners had turned on him, one because of unbearable grief and the other for a century-old family obsession. On one level he sympathized, on another he was just plain angry.

He carefully climbed the steel stairs and came to the level three landing. The control room was a few feet away down a short corridor. Darkness reigned, but the light from the control room’s windows melted the dimness. He approached in silence, cocking his head and straining to capture any sound. He was able to see Grishin and his crony, listening as Mashir detailed what was happening and how irrevocable the situation now was. Which meant Mashir’s worth was rapidly shrinking. Danielle had little to no worth to Grishin in the first place. He’d merely accommodated her in order to gain trust and use her to control Mashir.

No question.

They were both going to be dead.

Soon.

He crept down the catwalk toward the control room door. He paused, eyes scanning. He took another step, then another.

He unclipped the sling from the rifle he held and gave it a toss.

It hit the grated surface with a soft clang.
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EDMON HEARD A NOISE FROM BEYOND THE ENTRANCE DOORWAY.

He met Dominik’s eyes, and they both decided to halt what they were about to do. Was that their man returning?

He’d been gone too long.

He motioned and Dominik headed for the doorway, rifle aimed and ready.







98.

LUKE WAS DONE PLAYING NICE.

This was a fight to the death, and it wasn’t going to be his.

Another of Grishin’s men emerged from the control room cradling an automatic rifle. He grabbed the pistol he’d managed to obtain with his injured hand. The man advanced out and looked left. When he turned back to the right Luke aimed and fired. The bullet punched into the man’s forehead and the body fell backward.

He immediately advanced.

In a firefight never stay in the same place.

He held the assault rifle with his right hand and raised the pistol with his left, canting his wrist so the muzzle was level and opening fire, emptying half the magazine before he reached the doorway. He crossed the threshold and stuffed the pistol into his waistband, then dropped onto his side. He pulled the trigger, walking the rounds from right to left across the room. Just as his pistol salvo hadn’t been designed to kill, neither was this fusillade.

He wanted Grishin down.

But still needed Mashir to stop Red Star.
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EDMON REACTED TO THE GUNSHOT FROM BEYOND THE CONTROL ROOM, thinking it was Dominik dealing with a problem. In the milliseconds between the shots and his decision to react, the American, Daniels, sprang into the control room, firing rounds. He dove for cover behind one of the control consoles, noticing that Mashir and the woman had also dropped to the floor.

Where was Dominik?

And their other man?

He decided to take out the one person in the room who could stop things.

He rolled to his right and fired two rounds.

At Mashir.
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LUKE’S RIFLE BOLT SLAMMED OPEN, THE CLIP EMPTY.

He drew his pistol and scanned the room.

Danielle sat propped against the wall to his right.

Unhurt.

Grishin lay half reclined on his left side, arm branched against the floor. Next to him was Mashir, legs splayed before him. Bullets had struck home in the old man, one hitting the thigh, the other more serious. Blood from a neck wound coated the front of Mashir’s jacket.

Luke took a step forward.

Grishin’s pistol was pressed against the back of Mashir’s head. The old man was bleeding out.

“The codes are entered,” Grishin said. “You cannot stop it.”

He did the math and nothing came up good for Mashir. Either bleed out or be shot in the head.

Lose-lose.

Grishin had certainly done the math too.
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EDMON REALIZED HE WAS DONE.

Dominik was either dead or out of commission. He should have killed the American earlier when he had the opportunity. But he’d still been playing the odds, thinking ahead, providing some insulation for Aleksei and himself. None of which mattered anymore. The codes were entered. Red Star was falling. His job was done. Except for one thing.

He pulled the trigger.

Mashir’s head disappeared in a cloud of red mist.

He knew what was coming.

Daniels fired.

The bullet pounded into Edmon.

A terrible pain clawed at his chest.

Then the world faded into a vast indifference.
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LUKE LOWERED HIS WEAPON.

Grishin lay with his eyes and mouth open, death smoothing out the facial lines. Something Malone once said popped into his head. “All faults are forgiven in death.” True, and all threats were eliminated, except for Danielle.

He faced her. “Do I need to shoot you too?”

“That bomb has to fall,” she said.

“No, it does not.”

He’d already spotted his backpack on the floor and moved toward it while keeping the gun trained on Danielle.

She was eyeing Grishin’s pistol.

He stepped over, backpack in hand, and kicked the weapon to the other side of the room, where the automatic rifle lay.

She began to come to her feet.

“No. No,” he said. “Stay where you are.”

“You would shoot me?”

“Damn right. Without hesitation. So don’t push me.”

He brought the backpack to the control console. Lights were lit, signaling that things were happening. He’d already set up an external uplink near where they’d touched down, so he found the unit and activated it, hoping a link to Marcia would come fast.

But it could take a minute or two.

In the meantime he spotted the paper with the codes and snatched it from the floor. He pressed SPEAKER on the sat-phone and waited for the uplink. A quick survey of the control panel told him that everything was ancient—lots of dials, toggle switches, and lights—every label in Cyrillic. He did not speak Russian, but Danielle did.

“I know the satellite has been told to reenter,” he said. “We need the self-destruct.”

She shook her head. “I have no problem with all of them dying.”

“It’s not going to solve anything. It will only create more problems.”

“Not for me. Not for John.”

She made another move to come to her feet. He stretched out his right arm with the gun. “I won’t kill you, but I will cripple you.”

She stopped her efforts.

His attention alternated among her, the control panel, and the sat-phone, waiting for it to come to life. Come on, Marcia. I need you. On the board red lights began flashing. He had no idea what the words beneath them said.

He pointed, “What do those mean?”

“Reentry initiated.”

Beside the lights an old countdown display read 150 SECONDS.

It clicked to 149.

And kept counting.

“I loved him,” she said. “Red Star will make it right.”

“Danielle, look at me. In your imagination put John in that doorway over there. Tell him what you’re going to do.”

She said nothing.

“Tell him that tens or hundreds of thousands of people will die. Your grief against the lives of those people. You know the kind of man John was. What would he tell you to do?”

“He is dead.”

The timer was down to 120.

“I knew him,” he said, voice rising. “No way he would be okay with this. No way in hell.”

He studied the paper that contained the codes with Cyrillic letters beneath each number. Then English, translating the five. Reentry sequence. Thruster orientation. Re-targeting. Self-destruct. Main engine fire.

Mashir was right.

He’d kept it simple.

“Luke.”

Marcia’s voice through the sat-phone.

“I’m here. What do you have?”

“NORAD is tracking an object descending into the atmosphere over Europe, headed east.”

“I have a timer here that says 92 seconds.”

He heard her speaking to someone, then she said to him, “I have a direct link to NORAD. They say that’s time until reentry occurs. Once that happens the satellite will be inside the atmosphere. High up. But inside. We need self-destruct. Now.”

His gaze locked on the phone and the fourth line.

Џ Ӂ Ѝ Ҟ Ө

“I have the self-destruct code,” he told Marcia.

“Use the keypad and enter it.”

81 seconds.

“NORAD has a visual on the satellite,” Marcia told him. “They have fighters with long-range cameras, following from the west.”

Danielle sprang to her feet. Ten feet away. He fired a shot, purposefully missing her, but gaining her attention.

“Don’t push me,” he said. “I do not bluff.”

“Let it fall,” she said.

68 seconds.

His gaze skipped from the phone, to the keypad, to Danielle. He made a decision. If she challenged him one more time he’d shoot her.

“Stay put,” he told her.

She stood to his right, on the far side of the control room. A strange and haunted expression in her eyes. He was between her and the exit door.

54 seconds.

He caught movement from the corner of his eye.

His head whipped left.

The man he’d choked unconscious was barreling into the room, rifle pointed ahead. That had to have come from the second man he’d shot.

“No,” Danielle screamed.

He dropped to the floor.

The rifle fired.

Rounds whizzed by, missing him but not Danielle who took multiple hits. Luke rolled, aimed and took the guy out with two shots. One to the gut, the other to the head.

He sprang to his feet.

31 seconds.

He grabbed the paper and pressed the right letters on the keypad that corresponded to the self-destruct code.

A second passed.

Nothing happened.

Another few.

26 seconds.

Dammit. Do something.

He entered the code again. Then realized that there may be an ENTER command needed. All the keys had a single letter. Two had what appeared to be words. Входить. Удалить

“Marcia, I have two choices in Cyrillic. One word starts with what looks like a B, the other a Y. Which one is ‘enter’?”

18 seconds.

Still only silence from the phone.

“Marcia?”

11 seconds.

“Got it. The B. It’s the B. Hit it.”

He did.

A red light came alive on the control panel.

He waited.

The timer kept going.

Reaching 0.

“NORAD reports an explosion in the upper atmosphere, in space. Red Star is gone.”

He let out a long exhale, closed his eyes, and sucked a deep breath.

“That one was close,” Marcia said.

“You think?”

“Good work, Ranger.”

“Can you get somebody to come get me?”

“With pleasure.”

He ended the call and turned his attention to Danielle, checking for a pulse.

None there.

She was gone.

He shook his head.

So senseless.

But when had love ever made sense.







99.

TUESDAY — JUNE 3

ALEKSEI SAT ON HIS PORCH, A BLANKET ACROSS HIS LAP. HE’D NOT HEARD from Edmon in several days, ever since his old friend headed east for Angara-47. No nuclear weapon had exploded over the Kremlin, and the party congress had occurred without controversy. He’d watched on television as Franko gave the opening remarks, then presided over the next two days of sessions.

Edmon had most certainly been stopped. More than likely killed. But by whom? Franko’s people? Hardly. Or else the FSB would have arrested him days ago. No. A new player had entered the game. The Americans? Most likely.

He missed Edmon.

They were together a long time. He was the best friend Aleksei had in the world. Perhaps the only true friend left to him.

Now he was totally alone.

Facing death.

In the distance he spotted a car navigating the narrow entrance lane between the trees. The day was overcast and gloomy, the sun hiding behind a thick veil of gray clouds. As the vehicle drew closer he saw it was a Lada Niva. Simple, utilitarian, and rugged. Russian engineering at its finest. Once a Soviet favorite, it had been in production for a long time. The off-road Niva approached the house and stopped.

Inside was only the driver.

A woman.

Petite in size, her blond hair streaked with gray, maybe in her mid-sixties. She was dressed casually, wearing a dark wool overcoat and gloves. She approached the porch steps and stopped.

“President Delov,” she said in English. “I am Stephanie Nelle. I work with the United States Justice Department.”

He forced the fog from his brain and tried to concentrate. “Why are you here?”

“I came to talk with you about Edmon Grishin.”

“Where is he?”

“I am sorry to say, he’s dead.”

The words bit into his soul. Though he already knew in his heart, hearing the confirmation still hurt. “How?”

“He was killed by one of my agents to prevent him from dropping a nuclear weapon on the Kremlin.”

This woman was well informed.

No sense pretending now.

He motioned with his right hand, urging her to come onto the porch and sit in the chair beside him.

“It is an honor to meet you,” she said. “You changed Russia and the world. Few people can make that claim.”

“I am afraid I failed on both counts.”

“No matter how much we all despise Franko, that was not the way.”

“It seemed the only way. Russia is lost.”

And he meant it.

The country had no idea what it was or why it existed. Franko wanted it to be an empire, himself a modern-day tsar. The United States had always possessed a national idea. The American dream. Russia had nothing even close. Not even workers of the world unite, as the early communists loved to proclaim. Nothing existed for ordinary Russians to take pride in, to run their society by. Franko merely wanted them all to place their trust in him. If anyone disagreed they were immediately silenced with arrest or death.

“I wanted to leave this world by giving Russia a chance.”

“We understand that. But Red Star had to be stopped.”

“What happened to it?”

“It exploded in space. Not nuclear. Just its self-destruct charge. The rest burned up in the atmosphere.”

“Did Moscow notice?”

“Not that we are aware of. There has been no chatter on the subject.”

The old man sat silent for a few moments.

Finally, he said, “Did Edmon suffer?”

She shook her head. “He did not.”

“I am glad.” And it was so true. The dead cannot help the living. “I am dying.”

“We know.” She paused, then stared him straight in the eyes. “Franko will not be told about what happened. Everyone who participated is dead, with the exception of my agent and you. We want you to die in peace, on your terms, not his.”

He liked this woman. She was practical and plainspoken. Two qualities he’d always admired.

“We thought you deserved to know what happened,” she said.

“I appreciate the sentiment.”

It had been just over a generation since Russia emerged from the Soviet Union. His had been the first free election in seventy years, though the communists tried a violent coup, which failed. It took a few decades of poor governing to sow the seed of Konstantin Franko. Like the tsars and the Soviets before him he used fiery rhetoric, brute force, and unrestricted violence to keep 145 million people in check.

Quite a task.

The old decrepit Soviet bureaucracy was gone, replaced by an overwhelming force of repression. His only hope, the country’s only hope, was that as soon as Franko faltered there would be Russians willing to sacrifice their lives for their ideals. The people would rise up and change things.

But that took leadership.

Something the Russian Federation had in short supply.

“I will die soon,” he said. “There will be no state funeral. No outpouring of national mourning. Nothing at all to remind the people of what once existed. Instead, I will be quickly buried and forgotten.”

“You underestimate your reach,” she said. “Men like Franko never last long. They are the ones truly forgotten. Men like you, Mr. President, will always be remembered. What you stand for will be remembered. Thankfully, your legacy will not be stained by mass murder.”

He offered her a weak smile, but failure lay like a foul taste on his tongue.

“I want you to know that I have always been a person who led by example rather than position,” he said.

“We don’t disagree that Franko needs to go.”

“He will never go on his own.”

“You may be right. But we will find a way.”

“Would you mind sitting here a little while with me?” he asked her.

“I would be honored.”

He settled back in the wooden chair and stared out at the forest. The lake lay just beyond. Such a lovely place of sanctuary, where only good things happened. That was his wish for Mother Russia, too.

“You are most kind to a sick old man.”

She gently laid her hand atop his. “A man who changed the world. It took great courage to do what you did with the Soviets.”

“Yet I was willing to kill so many innocents.”

“No one will ever know that.”

His eyes began to water.

“I was a disappointment in my father’s eyes. Sickly at birth. Delicate in youth. Not given to study or academics. I was not expected to amount to much of anything.”

“You will go down in history as the man who defeated the Soviets.”

That thought was comforting.

“I do, though, need to know one other thing,” she said to him.

He’d been waiting for her to ask.







100.

SILVER SPRING, MARYLAND — SUNDAY — JUNE 8

LUKE HAD LEARNED THE TEE TIME AND, WITH A FIFTY, MANAGED TO SNAG the use of one of the club’s electric carts. Another fifty had provided him with more intel. Plays alone. Not much of a socializer. Terrible tipper. Pretty much an asshole.

He’d smiled at the information.

All seemed right on target.

He’d arrived half an hour early, parked in the woods off the eighth fairway, and found a tree to lean against. A slight wind from the east whipped his hair and blew around his collar. His hand was better, but still hurt. He’d done the injury no favors with all that happened at Angara-47. His ring finger, which he’d cracked near the knuckle, was wrapped and healing. Not so his pinkie, which had been refractured and reset. And it still wasn’t straight. If he wanted that, the doctor said, along with full function he’d probably need a little surgery.

So he was weighing his options.

Around him the trees were fully leafed for the coming summer. The day was warm, the sun bright in a cloudless mid-Atlantic sky. He wasn’t a real fan of golf—too slow, too cerebral—but he loved the contrast of the courses. Their perfectly shorn greens, well-hemmed fairways, white sand in the traps. To his left a golf cart appeared around the fairway’s dogleg and approached a ball that had thunked to the ground two minutes earlier. Sean Fernando climbed from the driver’s seat, grabbed an iron from his bag, and addressed the ball. A few waggles and he launched a low worm-burner toward the green, which came up short.

“You needed more club,” Luke called out.

Sean turned, saw him, but offered no surprise, no reaction. Sean replaced the club in his bag, then walked over. “I haven’t got long.”

“Me neither.”

“I’ve been meaning to call you, but got caught up. You know how Langley is. You did good work over there, Luke. Pulled off a miracle, if you ask me.”

A miracle that cost several lives.

In the abstract, trading those few for thousands seemed the right play, but that assumed you did not know any of those who died. He had. Ilya Mashir had been a smart old man who made a lot of bad choices. Danielle was another matter entirely. Driven by love, motivated by revenge, she too had made a lot of bad choices.

After Red Star had exploded in the upper atmosphere he’d sat there, inside the numbers station, for a while, decompressing. That had been a close call. Too close. He also hadn’t been able to fulfill the promise made to Danielle about returning to retrieve John Vince’s body. That would not have been possible without the permission of the Russian government. And the decision had been made to not involve Franko in any way. Better the man knew nothing about what had happened, which meant John would stay beneath that lighthouse. Danielle and Mashir, along with the five others sent to stop them, would remain in Siberia too. More than likely the local wildlife would find them before anyone else did.

He hated that for Danielle.

She deserved better.

Ever efficient, Marcia had dispatched yet another unmarked aircraft, a Sikorsky out of Irkutsk. A storm had rushed in, which delayed his extraction by a few hours and masked his escape, but finally he’d left Russia. All that could be done had been done there.

But all was not done here.

“What do you have going tomorrow?” he asked Sean.

“Monday morning, back to the office.”

“When you get there, what’s on your agenda?”

“Why do you care?”

“Humor me.”

Sean shrugged. “I have no idea. I haven’t checked my calendar.”

“I can help you with that.”

“Listen, Luke, can we—”

“I would shut up, while it’s still your choice.”

Sean hesitated, taking in the rebuke. “Not sure who the hell you think you are. But I can have you gone from the Justice Department within the next hour.”

Luke reached back behind him and gripped the Beretta, Magellan Billet issue, bringing the gun out and aiming it straight at Fernando. “And I can put a bullet in your brain.”

He allowed that threat to sink in.

“Tomorrow, you’ll arrive at the office at 8:00 A.M. By 9:00 your letter of resignation will be on the deputy director’s desk. Pick your own reason. Wanting other challenges. Better job offer. A need to relax and see the world. Whatever you decide.”

“What is this?”

“This is the option Stephanie talked me into. I wanted a bullet in your brain.”

Sean smiled. “Okay. I get it. You know I visited Aleksei Delov.”

“Yep. Stephanie paid the old man a visit too. You sent me out there to be killed. Sold me out to Grishin.”

“And yet here you are, safe and sound. Except for that finger there.”

“I’m already regretting my promise to Stephanie, and every time you open your mouth I regret it even more.”

A twist of contempt came into the smile on Sean’s lips. “You’re a big boy, Luke. Playing in the big leagues. You did your job and made it out. Count your blessings.”

He kept his cool and probed. “Was that decision to let the bomb fall yours, or were you encouraged to make the visit to Delov.”

“What do you think, Ranger?”

“I think that was a Sean Fernando original. Hastily thought through. You decided that killing Franko and the entire Russian government, along with thousands of civilians, was the smart play.”

“Konstantin Franko is a plague. Ukraine is just the start of the disease he’ll spread. In a few years it’ll be Belarus, Latvia, Estonia. He won’t stop. He’ll roll through Eastern Europe. Eventually, he’ll drag NATO into a war. Tell me I’m wrong.”

“You’re not. But it wasn’t your call to make.”

“John Vince died getting that info to us. It didn’t seem right not to act on it. We would have had perfect deniability. Everything would have tracked back to Delov, and that’s assuming anyone would have even taken a look.”

“And me?”

Sean shrugged. “You knew the game when you signed on.”

He’d always considered himself really lucky that Stephanie Nelle ran the Magellan Billet. She was smart, patient, and above all loyal. Never would she sell out one of her people.

Not for anything.

“And the rules allow you to vaporize thousands of people because of some half-baked foreign policy you talked yourself into believing?”

“It’s not half-baked.”

He motioned with the gun. “And that is precisely why tomorrow morning you hand in your resignation. Find something in the private sector, and wake up every morning being grateful you’re still alive.”

“Or what?”

Enough of diplomacy.

He kept the gun aimed. “The deal I have with Stephanie is that you get a chance to leave. If you don’t, then she said it’s my turn to handle this my way. And make no mistake, I’m not going to kill you. I’m just going to make you wish you were dead. So please, don’t quit.”

Sean stared back with hard eyes, surely trying to assess just how serious a threat this might be. But Luke wasn’t bluffing. He would make this bastard wish for death. He could imagine the gleam of calculation as the pros and cons were silently weighed. Then he caught a flicker of alarm, momentary, but there, as if reality had finally struck home.

Without another word Sean turned and walked back to his cart.

Luke lowered the gun.

He watched as Sean retrieved the ball from the fairway, then climbed into the cart again and drove away, back toward the clubhouse. His resentment and anger waned, replaced by a hollow, deflated feeling of emptiness.

For both John Vince and Danielle Otero. But for Sean Fernando? Game over. In more ways than one.

It was Sunday. He needed to call his mother. That would cheer him up. Something she liked to say, discovered through countless hours of reading and passed on to her four sons, came to mind.

From Thomas Jefferson.

In matters of style, swim with the current. In matters of principle, stand like a rock.
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WRITERS’ NOTE

This is the second of three Luke Daniels adventures. The first, The 9th Man, was published last year and dealt with the Kennedy assassination. The next one will come in 2026 (still working on a plot). We wanted this novel to be a travelogue of Russia, conveying a full sense of the country, its vastness and diversity, along with its long history and volatile politics.

Both Steve and Grant have visited.

Now it’s time to separate fact from fiction.

All of the locales are real except for the dacha north of St. Petersburg (chapter 31), the fortress on Oreshek Island being a private museum (chapter 74), and the prison in the Solovetsky Islands (chapter 29, 32), but one similar to it existed during the Soviet time, also housed inside a converted monastery. Anzersky Island is part of the Solovetskys but, to the best of our knowledge, no secret prison is currently located there. The hotels described throughout are typical of Russia, taken from accounts of guests who have stayed. Refueling a car in Russia is definitely an experience and all of the precautions Luke takes in chapter 22 are smart.

The measures taken to preserve Lenin’s body happen every day (chapter 11). Russian ex-presidents are indeed given the use of a public residence for life (chapter 25). The Ascension Convent stood in Moscow for over five hundred years. It was razed in 1929 to make way for a Soviet commanders school (chapter 72). Hiding artifacts beneath the convent, within catacombs, was our invention. Sadly, gulags were real (chapter 19) and most certainly still exist.

The quotes attributed to Harry Truman in chapter 90 are accurate. Jack tales exist (chapter 72). Some of the most famous are “Jack and the Beanstalk,” “Jack Frost,” “Jack the Giant Killer,” and “Little Jack Horner.” Jack is generally portrayed as a young adult, often lazy or foolish, but ultimately he prevails thanks to wit and trickery. As Luke notes, they are quite prominent in Appalachian folklore. The tale of the golden fish is an old Russian folktale (chapter 25). The story about the prisoner known as the One from Novgorod is true (chapter 33). Communist Party congresses happened throughout the twentieth century (chapter 43). Ours, of course, is fictional, but the State Kremlin Palace, where they were held, is real. Congresses still take place, albeit in a different form with different purposes.

Numbers stations, mentioned throughout, have been around since World War I, most likely used by nations as a means of communicating with their foreign intelligence operatives. They generally consist of shortwave radio broadcasts that happen on set time schedules, with regular patterns. Some, though, have no discernible pattern and broadcast randomly.

Russia has long used them.

UVB-76 is an example.

That station broadcasts a short, monotonous buzz tone, repeating at twenty-five tones per minute, twenty-four hours per day, seven days a week. Sometimes the buzzing is interrupted by a voice message. Once the buzzer was replaced with extracts from Tchaikovsky’s Swan Lake. Intermittent phone conversations have also been transmitted, as have signals with spectrogram-encoded images, visible only through a spectrum analyzer.

All quite odd.

The existence of UVB-76 has never been confirmed by the Russian government. But they have not denied it either. What is it for? Surely some sort of coded military communications. Others think the station is used by Russian intelligence agencies, such as the FSB or SVR. But that is unlikely, as the broadcasts generally occur on a fixed schedule, which rarely changes, far too predictable for spying. One particular ominous theory is that the station emits a “dead hand” signal that will trigger a nuclear retaliatory response if the signal is interrupted by a nuclear attack against Russia. A bit extreme? Sure. But nobody really knows the purpose of UVB-76, or any of the other Russian numbers stations, yet they are still broadcasting.

This story focuses on Ivan the Terrible and his library.

Ivan himself was an anomaly. On the one hand he was a competent and visionary leader who united Russia under a single, strong leader, which he named tsar. On the other hand he was a paranoid manic-depressive with homicidal tendencies. Unfortunately for Ivan his history was written by his enemies, who had no reason to portray him in anything but a bad light. The moniker the Terrible also became mangled since that word in old Russian does have the derogatory meaning we generally ascribe to it today (prologue).

Historians tend to agree that Ivan’s awful childhood contributed to his depraved personality and that the loss of his first wife, Anastasia, in 1560, changed him. He ultimately married eight times and produced nine children. He did, in fact, kill his oldest son and heir in a fit of rage. Then his daughter-in-law suffered a miscarriage (in light of the murder), leaving as heir only his second son, Feodor, who proved inept.

The infamous Time of Troubles followed the death of Feodor in 1598, which plunged Russia into fifteen years of lawless and political chaos. Finally, a new consensus tsar was chosen in 1613, Michael Romanov, which ended the House of Rurik, along with the Time of Troubles, giving rise to Romanov tsarist rule, which lasted until 1917.

As to Ivan’s grave, our placing that beneath Ascension Convent, with his mother Elena Glinskaya and his precious books, is fictional (chapter 49). His mother, though, did rest inside the Ascension Convent until 1929, when her remains were transferred to the Cathedral of the Archangel inside the Kremlin, where Ivan also rests. The epitaph on our tomb for Ivan the Terrible is taken from that of Tamerlane, a fierce Mongol leader who lived in the fifteenth century. It reads, WHEN I RISE FROM THE DEAD, THE WORLD SHALL TREMBLE. WHOEVER OPENS MY TOMB SHALL UNLEASH AN INVADER MORE TERRIBLE THAN I. Here’s a side note. In 1941 Russian archaeologists first opened Tamerlane’s tomb. Two days later Hitler invaded the USSR.

Ivan was most certainly educated and quite literate. He wrote poetry, and his love of books is a historical fact. The early history of his library, coming from his grandmother (the Byzantine Sophia Palaiologina), to his grandfather (Ivan III), to his father (Vasili III), and then to him is true. Reportedly, the collection contained some of the most celebrated texts in the world, and Ivan jealously protected those for as long as he was alive. But after his death in 1584, the library vanished and there are no reliable accounts of what happened to it. Nor do we have any precise inventory of the collection. The list noted in chapter 67 is our invention. The few historical references described in chapters 67 and 69 are all that is known of this lost treasure.

Georgy Sheremetev (chapter 49) is our invention, though there was a man who devoted the better part of his life to searching for the library. Ignatiy Stelletskii was a Russian archaeologist, historian, and researcher. In 1912 Stelletskii organized the Commission for the Study of Underground Antiquities to investigate the catacombs of Moscow, specifically searching for the library of Ivan the Terrible. He attempted to obtain permission to conduct excavations in the Kremlin, but the tsarist government would not allow it. His studies were cut short by World War I and the Russian Civil War. In 1925 he asked the Soviet government to allow him to search the Kremlin. Finally, in 1929, permission was granted. But excavations did not begin until 1933 and ended in 1934. Stelletskii died in 1949, finding nothing.

Is the library of Ivan the Terrible real?

Or is it merely a myth? A legend?

Sadly, we will never know.

Finally, the “firsts” noted for the Russian space program in chapter 56 are a matter of history. Project Zenit was a series of military photoreconnaissance satellites launched by the Soviet Union between 1961 and 1994. Most flew in an elliptical orbit of around 250 to 350 kilometers. The missions lasted between eight and fifteen days.

Our spin-off, Red Star, is fictional.

But the Soviets did create what was known as the Fractional Orbital Bombardment System (FOBS), a nuclear warhead that uses a low earth orbit. Just before reaching the target, it deorbits through a retrograde engine burn and drops back into the atmosphere, exploding where sent. FOBS was developed in the 1960s as one of the first Soviet efforts to use space to deliver nuclear weapons. The whole system came with cutting-edge advantages. No range limit. A flight path that would not reveal the target location. And warheads that could be directed toward North America from the South Pole, evading detection by NORAD’s north-facing early warning systems. The weapons system was fully deployed in 1968, but decommissioned in 1983, with new technology rendering it obsolete, replaced by more powerful long-range intercontinental ballistic missiles. The Soviets worked around the Outer Space Treaty restrictions because the FOBS never actually achieved orbit. But did the Soviets take it one step further and actually place nuclear weapons in orbit?

No question they were guilty of countless reckless acts (Chernobyl being just one graphic example).

But as with the library of Ivan the Terrible, we will never know.

One thing though is certain, and Mikhail Gorbachev said it best—


The infinite and uncontrollable fury of nuclear weapons should never be held in the hands of any mere mortal ever again, for any reason.
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